604369

A COMPILATION OF BIOLOGICAL LAWS, EFFECTS, AND PHENOMENA, WITH ASSOCIATED PHYSICAL ANALOGS





AIR FORCE AVIONICS LABORATORY ELECTRONIC TECHNOLOGY DIVISION AIR FORCE SYSTEMS COMMAND WRIGHT-PATTERSON AIR FORCE BASE, OHIO

Project No. 4160, Task No. 416001



Prepared under Contract No. AF 33(657)-7099 by Adaptronics, Inc., 4725 Duke Street, Alexandria, Virginia L. O. Gilstrap, Jr., J. S. McNeil, L. P. Greenberg, and R. B. Spodak

# Best Available Copy





#### FOREWORD

This is the final report on work performed under Contract AF 33(657)-7099 to compile a set of biological laws, effects and phenomena with associated physical analogs. The work was sponsored by the Bionics Branch of the Electronic Technology Division, U. S. Air Force, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio. Tosk Scientist for the work was Dr. Mildred B. Mitchell of the Bionics Branch.

The authors also wish to acknowledge the helpful contributions of R. L. Barron, J. B. Hauptli, R. J. Lee, M. J. Pedelty, J. H. Shyer, and G. E. Whitley, and to thank Barbara Basta, Lucille Crofton and Peggy Jenkins for their efforts in typing the manuscript.

#### ABSTRACT

A compilation of biological laws, effects and phenomena and their associated physical analogs is presented. Information on each law, effect or phenomenon is contained in separate entries which are grouped roughly into sections by similarity of content. Entries are cross referenced by animals and plants mentioned in each entry, by sample physical devices, systems, effects or phenomena analogous to the described biological law, effect or phenomenon in each entry, and by physical class (i.e., by the branch of physical science most relevant to the biological description) and by physical operator (i.e., by the categories of sensor, transformer, or actuator, whichever is more nearly descriptive of the entry).

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ŧ

	<u> </u>	Page
ALPHABET	ICAL LIST OF ENTRIES	vii
LIST OF	ABBREVIATIONS	xii
INTRODUC	TION	1
1,	Analogy	1
2.	Laws, Effects and Phenomena	3
3 。	Organization of the Compilation	4
4.	Orthography and Abbreviations	6
SECTIONS	OF THE COMPILATION	7
1.	Behavior	8
2.	Chemical Production	15
3.	Chemical Sensitivity	33
4.	Electrical Erergy	53
5.	Equilibrium Sensing and Control	64
6.	Learning	83
7.	Light Production	95
8.	Light Sensitivity	103
9.	Locomotion	162
10.	Manipulation	186
11.	Nerve Sensitivity	19?
12,	Regrowth and Repair	219
13.	Sound Detection and Ranging	229
14.	Sound Production	236
15.	Sound Sensitivity	242
16.	Tactile Sensitivity	262
17.	Thermal Sensitivity	282
18.	Special Laws	306
19.	Special Effects	315
20.	Special Phenomena	329
CROSS RE	FERENCES BY PHYSICAL ANALOG	364
CROSS RE	FERENCES BY PHYSICAL CLASS	403

## TABLE OF CONTENTS, Continued:

\*

CROSS	REFERENCES	BY	PHYSICAL OPERATOR	412
CROSS	REFERENCES	ΒY	AN IMAL	423
CROSS	REFERENCES	ΒY	PLANT	488
REFER	ENCES	• • •		495
RELAT	ED LITERATUR	RE		507

## LIST OF FIGURES

## <u>Page</u>

Page

1.	Head of Assassin Bug Showing Venom Route	17
2.	Smooth Hairs on Crayfish Appendages	46
3.	Insect Antenna with Olfactory Hairs	48
4.	Taste Buds	51
5.	Electric Organs in the Eel and Ray	57
6.	Typical Feedback Control System	66
7.	Modified Control System Typical of Instinctive Behavior	67
8.	Semicircular Canals	73
9.	Crayfish Statocyst	76
10.	Swim Bladder in Fish	79
11.	Change in Lens Curvature Due to Focus on Objects at Different Distances	107
12.	Hue Shift Due to Betzold-Brüche Effect	111
13.	Effects of Chromatic Aberration	119
14.	Vertebrate Eyeball	128
15.	Lens of the Eye	130
16.	Light Rays Entering the Compound Eye	139
17.	Optical Illusions	143
18.	Evolution of the Eye	152
19.	Cross Section of the Vertebrate Retinal Layer	155

LIST OF FIGURES, Continued:

20.	Locomotion of the Earthworm by Contraction and Expansion of Radial and Longitudinal Muscles	166
21.	Vocal Cords of the Human	240
22.	The Cochlear Coil and Semicircular Canals	246
23.	The Human Ear	249
24.	The Grasshopper's Sound Receptor Organ	254
25.	Relationship Between Temperature Change and Metabolic Rate in Animals with Varying Body Temperatures	290
26.	Wingbeat Frequency of Drosophila as a Function of Age and Temperature	302
27.	The Flame Cell	343

г-

Page

vi

#### ALPHABETICAL LIST OF ENTRIES

## A

Accommodation, p. 107 Acetylcholine Triggering of Muscle Action, p. 196 Aftersensations, p. 109 Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Alary Muscles of Insects. The, p. 330 Amoeboid Movement, p. 165 Annelid Locomotion, p. 166 Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 17 Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Axial Gradient, p. 331

#### R

Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265 Bacterial Luminescence, p. 98 Balance and Flight of Insects. p. 69 Bee Sting, p. 19 Betzold-Bruche Effect, p. 111 Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 113 Binocular Vision, p. 115 Biogenesis law of, p. 307 Biological Clock, The p. 333 Biological Clock, The p. 335 Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 117

## <u>C</u>

Cellulose Dicostion in Marmals, p. 337 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Chemotropism p. 36 Chevne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338 Chromatic Aberratica, p. 119 Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearlno in Mammals. The, p. 245 Color Blindness, p. 121 Competitive Inhibition p. 316 Conditioned Reflex, p. 39 Constancy Phenomenon p. 340 Contrast, p. 123 Convergence p. 342 Cypridina Luminescence p. 100

## D

Dark Adaptation p. 12<sup>5</sup> Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20 Direction Eyes, p. 126 Dy Bois-Reymond Law, p. 198

vii

## <u>E</u>

Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart. p. 38 Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells. p. 55 Electric Current Production in Fish, p. 57 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Escape Mechanisms of Shrimp, p. 168 Eyeball of Vertebrates, p. 128 Eye Lens, p. 130 Eye Pigments, p. 132 Eyespots, p. 134

#### F

Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169 Firefly Luminescence, p. 102 Fish Locomotion, p. 171 Flame Cell as a Pump, The, p. 343 Flicker Phenomenon, p. 135 Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173

G

Geotropism, p. 71 Gill Slit, p. 40 Group Behavior of Fish, p. 345

#### H

Hibernation, p. 285 Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42 Human Hand, The, p. 190

1

Imprinting In Animals, p. 91 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Initiation of Flight in Insects, p. 319 Insect Flight Muscles, p. 174 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Instrumental Conditioning, p. 93 Interoceptors, p. 349 Iris of the Eye, p. 136

viil

7

Jet Propulsion of the Squid, p. 176 Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 309

### L

Lachrymal Glands, p. 22 Lateral Line Organs, p. 266

#### M

Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288 Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 Meissner's Corpuscles, p. 268 Membrane Permeability, p. 320 Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311 Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 290 Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178 Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Müller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, p. 138 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Muscle Receptor Organ of Crustacea, The, p. 180

N

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nerve Impulse Control by Acetylcholine, p. 202 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 203 Nerve Network, p. 206 Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208 Neuroglia Cells, p. 351 Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141 Night Blindness, c. 142 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353

#### 0

Olfactory Sans in Sharks, p. 44 Mifactory Sensitivity in Crayfish, p. 46 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48 Optical Illusions, p. 143 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 193 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 248 Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 354

ìх

#### <u>P</u>

Pain Detection, p. 269 Paristalsis, p. 324 Photonasty, p. 146 Photoperiodism, p. 147 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148 Photosynthesis, p. 23 Phototropism in Insects, p. 150 Physiological Compensation, p. 356 Toisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25 Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209 Pressure Determination, p. 271 Proprioceptors, p. 357 Psychogalvanic Response, p. 60 Pumping Action of the Heart, p. 359

R

Refractory Period, p. 210 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Rheotaxis, p. 273

<u>S</u>

Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26 Samicircular Canals, p. 73 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Silk Production, p. 28 Snake Locomotion, p. 182 Sodium Pump and Electrical Potential, The, p. 62 Sound Datection and Ranging by Bats. p. 232 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Sound Production in Insects, p. 238 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 254 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30 Spange Regeneration, p. 228 Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 76 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 213 Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 79 Symbiosis, p. 361 Synaptic Latency and Delay, p. 215

## Ţ

Tactile Organs, p. 275 Taste Buds, p. 50 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Temperature Regulation in Polkllotherms, p. 298 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 302 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304 Thermoreceptors, p. 305 Thigmotaxis, p. 277 Time Judgment in Humans, p. 363 Tone Combination Effect, The, p. 260 Touch Sensation, The, p. 279 Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

## Ā

Vasoconstriction, p. 326 Vertebrate Retina, The, p. 154 Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281 Vision in Beetles, p. 156 Vision in Frogs, p. 159 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 240

#### W

Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185
Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327
Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328
Weber's Law, p. 217
Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 31

١

0 Å	Angstrom(s)	
л С	Centigrade	
	centimeter(s)	
	cycles per second	
cu in	cubic inch(es)	
dh li	decibel(s)	
	degree(s)	
°r	degree(s) Centigrade	
с ° <u>с</u>	degree(s) Fahrenheit	
r	electromotive force	
enn ft	foot (feet)	
	gram(s)	
y ka	kilocycle(s)	
kas	kilocycles per second	
m	meter(s)	
ma	milligram(s)	
min	minute(s)	
/min	per minute	
ml	millilambert(s)	
ml	milliliter(s)	
mm	millimeter(s)	
mm <sup>2</sup>	square millimeter(s)	
noh	miles per hour	
mmhQ	millimho(s)	
u	micron(s)	
щQ	microgram(s)	
mµ.	millimicron(s)	
ms	millisecond(s)	
mV	millivolt(s)	
BC.	resistive-capacitive	
rDm	revolutions per minute	
Sec	second(s)	
/sec	per second	
· • • • •	volt(s)	

#### INTRODUCTION

and the second of the other second of

This report summarizes the results of a two-year effort to compile and describe the physical analogies of a selected list of biological laws, effects, and phenomena. The objective of the work is to provide engineers and physical scientists with a source of information and references on the properties of biological systems and the methods of "problem solving" employed by living systems. In addition, this compilation provides a series of case studies in bionics which examine the structure, function or behavior of organisms from both the life sciences and physical sciences points of view. In this sense, it is, therefore, also a contribution to methodology in bionics.

In view of the large quantity of available biological material, it was quite apparent from the outset that this study could not be carried to the point of exhausting available literature. A criterion for the selection of material was therefore needed to achieve a compilation of any coherence or utility. Relevancy of material to the problems of information and control was the primary criterion for the selection of material for inclusion in this compilation, but we have departed from this criterion a number of times in an exploratory spirit.

During the course of this study four principal types of problems were encountered:

- (1) definition of terms
- (2) classification of information
- (3) accumulation and selection of material, and
- (4) effective (and accurate) presentation of material.

The following discussion summarizes the approaches taken to these problems.

#### 1. Analogy

Within the biological sciences homo'ngy and analogy have often been used as guiding principles. Since homologous structures are definable only for systems that are related through evolutionary development, it seems evident that bionics, concerned as it is with the relationships of living systems to

Manuscript released by authors 15 June 1964 for publication as a Compendium.

physical systems, must be more concerned with the principle of analogy.

The term <u>analogous</u> is used in the biological sciences to denote the functional similarity of two structures. For example, the insect wing and the bird wing are analogous in function.

In the physical sciences, when one system is said to be an analog of another, it usually means that the same functional description applies to both systems. For example, a springmass-damper system and an R-L-C network can both be described by the same differential equation. Further, the components of one system are also said to be analogs of the elements of the other system: a mass is the analog of inductance, damping coefficient is the analog of resistance, spring constant is the analog of capacitance (or, rather, its inverse), force is the analog of electromotive force, and displacement is the analog of charge.

Although the usage of the term <u>analog</u> is somewhat more precise in the physical sciences, the intent of the term in the life sciences is quite similar. However, it is evident that we must adopt a broader definition of analog for use in bionics than is used in the physical sciences. For, in general, we cannot say that all the elements of a given physical system can be put into one-to-one correspondence with the elements of some living system, or that all the functions of a living system are performed by some analogous physical system. Living systems are far too complex and physical systems usually too simple for such a mapping to be established. We have concluded that it is reasonable to say that a physical system is the analog of some living system if a subset of the functions of the living system can be equated to the functions of the physical system.

Living systems are integrated wholes, however, and the question of degree of similarity and the level at which two systers are similar inevitably arises. To illustrate this point, COF der the structures, functions, and behavior of bats using echa-incation in the process of searching for food. Vibrating strings are analogs of the vocal cords used to produce the sounds emitted by bats, and the hollow chambers in the bat's skull act as resonating cavities to enhance the sound. A microphone is analogous to parts of the hearing organ, since both convert sound waves to signals. Since the returned signals are analyzed and used for guidance and control purposes, we can say that a guidance and control computer is the analog of this facet of the bat's make-up. The entire process of echo-location has the similar process using sonar or radar equipment as its analog. The activity of searching for food has no close analog, although the automatic reorientation of a satellite to obtain maximum sunlight on its solar cells might be considered a nontrivial analog. In the process of flying, the bat expends chemical energy, converting it into mechanical energy; hence, a gasoline engine is an analog of this part of the bat, although probably a rather poor or

superficial one. We can also aggregate functions and state that an airplane which is flying, converting stored energy into mechanical energy, using radar to detect other aircraft, and processing sensed information to produce guidance and control signals is an analog of a bat which is flying and using echolocation. Certainly there is very little structural similarity between a bat and an airplane, but there is no doubt that they have many functions in common.

On the basis of examples of the foregoing types, it would appear that what we would consider to be a physical analog of some living system depends greatly on the function of interest to us and that the degree of similarity between a physical system and a living system depends upon the context. Hence, a physical analog might be "good" with respect to one subset of functions of a living system and "trivial" or "poor" with respect to some larger class of functions.

Within this report quite a bit of latitude has been permitted in the usage of the term analog with respect to the degree of functional similarity and scope of the term. Ultimately, it is expected that workers in the field of bionics will settle on some interpretation of this term, and the present work can be considered as an exploration of some possibilities.

#### 2 Laws, Effects, and Phenomena

In the sense that there are physical laws, there are probably no "biological laws"; in any event, the matter has been debated by experts at great lengths.

For purposes of this report, we have defined a <u>biological</u> <u>law</u> to be any observed regularity within a class or group of living organisms. Laws have one characteristic in common with effects: they usually relate measurable entities. The major distinction between laws and effects is that of their generality or extent. Closely related to laws are principles which tend to tie together the information from many different observations. However, not all principles can be proved. Even though principles frequently lead to correct predictions, they can be used only as an integral part of the formulation of a problem that would, in the final analysis, be solved by the application of known laws.

An <u>effect</u> is generally considered to be an immediate consequence or result of a given arrangement of entities and forces. A biological example is the response produced by the application of a stimulus to a given organ. In some cases it might be possible for an effect to invoive two or more organisms in a synergistic relationship. There are many different kinds of known biological effects, and those associated with sense organs were selected as being of primary interest for this study. A <u>phenomenon</u> is a singular occurrence of events or any given existing entity. The application of this definition to the biological field requires that the morphological characteristics of any given organism be considered as phenomena, although they are not usually classed as such and the term mechanism might be more appropriate. Examples of these are the compound eye, wings, fins, infrared sensors, and other animal organs. Although these structures may have resulted from a series of evolutionary forces, they would be considered phenomena in contrast to effects since their appearance was not an immediate consequence of these forces.

#### 3. Organization of the Compilation

Material on each law, effect or phenomenon has been collected into entries. As we noted in the discussion on analogy, the type of analogy and the descriptive material depend on the scale of events and the possible objective of the user of the information. Most entries are confined to a limited aspect of a functioning organism although titles for the entries have been picked largely to convey the general nature of the material.

Entries have been grouped by sections; the section titles should be considered more as descriptive of the entries within the section rather than as classifications.

In view of the numerous possible uses of this compilation, five cross references for the material have been provided. These cross references should enable the reader to find material of interest by the organism, plant or animal, by the branch of physical science most closely related to the material (the physical class) by the operations or functions performed (the physical operator), and by the type of physical analog most closely related to the law, effect or phenomenon. Information concerning Physical Class, Physical Operator and Section is indicated at the top of the first page of each entry.

#### a. Entries

The entries contain material divided usually into six groupings: description, illustration, magnitude, similar examples, sample physical analogs, and references. In some entries, the description and illustration or illustration and magnitude have been combined. In other entries one or more of the groupings of information may be missing, either because the material was inappropriate or could not be found. Sample physical analogs are missing from a number of entries in the last three sections, Special Laws, Special Effects, and Special Phenomena, usually because the analogs for these entries are trivial or else do not exist. The biological information in the entries without physical analogs could be of interest for

and the set fields associately a set of the second

no other reason than the fact that physical analogs do not exist, or, at least, are not readily apparent.

b. Sections

Entries have been grouped into sections on the basis of general similarity and as a means for better access of material. As mentioned, the section titles are more descriptive than classificatory. For example, the term sensitivity in the sections Thermal Sensitivity and Chemical Sensitivity can be interpreted two different ways on the basis of included material. Some biological effects of heat are due to changes in system parameters, such as metabolic rate, while other effects of heat include the signals produced by thermoreceptors and the behavioral or functional changes induced by the signals of heat. The latter two types of changes could be of interest for informa-tion processing systems, while system parameter changes are more nearly materials properties. Similarly, the Chemical Sensitivity section includes entries on both sensitivity to chemicals and the detection of chemicals by specialized sensors. Although these sections could have been split into two parts, similar comments could be made about other sections, and the choice of aggregation was made in part due to the small number of entries in these sections. As a further example, the section Electrical Energy contains information on both the detection of electrical energy and the generation or production of electrical energy, even though sensitivity and production are treated in separate sections for other types of energy.

c. Cross References

There are five cross reference sections in the compilation:

<u>Cross References by Physical Class lists each entry under</u> the physical class which pertains to it.

<u>Cross References by Physical Operator</u> is divided into cross references by Actuators, Sensors, and Transformers.

<u>Cross References by Physical Analog</u> includes all sample physical analogs named in the entries, listing all entries in which each appears.

<u>Cross References by Animal</u> provides a listing, by animal, of all entries in which the animal is named. Listings are provided for such categories as "MAMMALS IN GENERAL", "VERTEBRATES IN GENERAL", etc. When a class of animals, such as fish, has references to many different species and types, a special listing appears below the main list, e.g., "FISH IN GENERAL..." "Species and Types of Fish:...". Some phyla, genera or species are cross-referenced to more familiar names, e.g., "PETROMYZONS, See: LAMPREYS".

The <u>Cross References by Plant</u> follow the same general guidelines as the Cross References by Animal.

#### d. References and Related Literature

The reference material which has been used in this compilation has been divided into two categories: "References" and "Related Literature". The section "References" includes all the reference material which has directly provided the material for the articles themselves. These are arranged alphabetically by author and have been numbered consecutively. The appropriate number(s) and the relevant pages appear at the end of the entry to which they pertain.

The second reference section includes any additional sources which, although not directly cited in the specific articles, are nevertheless closely related to them in subject matter. These are arranged alphabetically according to the sections to which they are related.

The references have been organized in the following manner: books and articles (magazines, journals, etc.) are listed alphabetically by the author's last name; if a group of independent articles has been gathered into one book, each article referred to is listed under its own author's name.

#### 4. Orthography and Abbreviations

Most of the spellings of biological and technical or scientific terms were verified in Webster's New International Dictionary of the English Language, Second Edition, Unabridged, 1959. In the event of disagreement between this dictionary and the scientific reference books, other authority was consulted, such as the Entomological Society of America. Some verifications were obtained from the Microbiology Department of the George Washington University and the National Geographic Society.

Three principal sources were consulted for abbreviations: The United States Air Force Dictionary, Webster's New International Dictionary of the English Language (Second Edition, Unabridged), and Sams' Modern Dictionary of Electronics.

## SECTIONS OF THE COMPILATION

SECTION 1:

## BEHAVIOR

## Page

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF BEHAVIOR
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL
INFLUENCE OF HORMONES ON FIGHTING
INGESTIVE BEHAVIOR IN ANIMALS
INSTINCT AND INSECT BEHAVIOR

#### BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF BEHAVIOR

Behavior is the manner in which animals conduct themselves; in other words, what they do, when they do it, and why. A great amount of work has been done on the study of animal behavior. Most of these studies probe the question of behavior from one of two approacnes. One is the individualistic approach. Experimentation, especially training criteria, has established the reaction of many animals to various qualities and quantities of light, odor, taste, sound, touch, and other stimuli. The reaction and adjustments of an individual to abnormal situations have resulted in information on learning ability and the orbit in which instinct and intelligence overlap.

The second approach deals with the behavior characteristics of the species. The entire life cycle of an organism is a succession of definite behavior patterns. Even in the same species they change constantly and regularly.

The basic units of inherited behavior are reflex actions, that is, automatic responses to the same stimulus. When the entire organism orients itself automatically in relation to a given stimulus, this is known as tropism. For instance, at night certain species of moths will always fly towards a flame, exhibiting a positive tropic response to light. Tropisms which are inherited and therefore operate without benefit of experience are called instincts. Insect behavior in general is predominately instinctive, but it is not a simple addition of reflexes, tropisms, and instincts. In the first place, these may be modified, inhibited, or coordinated as a result of experience or learning. In the second place, many investigators believe that the entire perceptual panorama of the organism forms a sort of pattern and that the organism responds to general changes in this pattern and not to the individual stimuli of which the pattern is composed.

#### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

The study of behavior in living systems is the counterpart to essentially all branches of the physical sciences. The methods of study in the physical sciences differ from those used in the behavioral sciences in two key respects:

> (1) It is sometimes possible for an experimenter to interact with a physical system to the point of significantly modifying the given physical system; although the behavioral scientist can also interact with living systems, he cannot do so to the extent of destroying the structural integrity of the system.

(2) The physical scientist is often concerned with the problem of synthesizing a system with desired properties and, in the process, he may modify parameters to obtain additional information about the system; the complexity of living systems is so great that most attempts at synthesis of living systems are or have been limited to trivial characteristics of the systems.

Since the simulacra of living systems are usually trivial, so also, are most other physical analogs, man-made or natural. However, physical systems designed to be analyzed by man have been steadily increasing in complexity. Such diverse systems as the DEW line, computers, patter, recognition machines, and learning machines now begin to rival in complexity and information processing capability the living system.

From the physical point of view, many aspects of behavior specific to a given animal must be treated as an accident of circumstance, a result of the interplay of the animal with its own environment, and generally not something that would necessarily be useful to duplicate. However, it is from the changes in overt behavior induced by injected chemicals, changes in illumination or temperature levels, or other factors that we deduce many of the properties and mechanisms of living tissues.

Physical Class	Physical Op	erator	Section 1
Chemistry Materials Properties Mechanics	Sensors Contact Internal	Transformers Information Actuators Internal	Behavior

#### INFLUENCE OF HORMONES ON FIGHTING

#### **DESCRIPTION:**

An attack by one member of a species on another of its kind provokes fighting. In the males of many species, the male hormone, testosterone, is a significant factor in the regulation of fighting. Testosterone apparently lowers the pain threshold and, thus, increases the irritability of the animals.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Experimental investigations with mice have shown that male mice fight quite frequently. When the males were castrated their source of testosterone was essentially removed. After recuperation groups of these males were placed in the same cages and did not seem to have the desire to fight. The implantation of testosterone propionate pellets in these males caused them to fight with each other as they had done before surgery. When the pellets were removed most of them stopped fighting, although some continued.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The hormone testosterone is the most active member of the natural androgens. An injection of less than 5 mg is sufficient to produce fighting in mice.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Alcohols and their derivatives also affect the pain threshold of man. They produce a feeling of confidence and power dominance; they raise the threshold of pain and depress the action of the central nervous system.

REFERENCES: 132, pp. 86-87.

11

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 1
Chemistry	Sensors Actuators Internal Internal Transformers Energy Information	Behavior

#### INGESTIVE BEHAVIOR IN ANIMALS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Ingestive behavior may be defined as the actions of an individual which are concerned with the vital process of food consumption. This type of behavior may be divided into two major stages: (1) initial stimulation, which would include the search for food, and (2) ingestion, or the actual process of eating.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Initial stimulation in humans includes contractions of muscles in the wall of the stomach producing the condition known as "hunger pangs". This feeling arises most frequently in humans just prior to the usual meal times. The frequency of initial stimulation appears more frequently in lower mammals than in humans and usually coincides with the degree of depletion of the blood sugar level, resulting in an increase of action. In rabbits and rats, initial stimulation was produced experimentally by allowing these animals to exercise extensively, thereby using up stored energy in the form of blood sugar. After the rats and rabbits were fed, the blood sugar level rose and activity subsided.

Ingestion of food in characteristic manner is exhibited more frequently and to a greater extent in lower forms of animal life. In the sea anemone Metridium, for example, the tentacles will continue to push food through the oral disc and mouth into the body cavity until the latter is completely full.

A less extensive ingestive reaction is demonstrated by the fresh-water hydra, which, after being fed a relatively small amount of food, does not seem to react to the presence of additional stimulation.

Insects are frequently classified into four groups on the basis of their feeding habits: vegetariars, predators, scavengers, and parasites.

Vegetarians feed on plants; for example, the larvae of the lepidopterous species feed on plants characteristic of the species. Predators, such as dung beetles and sarcophagid flies, live on captured animal tissue or derivative materials of plants or animals. Scavengers, such as scavenger beetles (Hydrophilidae), feed on refuse, carrion or other decaying substances. Parasites feed more or less fixedly upon the tissue of a "host" organism.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

Ingestive behavior is a characteristic of all animal life; however, the extent to which it is visibly exhibited varies greatly. Among the lower animals ingestive behavior appears to

#### INGESTIVE BEHAVIOR IN ANIMALS, Continued:

make up a major portion of the individual's activities. As animal development progresses and social factors begin to influence animal life, ingestive behavior, although still an important factor, appears with more controlled regularity.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The development of sexual behavior within the animal kingdom closely parallels that of ingestive behavior.

REFERENCES: 119, pp. 693-695; 132, pp. 685-722; 133, pp. 127-128.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 1
Electricity and Magnetism Mechanics	Sensors Transformer Contact Energy Distance Informati Internal Actuators External Internal	s Behavior on

#### INSTINCT AND INSECT BEHAVIOR

#### DESCRIPTION:

Insect behavior, i.e., the response to one or more stimuli, is governed, in most cases, by instinct. Since instinctive acts are usually performed without previous experience, they are not connected with reasoning. Essentially, they consist of groups of coordinated reflexes which in the case of insects may come from either external or internal stimuli as definite response patterns. Instinctive acts are usually repeated in regular rhythmic sequence, and may appear unchanged in numerous generations.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

A digger wasp will burrow a hole, bury another insect in it, and then lay an egg inside the buried insect. The wasp then puts other captured insects into the hole as food for the larva that will develop from the egg. With this series of events, the wasp completes the cycle of its instinctive act in a definite and unalterable sequence.

Even if the egg is removed from the immobilized captive before the wasp brings other insects as food, the wasp will continue to put food into the hole and then seal it shut.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

A moth caterpillar will invariably complete the spinning of its cocoon without stopping as long as it is left alone. However, if the caterpillar is disturbed, for instance by being picked up, the spinning process will stop. When the caterpillar is put down it will resume its spinning activities from the point where it stopped, completing the cocoon previously begun rather than starting a new one.

<u>**REFERENCES**</u>: <u>36</u>; <u>119</u>, pp. 669-673.

#### SECTION 2:

#### CHEMICAL PRODUCTION

## Page

1.

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF CHEMICAL PRODUCTION	16
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	16
ASSASSIN BUG DIGESTIVE VENOM	17
BEE STING	19
DEFENSIVE SECRETIONS OF THE MILLEPEDE	20
LACHRYMAL GLANDS	22
PHOTOSYNTHESIS	23
POISONOUS HAIRS OF NETTLING INSECTS	25
SALT GLANDS IN MARINE BIRDS	26
SILK PRODUCTION	28
SPINNERETS IN THE SPIDER	30
WHIP SCORPION'S DEFENSE MECHANISM	31

#### BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF CHEMICAL PRODUCTION

The living cell is a highly complex "chemical factory". Man has not constructed a chemical plant to rival the living cell in terms of the number and complexity of compounds produced. The fundamental substance of the cell has remained in its innermost essence undiscovered, although careful and extensive studies have been devoted to the mass of cell products.

The production of complex chemical compounds from simpler compounds by living cells is handled on a molecule by molecule basis. For example, the synthesis of protein is accomplished through the molecule interchange of amino acids. The actual protein synthesis within the cell takes place at the polysomes, where amino acids are added one at a time to form a long-chain protein molecule. Many such polysomes exist within a single cell and their total output therefore becomes appreciable.

-

Specialization of cells in multicellular organisms has led to glands or organs whose function is specifice'ly the production of special chemicals. These specialized organs may produce chemicals for internal regulation of the activities of the body (such as that produced by endocrine glands), or for the elimination of waste (see, for example, "Salt Glands in Marine Birds"). Often, however, animals utilize chemical glands in coping with their environment. The sting of bees and some arachnids, the venom of snakes, the odor of skunks, the spider's web, and the silk of the silkworm are all familiar examples of the chemical means employed by animals. Most of the entries described in this section are of specialized organs for the production of chemicals used to cope with the environment.

#### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

Chemical production by specialized organs in animals sometimes involves familiar principles of chemistry. For example, in the production of silk, (see entry on "Silk Production"), the Bombyx mori secretes thin threads of a saliva-like liquid from its oral glands or spinnerets. Due to mechanical stress in spinning, this liquid forms very soft threads of silk with a high tensile strength.

The production of artificial silk by the chemist involves a similar operation. Cotton is treated with an ammoniacal solution of copper hydroxide, and this solution is forced through a capillary tube into an acid solution which precipitates the cellulose as a long continuous fiber of silk.

By comparison with the techniques used in living cells, the techniques used by the chemist for the processing of chemicals always involves (relatively speaking) large quantities of raw materrials in mass reactions. At this time there are no techniques for building up long-chain molecules by adding individual molecules at some specially prepared site of synthesis.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 2
Chemistry	Actuators	Chemical
Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	External	Production

#### ASSASS IN BUG DIGESTIVE VENOM

DESCRIPTION:

The Reduviidae compriae, or assassin bugs, within the Order Insecta, inject a lethal venom into their victims, usually other insects. This venom "digests" and liquefies the surrounding tissue, permitting the assassin bugs to suck it up as food. The specialized organs associated with this process are located on the head, thorax, and forepart of the body. The salivary glands in the assassin's thorax produce and store the venom; pumps in the head force the venom through the beak into the prey, and also suck in the liquefied tissue. The jaws of the assassin bug are modified into two outer, or mandibular, stylets, which have barbed tips and flank two inner, or maxillary, stylets. The latter move in and out between the mandibular ones, each having two longitudinal grooves on their inner surface. They are faced together in register so that the complementary pairs of grooves form two tubular channels functioning as a "two-way hypodermic needle."



FIG, 1 HEAD OF ASSASSIN BUG SHOWING VENOM ROUTE

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The assassin bug grasps its prey with its legs and places its beak against the captive's body. Stimulated by action of retractor muscles, the "hypodermic needle" sucks saliva from the salivary glands through the flap valve on the thorax up to the beak. When the muscles are relaxed, the "hypodermic" springs forward, forcing a jet of saliva through the outlet duct in the upper wall of the pump, down the salivary canal of the stylets into the prey. After a short waiting period, the assassin bug feeds on the digested tissue by sucking the liquid back up through the stylets.

#### ASSASSIN BUG DIGESTIVE VENOM, Continued:

#### MAGN ITUDE:

In laboratory experiments the assassin bug, Flatymeris, was allowed to attack a cockroach, which died within 10 seconds. It was estimated that, during this period, the assassin bug was able to inject a minimum of 10 mg of saliva into the roach.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Mosquito bites, bee and scorpion stings, and bites of poisonous reptiles are related. The injection of a killing, paralyzing or pre-digesting substance into another animal by means of a sharp hollow tube or detachable appendage may: (1) serve for defense, (2) prepare a live but paralyzed host (preserved meat) for larvae, or (3), assist in obtaining food for the animal injecting the poisonous substance. Mud wasps paralyze adult cicadas which serve as food for larvae. Aquatic life forms often possess stinging organs. Allied organs inject eggs in host animals or plants. Spiders and mosquitoes have sucking organs comparable to those of the assassin bug.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Poison arrowheads or spear points, hypodermic needles, meat tenderizers, insecticides, and food preservatives are each analogous to some facet of the structures or compounds in the assassin bug.

Wells are often dug (jetted) by using apparatus very similar in action but different in intent. Water is forced under pressure through a pipe into a hole. As emission takes place the mud created is returned through another pipe to the surface. In this manner, the earth to be removed is first dissolved in a solution, then pumped to the surface of the hole, separated from the solvent, and the solvent (water) is reused. As the well is deepened, the pipes are lowered and the process is continued until the desired depth is reached.

Sulphur and other minerals are sometimes mined in a similar manner. In such cases the purpose is to retrieve, from the solution, the mineral that is desired. For mining sulphur, the solvent is hot water.

**<u>REFERENCES:</u>** 27, pp. 72-78.

<u>Physical Class</u> Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	<u>Physical Operator</u> Actuators External	Section 2 Chemical Production

#### BEE STING

#### DESCRIPTION:

The bee's sting is generally transitory and not usually serious, although it has been known to cause acute swelling and inflammation and rarely death. The sting mechanism consists of a sharp lance-like organ located at the posterior end of the body, a "poison" gland secreting formic acid, and reservoir system which empties to the outside through the lance-like organ.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Before the bee stings, a suitable place is selected with the help of the sting feelers. The two barbed darts are thrust forward piercing the skin allowing the poison to be injected under the skin.

When a worker bee stings a victim, it usually leaves the sting and often a portion of its abdomen in the skin. When more than the sting is left, the bee dies. The parts of the bee sting are modified ovipositors and some authorities believe they represent abdominal appendages.

#### MAGNITUDE :

In the honeybee, the sting proper consists of two sharp, polished, brown spears or darts which appear as one. Each of the two darts of the honey bee's sting has 9 or 10 curved hooks or barbs near the end. As the insect stings, these two darts are very rapidly thrust into its victim to a depth of 1/10 of an inch, and occasionally further with subsequent thrusts. The small curved hooks prevent the bee from removing the sting.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

In scorpions the sting is found on the end of the tail, and is not used unless the scorpion is being attacked.

In the phylum Coelenterata most species have stinging cells called nematocysts which are used as organs of defense and offense.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS

The functional aspects of the bee sting are modeled by a hypodermic syringe and needle in that injection of chemicals below the skin is achieved by both.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 36, p. 57; 58, p. 278; 102, p. 298.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 2
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Sensors Contact Actuators External	Chemical Production

#### DEFENSIVE SECRETIONS OF THE MILLEPEDE

#### DESCRIPTION:

Certain species of millepedes, when disturbed, emit a highly persistent, aromatic secretion. which is believed to be defensive in function. This secretion contains mostly benzalde-hyde,  $C_6H_6$  CHO, and hydrogen cyanide, HCN, the latter compound being stored in its stable form called mandelonitrile.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The cyanogenic secretion of the polydesmoid millepede, Apheloria corrugata, is discharged from paired, serially arranged glands, mach consisting of two compartments. One compartment stores an undissociated cyanogenic compound, and the other a chemical factor that triggers cyanomenesis. The gland is constructed so the contents of the two compariments are mixed and cyanogenesis is initiated at the instant of discharge.

The secretion is ejected through small openings on the dorsal surface near the tip of some of the paired notal projections which are present on all body segments. Secretory ducts are located on segments 5, 7, 9 10, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, and 19 in both adult males and lemales. The discharge usually occurs in response to traumatic stimuli only from the segments which are stimulated. When the millepede becomes highly irritated all the segments secrete.

#### MAGN | TUDE :

The release of the cyunide compound by millepedes is gradual, rather than a rapid expulsion at the moment of stimulation. Quantitatively, 92% of the secretion is the benzaidehyde. The HCN, stored as mandelonitrile, forms approximately 2% of the remainder of the secretion. Carbohydrates are also found in small quantities.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The secretion and ejection of para-benzoquinone compounds by the cockroach parallels in many respects the millepede secretions.

The irrituting discharge from the poisonous hairs of nettling insects is similar in anatomical aspects and mode of discharge.

The sting of the whip scorpion also resembles the millepede secretions in discharge and effect.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Poisonous and irritating gases used in warface are analogous to the secretions described. DEFENSIVE SECRETIONS OF THE MILLEPEDE, Continued:

Pilots and sailors are issued a special soap-like compound designed to repel sharks as it slowly dissolves in the water. This compound has a purely defensive purpose analogous to the secretions of the millepede.

REFERENCES: 10, p. 512; 40, pp 437-450.

Physical Class Fluid Mechanics	<u>Physical Operator</u> Transformers Matter Actuators	Section 2 Chemical Production
	Internal	

#### LACHRYMAL GLANDS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Lachrymal glands produce a watery secretion which provides an amount of moisture to the surface of the eye and to the nasal passages. They are located in the nasal passage with ducts opening at the inner angle of the eyes which drain into the nasal chambers.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The glands are innervated by parasympathetic secretory and vasodilator fibers which arise in a nucleus of small motor cells situated in the pons near the upper salivary nucleus. Parasympathomimetic drugs such as pilocarpine, muscarine, and acetylcholine stimulate lachrymal gland secretion, whereas parasympatholytic drugs, such as atropine, inhibit secretion.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The normal lachrymal secretion is 13 drops every 16 hours, of which 7 drops evaporate and the remainder flow into the nasal cavities. Irritation of the conjunctiva or the nasal mucosa increases lachrymal secretion. The afferent fibers of this reflex form part of the trigeminal nerve. Vomiting, sneezing, and coughing are accompanied by increased lachrymal secretion.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The salivary glands, resembling the lachrymal glands in structure and general appearance, communicate with the mouth.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The lubricating system in an automobile engine and the window washing devices of automobiles provide washing or lubricating functions analogous to those of the lachrymal glands.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 7, pp. 1314-1315; <u>44</u>, p. 1121.

Physical Class

Chemis's y Heat and Thermodynamics Optics and Light

#### Physical Operator

Transformers Energy Matter Scation 2

Chemical Production

#### PHOTOSYNTHESIS

DESCRIPTION:

Photosynthesis is the chemical process by which plants containing the pigment chlorophyll absorb light energy and utilize it in converting atmospheric carbon dioxide to various carbohydrates. It is the process basic to formation of all the organic compounds of plants, such as proteins, fats, acids, alkaloids, and vitamins, as well as carbohydrates.

#### ILLUS TRATION :

The photosynthetic process is composed essentially of two general processes. In the first process, called "light reaction", the absorption of light by the chlorophyll system provides energy in the form of activated chemical communds. In the second process, carbon dioxide is reduced by the active molecules formed in the light reactions, producing carbohydrates and other substances. The longest wave lengths of visible light are the effective ones in promoting photosynthesis. Infrared light (800-850 mg) has also been found effective. The photosynthetic reaction may be summarized as follows:

> $6CO_2 + 6H_2O \longrightarrow C_8H_{12}O_8 + 6O_2$ (690 kcal of light energy)

#### MAGN | TUDE :

The conversion of 6 moles of  $CO_2$  to 1 mole of glucose requires approximately 690 kilocalories of energy, which is obtained from the radiant energy of visible light (4,000 to 7,000 Å) absorbed by chlorophyll.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

The solar cells (silicon, germanium, etc.) absorb light and convert it to electric power. There are other similar devices which generate electric power from the heat produced by light energy. O'e of these involves a cyclic variation in a charged capacitor. As the capacitance is changed in a direction in opposition to the electrostatic force, the heat energy is converted to electrical energy. The same principle can be applied using the cyclic permeability change of an inductive element to obtain electrical power.

No commercial use is made of sunlight as an energy source in chemical reactions.

Biological fuel cells and closed loop life systems have been devised by placing biological organisms in an artifical
PHOTOSYNTHESIS, Continued:

environment. These are not true analogs, but are examples of systems integrating the biological and physical.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 12, pp. 439-452; <u>45</u>, p. 767; <u>147</u>, pp. 1000-1003.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 2
Chemistry	Actuators	Chemical
Mechanics	External	Production

# POISONOUS HAIRS OF NETTLING INSECTS

# DESCRIPTION:

The larva or caterpillar stage of certain moths, such as the saddleback moth and the flannel moth, have two types of hairs growing in tufts around the ridges of their numerous segments. The longer hairs are relatively harmless, and probably serve a partially sensory function of a tactile nature. The shorter ones, called the nettling hairs or spines, have tiny barbs at their tips and are attached to small glands just below the skin of each tuft which exude an irritating liquid. This gives the larva a highly effective protective device.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

When disturbed by touching, the underlying hypodermal "poison" glands, which have received stimuli from the outer area, contract rapidly and send out the irritating liquid through the hairs. Occasionally, these nettling hairs have been found on the corneas of the eyes of different animals, their "poison" secretion producing severe irritation.

#### MAGNITUDE:

This "poison" has been known to cause severe swelling of the general area around the point of injection, accompanied by intense and long-lasting itching sensation. Extreme intestinal disturbances have also resulted from accidental injections. Although its exact composition is not well-known, it is considered by many investigators to be more severe than the poison of a common bee sting.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The bristles of the nettle plant are similar to the poisonous hairs of insects in that they contain a watery juice which, when it makes contact with the skin, produces an intense itching reaction.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Poison tipped arrows and spears have been reportedly used to increase the lethality of these weapons.

<u>REFERENCES: 36</u>, p. 58; 102, pp. 21-22.

Physical Class	Physical Ope	erator	Section 2
Chemistry	Sensors	Transformers	Chemical
Fluid Mechanics	Internal	Matter	Production

# SALT GLANDS IN MARINE BIRDS

# DESCRIPTION:

All marine birds have a salt-eliminating gland which can dispose of salt more effectively than kidney action. These glands, located on top of the skull above the eyes, consist of many lobes made up of several thousand branching tubules radiating from a central duct. The tubules, approximately one thousandth of an inch in diameter, secrete a solution of sodium chloride with a concentration of up to 5 per cent.

# ILLUSTRATION:

When marine birds ingest food with a high salt content or drink sea water, the excess salt flows through the salt-gland duct into the nasal cavity, dripping off the tip of the beak. A network of capillaries carries the blood in an opposite direction but parallel to the flow of salt solution in the tubules. This functioning of the principle of counter-current flow amplifies the osmotic transfer of salt from the blood in the capillaries to the fluid in the tubules. A major difference between the human kidney and salt glands is that the latter function intermittently in direct response to concentration of salt and the need to eliminate it. The kidney secretes continuously at a varying rate.

# MAGNITUDE:

A sea gull used in a laboratory experiment was given 134 cubic centimeters of sea water, which was equal to one-tenth of the gull's body weight. Within three hours the gull had excreted 90 per cent of the salt, the salt glands having produced approximately two-thirds as much fluid as its kidneys during this time.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The loggerhead turtle has a similar salt-gland structure which is essential for the elaboration of fluids with a high salt concentration.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Although machines devised to purify sea water are analogous in their function, they do not use the osmotic principle. Such machines usually depend on evaporation-condensation principles, or salt and other compounds are precipitated out of the solution by centrifugal force.

Osmosis can be demonstrated as a method of reducing the concentration of a solution by placing a piece of animal membrane in contact with a sugar solution. In osmosis, the passage of water molecules occurs but the larger, more complex sugar molecules do not pass through the membrane.

# SALT GLANDS IN MARINE BIRDS, Continued:

The principle of osmosis has been demonstrated using inorganic materials by devising a semipermeable membrane using a thir film of copper ferrocyanide, CuaFe(CN)s.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: 129, pp. 65-66; 130, pp. 109-116.

<u>Physical Class</u> Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Physical Operator Transformers Matter Actuators	Section 2 Chemical Production
	External	

#### SILK PRODUCTION

DESCRIPTION:

Silk is produced by a variety of species and by diverse organs. The larva of the moth, Bombyx mori, produces a silk, which is a saliva-like secretion, exuded in thin threads from the oral glands.

# ILLUSTRATION:

In the larva of the Bombyx mori the components of silk are found in the reservoir of the silk gland as a reasonably homogeneous colloidal solution which is soluble in hot water, 5-20% sodium chloride, and 5-10% sodium carbonate. The components are non-dialysable and are not coagulated by heat.

At the time of spinning, natural solidification occurs virtually instantaneously, with the formation of a highly crystalline central fiber (silk fibroin) surrounded by an amorphous coat of silk gelatine (sericine). The solidification of the fibroin that occurs at the instant of spinning is not due to exposure to air or to drying (since it can occur under water) but is probably due to the operation of stresses and shearing forces, which act to distort and perhaps to activate the molecular chains to give the steric configuration necessary for formation of the fiber. The process may be visualized as the aggregation of fibroin units into fibers under the mechanical influence of spinning, whereas the other components which do not fit into the fibroin lattice accumulate at the periphery to become the sericine portion of the raw silk.

The silk fibroin produced by the Bombyx mori is characterized chemically by its high content of glycine, alanine, and tyrosine. It is a simple protein filament giving the diffraction pattern of a fully extended polypeptide chain composed principally of alternating glycine and alanine units and having a side chain of relatively little significance. Estimates of the molecular size of silk fibroin vary from 40 to 2592 amino acid units per molecule.

#### MAGNITUDE :

The silkworms are able to produce silk at the rate of about six inches/min; this results in the formation of a complete cocoon in three days by a single strand approximately 1,000 feet long.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

A spider produces the strands for its web in a similar manner, but the strands are secreted from the spinnerets at the posterior end of the spider's abdominal body region. The SILK PRODUCTION, Continued:

spider's silk-like strands are also strong, and have a coating of sticky material.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The production of artificial fibers is analogous to the fiber production by insects, although few, if any, artificial fibers are hardened by tension or shear forces.

REFERENCES: 102, p. 46; 107, p. 14; 118, pp. 30-31.

1

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 2
Chemistry	Actuators	Chumical
Fluid Mechanics	External	Production
Mechanics		

# SPINNERETS IN THE SPIDER

DESCRIPTION:

In the spider there are three pairs of organs called spinnerets (web weaving organs), located just below the spider's analopening, through which buildreds of microscopic tubes pass. The abdominal "silk" glands secrete a fluid which passes through these and hardens on the outside, forming a thread. These threads are used to build nests, cocoons, and webs.

# ILLUSTRATION:

As a spider begins to spin a thread, it forces out the liquid silk by pressing the spinnerets against an object. As the spider moves away, the sticky liquid is drawn out and it hardens in the air. The spider can make one thick thread by keeping the spinnerets together or a fine thread by holding them apart. The large black and yellow garden spider, Eperia gemma, attaches its strands to the branches of a tree or a tall plant. This animal uses one of its hind legs to draw the silk from the spinnerets until a sticky thread floats through the Jir. When the thread sticks to another object a few feet or yards away, the spider fastens the thread end still attached to its body to the object, then crosses back and forth adding silk until it is strong enough to hold up the web. Next the spider starts a second thread and drops itself as it spins silk out from the spinnerets, fastering this thread to another object below. The spider then climbs up the thread to the main strand, and attaches other threads radiating out like the spokes of a wheel.

# MAGHITUDE:

Spiders spin seven different kinds of silk and one individual spider can spin five different kinds.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The secretion of the silk moth Bombyx mori is similar. This silk is a liquid, somewhat similar to saliva, that solidifies to a soft thread due to stresses in spinning.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Dies, such as those used in drawing out wire, nozzles, such as those on a common garden hose, or jets, such as those used in expelling liquid synthetic fibers into hardening solutions are analogous to the spider's spinnerets.

REFERENCES: <u>36</u>, p. 6.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 2
Chémistry	Sensors Actuators Contact External Transformers Information	Chemical Production

#### WHIP SCORPION'S DEFENSE MECHANISM

# DESCRIPTION:

The defense mechanism of the whip scorpion (vinegaroon) is a spray-like mechanism that ejects a vinegar-like liquid at antagonists which touch or disturb it.

The liquid is ejected through glands situated laterally to each other in the opisthosoma which is the posterior legless abdominal area. The defensive secretion is stored in the glands. the thin walls of which are composed of the tissues that synthesize the secretion. The ducts of these glands extend posteriorly in a parallel direction and end in a three-sectioned knob just outside of the abdominal wall. It is through these ducts that the stream of repellent is sprayed. A whip or flagellum extends out from the center of this knob-like protrusion. While aiming, the whip accompanies the movements of the knob in such a way that just before discharge it is usually pointed toward, or even brought in contact with whatever has touched the vinegaroon. It would appear that the creature is getting its bearing by using the whip as a feeler, but amputation of the whip does not impair the accuracy with which a discharge through the ducts is aimed.

# ILLUSTRATION:

When contact is made with the scorpion's body, the postabdominal knob and the whip are both turned rapidly and accurately in the direction of the point of contact. During a series of laboratory experiments a vinegaroon was placed in a cage with a small desert mouse. The mouse immediately attacked the whip scorpion. The whip scorpion shot a stream of the irritating secretion at the mouse. The mouse retreated and continued to rub its eyes in an attempt to get rid of the irritating liquid.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The glands which secrete this irritating liquid have large reservoirs in which the material is stored. As a result, the vinegaroon is able to discharge the fluid many times in succession. The usual number of successive discharges is approximately ten to twelve, although it has been known to discharge as many as nineteen times. The supply of material appeals to be almost constant judging from the speed with which the volume of the glandular secretion is restored. The force with which the liquid is expelled allows it to obtain an average distance of over two feet.

#### WHIP SCORPION'S DEFENSE MECHANISM, Continued:

Chemical analysis of the material shows it to contain 84% acetic acid, 11% water, and 5% caprylic acid. The acetic acid is present in a high enough concentration to be responsible for most of the burning sensation caused by the liquid. However, the presence of the caprylic acid explains the destructive influence of the material, since it is a wax solvent and, when sprayed on insects with a wax coating over their bodies, dissolves the wax and the liquid acts upon the exposed tissues.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The discharge from the poisonous hairs of the mettling insect is similar in immediate action, although the physiological end result is not as severe.

Other repeilent-producing creatures include an ant which secretes a mixture rich in citronella, one of the oldest known insect repellents.

Also, there are certain millepedes that secrete hydrogen cyanide (prussic acid).

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Tear gas spray guns have been devised for protective purposes. However, these weapons usually employ either plunger or compressed gas to propel the irritant liquid.

REFERENCES: 28, pp. 10-19; 36, p. 57.

SECTION 3:

# CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY

-

	Page
BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY	. 34
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	. 34
CHEMOTROPISM	. 36
EFFECT OF NICOTINE ON THE INSECT'S HEART	. 38
GILL SLIT	. 40
HOMING MIGRATION OF SALMON	. 42
OLFACTORY SACS IN SHARKS	. 44
OLFACTORY SENSITIVITY IN CRAYFISH	. 46
OLFACTORY SENSITIVITY IN INSECTS	. 48
TASTE BUDS	. 50

# BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY

Chemical sensitivity may be defined as the ability of an organism to react to or detect odors and tastes. It is a composite term, which is derived from both the sense of smell and the sense of taste. In the human, the sense of smell is more highly developed and more important than that of the sense of taste, as witnessed by the fact that the receptors of this particular sense are brought into play much more frequently within a man's environment. There is a further distinction on an anatomical and functional level between the receptor organs of the chemical sense. The sense of smell involves primarily a distance chemoreceptor whereas the taste sensation occurs only when there is immediate contact with the stimulus.

A corresponding difference exists on the functional level. Taste only gives information of desirability or undesirability of a particular substance. The sense of smell on the other hand can guide an organism away from danger, towards food, and so on. For this reason, the smell system is connected to an elaborate neural mechanism whereas the taste fibers are in general connected directly with simple motor systems.

It is significant that the lower animals, perhaps because of a lack of the other more highly developed sensory systems, rely heavily on the chemical senses. For some, it is the main means of detecting potential danger and therefore acquires certain survival value. Its superior development plays an active part in the life of the moth, for example. It has been experimentally verified that the male moth can detect the characteristic odor of a chemical giv off by the female of his species at distances up to four or five miles.

Chemical cues are conetheless important to higher animals as well. In these cases, complex systems are involved for computing associations and for making predictions; food, companions, danger and other factors are associated with characteristic chemical conditions.

# PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

The complete details of how the taste sensations are produced are unknown, but while a variety of artificial chemical detectors have been constructed, none of the artificial devices are analogs of taste sensors except in a very general way.

The situation with regard to olfactory sensations is slightly better understood in that a scaling of olfactory sensations has been developed. This scaling in many respects resembles the scaling of color in that a wide variety of olfactory sensations can be produced by mixing four primary odor-producing substances in varying amounts. It has also been suggested that electromagnetic radiation in the long infrared portion of the spectrum is a stimulus for olfactory sensations.

From the standpoint of a chemist who must design chemical detectors, the only difference between taste and smell is the medium in which material is dissolved or suspended, i.e., liquid or gaseous. Since the details of the processes are unknown at this time, it would be purely fortuitous if we could design chemical detectors with sensitivity and range properties resembling those of the human senses. However, we can surmise that the chemical senses might be simulated; as are sight and hearing, by means of a collection of sensors with differing characieris-tics in combination with suitable parameterization and discrimination equipment.

Physical Class	Physical Op	Section 3	
Chemistry	Sensors Contact Distance	Actuators External	Chemical Sensitivity

# CHEMOTROPISM

# DESCRIPTION:

Chemotropism is the reaction of animals to chemical stimulation of the sense of smell or taste. It may also result in the control of an animal's positioning.

In order for an animal to react to chemical stimulation, the chemical stimuli cannot be at a distance; there must be an actual transfer of material--by diffusion or the like--from the source to the animal.

Animals in general use chemotropism to find food and search for a mate. More rarely is chemotropism involved in escape reactions.

# ILLUSTRATION:

Positive chemotropism is demonstrated by the Drosophila (fruit fly) in its attraction to overripe fruit. Yeast cells metabolize the sugar in the fruit which results in the production of certain alcohols and organic acids. This reaction causes the fruit to undergo fermentation. The olfactory organs of the Drosophila are particularly sensitive to these alcohols and organic acids. They attract the fly which then feeds on the veast cells.

# MAGNITUDE :

The degree of chemotropism, either positive or negative, exhibited by any organism depends on the type of compound eliciting this response, and its concentration. Both forms of chemotropism, however, are observed more frequently and more actively in the lower forms of animal life.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Other examples of positive chemotropism are: The attraction of male moths to the scent emitted by female moths even at a great distance.

The grasshopper's method of finding food, mates and shelter.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The existence of a tropism usually depends on the existence of a suitable detector and on a means for detecting the direction of the maximum gradient of the signals or stimuli. Methods of detecting the direction of maximum signal strength (direction finding methods) are commonly employed in radio and radar work, especially in military countermeasures activities. In computer programming, techniques for searching function

CHEMOTROPISM, Continued:

spaces and following that direction (or its opposite) to locate maxima (or minima) in the space are often called "hill-climbing" methods.

REFERENCES: 36, p. 212; 102, p. 504; 140.

Phycical Class	Physical Operator	Section 3
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Materials Properties	Sensors Actuators Internal Internal Transformers Energy Matter	Chemical Sensitivity

# EFFECT OF NICOTINE ON THE INSECT'S HEART

# DESCRIPTION:

Nicotine acts variously in different insects. In Periplaneta americana it accelerates the rate of heart beat in low concentrations. With intermediate concentrations initial stimulation is followed by partial depression, and with high concentrations the initial stimulation is followed by systolic standstill. Although the heart of Prodenia eridania is less sensitive to nicotine than that of the cockroach, it is similarly stimulated and depressed, although final standstill occurs in diastole rather than in systole.

# ILLUSTRATION:

The combination of all the cardiovascular effects of nicotine results in a sustained decrease of the systolic and pulmonary arterial pressures. This effect is more accentuated in the adult insect than in the young.

Nicotine abolishes all the ganglionic and preganglionic reflexes that maintain circulatory homeostasis. The vascular system becomes so passive that it cannot redistribute the large volume of blood that accumulates by gravity in the capillary system.

# MAGNITUDE:

The nicotine present in the fumes of burning tobacco will stop the heart action of Macrosiphum tulipal in two to three minutes.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

DDT produces similar results on the action of many insects especially of the insect Periplaneta.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

In most other entries in this section, specialized cells provide a detection capability, giving an informational coupling between organism and environment. The effect of nicotine on the insect's heart is a true sensitivity, rather than a detection.

If an elementary information or signal processor is taken as a model of a living organism, the specialized cells that provide a detection of chemicals can be equated to a transducer that provides inputs to the information processor. The sensitivity of tissues to chemicals has as its counterpart a mechanism for modifying the signal processing of the processor. In more concrete terms, the potentiometers in analog computers provide a direct means for modifying the transfer function of the computer. These potentiometers thus constitute a mechanism for producing EFFECT OF NICOTINE ON THE INSECT'S HEART, Continued: an effect analogous to that of nicotine on the insect's heart. <u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>6</u>, pp. 263-264.

M. T

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 3
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics	Transformers Matter	Chemical Sensitivity

# GILL SLIT

#### DESCRIPTION:

The gill slit is an opening from the side of the pharynx to the exterior of the body in aquatic chordates. These openings are usually vertically elongated, with several lying in a series, one behind the other, on each side, and separated by cartilaginous bars which support the pharyngeal arch. Traces of these can be found in mammals. The first slit is joined at the mouth, the second forms the hyoid gill cleft and the rest, the bronchial clefts. Primitively, they were probably concerned with filtering food particles from water pumped through them by action of cilia, as in tunicates and amphioxus.

# ILLUSTRATION:

In fish and some Amphibia, the gill slits serve as organs of respiration in which the water pumped through by muscular action oxygenates the blood in the gills. The blood flows in opposite direction to the water outside the surface providing a rapid process and almost complete saturation as the blood leaves the gill filaments.

Aquatic Crustacea have gills which are usually ventilated by the paddle-like motion of special appendages such as the scaphognathites.

Many aquatic insects have gills through which oxygen passes directly to the branched tracheae. These are found in nymphs of Odonata, Plecoptera and Ephemeroptera.

# MAGNITUDE:

With some Crustacea, having an increased ability to remain on land results in a corresponding reduction of gills. For instance, the number of gills in low-tide crabs is approximately 26, in high-intertidal species it is 18, and in a beach crab, 12. Similarly, intertidal crabs have a gill area of 624 mm<sup>2</sup>/g, while land crabs have an area of 325 mm<sup>2</sup>/g.

The amount of saturation may vary with the amount of movement. Fish which were swimming had blood 85% saturated with oxygen whereas the blood of stationary fish was only 11% saturated.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Although the gill slits are absent from most adult tetrapods, the presence of gill slits, or at least of gill pouches and corresponding epidermal grooves at some stage of development, is characteristic of the whole Phylum Chordata. Gills perform a function similar to that of lungs. GILL SLIT, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Underwater breathing apparatus normally makes use of stored oxygen or air pumped from the surface. No practical use has ever been made of equipment to liberate and utilize the oxygen dissolved in water, although experimental equipment has been constructed for this purpose.

# <u>REFERENCES:</u> <u>58</u>, pp. 362-380; <u>116</u>, pp. 155-156; <u>150</u>, p. 57; <u>152</u>, p. 727.

Physical Class Chemistry	<u>Physical Operator</u> Sensors Distance	<u>Section 3</u> Chemical Sensitivity	

# HOMING MIGRATION OF SALMON

# DESCRIPTION:

The homing of salmon is accomplished as a result of the fish's sense of smell. After a young salmon has lived for some time in a fresh-water stream where it was hatched, it follows the stream to the ocean. It may stay in the ocean from one to several years, but when it is ready to spawn it returns to the stream in which it was born.

# ILLUSTRATION:

After experiments in special aquaria, Wisconsin zoologists proved that fish were able to distinguish such "odors" as those of various plant solutions and also waters from different rivers and streams. This led to an extensive field experiment in the state of Washington. During a spawning season, mature salmon that had returned to spawn were taken out of two different branches of the Issaquah river. Half the fish had their noses plugged with cotton and then all the fish were taken downstream and released.

Those salmon with plugged noses migrated back upstream, but picked the wrong stream as frequently as the right one. Those with unplugged noses always returned to the stream where they were hatched. Many subsequent experiments have confirmed that young salmon are "imprinted" with whatever odor (or taste) they experience at the time of hatching, and then have a tendency to seek this out again on maturation.

# MAGN ITUDE:

The extent of this chemical sensitivity was shown when investigators discovered that fish were able to distinguish the odors of very dilute rinses of many water plants in laboratory experiments. In one study, Canadian investigators marked approximately 470,000 sockeye salmon in the Fraser river. During the following few years, nearly 11,000 of these were recovered in that river as they returned from the ccean. None of them was found to have strayed into another stream.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

**Pigeons, ducks, chickens, and other birds also exhibit** the phenomenon of homing.

The small hole covered by a transparent tissue in the top of the tuna's head may, according to the Nova Scotia Fisheries Department, explain the fish's migrations as the result of seasonal sunlight changes. The hole is connected to a tube leading to the tuna's brain. Also, see entry on "Chemotropism". HOMING MIGRATION OF SALMON, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: Odor detection devices, gas detectors, and chemical sens-ing instruments perform functions similar to the fish's sense organs.

See comments on Physical Analogs in General at the beginning of this section.

REFERENCES: 129, pp. 89-90.

Chemistry Sensors Transformers Distance Information	Section 3
	Chemical Sensitivity

# OLFACTORY SACS IN SHARKS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Sharks can detect odors faster in water than many land animals can in their natural habitat although the diffusion of odorous substances through water is much slower than through air. This is accomplished by the passage of the water through the olfactory sacs, two invaginated shallow pockets located on the ventral surface of the snout.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Sharks are known to be able to discover a dead body at considerable distance in a very short time. However, when the nasal pits are plugged, the shark is unable to locate odorous food readily, even in the immediate vicinity.

#### MAGN I TUDE:

Compared to other fish, the shark is known to have one of the most highly developed and most sensitive olfactory systems.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The sea lamprey has one nasal aperture which leads into the olfactory sac. This sac receives nerve endings from both olfactory lobes of the brain.

The planaria, a flatworm, has ciliated pits, located on both sides of its head, which contain special sensory cells with long cilia. These are probably organs of a chemical sense that aid in finding food.

The reactions of the crayfish to food are partly due to the chemical or olfactory sense organs located in its smooth hairs. Each of these hairs has a nerve bundle in it which reacts to chemical stimulation. Although these smooth hairs are found on almost all of the crayfish's appendages, they are much more numerous on the anterior ones, with the exception of the "first" legs or chelipeds. Positive reaction results from the application of food substances; acids, salts, sugars, and other chemicals produce a negative reaction indicated by scratching or pulling at the part stimulated.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Odors can be measured by an electronic "nose" and the differences between them plotted by an electronic sorting apparatus which uses common substances, such as salt or egg albumen, to absorb odor particles in a gold lined chamber, creating an electrical impulse that can be read on an oscilloscope. Dr. Andrew Dravneiks, consultant to Armour Research Foundation, has constructed a device of this type. He utilized the absorbers, such

# OLFACTORY SACS IN SHARKS, Continued:

÷

as the salt, which simulates the way the moist membrane in the human nose picks up odors and creates electrical impulses which are interpreted by the brain.

REFERENCES: 25; 58, p. 396; 140, p. 390; 144, p. 771.



# OLFACTORY SENSITIVITY IN CRAYFISH

# DESCRIPTION:

The reactions of the crayfish to food are due partly to the chemical or olfactory sense organs located in its smooth hairs. Each of these hairs contains a nerve bundle which reacts to chemical stimulation. Although these smooth hairs are found on almost all of the crayfish's appendages, they are much more numerous on the anterior ones, with the exception of the "first" legs or chelipeds. These chelipeds are larger and longer than the other legs, and have at their ends the pinchers or grasping organs.



FIG. 2 SMOOTH HAIRS ON CRAYFISH APPENDAGES

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Since crayfish react to olfactory stimulation on any part of the body, it can be assumed that there are olfactory organs on the entire body. The anterior appendages, however, are the most sensitive, especially the outer ramus of the antennules. Positive reactions result from the application of food substances. For example, if meat juice is placed in the water near the animal, the antennae move slightly and the mouth parts perform vigorous chewing movements. The meat causes "general restlessness" and vague movements toward the source of the stimulation, but the animals seem to depend chiefly on touch for the accurate localization of food. Acids, salts, sugars and other chemicals produce a negative reaction indicated by scratching the carapace, rubbing the chelae or pulling at the part stimulated.

# MAGNITUDE :

The extent of the reaction has been shown to depend directly on the concentration (or dilution) of the chemical

OLFACTORY SENSITIVITY IN CRAYFISH, Continued:

stibuli in the area of the crayfish.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

In some respects these smooth hairs could be compared with the sensitive olfactory hairs of insects.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: See Sample Physical Analogs in the entries "Clfactory Sacs in Sharks" and "Taste Buds" in this section.

<u>REFERENCES: 58</u>, p. 396.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 3	
Chemistry Mechanics	Sensors Distance	Transformers Information	Chemical Sensitivity	

# OLFACTORY SENSITIVITY IN INSECTS

# DESCRIPTION:

Insects have attained a high degree of specialization in olfaction. Some of their receptors are particularly sensitive to volatile materials, hence are called distance olfactory organs; these are often on antennae, sometimes on labial palps; and they may be pore plates (sensilla placodea), thin cones and pegs (sensilla basiconica), or pegs or cones in pits (sensilla coelaconica).

# ILLUSTRATION:

The olfactory sensitivity of an insect to a chemical depends both on stimulation of the sense organ and on central mervous responses.

Some of the male night-flying moths are able to fly for miles through darkness, following scent trails of female moths through the air.

# MAGNITUDE:

Through two inches of solid wood the ichneumon fly can smell the grub on which it lays its eggs.

A menarch butterfly's olfactory sensitivity is 1,200 times as sensitive as that of man in detecting certain substances.



FIG. 3 INSECT ANTENNA WITH OLFACTORY HAIRS

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The olfactory sensitivity of the honey bee is very similar to that of man. The following compounds are each distinguishable by bees and man alike: amyl acetate, methyl heptenone, bromstyrol, isobutyl benzoate and salicylic acid. OLFACTORY SENSITIVITY IN INSECTS, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: See Sample Physical Analogs in the entries "Olfactory Sacs in Sharks" and "Taste Buds" in this section.

REFERENCES: 119, pp. 544-556.

Chemistry

Physical Operator Sensors Contact

Station

Cherical

Seasitent.

Contact

# DESCRIPTION:

The taste buds or gustoreceptors are composed of taste sensory cells grouped in clusters. Although they are generally similar among vertebrate animals, their principal difference is in their arrangement and distribution.

TASTE BUDS

A taste bud consists of two types of cells:

a. <u>Sensory receptor cells</u> which are slender and elongated with enlarged basal ends. Their peripheral terminations are in spaces formed by the converging tips of the sustentacular cells.

b. <u>Sustentacular cells</u> - These surround the sensory cells and are of two types.

1. Basal cells - considered by Rauber to be reserve cells for renewal of the cells in the cluster.

2. Elongated supporting cells - both peripheral and interstitial, which give the taste bud its oval shape.

There are four generally accepted taste sensations which can be demonstrated in man by the location of their receptors on the tongue. These are: sweet, sour (or acid), salt, bitter.

<u>Sensation</u>	Location of Lowest Taste Threshold in Man
Swect	at the front of the tongue
Sour (acid)	at the sides in areas of the tongue over- lapping with salt taste buds
Salt	at the sides in areas of the tongue over- lapping with sour
Bitter	at the back of the tongue

In reptiles, such as crocodiles and snakes, the taste buds are in the posterior part of the mouth cavity.

Although taste buds are scarce in birds' mouths, a few are found in the posterior part of the tongue, embedded in the lingual papillae.

In many mammals there are only two areas of the tongue that are free of taste buds, i. e., the central oval area on the upper surface and the area under the tongue.

. .....



FIG, 4 TASTE BUDS

. .....

#### ILLUSTRATION:

In fish, such as carp, suckers, and catfish, the taste sensitivity extends over the entire ectodermal covering of the body. However, chemical sensors exhibit their greatest elaboration among mammals.

#### MAGNITUDE :

Man can detect the presence of quinine in as low a concentration as one part in 1,000,000 parts of water.

Some taste bud fibers respond to acids, at or below a specified pH, such as 2.5. Others respond to sodium chloride, NaCl, in solutions more dilute than 0.03 molar concentration. Related to these fibers are the salt taste endings which require a higher NaCl concentration than 0.05 molar.

Some fibers of the chorda tympani nerve in various animals respond when the tongue is bathed in distilled water, indicating that some receptors will respond to an increase in ions and others to a decrease.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

There are many other examples of unusual taste responses which illustrate the action of individual taste bud specificity. For example, a cat usually does not exhibit a taste response to the presence of sugar in solution, whereas a rabbit will. A taste reaction observed in many dogs is their ability to differentiate between sugar, which they appear to like, and saccharine, which they appear to dislike.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Devices for the detection or identification of chemicals in aqueous or gaseous solution and pH meters provide functions analogous to those of taste buds. Various physical and chemical principles have been employed in the detection or identification of chemicals. For example, spectroscopic analysis of compounds is commonly employed. Spectrometers are also used to identify an element or compound, but depend on the mass of the material rather than upon chemical reaction for identification. TASTE BUDS, Continued:

Gas detectors and leak detectors are usually designed to respond to a group or family of materials having some common property and normally are not designed to identify individual elements or compounds. For example, electrical properties of materials, such as conductance or permeability, are sometimes used to determine the concentrations of liquids.

REFERENCES: 7, pp. 1458-1459; 44, p. 1094.

SECTORN 4 ELECTROCAL ENERGY

	Page
BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF ELECTRICAL ENERGY	. 54
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	54
ELECTRICAL RESPONSE IN NERVE AND MUSCLE CELLS	. 55
ELECTRIC CURRENT PRODUCTION IN FISH	. 57
PSYCHOGALVANIC RESPONSE	. 60
SODIUM PUMP AND ELECTRICAL POTENTIAL, THE	. 62



# BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF ELECTRICAL ENERGY

Numerous types of animal tissues such as the nervous and muscular tissues generate small electric currents. Bacteria likewise produce electrical energy. Useful power has been developed in "biological fuel cells" employing bacteria. Electrical energy is produced in two general ways by animals. The first and more common one is the generation of electricity by the various tissues; the second is the production of a far stronger current by fish having specific electric organs.

March 4

. . . .

Two examples of the production of electric currents by human tissue are: (1) the heart, which produces a measurable current at the surface of the body, and (2) the brain, which produces a small amount of electricity which can be detected by the electroencephalograph.

Among the current-producing animals, there seem to be two general groups of electric organs with respect to their intensity of production. One group produces the current used mostly for offense and defense. The other group produces a weak current used mostly as an echo-location mechanism.

In the following section, we describe the principles involved in the production of electric current by fish, and also by the human organs mentioned.

#### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

In terms of total quantity of energy produced, the induction of currents in a conductor moving through a magnetic field is the most common method of generating electrical energy. This type of electrical production does not appear in nature probably because strong natural magnetic fields do not appear often on earth.

Since the chemistry of redox reactions has been studied fairly extensively, we are not likely to learn many new chemical facts from studies of electricity production in living cells. The existence of the bacteriological fuel cell, although still in the research phase, is an indication of the type of application which may arise.

Physical Class	Physical Operators		Section 4
Electricity and Magnetism Mechanics	Transformers Energy Information	Actuators External Internal	Electrical Energy

#### ELECTRICAL RESPONSE IN NERVE AND MUSCLE CELLS

# DESCRIPTION:

Nerve cells and muscle cells will respond to electrical stimulation. If a sufficiently strong current, i.e., one exceeding the threshold or rheobase, is applied, the nerve responds by starting a normal impulse and the muscle responds by contracting. The first response follows immediately after the current begins to flow. Thereafter it is a change in the current, rather than its mere presence, which evokes further response.

If the stimulation consists of a single, short electric pulse applied to the muscle, a heief latent period passes before the contraction occurs. Additional delay occurs if stimulation is applied to the nerve recover that to the muscle itself, the impulse then having to traverse the verve first.

When a second stimulus is applied before the first contraction ends, a new contraction is superimposed on the first. If closely spaced stimuli are applied continuously, the result is a smooth, sustained contraction called tetanus. This type of activity is normally found in the skeletal muscles of vertebrates.

#### **ILLUSTRATION:**

A specific characteristic of vertebrate muscle contraction is the all-or-none phenomenon. In this case the contraction is complete as long as the stimulus exceeds the threshold. Increasing the strength of the stimulus does not affect the magnitude of the response. The heart, contracting as a single unit, typifies this type of activity. The variance in degree of contraction is due to the activity of the fibers themselves rather than changes in stimulation. Similarly, the changes in the response of the striated muscle when subjected to stimuli of varying strength, are due to the activation of a variable number of contractile units, each of which, however, is responding maximally.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Tissues that respond slowly have a higher rheobase and a longer chronaxie than those which respond rapidly. The frog gastrocnemius muscle has a chronaxie of 0.3 ms and a contraction time of 0.15 sec; gastric muscle in the same species has a chronaxie that varies from 30 to 100 ms and a contraction time between 15 and 20 sec; the pigment cells in the frog's skin also react slowly, their chronaxie being from i1 to 15 sec.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Hiccoughs (or singultus) are similar in that stimulation of the afferent nerve terminals will result in a spasmodic contraction of the diaphragam. Other types of muscular spasms are also ELECTRICAL RESPONSE IN NERVE AND MUSCLE CELLS, Continued:

activated in a similar manner. See also "Babinski Reflex Effect".

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Any device with a threshold and which saturates with no stable states between saturation points is analogous. A bi-stable multivibrator is one such device although a single pulse (stimulus) switches it from one stable state to another. An additional pulse is required to reverse the action. A mono-stable multivibrator responds to a pulse input by switching from one stable state to another but returns to the original state after a time lapse. Latching and time-delay relays are similar in action.

Gas tubes have a characteristic of complete conduction as long as the input signal exceeds the threshold required to start ionization of the gas. Some solid state devices as well as circults exhibit this characteristic.

**REFERENCES:** 7, p. 477; 68, pp. 776-778, 794, 816.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 4
Electricity and Magnetism	Sensors Actuators Distance External Transformers Energy	Electrical Energy

# ELECTRIC CURRENT PRODUCTION IN FISH

# DESCRIPTION:

Both fresh and salt water electric fish are able to generate heavy electric discharges. The electric organs involved in this process are derived from the muscular tissue. They are composed of a large number of disc-like coils called electroplates, or electroplaques, which are arranged in a series and/or parallel grouping. The two sides of the electroplates are different, only one side being supplied by a cranial or spinal motor nerve. All the electroplates face in the same direction, thereby producing an additive effect which is capable of building up high voltages.





#### ILLUSTRATION:

Fish producing a strong electric current use this mechanism for both offense and defense. Those fish which produce weak electric currents use these organs as part of a locating mechanism. Both groups are extremely sensitive to the influences that affect or interrupt their electric fields in the water.

With each discharge, the fish sets up an electric field resembling an electric dipole. Those objects with an electrical conductivity differing from that of the water will change the normal pattern of this field around the fish. Investigators believe the fish can detect these changes in their electric fields by special receptors. These receptors serve to distinguish between conductors and nonconductors in the water and also to determine the presence and location of other fish.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

The strong electric fish, such as the Electrophorus, the Malapterurus, and Torpedo, produce discharges in short trains between 5 and 20 pulses, each one being about 1 ms in duration.

# ELECTRIC CURRENT PRODUCTION IN FISH, Continued:

The recorded voltage of the discharge from the whole organ is determined by the activity of the total number of electroplates. The total number of these plates in the electric eel, for example, has been determined by Keys to be in the vicinity of 6 to 7 thousand plates.

Grundfest, in his article on electric fish, listed the voltage output of a number of them as follows:

a. The Electrophorus (electric eel) of South American rivers can produce a potential of more than 500 v.

b. The Malapterurus (African catfish) can produce a potential up to 350 v.

c. The Torpedo nobiliana (giant electric ray) which inhabits the North Atlantic Ocean can produce potentials of 50 to 60 v, the latter being at 50 amp.

The weak electric fish may produce discharges as low as a fraction of a volt, and in many cases these discharges are maintained continuously and with regular frequency throughout their life span. This type of fish is not affected by the fish's state of excitation. Other types of weak electric fish, such as the Momicidae and Gymnotidae produce a slow and irregular discharge at an approximate rate of 1 to 6 each second, increasing when the fish is excited. In this case, the discharge duration from the whole organ can be as short as 2/10 ms.

In one species of fish studied by Professor Lissman of Cambridge University, it was found that the fish, Gymnotidae, were sensitive to a change in the field in the water of  $3 \times 10^{-9}$ and could discriminate between different-size glass rods in the tank by this mechanism.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

The physiology of the electric organ in fish is similar to that of a muscle, although different in effect. The electric charge in the electroplate and the surface potential in a muscle fiber both are positive on the outside in relation to the inside. During the discharge, the charge is reversed on the face receiving the nerve. The entire electric organ consists of a large number of electric cells arranged in series.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Chemical fuel cells, blochemical fuel cells and the electrolytic wet-cell batteries are analogous in that the electric energy produced depends on chemical reactions.

A device used to produce a current for spot welding is analogous in operation but not in means of energy production. This machine is arranged so that a large number of capacitors are charged over a relatively long time in parallel and, after being fully charged, they are switched to a series configuration and allowed to discharge through the metal to be welded. In this manner a high voltage, high current is produced for a very short discharge period. ELECTRIC CURRENT PRODUCTION IN FISH, Continued:

REFERENCES: 47, p. 115; 77; 90, p. 156.
Physical ClassPhysical OperaChemistryTransformersElectricity and MagnetismEnergyInformation	tor Section 4 Electrical Energy
--	---------------------------------------

## PSYCHOGALVANIC RESPONSE

### DESCRIPTION:

The psychogalvanic response (PGR) is a widely used index of the level of activation. It involves a measure of the electrical resistance of the skin, usually of the paims of the hands. A change in the response level is caused by the production of an electromotive force in the skin immediately following the application of a stimulus. The response is an especially valuable measure due to the speed and sensitivity with which it follows stimulation.

### ILLUSTRATION:

The more generally favored view today is that the response of sweating is the crucial variable in the measurement of the Psychogalvanic response. The extent of change in electrical conductance is directly correlated with the actual amount of sweat secreted. Sweating itself is not the cause of the response, but some neural or chemical activity in the skin that precedes sweating probably is.

These sweat glands seem to be innervated by postganglionic fibers of the sympathetic nervous system. Since this system is basic to emotion and, more specifically, to a general activation level, the response gives us excellent measures of these phenomena.

### MAGN ITUDE:

A correlation between the PGR and words rated on a scale from very pleasant to very unpleasant is quite positive. The response is smallest for stimuli considered "indifferent" with the greatest response occurring to "very unpleasant" stimulus words.

Similarly, when words of ambiguous or conflicting qualities are introduced, the response increases such that the median response to a mixed stimulus was 263 ohms as against 177 ohms for unpleasant stimulus words.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Other electrical activity in the body is found in brain waves as well as in the action potential of muscles.

Similar measuring devices are likewise used to measure uncontrolled or semicontrolled actions such as heart beat, blood pressure, and respiration.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The complete PGR involves many processes and mechanisms. Of these, only the simpler aspects have analogs. For example,

# FSYCHOGALVANIC RESPONSE, Continued:

varying the salinity of water changes its conductivity. However, the PGR has, itself, been incorporated into the polygraph (lie detector) since it provides some indication of emotional activity.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 108, p. 556-557; <u>145</u>, pp. 137, 154-155.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 4
Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism	Transformers Energy Actuators Internal	Electrical Energy

### THE SODIUM PUMP AND ELECTRICAL POTENTIAL

### DESCRIPTION:

When a single fiber in a muscle is at rest, a difference in potential exists between the inner and outer surfaces of the fiber, the latter being positive with respect to the former. This potential difference is due to the excess of positive ions on the surface, resulting from an active transport of sodium from the inside to the outside. This transport mechanism is commonly referred to as the "sodium pump".

### ILLUSTRATION:

It has been claimed that only the membrane ionic hypothesis can adequately explain this phenomenon. According to this view the resting potential of the muscle fiber is due to the relatively free diffusion of the small potassium and chloride ions across the membrane and the rather limited diffussion of the sodium ions. As a result, an electrical potential difference is set up across the membrane so that there is little or no electrochemical potential gradient of the freely moving potassium and chloride ions across the membrane despite the large differences in concentration.

The pump mechanism a'lows for the maintenance of these differences in concentration along with the very low internal concentration of sodium.

#### MAGNITUDE :

The potential difference between the inner and outer surfaces of the muscle fiber is about 90 to 100 mv.

In the giant axons of squid, the resting potassium and sodium conductances are about 0.5 and 0.01 mmho per cm<sup>2</sup> respectively.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The muscle fibers can be depolarized in several ways: by mechanical stimulation, by a change in pH, or by the application of chemicals. The usual manner, however, is the arrival of a nerve impulse.

See also "Membrane Permeability".

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

A physical analog to the sodium pump phenomenon is an ultrafiltration membrane, the thickness of which is related to the Fick diffusion coefficient. The driving force for the ultrafiltration is the chemical potential according to the Fick coefficient. If interference between the components is THE SODIUM PUMP AND ELECTRICAL POTENTIAL, Continued:

negligible, the flow rate of each component is dependent upon the change in its own chemical potential as it passes from the solution on one side of the membrane to that on the other side. This chemical potential is directly proportional to the degree of change.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 30, p. 62; 68, p. 784, 129, p. 70.

# SECTION 5:

# EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL

# Рзде

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL 66
BALANCE AND FLIGHT OF INSECTS
GEOTROPISM
SEMICIRCULAR CANALS
STATOCYSTS OF CRAYFISH
SWIM BLADDER IN FISH
TYPES OF EQUILIBRIUM

# BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL

The ability of an organism to maintain its equilibrium and to stay oriented with respect to the local vertical depends upon the existence of specialized sensing organs and upon specialized reactions or responses to forces or to changes in orientation. Not all organisms maintain a preferred orientation with respect to gravity, however. The Volvox, for example, has no preferred orientation and maintains an indifferent equilibrium.

In the lower forms of animal life, equilibrium sensing is accomplished by statocysts, which are hollow, cell-like structures containing a small granular formation like a piece of sand. Changes in an animal body position cause the granule to roll or fall against small, hair-like projections on the inner surface of the statocyst. In the crayfish, nerves from the statocysts connect to the ganglionic nerve center.

The most highly developed organs of equilibrium are the semicircular canals found in the higher animals, such as man. Studies have shown, however, that man does not rely completely on signals from the semicircular canals to maintain equilibrium. Sight, touch, and proprioception play significant roles in equilibrium maintenance.

Responses or reactions of animals to changes in position or to bodily contact (or lack thereof) take many forms. Some of the types of contact orientation taxes and reactions are described below.

1. <u>Thigmotaxis</u> is a form of response exhibited in many crawling animals. It involves a search for shelter and protection. (See "Thigmotaxis" on page 277.)

2. <u>Rheotaxis</u> is the orienting response of an animal with respect to a current of water. It is exhibited by such microscopic water organisms as euglena, hydra, and paramecium. (See "Rheotaxis" on page 273.)

3. <u>Anemotaxis</u> is the orienting response of an animal to air currents. This response is characteristic of many flying insects. (See "Air Current Sensors" on page 264.)

4. A <u>righting reaction</u> is exhibited by the starfish, crayfish, shall, and some insects, such as the click beetle. This reaction is considered to be a form of position-orienting.

response since the animal makes an attempt to regain the contact of its appendages and ventral surface to the ground.

### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

Biology is rich with examples of the use of feedback mechanisms to stabilize, regulate, and control. Of particular importance to the preservation and propagation of life is the maintenance of suitable equilibrium of biological systems with respect to their environment. One of the more obvious examples of the maintenance of equilibrium is the ability of the healthy members of warm-blooded species to regulate body temperature within narrow limits.

Both complex and simple mechanisms are used to maintain equilibrium of biological systems. Nevertheless, these mechanisms always involve, as a minimum, some means for (1) sensing system deviations from desired equilibrium conditions, and (2) taking action to reduce these deviations. In the language of servomechanism engineering, the equilibrium is maintained via a feedback loop, which, in addition to the process being controlled, contains elements for

- sensing
- computing
- actuating

A system block diagram is often drawn to show the relationships between these elements:



FIG 6. TYPICAL FEEDBACK CONTROL SYSTEM

The input consists of information concerning desired values of the controlled variable, which may be affected in an unpredictable manner by various environmental disturbances.

The input in a biological system is frequently of an implicit or hereditary nature, that is, the sensing element is structured to produce an error signal expressing system deviations from equilibrium conditions. Under these circumstances, the block diagram reduces to



FIG. 7 MODIFIED CONTROL SYSTEM TYPICAL OF INSTINCTIVE BEHAVIOR

Biological application of basic control and regulating principles are so profuse that this section can only begin to present the subject, although an effort has been made to include several of the more subtle phenomena. Furthermore, the study of biology is rarely approached from the standpoint of identifying feedback paths and key elements within these paths, with the result that the literature is confined largely to phenomenological descriptions of the maintenance of equilibrium, existence of certain tropisms, etc. For instance, geotropism exhibited by plants would suggest that they possess a highly sensitive means for detection of the gravitational gradient. Knowledge concerning the sensing technique(s) that plants use for the purpose, however, is very sketchy. In summary, the mechanisms of biological equilibrium obey the physical principles common to engineering control and regulating systems. But, before thoroughgoing analysis of biological techniques and devices becomes possible, a slightly different set of questions will have to be asked, and biological investigators must set out to answer these questions. In particular, we anticipate that the study of biological transducers (sensors) will pay rich dividends in the advancement of the science of bionics.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 5
Aerodynamics Mechanics	Sensors Actuators Contact External Internal	Equilibrium Sensing and Control

### BALANCE AND FLIGHT OF INSECTS

### DESCRIPTION:

The occurrence of any imbalance of an insect during flight results in (a) pitching or rotation antero-posteriorly about the transverse axis, (b) rolling about the longitudinal axis, and/ or (c) yawing about the dorsal-ventral axis. The sensory input for insects is partly visual, partly by wing sense organs (especially in insects with two pairs of wings), partly by sensory organs (hairs) at the region of the head attachments in Odonata. and partly by halteres or modified hindwings in Diptera. The halter is a dumbbell-shaped organ resembling one arm of a tuning fork in action. It has one or two muscles and an abundance of campaniform sensilla, or sensory hairs, at its base. These halteres, of which there are two on an insect, form an integral part of the wing sense organ system of numerous insects. Removal of the halteres seriously interferes with the ability of an insect to fly, and particularly affects its ability to maintain orientation in the horizontal plane.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

In the balance and flight of insects a gyroscopic torque is produced which fluctuates at twice the frequency of halter oscillation, and sensory nerve inpulses from the halteres show a burst for each half-cycle of oscillation.

During yawing, the nerve discharge is augmented much more than during rolling, although each halter can indicate rotations about both yawing and rolling axes, and the central nervous system can resolve pitch. The halter muscle contractions are more frequent than the impulses of the activating nerves, and the frequency depends on the mechanical properties. The vibration is in synchronization with the wing motions.

Removal of one halter and blinding the insect results in very erratic flight. Removal of both halteres results in uneven flight and inability to maintain normal attitude in flight.

### MAGNITUDE:

The halter nerve of insects contains several hundred incoming fibers; the principal nerve to the flight musculature contains about six motor axons. Although it is probable that the complete innervation of the flight muscles is appreciably more complex than these figures indicate, the disproportion between sensory and motor elements justifies the inference that spatial and temporal summation at the central synapses is of great importance to maintain a level of central tone, without which motor activity would be depressed or improperly coordinated.

# BALANCE AND FLIGHT OF INSECTS, Continued:

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The semicircular canals in vertebrates are important equilibrium devices, as is the statocyst of the crayfish discussed elsewhere in this section. The ability to sense pitching, rolling, and yawing motions is necessary for birds to maintain balance during flight, and is derived from numerous senses such as vision and proprioception. Birds may utilize the sensing of polarization of light from the sky. See, also, "Air Current Sensors", in this section.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The halteres in Diptera do not achieve continuous rotation of the sensory mass, but are constrained to oscillate in harmonic motion. The angular momentum of the halteres is,therefore, relatively small. Nature appears to have compensated for the lack of large angular momentum by use of an extremely sensitive torque-measuring app ratus, presumably the campaniform sensilla at the base of the halteres.

The function of the halteres is analogous to gyroscopic instruments used to sense angular rates of flight vehicles; however, a gyroscope employs continuous rotation of the sensory mass.

<u>REFERENCES: 19, p. 577; 116, pp. 302-304.</u>

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 5
Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Sensors Actuators Internal External	Equilibrium Sensing and Control

#### GEOTROPISM

# DESCRIPTION:

Geotropism is the process of orientation with respect to gravity. Positive geotropism refers to orientation or turning toward the gravitational source, whereas negative geotropism is orientation away from the source. These two manifestations may possibly reverse themselves with subsequent stages in a life cycle, or with competing stimuli.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Geotropism is brought about by the arrangement of the component parts within the responsive cells, which in animals may be statocysts, proprioceptors, and possibly cutaneous sense organs. These may cause a series of postural reflexes resulting in geotropism. Positive geotropism is exhibited by turbellarians, holothurians, brachiopods, some larvae and certain snails when burrowing into the mud or sand. In polychaetes for example, the direction of burrowing is sensed by statocysts.

### MAGNITUDE:

There appears to be little information available concerning the ability of animals and plants to sense the magnitude of apparent gravity, although an abundance of data substantiates the ability of many species to sense the direction of the gradient.

In many animals, the geotropism depends on a series of postural reflexes. The "dynamic range" of the sensors involved in geotropism is exhibited by the staphylinid beetle which burrows in sand vertically, and will continue to do so despite a rotation of his original burrow through 70°.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Negative geotropism is displayed by such animals as pulmonate snails, crabs, beetles, and young rats. When these animals are placed on an inclined plane in air they choose a direction of ascent which deviates from the horizontal by an angle theta, which is related to the angle of inclination of the plane, alpha. For many kinds of animals the angle of orientation up the plane varies as the logarithm of the sine of alpha; the pull of gravity on an inclined plane varies as the sine of alpha.

In plants, the roots of seedlings first exhibit positive geotropism by growing downward and later show negative geotropism by growing upward.

# GEOTBOPISM, Continued:

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Perhaps the best physical analog is the Schuler-tuned stable platform used in guidance systems. Once such a platform is oriented along the local vertical, it remains so oriented despite translational motion of the platform.

Vertical-indicating devices are essential to geodesy and civil engineering. The plumb bob and spirit level are familiar everyday tools for determining the local vertical, which for most purposes is adequately defined as the direction of the gravitational gradient.

A system of three mutually-orthogonal accelerometers is somewhat analogous because it provides the direction of the apparent gravity as well as its magnitude despite arbitrary orientation of the sensors.

REFERENCES: 13, pp. 529-542; 116, p. 296.

Physical Class	<u>Physical Operator</u>	Section 5
Fluid Mechanics	Sensors	Equilibrium
Mechanics	Internal	Sensing and
		Gontrol

### SEMICIRCULAR CANALS

### DESCRIPTION:

The three semicircular canals in the ears of vertebrates are placed at approximately right angles to each other in three planes and are filled with fluid called endolymph. At the end of each canal is a bulbar enlargement called the ampulla, which is considered a static sense organ. The three ampullae respond to the stimuli of differential pressure and, because of their extreme sensitivity, they are anatomically protected by having the semicircular canals buried deep in the temporal bone, the densest bone in the skull.

A group of delicate receptor cells, with stiff hairs attached, projects into the fluid-filled ampulla cavity, and then connects with the vestibular branch of the 8th cranial nerve. This forms a device which receives stimuli from the movement of the endolymph in the tubes.



FIG. 8 SEMICIRCULAR CANALS

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The semicircular canals respond to any one of the following forms of stimulation:

a. Rotation of the head about a vertical, transverse or anteroposterior axis,

b. Artificial mechanical stimulation,

c. Caloric irrigation of the ear with hot or cold water,

d. Galvanic stimulation.

The three semicircular canals are arranged in planes approximately at right angles to one another, functioning with movements in the three dimensions.

The position of the cupula is influenced by an increase or decrease of velocity of rotation, i.e., by positive or negative angular acceleration, but is not influenced by linear acceleration. Any changes in rotation speed cause a deflection of SEMICIRCULAR CANALS, Continued:

the endolymph with a resulting differential push and pull upon the hairs. Incrtia causes the endolymph of the involved pair of canals to lag behind the progress of the wall of its containing tube and therefore to move opposite to the direction of turning.

On irrigating the external auditory meatus with hot and cold water, labyrinthal reactions appear because convection currents are provoked in the endolymph of that semicircular canal which is placed in a vertical position, and changes in the pressure on the ampulla cause the cupula to bend. The direction of the convection currents depends upon changes in the specific gravity of the endolymph resulting from heating or cooling. Irrigating the ear with cold water directs current toward the ampulla of a vertical semicircular canal. When irrigated with warm water, the endolymph rises.

Application of direct or alternating current to the ear also elicits reflexes from the laybrinth. Galvanic polarization produces impulse discharges similar to those occurring on natural rotatory stimulation.

### MAGN ITUDE:

The semicircular canals vary from 15 to 22 mm in length, the posterior being the longest and the lateral the shortest. The internal width of the bony canals averages about 0.8 mm.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The hagfish, Myxine, has one semicircular canal with an ampulla at each end.

The lamprey, Petromyzon, has two semicircular canals. Defective statoreceptors (semicircular canals) seem to cause the peculiar exotic circling movements characteristic of the Japanese waltzing mice.

The statocyst of the crayfish (described elsewhere in this section) is a cruder device with comparable function.

Acceleration also compresses body tissues, yielding a sense of acceleration derived from pressure-sending cells.

See, in addition, "Balance and Flight of Insects" in this section.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Although angular accelerometers, plumb bobs, etc., are used to sense accelerations around some center none of these devices functions in quite the same manner. However, there is a satellite orientation controlling mechanism which works in a wanner similar to that of the semicircular canal. It consists of three circular canals placed in three mutually-perpendicular directions. As a correction is desired around either axis, a liquid is pumped into the "canal" surrounding that axis in the opposite direction to the desirable correction direction. The vehicle is then oriented in the direction opposite to the direction of the liquid flow. Although this is not a sensing function but an actuator, it is similar physically. SEMICIRCULAR CANALS, Continued:

REFERENCES: 44, pp. 1140-1144; 96, pp. 133-134.

<u>Physical Class</u> Mechanics	Physical Operator Sensors	Section 5 Equilibrium
	Internal	Sensing and Control

### STATOCYSTS OF CRAYFISH

DESCRIPTION:

. .....

The equilibrium organs of the crayfish arc chitinouswalled sacs, called statocysts, situated at the base of each of the antennules. Inside each sac, at its base, are ridges called sensory cushions, each cushion having a set of three hairs. There are 70 to 75 sensory cushions, making a total of over 200 hairs in the statocyst. Each sensory cushion is supplied with its own nerve fiber.

The statuliths are large grains of sand placed between the hairs. Contact of statuliths with statucyst hairs provides information to regulate orientation of the crayfish while swimming.

The special glands beneath the sensory cushion secrete a substance that attaches the statoliths to the hairs. Gravity causes the grains of sand to exert various forces on the hairs, depending upon orientation of the statocyst.



FIG. 9 CRAYFISH STATOCYST

### ILLUSTRATION:

The crayfish is always in a state of unstable equilibrium, maintaining its normal position by its own efforts, since the force of gravity tends to turn it over. Any change in position of the animal causes a change in position of the statoliths, which are influenced by gravity. Observations during molting of the crayfish show that the exoskeleton is shed gradually, and the statocysts are removed or lost. This causes the crayfish to lose much of its orientation ability. However, as the exoskeleton grows back, the statocysts and statoliths are replaced.

The basic mechanism of excitation appears to be similar in all statocysts. The hair cells of the ampulla of the horizontal canals show graded depolarization on rotational acceleration toward the ampulla, repolarization on deceleration, and hyperpolarization on acceleration in the opposite direction. These

### STATOCYSTS OF CRAYFISH, Continued:

graded depolarizations and hyperpolarizations are generator potentials similar to those of other mechanoreceptors, and they presumably stimulate firing of nerve impulses.

### MAGN I TUDE:

The frequency of impulses in single statocyst nerve fibers is maximum when the crayfish has its body at an angle of  $96^{\circ}$  to  $120^{\circ}$  about the transverse axis. Displacement responses of the statocyst hairs consist of increases or decreases in impulse frequency. The hairs have shown proportional acceleration responses up to  $6^{\circ}$  to  $9^{\circ}/\sec^{2}$ .

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

In the terrestrial shail there are 2 similar organs of equilibrium, one on each side of the supraesophageal ganglia; these are minute vesicles containing fluid in which are suspended small calcareous statoliths.

In the squid, the 2 statocysts lie side-by-side in the head and may be considered organs of equilibrium in view of their function.

In the fresh-water mussel (Anodonta) the statocysts are located a short distance behind the pedal ganglia. These are small vesicles containing a calcareous concentration similar to the statoliths.

The oblique downward course of shrimp swimming from the surface has been measured under gravity variations by slow centrifugation. The shrimp change swimming direction in such a way that the statocyst excitation remains constant. The angle of descent can be changed by varying the apparent gravity or by removing one statocyst. If both statocysts are removed, centrifugation is without effect.

When a jellyfish is tilted, the lower portion of the mantle contracts more strongly than the upper portion and the animal thereby rights itself. Removal of several of the statocysts causes disorientation.

In the Scyphomedusae (Coelenterates), there are 8 tentaculocysts, each one lying between the marginal lapels. Their function is to aid the medusan body to maintain a state of equilibrium.

in the Hydromedusae, the small outgrowths located between the tentacles are similar in appearance and may be considered the same type of organ of equilibrium as the tentaculocysts.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

An angular accelerometer is analogous in its function bet quite different physically. When the accelerometer is rotated about its sensitive axis and indication of the angular rate of change in velocity is obtained, this indication is usually in the form of an electrical signal proportional to the acceleration. Integrating versions using the same basic principle have been STATOCYSTS OF CRAYFISH, Continued:

developed to sense angular velocity and angular displacement. The bubble level (or spirit level) is used to obtain a measure of angular displacement from the horizontal.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 58, p. 361; <u>116</u>, pp. 299-300.

Physical Class	Physical (	<u>Derator</u>	Section 5
Fluid Mechanics	Sensors Contact	Actuators External Internal	Equilibrium Sensing and Control

### SWIM BLADDER IN FISH

#### DESCRIPTION:

The swim bladder, which is a hydrostatic organ, lies between the alimentary canal and the kidneys in most fish. It may be single- or multi-chambered, and is generally a tough sac overlaid by a capillary network, under which is the tunica externa of connective tissue. Beneath this is the tunica interra composed of smooth muscle fiber with inner epithelial gasglands. This organ, in general, is specialized anteriorly for gas secretion and posteriorly for gas absorption.



FIG, 10 SWIM BLADDER IN FISH

### ILLUS TRATION:

The primary function of the swim bladder is to keep the fish at the same specific gravity as the water. The specific gravity of the fish, rising or falling because of the increase or decrease of pressure at various depths as it descends or ascends, causes a greater or lesser compression of the gases in the swim bladder.

By altering the internal pressure and volume of the swim bladder a fish can remain in hydrostatic equilibrium with the changing water pressure and thus is able to move up or down with a minimum of muscular effort.

#### MAGN I TUDE :

In those fish with bodies of densities near that of water, the swim bladder volume is about 5% of the body. This is less in marine fish (e.g., Physoclist), which do not have a pneumatic duct connecting the air bladder to the alimentary canal, than in fresh water fish.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The fish, Hippocampus, has a double swim bladder made up

# SWIM BLADDER IN FISH, Continued:

of both an anterior and a posterior chamber. When this fish moves from a resting place, its movement is compensated for by the expansion of the posterior chamber.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Submarine ballast tanks serve an identical purpose. As air is pumped from the ballast tank and is compressed and stored or released (blown), water replaces the air. The ship's bouyancy is decreased causing it to submerge. Surface vessels also use ballast tanks to adjust their bouyancy to compensate for unevenly distributed cargo.

Lighter-than-air craft (balloons, dirigibles) adjust their volume to balance weight with the weight of the air displaced to achieve a desired altitude.

<u>REFERENCES: 113, pp. 339-342; 116, p. 189.</u>

<u>Physical Class</u> Fluid Mechanics Mechanics

# <u>Physical Operator</u> Sensors Actuators Internal External

Section 5 Equilibrium Sensing and Control

# TYPES OF EQUILIBRIUM

### 1. Indifferent Equilibrium

# DESCRIPTION:

Indifferent equilibrium involves no specific sensors and usually implies no definite orientation with respect to gravity. It is also called "neutral" equilibrium.

### ILLUSTRATION:

Indifferent equilibrium is best illustrated in microscopic organisms, such as the heliozoans, which are spherical microscopic protozoa that hang suspended, any side up, without contact with solid objects.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

A similar example is the green, globular colonies of Volvox, which roll around in pond water without any visible orientation preference.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Any physical device which does not depend upon an appropriate alignment of gravitational force for its operation can be said to share this property with heliozoans but not necessarily to be analogs. Many devices fall in this category, including transistors, vacuum tubes, pumps, motors, etc.

# 2. Stable Equilibrium

### DESCRIPTION:

This type of equilibrium does not depend on special sense organs. It applies not only to inert forms but also to living bodies. The force of gravity acts on the animal and allows it to come to rest without muscular effort.

# ILLUSTRATION:

Stable equilibrium is exhibited in the flounder which is able to come to a resting position on one side while in the water. The eggs of the nighthawk, which are laid on sloping rocks have evolved into a watch-shaped form which prevents them from rolling.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The spreading legs of spiders provide stable equilibrium. Some forms of passive homeostasis, such as buffering of the TYPES OF EQUILIBRIUM, Continued:

acidity of the blood, are also examples of stable equilibrium.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The term <u>stable</u> <u>equilibrium</u> also applies equally well to inanimate objects as to animate objects. There are no analogs, per se, for living systems in this condition.

# 3. Labile Equilibrium

# DESCRIPTION:

This type of equilibrium is in effect when the center of gravity of a body is too high in relation to restoring torques, to allow balancing without muscular effort. This involves many biological factors in the body as well as involving the external physical force of gravity. First, a tension must be maintained between opposing muscles to prevent collapse. Second, the coordinating nervous apparatus, utilizing information from the pertinent sense receptors, must cause the muscles to suitably stabilize the body of the organism in its specific environment. Labile equilibrium is also called "unstable equilibrium".

# ILLUSTRATION:

In man, the upright position is maintained by the use of several sense organs, listed here, which are mainly related to other purposes:

a. Touch receptors, on the soles of the feet in contact with the ground, which act as stereotactic pressure organs.

b. Sense of sight, which informs man of his position in his surroundings.

c. Nerve endings from the acoustic nerve (8th cranial) connect with the semicircular canals of the ears, which have a gravity sensing function similar to the statoreceptors in the invertebrate animals.

d. Proprioceptive "muscle sense" assures the proper tension of the opposing muscles.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

A crane standing on one leg is kept in an upright position by the action of sensory, controller and muscular systems.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Since the term labile equilibrium applies to systems that are maintained in equilibrium by a control system with suitable sensors and actuators, it is clear that a flight control system or a temperature regulation system is an analog of a living system in that it performs all the functions of regulation.

REFERENCES: 144, p. 786.

SECTION 6: LEARNING

# Page

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF LEARNING	84
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	85
CHAIN OF CONDITIONED REFLEXES	87
CONDITIONED REFLEX	89
IMPRINTING IN ANIMALS	91
INSTRUMENTAL CONDITIONING	93

### **BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF LEARNING**

Perhaps the most generally accepted and widely applicable definition of learning is the operational one which states that learning refers to a more or less permanent change in behavior as a result of reinforced practice. In this way, such factors as maturation or physiological variables of themselves are excluded, effects of adaptation or fatigue are eliminated, and learning is identified as an intervening variable. However, the factors involved, that is, behavioral change, reinforcement and practice, are directly observable and verifiable.

There are essentially two types of learning: (1) the Pavlovian or classical conditioning and (2) instrumental or operant conditioning as discussed by B. F. Skinner. The main differences lie in the nature of stimuli and reinforcements. Classical conditioning effects a relationship between the unconditioned stimulus which evokes the response initially, and the conditioned stimulus such that the latter will evoke the response peculiar to the former.

In the instrumental type of learning, the critical tie is between the (unconditioned) stimulus and the response. The purpose here is to elicit a particular piece of behavior upon the stimulus presentation. It is the establishment of this stimulusresponse bond which is important. In addition, operant reinforcement is applied after the response is obtained and serves to increase the probability of the occurrence of that response in the future.

Using this conception of learning, employing no mentalistic terms, we are able to say that animals learn in the same sense as man learns. Both employ a trial and error process. Man, of course, can progress in a faster and more complex manner because of his superior reasoning abilitie. Similarly, whereas the reinforcement situation for an animal is straightforward and controllable, an effective reward for man may be quite complex. Such factors as personality, motivation, and attitude may influence his performance in unknown quantities.

For this reason animals are widely used in experimental investigations. Nevertheless, despite complexity of the intervening variables, extensive information on learning can be acquired with human subjects.

### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

Data handling systems of the future will be developing from the automatic to the autonomous, that is, toward what has been termed "intelligent" machines, or automata. The best evidence of the type of functions a general purpose adaptive system or device should possess is provided by observation of living systems. The simpler animal nervous systems are important because we can experiment with them freely, and because their simplicity sometimes facilitates our understanding of the process. In the case of the human brain, we can take advantage of introspection, psychological experiments, data from operations or autopsies, and heuristics. Learning leads to consideration of systems that are goal-directed. Goals may be either predefined or autonomously evolved, or both.

General-purpose automata must be capable of behaving adaptively and intelligently on the basis of raw environmental data. This requirement implies the need for generalized learning, including the ability to learn the significance of sensor data from a multiplicity of sensors. In addition, analyzed data must be integrated to provide a basis for action within the constraints of the automaton goals and effectors. The effectors, such as manipulators, locomotors, and communicators, must be fairly general to provide scope for adaptation to a wide range of environments. Generalized learning in machines must encompass perception, autonomous decision-making, and action; it should be able to cope with unforeseen circumstances, finding means whereby the machines can solve problems without being provided with specific a priori information.

Learning, combined with a suitable mechanism for searching function space, can provide this capability in machines, by a trial and error process similar to the natural selection of species. Learning, in fact, is a form of natural selection of functions. A learning machine may be composed of adaptive artificial nerve cells (neuromimes), for example, Probability State Variable devices, linked in a random or systematic manner. These devices employ a random search of function space, modified by previous learning. Other devices employ a systematic search of function space (Ref. 86). The random search function may be preferable because it provides a simple way of avoiding cyclic repetitions of useless behavior, it emancipates the machine from the limitations of the designer (up to the limit of functional capability of the machine), and it can provide a possibility of trying all points in function space over a continuous range. Deterministic search functions appear applicable where considerable a priori knowledge is available concerning the problems to be encountered by the machine. The type of search function depends on the kind of information the designer may possess regarding the problems to be encountered by the machine. This is a

central consideration in the learning theory of men and machines.

Generalized learning involves the search of function space, as well as the selection of satisfactory functions that have been found. Two very good terms for describing this process have been discussed by D. T. Campbell; they are "blind variation" and "selective survival" (Ref. 41). The learning must be step-by-step, involving <u>multistability</u>, if complex functions are to be developed (Ref. 3).

Physical Class	Dhun ing 1 O	
THYSICAL CLASS	Physical Uperator	Section b
Acoustics	Sensors Actuators	Learning
Chemistry	Contact External	
Electricity and	Distance Internal	
Magnetism	Internal	
Mechanics		

### CHAIN OF CONDITIONED REFLEXES

### DESCRIPTION:

Once a conditioned stimulus has become effective for a desired reaction, it can be used as the stimulus for the development of a second conditioning without recourse to the original adequate stimulus. This is known as "secondary conditioning" and might be described as a chain of conditioned reflexes.

### ILLUSTRATION:

If electric shock is applied as the unconditioned stimulus for leg withdrawal and a tone is presented before the shock, then the tone becomes the conditioned stimulus for the withdrawal response. If the shock is omitted and a light is presented before the tone, it will acquire stimulus properties so that the onset of the light alone will result in flexion of the leg. Thus, the tone has assumed the characteristics of the meconditioned stimulus and the light, the conditioned stimulus.

# MAGNITUDE :

Some experiments have reported the establishment of response chains up to 5 consecutive sequences; however, these are difficult to obtain and highly unstable.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

Wolfe performed experiments with instrumental conditioning in which chimpanzees were trained to insert poker chips into a food-vending machine to get food. This was first-order conditioning with food as the primary reinforcement. The animals were then trained to lift a bar to obtain these chips. The reinforcement value of the chips was measured by an obstruction task, i.e. the chimps would lift the bar against considerable resistance to obtain the poker chips. Further experimentation made use of this fact by using the chips as rewards for the correct response in a discrimination task. Here, the primary reinforcement consisted of the poker chips themselves, since food was no longer introduced.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Consider a plastic neuron having at least three input variables, A, B, C, with synaptic weights,  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ ,  $a_3$ , respectively, and a threshold T. Let weight,  $a_1$ , increase if and only if the neuron fires when the i<sup>th</sup> input was active (for any i). Let the initial values of  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ ,  $a_3$ , be related to T by:

87

CHAIN REFLEX, Continued:

a, ₂ T a, ∠ T a, ∠ T

Throughout the procedure, T will remain fixed. Signal A is the analog of the unconditioned stimulus, the neuron output being "one" for this input only. B is the first conditioned stimulus and is presented simultaneously with A until  $a_2 > T$ , when the neuron function becomes  $F \neq A \cup B$ . B alone will now cause firing and can now be used to condition a response to C, in like manner.

**REFERENCES:** 85, pp. 165-167; 116, p. 645; 149, p. 681.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 6
Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism	Transformers Information	Learning
n se		-

14

#### CONDITIONED REFLEX

### DESCRIPTION:

1. P. Pavlov demonstrated a type of conditioning whereby, with repeated pairing of a theretofore neutral stimulus with one which dependably ("reflexly") evoked a given response, the former would then produce a response peculiar to the latter.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The referenced experiment involved the salivation of the dog. The neutral stimulus, ringing of a bell, was consistently presented a few seconds prior to the unconditional stimulus, meat. After several pairings, the bell alone evoked the same response as the meat, namely, salivation. Further analysis has shown that the conditioned response (salivation to the bell) may differ from the unconditioned response (salivation to the meat) in magnitude and/or composition, but they are so similar as to be readily identifiable.

Pavlov explained this conditioning effect on the basis of neural centers of excitation. Essentially, he stated that a neural pathway existed between the unconditioned stimulus center and the response center. Conditioning, he maintained, involved the establishment of a pathway between the conditioned stimulus and the response centers.

Extinction or the loss of a given response was due to the destruction of these pathways. Generalization or the transfer of these stimulus properties to similar but not identical stimuli resulted from an irradiation process. The neural centers were excited, and this excitation would irradiate (spread) to nearby centers so that other stimuli could evoke the same response to a greater or lesser degree.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The conditioned stimulus is presented between 5 and 10 sec before the unconditioned stimulus. The strength of the conditioned response, as determined by presenting the conditioned stimulus alone for 30 sec, increased with training. After 30 combinations, 60 drops of salivation were measured. On the early tests salivation did not occur until the conditioned stimuli had sounded for 18 sec; on later tests, salivation occurred after only 1 or 2 sec.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

This type of conditioning may take place in the individual neuron. Related topics are discussed under "Nerve Sensitivity". See other entries in this section for additional information on conditioning. CONDITIONED REFLEX, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: See Sample Physical Analogs under entry on "Chain of Conditioned Reflexes".

REFERENCES: 78. p. 45; 110, p. 15.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 6
Chemistry Optics and Light	Sensors Distance Transformers Information	Learning

### IMPRINTING IN ANIMALS

DESCRIPTION:

3

Imprinting is the phenomenon in which an experience at a critical period during the early development of an animal determines his future social behavior. This has been studied mostly in birds although it is also known to occur in insects, fish, and some mammals.

The fact that such characteristic properties as acquisition and generalization apply meaningfully to this type of behavior suggests a close relationship between it and other types of learning.

### ILLUSTRATION:

A series of experiments by E. H. Hess tested the effect of imprinting on mallard ducks. The ducklings were kept in isolation until the imprinting session was to occur. At that time, the herd was placed on a runway about a foot away from a motordriven decoy. Experiments varied so that some decoys were silent whereas others emitted a sound similar to the quacking noise of a duck. During the imprinting period, the duckling would normally follow the decoy around the runway. The testing was done by releasing the bird between two decoys, the one originally used for training, and another, differing perhaps only in coloration or sound emission. Results showed that the duckling consistently followed the original decoy.

Moreover, the orienting figure does not necessarily have to be of the same species. Experiments have been performed in which the duckling has been imprinted to follow the experimenter rather than a decoy. Similarly an inanimate object such as a ping-pong ball or box will be followed if it was the first object seen by the animal.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

Those ducklings which had to climb over obstacles or go up an inclining rather than a flat runway showed a greater degree of imprinting such that the following definition was suggested: the strength of imprinting equals the logarithm of the effort expended by the animal during the imprinting period.

Maximum scores are obtained with birds which are imprinted between 13 and 16 hours after hatching. The length of the imprinting period seems to be of little importance.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Imprinting may involve the sense of smell as well as the sense of sight. This fact is obvious in the homing behavior of salmon which will return to original waters to spawn. The IMPRINTING IN ANIMALS, Continued:

determining factor here is the characteristic odor of the water which is imprinted in the fish. For further details see "Homing Migration of Salmon".

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Imprinting resembles the type of learning in machines that is sometimes called "one-shot" learning or "freeze"-learning in which the learning system is frozen in function after a single, successful attempt to solve one problem of a large class of problems. Other problems in the same class may not be suited to the particular solution found, but this is not relevant to the description of freeze-learning.

REFERENCES: 62, pp. 81-90; 129, p. 90.

, agricer sin	Physical Class Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism	Physical Operator Transformers Information	Section 6 Learning
---------------	---	--	-----------------------

# INSTRUMENTAL CONDITIONING

# DESCRIPTION:

The type of conditioning which most closely resembles normal everyday activity is instrumental or operant conditioning. This refers to the situation in which a stimulus is presented and the reinforcement or reward is not given until the correct response is made. The reinforcement then is contingent upon the subject's actions, not those of the experimenter.

# ILLUSTRATION:

An experimental example of this type of conditioning would be the following:

An animal is placed in an apparatus such as the Skinner box. This apparatus may contain a lever, a food hopper and two areas for stimulus presentation. The task may be to press the lever only in the presence of light; that is, both areas must be illuminated for a response to be correct. If the animal is successful in discriminating this situation, he 's rewarded by a pellet from the food hopper. The animal will learn very quickly to differentiate between the light on-light off situation and respond accordingly.

Such theories as drive reduction and simple contiguity have been suggested to account for the effectiveness of the reinforcement.

# MAGNITUDE:

The frequency and duration of reinforcement has much influence on the rate of responding. A stronger response, one which takes longer to extinguish, is achieved with intermittent reinforcement such as one reinforcement every two minutes or one every 25 responses. During one experiment with a pigeon required to peck at a key for the correct response, with only one reinforcement every 10 minutes, the bird pecked the key 25 times a minute for the entire 10 minute interval.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The process of instrumental conditioning is very similar to the manner in which man establishes habits. In any particular situation, he may try several fruitless actions. Eventually one act will be the "right" one and therefore, in some manner, be reinforced. Several confrontations with the same or similar situations will lead to the establishment of this stimulusresponse chain as a completely habitual action.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The Neurotron learns in a manner closely resembling

INSTRUMENTAL CONDITIONING, Continued:

instrumental conditioning under normal circumstances. An input (or set of inputs) is applied to the Neurotron and a <u>reward</u> (reinforcement) signal is supplied to the Neurotron if the response is correct. For incorrect responses, a <u>punishment</u> (nonreinforcing) signal is supplied. Eventually, the reward and punishment signals condition the Neurotron to favor a particular function over others.

Generalized learning is incorporated into the Neurotron by a goal circuit which determines whether to reward or punish the Neurotron on the basis of either a built-in or a learned criterion.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>40</u>, pp. 437-450; <u>72</u>, pp. 811-867; <u>110</u>, pp. 57-62; 149, p. 563.

# SECTION 7:

# LIGHT PRODUCTION

	Page
BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF LIGHT PRODUCTION	. <b>96</b>
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	, <b>96</b>
BACTERIAL LUMINESCENCE	98
CYPRIDINA LUMINESCENCE	100
FIREFLY LUMINESCENCE	102

•
## BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF LIGHT PRODUCTION

The ability of living organisms to produce light is called bioluminescence. In all cases, the light is a result of a chemical reaction in which the molecules of the light producing compound called luciferin are acted upon by the enzyme luciferase in the presence of oxygen. A survey of the animal kingdom discloses at least 40 orders containing one or more forms known to produce light. In the plant kingdom the luminous forms are the bacteria and fungi. Luminous animals are practically all either marine or terrestrial. Not only the adults but the embryos and the eggs of some animals are luminous.

We may divide luminous organisms into two classes, intracellular and extracellular, according to whether the oxidizable material is burned within the cell where it is formed or is secreted to the exterior and is burned outside. In the higher forms the eye contains groups of photosensitive rods and cones connected with afferent nerves, lenses, and accessory structures for properly adjusting the light; luminous organs contain groups of photogenic cells in connection with efferent herves, lenses and accessory structures for properly directing the light. Many errors have resulted from attempts to infer luminescence in an animal by study of preserved material. For example, many nonluminous animals may become infected with luminous bacteria. Fish are the highest group of animals in which self-luminosity is known. All reported cases of light from Amphibia, reptiles, birds, and mammals have been due to some secondary phenomenon.

## PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

Light can be produced by a wide variety of physical and chemical means. Fire, incandescence, and fluorescence are well known. In incandescence, atoms of materials are raised to an excited state by collisions and light is emitted when the atoms drop back to a lower energy state. The light emitted by a flame is due to the incandescent gases. Fluorescence is a re-emission of light; certain phosphors will emit visible light when bombarded by ultraviolet light. Other phosphors can be excited by bombardment with electrons and produce light when they return to a lower energy state. Still other phosphors emit light when placed in an electric field (electroluminescence).

Less well-known methods of light production include the production of light by friction, by heat (thermoluminescence,

which is not the same as incandescence), and by bombarding a dielectric material with particles traveling faster than the velocity of light in the dielectric; this latter method produces a blue light\_called Cerenkov radiation.

Electrochemical methods of light production have been studied for their efficiency. For example, a solution of aluminum citrate will produce a white light if two electrodes with a sufficient potential difference are placed in the solution. Purely chemical methods of producing light involving chemicals such as luciferin and luciferase are also known.

 $a_{1}^{2} \in \mathcal{A}_{1}^{2} \subset \mathcal{A}_{2}^{2}$ 

Most of the older methods of light production are relatively inefficient when compared to chemical methods. However, some of the newer methods, such as the production of infrared light by a semiconductor junction, approach 100% efficiency in the conversion of energy into light.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 7
Chemistry Heat and Thermodynamics Optics and Light	Transformers Energy	Actuators Internal	Light Production

## BACTERIAL LUMINFSCENCE

## DESCRIPTION:

Light production by bacteria is the result of an oxidation reaction between a chemical known as luciferin and an enzyme called luciferase. Generally speaking, luminescent bacteria make up a physiologically related group which differ in their morphological characteristics. Most of these luminescent bacteria are found in the sea or are derived either directly or indirectly from animal life which has been in the sea. Although their natural habitat and food requirements are on bodies of fish and other types of meat, they are not putrefactive in any way, but some of the pure cultures produce a noticeable odor. These luminescent bacteria, of which an example is Achromobacter fischeri require a relatively high concentration of sodium chloride, usually about 3% in the growth medium. Growth temperature is an important factor; the optimum temperature for both the growth and luminescence of these bacteria is in the range of 15 to 20°C.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Bacterial luminescence remains constant over considerable periods of time in nonreproducing cells under favorable conditions. The light-emitting system is in a steady state, reduced luciferin being regenerated at the same rate it is being oxidized.

The luminescent system of bacteria appears to be indissociably bound to intact, living cells. Osmotic cytolysis, mechanical grinding, sonic vibration, catalytic agents, all destroy the capacity for luminescence along with the viability of the cell.

The rate of the reaction of bacterial luminescence depends upon the equilibrium between the molecules that are in the normal state and in the activated complex. The exact notion of the activated complex itself is based on statistical mechanics. When once formed, the activated complex decomposes with a universal frequency which is the same for all light emission reactions, and is given by the expression

 $k\frac{KT}{h}$ 

in which k is the transmission coefficient, representing the probability that the formation of the activated complex will lead to its decomposition into the products of the reaction, rather than a reconstitution of the reactants. K is the Boltzmann constant (1.372X10<sup>-10</sup> erg/degree), T is the absolute temperature and h is Planck's constant (6.547X10<sup>-27</sup> erg-second). For most light emission reactions, the value of k is very close to i.

## BACTERIAL LUMINESCENCE, Continued:

#### MAGNITUDE:

The intensity of the luminescence at any moment is proportional to the concentration of the enzyme times that of the substrate. Although the peak intensity for light emission in the bacteria is in the blue or blue-green region of the spectrum, there is light emitted over the range of approximately 400 to 650 mu. However, since the major spectral emission is around 480-490 mu, the light is blue or blue-green n color.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The production of light by living organisms, also called bioluminescence, has been seen in all major groups of animals from protozoa through the chordates. Another example, chemical in nature, concerns the pressure-temperature relationship of the activity of yeast invertase in crude extracts. This shows similarities to the chemical principle of luminescence in living bacteria.

#### SALPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Production of light by chemical means (chemiluminescence) is not merely analogous to bioluminescence, it is the process which underlies it. Physical means for light production also include fluorescence, phosphorescence, thermoluminescence and incandescence.

REFERENCES: 52, pp. 327-482; 99, p. 3; 100, p. 177; 116, p. 495.

Physical Class	Physical Operation	Physical Operator		
Chemistry Optics and Light	Transformers Energy	Actuators Internal	Light Production	
αντικής του το πολογομικό γολογορισμού μεταγρατικό στο του το τρογου, του του το τρογου.				

## CYPRIDINA LUMINESCENCE

## **DESCRIPTION:**

There is a small crustacean of the ostracod type called Cypridina hilgendorfii, which has a large luminous glandular organ located in its head region near the mouth. Within this gland are two distinctly different types of cells. One produces the luminescent chemical luciferin in the form of yellowish granules. The other kind of cell produces the enzyme, luciferase, also in granular form, but colorless, and somewhat smaller in size than the luciferin granules. The luciferase is forced by muscular action through two separate pores. When granules of luciferin and luciferase mix outside of the body in the presence of oxygen, the reaction produces luminescence. This process is controlled by the nervous system. The production of this luminescence is extracellular, i.e., it is produced outside of the cells that produce the chemical, and in this particular example, entirely outside the body of the organism.

## ILLUSTRATION:

The light emission of Cypridina is a chemiluminescence which consists of a short band of wavelengths in the green or blue region of the visible spectrum.

When dried, Cypridina can be stored almost indefinitely, only to become brilliantly luminous again when wet, even after more than 20 years. The reaction is not essentially a "living" reaction, insofar as it survives the death of the organism. In itself it is not dependent upon living cells, although they are necessary in the stages of preparation. On the other hand, oxygen is necessary, although only in a small amount.

## MAGNITUDE:

Visible light is emitted on oxidation of 0.00001  $\mu$ g/ml (2 x 10<sup>-11</sup> molar) of Cypridina luciferin with 0.01  $\mu$ g/ml of luciferase protein, or with 1  $\mu$ g/ml of luciferin with 0.0000001  $\mu$ g/ml (2 x 10<sup>-15</sup> molar) of luciferase. Data on yields indicates the average content of luciferin and luciferase to be about 1  $\mu$ g of each in a single living organism.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The luminescence produced by both the bacterium Achromobacter fischeri and the firefly Photinus is considered to be intracellular, since the oxidation reaction that produces the light takes place within the cells.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Zinc Sulfide (ZnS) and Zinc Oxide (ZnO) mixtures produce

CYPRIDINA LUMINESCENCE, Continued:

light as do other chemicals.

REFERENCES: 53, pp. 171-187; 71, pp. 1755-1756.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 7
Chemistry	Transformers	Actuators	Light
Optics and Light	Energy	Internal	Production

## FIREFLY LUMINESCENCE

## DESCRIPTION:

Luminescence is produced by the firefly (lightning bug) from the fourth and fifth segments of its abdominal region. It is in this region that the enzyme luciferase and the chemical luciferin react to produce light.

The light producing organ is composed of two cellular layers, a ventral layer of light-producing cells and a dorsal or internal layer of "reflecting" cells.

## ILLUSTRATION:

The chemical reaction producing luminescence in the firefly is controlled by the nervous system. A direct nervous excitation of the light-producing cells releases oxygen into the tracheai end cells permitting the oxidation of luciferin, catalyzed by the enzyme luciferase.

## MAGNITUDE:

The light produced by the firefly is cold light. It has an efficiency between 92 and 100%. In comparison, i luminating gas light has only a 3% efficiency, an incandescent lamp about 10% and whight a 25% efficiency.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The carbuncle beetle of Puerto Rico produces one of the brightest types of animal luminescence known. One or two of these beetles in an inverted drinking glass in a dark room of average size will produce enough light to allow a person to read a newspaper. This luminescence, which appears to be continuous, varies in color from yellow to green with the different species.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Chemiluminescence, i.e., luminescence produced by certain chemical reactions such as the oxidation of magnesium p-bromophenol bromide, is analogous to the light produced by the fire-fly.

**REFERENCES**: <u>36</u>, p. 194; <u>38</u>, p. 590.

# SECTION 8:

## LIGHT SENSITIVITY

	Page
BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF LIGHT SENSITIVITY	105
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	105
ACCOMMODATION	107
AFTERSENSATIONS	109
BETZOLD-BRÜCHE EFFECT	111
BINOCULAR COLOR RIVALRY	113
BINOCULAR VISION	115
BUNSEN-ROSCOE LAW	117
CHROMATIC ABERRATION	119
COLOR BLINDNESS	121
CONTRAST	123
DARK ADAPTATION	125
DIRECTION EYES	126
EYEBALL OF VERTEBRATES	128
EYE LENS	130
EYE PIGMENTS	132
EYESPOTS	134
FLICKER PHENOMENON	135
IRIS OF THE EYE	136
MULTIFACET EYES OF INVERTEBRATES	138

man provident day

# SECTION8:

LIGHT SENSITIVITY (Continued)

# Page

NICTITATING MEMBRANE IN BIRDS	141
NIGHT BLINDNESS	142
OPTICAL ILLUSIONS	143
PHOTONASTY	146
PHOTOPER 1 00 1 SM	147
PHOTOSENSITIVE PROPERTIES OF RHODOPSIN	148
PHOTOTROPISM IN INSECTS	150
SENSITIVITY TO LIGHT AND TO PATTERNS OF LIGHT	151
VERTEBRATE RETINA, THE	154
VISION IN BEETLES	156
VISION IN FROGS	159

## BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF LIGHT SENSITIVITY

Sensitivity to light is a useful and necessary characteristic of living things. For plants, for example, energy, especially of the longer wavelengths of visible light, is essential to photosynthesis as well as to phototropic behavior necessary for adaptive responses to daily changes. This sensitivity appears to be associated with carotenoids present in plants although the specific pigment is still unknown.

Sensitivity of the general body surface to light exists in species of several phyla of animals, including some fish and amphibians. Similarly, in the echinoderm, there is a diffuse reaction to light. The distribution of skin sensitivity corresponds closely with that of neural elements, indicating a sensitivity of the nerves themselves to light. These dermal chromatophores play a role analogous to that played by the retinal pigments of specialized eyes.

In the more highly developed species of animals, there are specialized organs, or eyes, for photoreception. These may range in degree of development from being able to accurately localize the direction from which light comes (direction eyes), to the ability to differentiate the detailed pattern of light reflection from the complex of objects in the direct field of vision (imageforming eyes).

Vision at high luminosities permits collection of much information and development of elaborate behavior patterns. First, there is the possibility of using great resolving power to discriminate fine detail and small movements, and of taking correspondingly detailed action. Second, the eye and brain together can recognize and react to a great variety of significant patterns and shapes from the changes in the light intensity produced. Third, photopic vision is often associated with a high degree of wavelength discrimination which results in the experience of color vision.

#### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

The mechanisms that provide sensitivity to light, color, and optical pattern detection in animals are exceedingly complex and many aspects of these mechanisms remain to be delineated. Some light sensitivity is unquestionably due to the retina, but many aspects of light detection are controlled by neural feedback mechanisms. While color vision also depends upon the existence of certain types of retinal cells, the decoding of coior information by the brain is still largely a mystery, although several theories have been advanced on this point. Pattern detection and recognition is somewhat better understood now than it was even a few years ago, through studies of artificial nerve networks and of machine perception in general. Artificial nerve networks attached to appropriate sensors provide us with the best available physical analog of the visual process. The most general visual analog could be said to consist of a transducer that converts light into suitable signals plus a parameterization or property filtering system. This type of analog is very similar to the analogs of other senses such as hearing and touch.

The entries in this section range from phenomena that involve only part of the visual process to some that, perhaps, involve all of it. From the phylogenetic point of view, the entries range from vision in lower animals to vision in human beings. The physical analogs for these entries also vary in the degree to which they might be said to be analogous to the corresponding physiological or psychological phenomena. In other words, the degree of "realism" of the analogs varies.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Mechanics Optics and Light	Sensors Distance Actuators Internal	Light Sensitivity

#### ACCOMMODATION

#### DESCRIPTION:

Accommodation is the process of changing the eye focus by varying the curvature of the eye lens. The latter is brought about by altering the tension on the zonuia which is the fibrous ligament extending from the ciliary body to the margin of the lens.



FIG. 11 CHANGE IN LENS CURVATURE DUE TO FOCUS ON OBJECTS AT DIFFERENT DISTANCES

## ILLUSTRATION:

When the eye is at rest, the lens is focused for distant objects by a slight tension, or sclerotic stretching, on the lens. It focuses for near objects by contraction of the ciliary muscles in the ciliary body. This narrows the diameter of the ring formed by the ciliary body and allows the lens to round off a little by its own elasticity.

#### MAGN | TUDE :

The refractive power of a lens is expressed as the reciprocal of the focal distance, the unit being 1 m and is called a diopter. The reciprocal of the far point distance is the static refraction, R, of the eye, and that of the near point is the dynamic refraction, P. The difference between the two gives the amplitude of accommodation as equaling P-R. This factor diminishes in man from about 16 diopters at age 12 to about 1 diopter at age 60.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Only a few mammals are able to accommodate. Most birds and reptiles accommodate by squeezing the lens with the ciliary muscles to change the curvature. In fish and amphibians, the lens is moved backward and forward in relation to the retina. ACCOMMODATION, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Accomodation (change of lens curvature) does not take place in physical optical systems. The obvious reason is that to change the curvature of a physical lens would require that the lens be made from some flexible transparent material that had precise optical characteristics. The mechanism required to control the curvature would be much more complex than moving the lens to change focus.

Focusing is obtained in some electronic cathode ray tubes by adjusting the magnetic focusing coil strength which has some similarity to accommodation. This adjustment is not made to focus on near and far screens but only to compensate for small changes in physical and electrical properties caused by aging and/or manufacturing deficiencies.

**<u>REFERENCES</u>**: <u>7</u>, p. 692; <u>68</u>, pp. 961-962.

Physical Class Optics and Light	Physical Operator Sensors Distance	Section 8 Light Sensitivity

## AFTERSENSATIONS

#### DESCRIPTION:

When light is allowed to fall briefly on the retina, the excitation does not cease abruptly with the termination of the stimulus, thus aftersensations are created. Positive aftersensation retains the same qualitative characteristics as the sensation by which it is caused. Negative aftersensation, developing as a final stage of the same process, is of complementary quality. The conditions favorable to the observation of one kind of aftersensation are not the best for the other, although every visual act has potentialities for some type of aftersensation.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Positive aftersensations may be formed when a person looks directly at a bright white light for a moment, then closes his eyes or turns toward a dark surface. An image of the light comes into view very slowly, becoming quite distinct for a short time and gradually fading. Negative aftersensations may be formed if, after looking at a bright light or object, the person looks at a sheet of white paper. In this manner the retinas are stimulated a second time, and diffusely, by white. The result is that a dark image is seen against a white background. If the object is brightly colored, an image of the object will appear on the white paper, but its color will be the complement of the color of the object itself. For example, a green object will be seen as red and a blue object will be seen as yellow.

#### **MAGNITUDE:**

Viewing a bright red object for a period of 20 seconds is sufficient time to evoke an aftersensation of bluish green.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

See entry on "Contrast"

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

A phenomenon similar to positive afterimage is exhibited by cathode-ray-tube screens due to the persistence of the phosphor coating.

Radar PPI scopes depend on long persistency coatings to retain individual signals while the antenna is scanning the area, receiving information from only a small sector at any one instant. AFTERSENSATIONS, Continued:

<u>**REFERENCES**</u>: <u>7</u>, p. 1372; <u>37</u>, pp. 63-65.

Physical Class	<u>Physical Operator</u>	<u>Section 8</u>
Acoustics	Sensors	Light
Optics and Light	Distance	Sensitivity
		<u></u>

## BETZOLD-BRUCHE EFFECT

## DESCRIPTION:

The Betzold-Brüche effect is the change in hue of the spectral colors which accompanies a change in the level of illumination as seen by man.

## ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

With the exception of certain invariable points in the spectrum, all colors, when brightened, shift slightly towards either yellow or blue. This effect of shift in hue with changing intensity - the Betzold-Bruche effect - can be quantified by plotting contours of equal hue which describe the combinations of intensity (in photons) and wavelength (in millimicrons) which will yield equal-appearing hues. (See illustration.)



FIG. 12 HUE SHIFT DUE TO BETZOLD-BRUCHE EFFECT

Only three points within the visible spectrum are invariable, that is, show no shift in apparent hue with changing intensity. These points are yellow at 572 mµ, green at 503 mµ, and blue at 478 mµ. All the other points vary in a predictable fashion according to the Betzold-Bruche effect.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

In audition, perceived pitch is easily identified with frequency, and loudness with intensity of sound waves. For pure tone one finds an analog of the Betzold-Brüche effect since perceived pitch changes as intensity is changed even though low frequency tones, when raised in intensity, sound lower in pitch, SETZOLD-BRUCHE EFFECT, Continued:

while high-frequency tones sound higher in pitch when their intensity increases.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Color film when improperly exposed will show a similar effect. Color balance is maintained only throughout a small range of illumination. When either more or less than the desired illumination is allowed to expose the film, certain dyes will predominate giving a distorted color mixture. In film, the apparent shift of color with intensity is partly due to different response times of the dyes. Dyes deviate from a true proportional dependency of the integral of light flux with respect to time.

An automatic frequency control circuit shifts frequency as a function of amplitude but this is a real frequency, or response, shift and not an apparent one.

Simple spring mass systems, although normally assumed linear, will have a response dependency on amplitude when complex inputs are provided.

Many crystals, used as filters or oscillators, will exhibit a response depending to some degree on amplitude. Such dependency is attributed to both thresholds in the system and change in physical and electrical characteristics due to heating.

<u>**REFERENCES**</u>: <u>26</u>, p. 28; <u>32</u>, p. 1599.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 8
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Optics and Light	Sensors Distance	Transformers Information	Light Sensitivity

## BINOCULAR COLOR RIVALRY

#### DESCRIPTION:

When two eyes are individually stimulated by different colors a binocular rivalry usually results. Two colors which are similar in wavelength and luminance will combine quite readily. However, if the two colors are from quite divergent regions of the spectrum, only transient mixtures, if any at all, will occur.

### ILLUSTRATION:

Binocular rivalry occurs when different colored patches are placed on the two sides of a stereoscope; first one color is seen and then the other. Conscious effort has no effect since the shift occurs without warning. Such deterrent factors as differential brightness of the two colors, presence of figures, and movement all contribute to the difference in the amount of time each field is dominant. Under certain rather restricted conditions in some individuals there is a fusion of these two colors when they are presented to the eyes. However, when binocular fusion does exist, it coincides with, rather than contradicts, the laws of color mixture.

The explanation of this phenomenon may be found in the fatigue of the momentarily active response mechanism. Accordingly, alternation occurs as one mechanism is fatigued and the other increases in dominance.

#### MAGNITUDE:

- - Profile

\$

The rate of alternation is a function of many factors. With low illumination each cycle lasts approximately 8.5 sec, whereas an increase in illumination will result in a cycle of approximately 2.5 sec. Climitarly, the larger the field of vision, the more rapid the alternation.

Central vision results in more rapid alternation than peripheral vision. For example, the cycle duration increases with the distance of the stimulus from the fovea as follows:

	Seconds
In central vision	4.9
3.6° right or left	9.1
3.6° up or down	11.1
7.2° right or left	10.8
7.2° up or down	11.8

## BINOCULAR COLOR RIVALRY, Continued:

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Depending on the particular colors involved or the manner of presentation, alternation or fusion of stimuli will occur. If a green filter is put in front of one eye and a red filter over the other eye, a sensation of "binocular yellow" occurs. This would appear to be an activity of the brain since only in the brain could the two excitations come together.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Apparently this particular effect is due to involuntary shift of attention from one eye to the other and depends on the ability to perceive patterns. Since there are very few devices that analyze even monocular patterns, much less binocular patterns, there is no corresponding physical device which closely simulates this complex phenomenon. However, in a photometer, the intensity of light in a given wavelength is compared to a standard intensity by the use of a phototube. The difference of potential between the unknown and standard lights provides a quantitative measure of "color conflict".

**REFERENCES:** <u>37</u>, p. 59; <u>149</u>, pp. 399-400.

Physical Class Optics and Light

Physical	Ope	ť a	î ur
Sensors			
Distanc	е		

Section 8 Light Sensitivity

#### BINOCULAR VISION

## DESCRIPTION:

The principle of binocular vision can be explained by the theory of corresponding retinal points. When a human looks directly at an object, an image is formed by each eye and impulses are conveyed to both sides of the brain. Fusion of the two images occurs in the brain and only one image is seen. Stereoscopic depth perception is accomplished through triangulation resulting from binocular vision. It is present in man, higher primates, and in a number of predator animals.

## ILLUSTRATION:

If an object is placed in a location where it can be seen by both eyes, it is considered as being common to the visual fields of both eyes. After the reflected light passes through the cornea, the lens, and the posterior chamber, it touches the wall of the retina at certain points. This occurs in both eyes at the same time. The image which is formed is the result of the light rays touching the same places, or points, on the retinas of both eyes simultaneously. These symmetrically located areas in both eyes are called the corresponding points. When this situation occurs, the resulting visual sensation in the brain is that of a single complete image. This complete condition is called binocular vision.

## MAGNITUDE:

The visual field of each eye subtends an angle of about 160° in the horizontal median, and 145° in the vertical median. The visual field on each side is divided by a line passing vertically through the fixation point into two unequal parts, the outer or temporal area, the diameter of which is about 100° and the inner or nasal area, which is about 60° in diameter. At the outer or temporal limit of each eye is the crescentic area of monocular vision of about 35-40°. Therefore the horizontal diameter of the entire visual field is about 200°.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Most animals have binocular vision by which certain parts of their environment are seen by both eyes at the same instant. However, in animals with lateral eyes, for example, the rabbit, vision is almost entirely monocular since the overlap of the two visual fields is very small.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: No precise analog of the complex process of binocular BINOCULAR VISION, Continued:

vision exists, but some aspects of the process are modeled or simulated by correlation devices that have been used experimentally to plot contour lines on acrial photo storeo pairs. Similarly, a binocular range finder is an analog of binocular eyes. See also entry on "Binocular Color Rivalry" in this section.

REFERENCES: 7, p. 1412; 68, pp. 940-941; 144, p. 830.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 8
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Optics and Light	Sensors Internal Transformers Information	Actuators Internal	Light Sensitivity

## BUNSEN-ROSCOE LAW

#### DESCRIPTION:

The Bunsen-Roscoe law states that for the production of a given photochemical effect a constant quantity of energy is required which can be distributed within certain limits by varying either the level or duration of the illumination. This law helps to explain the hypothesis that vision by the retinal rods is fundamentally a photochemical reaction with visual purple as the photosensitive pigment.

## ILLUS TRATION:

At any given brightness the eye adapts itself so that both the threshold and intensity of sensatic are altered. The power of brightness discrimination in man is explained by the fact that in the sensory elements of the retina, which are adapted for a given intensity of light, photochemical processes are set up whenever the eye is exposed to a light of a just discriminable higher intensity. When the eye is fully adapted to absolute darkness its sensitivity is greatest, and its threshold the lowest, but the perception time is increased and the stimulus must act for a longer time. Two factors must therefore be considered when dealing with the sensitivity of the retina: (i) the energy incident on the retina, and (2) the time during which it acts.

As explained by the Bunsen-Roscoe law, to produce a given effect the product of the intensity of the light and the time during which it acts must be constant. Data on the human eye shows that for flashes of light of short duration the product of  $I \ge I$  is nearly a constant. As the duration of the flash increases, more and more energy is required to reach the threshold of stimulation, until eventually when the flash is of relatively long duration the threshold depends on intensity only, i.e., I = a constant. The area of retina exposed also modifies the threshold. When sufficiently small areas are illuminated, the transition from the relationship  $I \ge T = C$  to I = C is more abrupt than with larger areas. This means that, for the eye, there is a certain critical length of time through which the stimulus must act in order to produce an effect.

#### MAGNITUDE:

In the dark-adapted eye the threshold is  $7 \times 10^{-7}$  mL. It has been calculated from very careful measurements that the chances are great that the energy absorbed by one rod upon stimulation is a single quantum. Since each quantum changes one molecule of visual purple, for us to see a just perceptible

#### BUNSEN-RUSCOE LAW, Continued: ~

flash of light there need be transformed photochonically only one molecule in each of 5 to 14 rod calls. If now the eye be adapted to a brightness of 2,000 mL, the threshold becomes 3.98 mL, its sensitivity drops to 1/16 in five seconds, and a rest of ten minutes in the dark is insufficient to restore its original sensitivity. As a further example of change in sensitivity, it may be mentioned that a dark-adapted eye can stand a glare of only 25 mL, while an eye adapted to bright sunlight can bear 16,000 mL.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

A law similar to the Bunsen-Roscoe law also applies to pressure sensitivity. The threshold for pressure sensation is related to the intensity of the stimulus and the area over which the stimulus operates. The adaptation time for pressure sensitivity is longer in the case of intense stimuli and briefer with large cutaneous areas.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The Einstein photoelectric equation is analogous to the Bunsen-Roscoe law. Einstein stated in his equation that a given amount of energy, the binding potential, must be exceeded before the photoelectric effect can take place. The binding potential is simply the amount of energy required to free an electron from its orbit about an atom.

The Bunsen-Roscoe law applies to photochemical effects, regardless of the photochemicals involved. Photographic film is known to obey this law.

**REFERENCES:** 5, pp. 1249-1250.

President data October and Loght Physical Operator Sensors Distance Transformers Information Section B Light Sensitivity

## CHROMATIC ABERRATION

#### DESCRIPTION:

Chromatic aberration is that particular error in an optical system which results from the different refractivility of different wavelengths in the spectrum. It is manifested in the eye by a colored fringe on objects at focus on the retina.

## ILLUSTRAT OF:

The human eye only partially corrects for chromatic aberration. For example, yellow light, being of medium wavelength, will be focused on the retina, whereas blue light, being of shorter wavelength, will be focused forward of the retina. Conversely, red light, being of longer wavelength. will be focused behind the retina. Other light is refracted according to its wavelength. Since the fovea is on the temporal side of the optical axis, blue light will fall upon the retina nearer to the axial point where it is cut by the optical axis. Thus blue light will appear to come from a point more distant than the point emitting red light. The image formed on the retina by blue light will also be smaller than that formed by red light.

#### MAGN | TUDE ;

The axial chromatic aberration of the eye can be measured by locating the conjugate focus of the retina for different wavelengths of light. The diagram below shows the average data for seven subjects tested by Wald and Griffin expressed in terms of an eye focused on a vellow (589 mm) light point at infinity.



AR = DISTANCE FROM CORNEA TO THE CONJUGATE FOCUS OF THE RETINA

FIG. 13 EFFECTS OF CHROMATIC ABERPATION

119

CHRCHATIC ABERRATION, Continued.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The colors surrounding the images on the retina are not ordinarily perceived. The terms chromatic stereoscopy and chromatic difference of magnification are used to describe the conditions of aberration which are similar to those described above.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Chromatic aberration is a consequence of the uncorrected lens of the eye; thus, any uncorrected lens constitutes a physical analog of this effect.

<u>**REFERENCES**</u>: <u>7</u>, p. 1394, <u>26</u>, p. <u>38</u>; <u>142</u>, p. <u>321</u>.

Physical Class Chemistry Optics and Light

Physical Operator Transformers Information



COLOR BLINDNESS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Color blindness is either a congenital or acquired defect which is be either total or partial in affecting an individual's ability to distinguish colors.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

There are two general types of color blindness:

a. Achromatism, or achromatopsia, is a condition of complete color blindness in which a person sees all the hues as shades of gray. A person with this condition is also called a rod monochromat; the only eye pigment that takes part in the vision of a rod monochromat is rhodopsin, found in the rods of the retina. Cones apparently do not play a part in the vision of a rod monochromat.

b. Dichromatism involves a person's inability to distinguish between colors.

1. Deuteranopia allows one to distinguish yellow from blue but not green from red, and when the condition is extreme, they see both red and green as shades of gray. Generally, deuteranopia is characterized by a spectrum of normal length. In the deuteranope, there is a lack of the retinal pigment chloroiabe (green sensitive) and a normal quantity of the pigment erythrolabe (red sensitive).

2. Protanopia also allows differentiation of blue from yellow but not red from green, although there is low sensitivity to red. Protanopia is marked by shortening of the spectrum at the red, and sometimes also at the violet end. The pigment chlorolabe is present in the protanope, but erythrolabe is absent.

#### MAGNITUDE:

By direct absorption measurements in the normal human foveal retina, two peaks have been found at 540 mm and 590 mm. A dichromat (person with dichromatism) shows only one or the other of the two peaks, depending on whether the condition is deuteranopia or protanopia. It has been postulated that the two peaks at 540 mm and 590 mm are produced by the green and red pigments, respectively.

Red-green color confusion is fairly common among men to the extent of approximately  $7\frac{1}{2}$ % total or 5% deuteranope and  $2\frac{1}{2}$ % protanope. About 1 woman in 1,000 is color-blind.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

A physical analog can be constructed for color blindness; for example, it is possible to make color film that will respond to, say, red and to yellow, but not be able to discriminate and COLOR BLINDNESS, Continued:

distinguish all the possible colors, such as blues and purples. Photosensitive devices, i.e. photoelectric cells, are efficient only when operated within certain portions of the light spectrum. This efficiency - wavelength relation, is analogous to the color sensitivity of the light sensitive pigments in the eye, and a photocell with limited response resolves color in a manner similar to the color-blind eye.

REFERENCES: 7, p. 1354; 26, p. 42; 116, p. 375; 124, pp. 291-304.

Physical Class	<u>Physical Operator</u>	Section 8
Mechanics	Sensors	Light
Optics and Light	Distance	Sensitivity

#### CONTRAST

#### DESCRIPTION:

Contrast is the effect of intensification of the difference of sensation produced by the juxtaposition of two stimuli of the same modality, but differing markedly in quality or intensity.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Contrast is best illustrated by the visual phenomena of color and brilliance and is either simultaneous or successive.

In simultaneous color contrast, the complementary color is perceived when a color is observed on a white, grey, or black background, as in the case of colored shadows. A color stimulus appears to change hue if it is contrasted with another color. The change in hue is always in the direction of the complement of the surrounding color. Therefore, a red stimulus surrounded by blue will assume a veliowish tinge. A red stimulus surrounded by green will appear redder. When black is placed against white, or vice versa, they set one another off; the black looks blacker and the white appears to be a purer white than if either were placed against a grey or colored background.

Contrast is also shown in other sensory areas, and with other types of stimuli. Perceptual figures, such as illusions, have also been known to demonstrate contrast.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The contrast effect is maximal when the brightnesses of the stimulus and its surrounding are equal. It is also directly related to the saturation of two colors when the brightnesses are equal.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Two aspects of vision related to contrast are intensity discrimination and hue discrimination.

Chromatic dimming, another visual phenomenon related to this form of contrast, is a sudden decrease in the effect of a chromatic stimulus after the eye has been affected by its full intensity for a few seconds due to the influence of successive contrasts.

A physiological example of contrast is produced by the application of a medication which normally evokes one type of local skin reaction to a part of the skin which is reacting to another stimulus. For instance, calamine lotion containing phenol, a skin irritant in high concentration, is applied to an area of the skin with a poison ivy rash to neutralize the itching response produced by the poison ivy. CONTRAST, Continued.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: Camouflage is indirectly related to contrast, since the object of camouflage is to reduce visibility which can be ac-complished by the reduction of contrast.

REFERENCES: 7, p. 1341.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Chemistry Optics and Light	Sensors Transformers Distance Energy Information	Light Sensitivity

### DARK ADAPTATION

#### **DESCRIPTION:**

When an individual passes from a well-lighted environment to darkness, at first nothing is seen, but after a few minutes there is a certain degree of vision, i.e., the outline of objects can be distinguished. In the course of dark adaptation the pupil dilates, the visual purple increases, and the chromatosomes are concentrated.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

If the threshold for light is measured at intervals after passing from bright light into darkness, it will fall sharply during the first 5 minutes then, after a short interval during which the curve tends to flatten, it again falls gradually, becoming stable after 20 to 30 minutes. The first drop is due to an increase in the sensitivity of the cones, the threshold of which remains stable at this level. The second gradual fall is due to an increase in the sensitivity of the rods. Nocturnal vision is due mainly to stimulation of the rods, and maximum sensitivity corresponds to the peripheral part of the retina, not to the fovea. A dark-adapted eve loses its adaptation if a bright light falls on the eye for only an instant.

## MAGNITUDE :

The minimum amount of light that can be perceived by a fully dark-adapted retina is  $1/10^{10}$  of the maximum stimulus in full daylight.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The response of a photoconductor is dependent, to a large extent, on its light. In general, the response time is faster for a high ambient level of illumination than for a low level. However, the period of time for a photoconductor to change characteristics is quite brief and does not compare with the time required for adaptation.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> <u>7</u>, p. 1642; <u>68</u>, pp. 936-937.

Physica	1 C	ass
Mechani	CS	
Optics	and	Light

Physical Operator Sensors Distance

Section 8 Light Sensitivity

#### DIRECTION EYES

#### DESCRIPTION:

Direction eyes are the photoreceptive cells typically found in non-parasitic flatworms, or Turbellaria.

These photoreceptive cells are packed closely together behind shield-like cups of pigmented cells that are not penetrated by light. The angles at which these cups are placed on the two sides of the animal head are such that they permit the light, whenever it does not fall exactly parallel to the long axis of the body, to stimulate the photoreceptors on one side more than on the other side, so that the animal responds by turning until the stimulation received on both sides is equal.

#### ILEUSTRATION:

Planaria maculata, which possesses directional eyes, orients so that the two eyes are equally stimulated. This type of orientation involves the continuous comparison of intensities on two receptors simultaneously.

Establishing the relation between eye structure and possible modes of reaction, it has been demonstrated that a single flat eye can act as a direction receptor if the animal faces in various directions in turn and compares the intensities at successive points in time. With two suitably placed flat receptors a simultaneous comparison of intensities may be made, so that the animal is provided with the information necessary to turn in the direction of the higher intensity. In many animals, notably arthropods, vertebrates, cephalopods, and some planatians, the eye is composed of a number of separate elements, each of which can be stimulated from a particular direction. Consequently, by comparing the intensity of stimulation of the various elements, such an animal can be informed at any instant of the direction of the strongest or the weakest light.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The direction eyes of planaria consist of a highly pigmented retina of cup-shaped cells, inside of which are from two to thirty nerve cells.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The mosaic eyes of insects are set immovably in the head, but the convex exposure of their surface is such that the marginal ommatidia may point outward at angles sufficient to include in the eye a wice range of vision.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Photocells are analogs of direction eyes, themselves; but

DIRECTION EYES, Continued:

electronic circuitry using photocell inputs would be required to provide signals to move a pair of photocells to null their output difference. A complete control system of this type using photocell inputs has been used in some artificial satellites to provide a sun-seeking capability.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>58</u>, pp. 210-211; <u>116</u>, p. 340; <u>144</u>, p. 807.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section &
Mechanics	Sensors	Light
Optics and Light	Distance	Sensitivity

## EYEBALL OF VERTEBRATES

#### DESCRIPTION:

The eyeball of vertebrates is a complex structure formed by closely integrated parts, each one fulfilling a special function.

The ball is contained in the cavity of the orbit, where it is protected from injury and moved by the ocular muscles. Associated with it are certain accessory structures, viz., the muscles, fasciae, eyebrows, eyelids, conjunctiva, and lachrymal apparatus. The eyeball is embedded in the fat of the orbit, but is separated from it by a thin membranous sac, the fascia bulbi. It is composed of segments of two spheres of different sizes. The anterior segment is one of a small sphere; it is transparent and forms about 1/6th of the eyeball. It is more prominent than the posterior segment, which is a part of a larger sphere and is opaque; the posterior segment forms about 5/6th of the ball. The term anterior pole is applied to the central point of the anterior curvature of the ball, and that of posterior pole to the central point of its posterior curvature; a line joining the two poles forms the optic axis. The axes of the two balls are nearly parallel, and therefore do not correspond to the axes of the orbits, which are directed forward and to the side. The optic nerves follow the direction of the axes of the orbits, and are therefore not parallel; each enters its eyeball 3 mm to the nasal side and a little below the level of the posterior pole.



FIG. 14 VERTEBRATE EYEBALL



Much of the eyeball is, as far as function goes, merely a blank space which needs only to be filled by some substance which

#### EYEBALL OF VERTEBRATES, Continued:

will not block or distort light rays passing through. This filling is in the form of liquids, generally referred to as humors. The principal cavity of the eyeball, between the lens and the retina, is filled by the vitreous humor, a thick, jelly-like material.

The most important functions of the eyeball are the diffraction and scattering of light. Light is diffracted by the pupillary margin and by the lens fibers and corneal epithelium; as a result of this and of spherical aberration, the retinal image is not made up of points of light bat of diffusion circles, i.e., a bright central disc surrounded by light rings which diminish in intensity by almost imperceptible gradations towards the periphery. The relative size of the central bright area varies inversely with the diameter of the pupil and directly with the wavelength of the light.

None of the ocular media of the eyeball is perfectly homogeneous; owing to their colloidal nature a certain proportion of the light entering the eye is scattered, that is, it is not focused upon the retina but is deflected from the course which it would follow according to the laws of refraction if the contents of the globe were perfectly transparent. The colloidal particles have a size of the order of the wavelength of light. The quantity of scattered light is directly proportional to the square of the size of the particles, and inversely proportional to the fourth power of the wavelength (Rayleigh). Thus, the greatest scattering within the eyeball occurs with violet and ultraviolet light and the least with red.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The eyeball of the vertebrate is approximately spherical, being slightly flattened from above down. In the adult male human, it measures about 24 mm in its anteroposterior and transverse diameters and 23.5 mm in its vertical diameter. These measurements are less in the adult female, the anteroposterior being about 23 mm and the transverse diameters about 22.5 mm.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

See "Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates".

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Functionally, the eyeball provides a means of focusing an image on the light sensitive retina. The retina, in turn, converts the pattern of light into a bundle of signals topologically related to the light pattern. The optical system of a television camera, although different in structure, provides a function similar to that performed by the lens and geometrical shape of the eyeball.

<u>REFERENCES: 44</u>, pp. 1095-1101; <u>68</u>, p. 948.

Physical Class Mechanics	Physical Operator Sensors	Section 8 Light
Optics and Light	Distance	Sensitivity

## EYE LENS

#### DESCRIPTION:

The eye lens in man is a transparent cellular structure, both surfaces of which are convex, with the inner or posterior surface having greater convexity. It is compressible and elastic, especially in early life. The lens rests in a depression on the vitreous body, and is in contact on its anterior surface with the pupillary margin of the iris, thereby separating the anterior chamber from the smaller posterior chamber. It is enclosed in a thin capsule which is continuous with the suspensory ligament that anchors it to the ciliary ring. This ring, which is a thickening of the choroid layer toward the front face of the eyeball, is made up of a foundation of fibrous connective tissue, ciliary processes, ciliary muscles and blood vessels. The 60-70 ciliary processes are radiating ridges extending like cogs in a wheel toward the outer margin or the iris. This furnishes a point of attachment for the suspensory ligament that stretches from them to the capsule surrounding the lens, thereby holding it in position.

Although the convex curvature of the posterior surface is greater than that of the anterior surface, it does not vary appreciably. However, the anterior curvature is easily modified by the tension exerted on the lens through the ciliary muscles attached around the margin of the enveloping capsule. These ciliary muscles are smooth and involuntary, although their action is much more rapid than that of most other involuntary muscles.



FIG. 15 LENS OF THE EYE

ILLUSTRATION:

The function of the lens is to refract (or bend) the light rays passing through it so that they will be brought to a focus on the retina, in the form of a sharply defined image, although

## EYE LENS, Continued:

smaller and inverted compared to the scene outside of the eye. When light rays pass through the pupil, the ciliary muscles either tighten or relax, thereby changing the shape of the lens. This causes the light rays, after passing through the lens, to be sharply focused on the retina.

#### MAGNITUDE:

When an object is brought closer and closer to the eye, a point is reached at which even the strongest contraction of the ciliary muscle will not result in a clear image of the object. This capability of the ciliary muscles to bring objects into full accommodation usually decreases with age, rapidly in the early 40's and more slowly after 50.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The squid eye has a lens which provides images of light on the retina, although it is more nearly spherical than the lens in the human eye.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The lens of a camera is a close analog (in functional terms) of the eye lens, although it is not flexible. Change of focus of camera lenses is accomplished by moving the lens relative to the film.

REFERENCES: <u>44</u>, p. 1113; <u>68</u>, p. 957.
Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Chemistry Optics and Light	Sensors Distance	Light
operes and ergne	Transformers Information	Jensiervity

## EYE PIGMENTS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Iris pigments. Eye pigments of various kinds are characteristic of the vascular layer, generally being much more abundant in the iris and giving distinctive color to the eye. The color of "blue eyes" is caused by dilute black pigment which is always located in the cells of the inter surface of the iris of all human eyes except those of albinos. Whenever any other eye color, such as brown, gray, or black, appears, it is due to the deposition of additional pigment, which is dominant over the blue color in the outer face of the iris.

Retinal pigments. The pigment rhodopsin, found in the rod cells of the eye, is responsible for twilight vision according to Rushton. The pigments chlorolabe (green-catching) and erythrolabe (red-catching) are found in the cones and are apparently responsible for the ability of the normal eye to distinguish different colors.

The retinal pigments are produced at a fairly constant, low rate. They are bleached by exposure to light, giving rise, in the bleaching process, to nerve impulses. These pigments are composed of opsin, a colorless protein, combined with retinene, a bent and twisted isomer of vitamin A. According to Hubbard, exposure to light straightens the retinene and triggers a number of chemical reactions; one or more of these reactions, in turn, triggers the nervous impulse to the brain.

## MAGNITUDE:

The triggering of nerve impulses by light has been recorded a few thousandths of a second after a light is turned on. The time for complete regeneration of rhodopsin after bleaching was shown by Rushton to be about thirty minutes. For erythrolabe, regeneration after bleaching required about six minutes.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

A reflecting pigment present in the eyes of certain crustaceans consists of amorphous guanin. It forms a reflecting layer below the rhabdomes.

A hormone, isclated from the eyestalk of many crustaceans, phas been shown to cause the following reactions:

- 1. Contraction of chromatophores in Crustacea.
- 2. Melanophore expansion in frog tadpoles.
- 3. Melanophore contraction in certain fishes,
- See also section on "Nerve Sensitivity".

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Reversible color changes in certain dyes have been

EYE PIGMENTS, Continued:

observed following exposure to light in certain frequency ranges. Irreversible color changes can also be found in some dyes, such as those used in color film.

REFERENCES: 1, p. 245; 69, p. 34; 125, pp. 120-132; 144, p. 812.

3

I

Physical Class Optics and Light	<u>Physical Operator</u> Sensors Distance	Section 8 Light Sensitivity

## EYESPOTS

#### DESCRIPTION

Definite organelles called eyespots are present in Euglena. These organs are associated with a localized photosensitivity. They are ball-like masses of opaque red or black pigment located near the inner end of the gullet.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The eyespots function in association with the flagellum of the organism. In phototaxis the organism gradually alters its orientation through changes in direction of the beat of the flagellum in response to the periodic shading, until the organism becomes oriented.

In the Phytomonadida the stigma consists of a refractile structure which serves as a lens and covers the opening of a cup-shaped mass of pigments. The light-sensitive material is between the lens and the inner surface of the cup. The function of the pigment is to render the receptive organelle a directional detector useful in phototaxis.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

Electron micrographic study reveals the eyespot area of Euglena to comprise forty to fifty tightly packed rods imbedded in a matrix.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The eyespons of fresh-water Dinoflagellida are similar to those of Euglena. They are much larger and in general appearance they resemble the ocelli of flatworms and are called ocelli.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Evespots are relatively simple in function compared to the more comple: light detection organs, such as the vertebrate eyeball. A photocell is analogous in functioning to the eyespot itself. See also comments on "Direction Eyes" in this section.

REFERENCES: 58, p. 340.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 8	
Accustics	Sensors	Transformers	Light	
Optics and Light	Distance	Information	Sensitivity	

#### FLICKER PHENOMENON

#### DESCRIPTION:

This phenomenon is produced by rapid, regularly intermittent stimulation in the visual or auditory field.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The interruption of light by the rotation of a notched disc or by the reflection of light from a rotating disc divided into alternate black and white sectors results in the characteristic flickering or glittering sensation which is experienced when the periodic stimulation reaches a certain frequency. This sensation is caused by a light stimulus falling on the retina during the time of the positive afterimage of its predecessor. The suppression of the afterimage by the second stimulus causes the first sensation to end more abruptly, and, through contrast, to render the succeeding one more brilliant.

When the rotation speed is increased to the critical fusion frequency, the flicker disappears. Above the fusion frequency a light sensation results with a prilliance equal to the mean of the bright and dark impressions.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

The maximum fusion frequency for man is 45 to 53 flickers/ sec. This is lower than that for insects with "fast" eyes adapted for daylight vision. Some flies (Calliphora) have critical fusion frequency of 200 to 300/sec, and in bees it occurs at 255/sec. Porter's law states that the critical frequency for the abolition of flicker varies as the logarithm of the brightness of the stimulus, and independently of wavelength. High fusion frequency is related to a high sensitivity to shadows and to fine movements in patterns.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Producing alternating periods of sound and silence, as in the flutter experiment, will result in a fluctuation of intensity received by the ear, which is an auditory effect analogcus to the flicker phenomenon of vision.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Almost any physical device which is band-limited constitutes an analog since the fusion effect is brought about by a limit on the resolution of the eye in terms of frequency of alternation of stimuli.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: 109, pp. 170-171; <u>116</u>, pp. 377-378.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Optics and Light	Sensors Distance	Light
	Actuators External	Sensitivity

## IRIS OF THE EYE

## DESCRIPTION:

The iris is a pigmented disk-like membrane located in the most anterior part of the vascular tunic of the eye. It is perforated a little to the nasal side of the center by the pupil. The pupillary margin rests upon the anterior surface of the lens. The space between the lens and the cornea is divided by the iris into a larger anterior and smaller posterior chamber, the two chambers communicating through the pupil. The root of the iris is attached to the anterior surface of the ciliary body and is continuous through the pectinate ligament with posterior elastic lamina of the cornea.

The following five layers compose the structure of the the anterior epithelium, the anterior limiting membrane, iris: the stroma, the posterior membrane, and the posterior epithelium. The anterior epithelium consists of a single layer of flat endothelial-like cells. The stroma is composed of loose connective tissue. It transmits the vessels and nerves and holds numerous branched cells which, in dark eyes, contain pigment granules. The iris contains two involuntary muscles, the sphincter pupillae and the dilator pupillae. The sphincter pupillae 's embedded in the stroma and comprises a band of circular fibers about I mm broad surrounding the pupil. When these fibers contract the pupil is constricted. The dilator pupillae constitutes the fourth layer of the iris. It consists of a thin layer of smooth muscle fibers which converge towards the pupillary margin where they blend with the fibers of the **Isphincter.** At the root of the iris the dilator fibers pass into the ciliary body from which they take origin; when they contract **Ithey draw upon the pupillary** margin and thus dilate the pupil. The posterior epithelium comprises two layers of deeply pigmented cubical cells; it is the continuation anteriorly of the pars ciliaris retinae.

The arteries of the iris which are loosely coiled form two vascular circles, one near the pupillary margin, the circulus arteriosus minor and the other near the root of the iris, the circulus arteriosus major. The two circles are connected by vessels which, arising from the larger circle, converge towards the pupillary margin where they form the smaller circle.

Blue or gray eyes owe their appearance to the pigment in the posterior epithelial layer as seen through the unpigmented stroma and other layers of the iris. The pigment cells of the stroma are responsible for the color of dark eyes, the shade varying with the quantity of pigment present.

## IRIS OF THE EYE, Continued:

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The iris has three major functions:

a. It serves as an opaque screen to adjust the quantity of light reaching the retina under different intensities of illumination.

b. It prevents light from passing through the periphery of the lens thus reducing spherical and lateral chromatic aberration. The image is thus more clearly defined by restricting the transmission of light through the central part of the lens.

c. When the pupil constricts, the depth of focus of the eye is increased.

## MAGN ITUDE:

The visual system operates over a wide range of illumination (10<sup>12</sup> times). Over this range the pupil area only alters by a factor of 16 times and, therefore, the pupil cannot maintain the retinal illumination at a constant level. The pupil light reflex does adjust the aperture of the eye so as to obtain the optimum visual activity at each level.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The iris of the cat's eye adapts even more noticeably than man's iris when moving from a light to a dark environment.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The diaphragm or f-stop of a camera limits the amount of light focused upon the film. The diaphragm is analogous to the iris of the eye in both function and purpose.

REFERENCES: <u>44</u>, p. 1105; <u>68</u>, pp. 955-957.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Optics and Light	Sensors Distance	Light Sensitivity

## MULTIFACET EYES OF INVERTEBRATES

#### DESCRIPTION:

Multifacet (mosaic) eyes are able to differentiate between the presence or absence of light and determine the direction of the source, and also receive light in such a way as to provide information for transmitting images to the brain. This type of eye is found in insects and crustaceans.

Mosaic eyes are most highly elaborated in insects. Although they are set immovably in the head, the convex exposure of their surfaces is such that the marginal ommatidia may point outward at angles large enough to include a wide range of vision for the whole eye.

In crustaceans, mosaic eyes are usually mounted on movable stalks that may be turned in various directions. The cravfish has two compound eyes, one on each side of the head, located at the ends of movable stalks which extend outward. Each eye is covered by a portion of the transparent cuticle called the cornea. The outer surface of the cornea is divided into many facets, or four-sided areas, which are the outer ends or openings of the ommatidia. The ommatidia are long visual rods separated from each other by dark pigment cells. The average number of ommatidia per single eye is about 2,500. Each ommatidium is composed of the corneal facet, corneagen cells which secrete the cornea, the crystalline cone, retinular cells, and rhabdom, with pigment cells surrounding each ommatidial unit. Fibers from the optic nerve, which enter at the base of each ommatidium, communicate with the Inner ends of the retinular cells.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

**Cray** ish, like many other amphibians, are more active at night and at daybreak than during the remainder of the day. Their vision is more sensitive then because the pigmented cells are gathered at the base and top of each of the ommatidia, resulting in the more rapid detection of stimuli but with less discrimination as to its nature. The function of the crayfish eye is different in bright light than in dim light because of the migration of the pigment under the influence of light.

The apposition or exact mosaic image formed in the compound eye of the crayfish is also known as the Sedgewick Phenomenon of image Formation, and occurs in bright light. The light rays entering ommatidia at an angle strike the dark pigment cells and are absorbed by them. Those rays which pass directly through the center of the cornea and along the central axis of ommatidia penetrate the retinulae to the optic nerve fibers. Therefore, the retinula of one ommatidium receives one resultant impression

## MULTIFACET EYES OF INVERTEBRATES, Continued:

from light that reaches it. The adjacent ommatidia will receive a different stimulus. Thus, the stimuli from all ommatidia constitute an image similar to an inverted retinal image.

An erect, or <u>superposition</u>, image in the compound eye of the crayfish is formed by the incoming light rays being refracted by a large number of crystalline cones, and then being superimposed at the focus on the retina. In dim light the pigment migrates to both the outer and basal ends of the ommatidia. When this occurs the ommatidia do not act separately, but rather together, in order to throw a combined image on the retinular layer. The result is a much stronger stimulus although less distinct in detail as compared to the illumination intensity of the apposition image. This stronger stimulus is then transmitted to the retinulae.



FIG. 16 LIGHT RAYS ENTERING THE COMPOUND EYE

## MAGNITUDE:

The facet of the eyes of invertebrates is the external part of a long visual rod known as an ommatidium. As stated above, the average number of ommatidia in a single eye is 2500. Each ommatidium consists of one corneal facet, two corneagen cells, a crystalline cone formed by four cone cells, nine retinular cells, and a number of pigment cells.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The grasshopper (Dissosteira carolina) has two compound eyes covered by a transparent cornea which is divided into a large number of hexagonal facets or openings to the columnar ommatidia. The grasshopper may be able to distinguish colors as do many other insects.

A parallel between the human eye and the crayfish eye is that both have high resolution with low sensitivity of vision as well as lower resolution with higher sensitivity of vision. In the human eye, higher resolution is provided in the fovea and high sensitivity is provided in the peripheral portions.

## MULTIFACET EYES OF INVERTEBRATES, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Fiber optic systems without lenses provide comparable

image forming effects. The different modes of operation of the apposition and superposition images are roughly comparable to a two-speed servo that is switched from narrow coverage fine resolution to wide coverage coarse resolution by the error signal level.

**<u>REFERENCES:</u>** 58, p. 419; 104, pp. 59-65; 144, p. 803.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8	
Mechanics	Actuators	Light	
Optics and Light	External	Sensitivity	

## NICTITATING MEMBRANE IN BIRDS

## DESCRIPTION:

The nictitating membrane in birds (and in many reptiles and mammals) is a thin transparent fold of deeply embedded skin acting as a third eyelid to the other eyelids. The highly elastic nictitans is stretched across a bird's eye by means of a long tendon which circles the eyebail to the rear and passes through a sling in the quadratus muscle, which holds the tendon away from the optic nerve. The inner surface of the membrane is covered with epithelial cells which have brush-like processes.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The nictitating membrane in diving ducks, loons, and auks has in its center a clear lens-shaped window of high refractive index which improves vision under water. The brush-like process of the membrane brushes the cornea with tears at each flick. In addition the nictitans has a feld on its margin so slanted that it cleans the under surfaces of the eyelid on the reverse sweep. When the nictating membrane is shut over the eyeball, it prevents a flow of blurring tears during flight, which normally is incited by the stimulating contact of air against the cornea.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The nictitating membrane of the frog's eye is somewhat similar to that of birds in function; however, it has a different derivation. In birds, the membrane arises from a vertical fold under the two eyelids, while in frogs, it is derived from the large lower eyelid, and is lubricated by the Harderian gland.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Contact lenses provide a means for improving the refractive power of the eye similar to the central lens-shaped window of the nictitating membrane in diving birds.

The protective action of goggles or safety plasses is analogous to that of nictitating membranes in general.

REFERENCES: 144, pp. 824-828; 145, p. 81.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Optics and Light	Sensors	Light
	Distance	Sensitivity

## NIGHT BLINDNESS

## DESCRIPTION:

Nyctalopia or "night blindness" is a condition in which, under dim illumination, vision is poor. It may be so incapacitating that the victim is unable to move about in darkness. There are two different forms, one congenital and permanent, the other temporary and due to vitamin deficiency.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Night blindness due to vitamin A deficiency is frequently found in undernourished populations. The vitamin bound to a protein forms the visual purple (rhodopsin) in the retina. Exposure to light converts rhodopsin into retinene or xanthopsin (visual yellow), which is an aldehyde of vitamin A bound to a protein. Light acting on visual purple stimulates the optic nerve endings and sends impulses along the nerves. In the Jark, retinene is reconverted into visual purple. If there is vitamin A deficiency, the process of visual purple regeneration is retarded.

#### MAGN I TUDE:

Measurement of spectral visibility on night-blind individuals reveals their eyes to have lost one-half their dual function; specifically, the remaining function is the typical highintensity cone visibility curve.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Taste "blindness", analogous to night blindness, is the term appied to action of the chemica' compound phenyl thiocarbimide which varies in gustatory threshold over a wide range for different individuals, from a bitter taste to the complete absence of taste.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

By definition, a "blindness" in a sensor is an incapacity or inability to detect certain ranges or parameters of the sensed variable. Physical sensors are designed for a specific range of a variable, and they could be said to be "blind" to other ranges of the given variable and to other variables.

REFERENCES: 7, p. 905; 37, p. 34.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 8
Optics and Light	Sensors	Transformers	Light
	Distance	Information	Sensitivity

## OPTICAL ILLUSIONS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Unreal or misleading images presented to the eye often cause errors in perception of patterns of lines called optical illusion, i.e., errors in apparent length, area, direction or curvature. In general they are errors in the perception of parts of a figure and are incidental to the perceived form of the whole figure, although a few (such as vertical-horizontal illusion) may be due to eye structure or the position of lines in the field of view. Illusions can be divided into contrast illusions and confluence or assimilation illusions.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The brain can be deceived by perception of the eye of certain phenomena which affect visual judgment, as shown in the following illustrations.



FIG. 17 OPTICAL ILLUSIONS. 1, THE DIFFERENT SEGNENTS OF THE VERTICAL LINES ARE ALL OF EQUAL LENGTH, ALTHOUGH SOME APPEAR TO BE SHORTER THAN OTHERS; 2, BOTH FIGURES ARE PERFECT SQUARES OF THE SAME SIZE, ALTHOUGH THEY APPEAR TO BE RECTANGLES; 3, THE DISTANCE FROM A TO B IS EQUAL TO THAT FROM B TO C; 4, THE WHITE AND BLACK DISKS HAVE THE SAME DIAMETER, BUT THE WHITE DISK APPEARS TO BE LARGER THAN THE BLACK ONE (IRRADIATION); 5, THE LONG HORIZONTAL LINES ARE STRAIGHT PAPALLEL LINES. **OPTICAL ILLUSIONS, Continued:** 

Some of the better known optical illusions are:

a. <u>Closure illusion</u>: Single unconnected lines can give the impression of embossed block letters which have no breaks.

b. <u>Hering illusion</u>: Straight parallel lines appear to curve inward when they are drawn across a series of lines radiating from points beyond their extremities and intersecting above and below the lines.

c. <u>Kundt's rule</u>: A term applied to two different principles:

1. The principle that divided distances appear greater than objectively equal undivided distances (particularly the case of filled and empty spaces).

2. The principle that in attempting to bisect a line (horizontal) in monocular vision, there is a tendency to place the middle towards the nasal side.

d. <u>Müller-Lyer Illusion</u>: The "arrow-head and feather" illusion, in which two equal lines appear unequal when acute angles are drawn at the ends of one and obtuse angles are drawn at the ends of the other.

e. <u>Panum phenomenon</u>: If two parallel lines near together are presented to one eye, and a single line parallel to them to the other eye, and then the single line is stereoscopically combined with either of the other two, the result is the exp rience of two lines in different planes, i.e., at different apparent distances, the apparently nearer being that of the combination.

f. <u>Poggendorf's illusion</u>: Produced by an oblique line passing at an acute angle, as if below two parailel lines. The two parts of the oblique line do not seem to be in the same straight line.

g. <u>Proof reader's illusion</u>: Evocation of the image of words by context, and by slight cues in the word as presented, with the consequent overlooking of typographical errors.

h. <u>Staircase illusion</u>: Reversible or ambiguous perspective in which a set of steps (stairs) can be seen as from above or from below, and the two views keep alternating. A perspective drawing of a cubic framework also illustrates this alternating or reversing effect.

i. <u>Wundt's illusion</u>: An illusion involving ring segments, where two annular lines are respectively crossed by short diagonal lines that appear to slant left and right.

#### MAGN | TUDE:

Subjectively, equal distances may occasionally seem to be distorted by as much as 30%, although this would vary with the individual and with the Illusion. It would be different with the same individual from time to time.

#### SIM LAR EXAMPLES:

Other types of distortion have been observed such as the blue-arc phenomenon, negative and positive afterimages, and Fechner's paradox, or the size-weight illusion wherein objects of

OPTICAL ILLUSIONS, Continued:

large size are perceived as lighter than smaller objects of the same weight. .

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

A pattern-recognition machine often displays the tendency to ignore noise such as background spots in a pattern or small breaks in a line, and to interpret large and small alphabetical characters as similar. Hence, the machine would "see" a broken line as continuous (suggesting the closure illusion), a tilted character as though it were straight, and a large character as though it were small. A pattern-recognizing machine with certain of the various recognition characteristics of the human eye and visual cortex might even be expected to be subject to a large number of optical illusions similar to those of man.

REFERENCES: 16, pp. 463-464; 26, pp. 116, 149, 196, 276, 314.

Physical Class	Physical Ope	erator	Section 8
Fluid Mechanics	Sensors	Transformers	Light
Optics and Light	Distance	Energy	Sensitivity

## PHOTONASTY

## DESCRIPTION:

Photonasty is the response of bilaterally symmetrical organs, such as leaves and flower petals, to changes in light intensity. The direction of movement is largely determined by the anatomy or structure of the organ. Photonasty occurs more commonly in mature plant organs than in growing parts and hence in many cases it involves movements of variation or alternation rather than growth movements.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Many flowers open under intense illumination and close in the dark or under weak illumination. The common dandelion opens on bright days but closes not only at night but on dull days or when artificially shaded. On the other hand, some flowers, like these of four o'clocks or tobacco, open in light of low intensity and close under intense illumination.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

Artificially induced photonasty will not begin until some time after the stimulus is applied but may continue for several hours after the stimulus is removed.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

During the day, plants emit oxygen in the transpiration process. At night, the oxygen emission ceases and carbon dioxide is given off. Thus, the transpiration products are governed by illumination.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Any system utilizing a change in light intensity as an activator is analogous to those biological systems exhibiting photonasty. Such systems include photoelectric control circuits for streetlights, garage door openers and lawn sprinklers and photographic film on which the image formed is due solely to the variation of light intensity exposing the film.

REFERENCES: 63, p. 243.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 8
Chemistry Optics and Light	Sensors Dist <b>a</b> nce	Transformers Energy Information	Light Sensitivity

## PHOTOPERIODISM

## DESCRIPTION:

Photoperiodism is the response of plants to length of the daily period of illumination. In temperate regions, plants are subjected to alternations of light and darkness, with lengths ranging from 15 hours in summer to about 9 hours in winter. The growth of plants and particularly the development of flowers and fruits is influenced by the length of day.

## ILLUSTRATION:

Normally, plants can attain the flowering state only when the length of day falls within specific limits which are reached during certain seasons of the year. Some plants, such as radishes and lettuce, bloom only during periods of illumination of 12 hours or more. Such plants are called long-day plants and bloom in midsummer. Others, called short-day plants, require less than 12 hours for flowering and bloom either late in autuum or early in the spring. Examples of short-day plants are most of the spring flowers and such autumn-flowering plants as ragweeds, asters, cosmos, and scarlet sage. Other plants, such as the tomato, respond to all periods of illumination and therefore can bloom all year.

#### **MAGNITUDE:**

Long-day herbaceous perennials, such as some of the sedums, have been kept for 8 to 9 years under short-day illumination without flowering, while controls receiving normal day lengths of illumination flowered every year during this time. After having been kept under a short day for 8 years, one plant was given a full day length of summer and bloomed normally at the same time as did the control plants.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Artificial biological clocks have been constructed that are triggered by specific periods of illumination in much the same fashion as photoperiodic plants.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>63</u>, pp. 231-234.

Physical Class	Physical Ope	Physical Operator	
Chemistry Optics and Light	Sensors Distance	Transformers Energy Information	Light Sensitivity

## PHOTOSENSITIVE PROPERTIES OF RHODOPSIN

## DESCRIPTION:

Rhodopsin (visual purple) is the main photosensitive substance in the retinal layer of the mammalian eye. Most photoreceptor cells consist of a carotenoid compound and a protein, retinene and opsin, respectively, which combine to form the most common form of rhodopsin. The composition of rhodopsin varies in accordance with the amount of light present. It is found predominantly in the rods, the more light-sensitive of the receptors of the eye.

## ILLUSTRA I ON :

Rhodopsin can be made to decompose and regenerate in the test tube. This involves three gradual changes from a red-purple substance to transient orange and finally to visual yellow, at which point the application of materials from the blood and body tissues will result in regeneration of the original compound. The amount of decomposition is directly proportional to the amount of light absorbed.

## MAGNITUDE :

**Rhodopsin responds** to light wavelengths which range from 400 to 600 mm with its greatest efficiency being around 500 mm. **Rhodopsin has a molecular weight** of 40,000 and contains one retinence per molecule.

One of several isomers of rhodopsin, referred to as porphyropsin (visual violet), has its maximal absorption power at 522 mµ.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Several animals have compounds with properties of rhodopsin and porphyropsin. The frog tadpole which is just entering metamorphosis is known to have both of these substances with porphyropsin being more dominant; further on in its evolution, the two substances equalize until finally the emergent frog has rhodopsin as the dominant substance.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The sulfides and selenides of cadmium, selenium, zinc and lead are photosensitive. These chemical compounds are used as the photosensitive elements in photoelectric cells and are therefore analogous to rhodopsin.

The silver halides are also photosensitive and are used extensively in the emulsion of photographic film.

PHOTOSENSITIVE PROPERTIES OF RHODOPSIN, Continued: REFERENCES: <u>77</u>, pp. 147-149; <u>83</u>, pp. 356-359.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Optics and Light	Sensors Actuators Distance External	Light Sensitivity

#### PHOTOTROPISM IN INSECTS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Phototropism in insects refers to the reaction of an insect to light, and the influence of the light on the animal's position. This may be a positive or negative reaction.

## ILLUSTRATION:

Light of short wavelengths, such as blue and violet, is usually more attractive to insects than other colors. Black infuriates bees, but white seems to have no effect upon them. It is said that enraged bees will congregate upon and sting the black spots on Holstein cattle, but will not attack the white spots.

Insects generally orient themselves with their heads directly toward or directly away from the light source. The moth is not attracted by light but is oriented by it and, in constantly adjusting its head to the light, is drawn into it.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Insects as a class respond to electromagnetic radiations from approximately 2537 Å to approximately 7000 Å, that is, from the ultraviolet to the infrared. At the long end of the spectrum, the maximum effective wavelength for most insects is of the order of 6500 Å. The firefly Photinus pyralis is one of the few insects known to be stimulated by longer wavelengths as judged by its response to flashes of approximately 5600 Å to 6900 Å.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Plants also respond to light, often by growing toward the source of light.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

See comments under Physical Analogs in the entry "Direction Eyes" in this section.

**REFERENCES**: <u>36</u>, pp. 216-217; <u>119</u>, p. 988.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Mechanics Optics and Light	Sensors Distance	Light Sensitivity

#### SENSITIVITY TO LIGHT AND TO PATTERNS OF LIGHT

#### DESCRIPTION:

Many protozoa plus some metazoan larval forms, show a definite response to light stimulation. When they turn toward the light they are positively phototropic, and when they turn away and try to avoid it they are negatively phototropic. Some unspecialized cells in various phyla can detect infrared and visual radiation, and many lower forms of animal life contain certain specialized photoreceptive cells in the skin which enable them to distinguish light from darkness. Proceeding up the scale of evolution, the most highly developed light sensitivity apparatus in the animal kingdom is found in the eyes of birds and men.

Although the glands and muscles of the eyeball are better developed in mammals both in structure and efficiency, birds, particularly birds of prey, have the best eyes among vertebrate animals. The accomodation apparatus in the bird's eye is especially rapid and effective.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Earthworms have specialized photoreceptive cells which enable them to distinguish light from dark. If earthworms are above ground at night, they will react to the increased light intensity at dawn and burrow back into the earth. In most instances this negative phototropism is used by the animal as a defense mechanism.

Some animals have photoreceptive integumentary cells located outside the eyes; some lizards, including chameleons, respond to light by changing their skin color. This is illustrated when a lizard, temporarily blinded, responds to a ray of light focused on its skin in a dark room.

According to Slonaker, there are many color-receiving cones in the bird's retina which spread out over a large area as far as the equator of the eyeball. The bird's retina contains more than one fovea! depression for accentuated visibility, and the iris contains striated muscle fibers.

Two examples of the excellence of bird vision are chickens and hawks. Chickens can be pecking at the ground with eyes focused closely to it, and become instantly aware of a high-flying hawk appearing only as a speck high overhead. Hawks can detect, from a great height, a mouse moving along the ground.

An important feature of the human eye is the jitter of the eyeball, without which the human eye cannot see static images in a normal manner. When images are stabilized on the retina, the perceived patterns fade and reappear, but are not seen in their

## SENSITIVITY TO LIGHT AND TO PATTERNS OF LIGHT, Continued:

entirety except for brief periods of time (Prichard). It has been suggested by Platt that the jitter enables us to see straight mes.



FIG. 18 EVOLUTION OF THE EYE

The eyespots of the medusa (Fig. a), are more highly evolved than the light sensitive skin areas of other forms of life, because in the medusa, the sensory cells are clustered more densely together. Many sea snails and other marine animals have visual cells that are recessed (Fig. b) and (Fig. c), providing improved directional sensitivity. The "pit eye" of the Nautilus (Fig. d), closes almost completely except for a small hole, and in the next evolutionary step, does close completely, forming a lens (Fig. e). It is likely that the faceted eye of the insect also evolved from the eyespot, bulging out rather than in, with addition of more photosensitive cells, to provide its directional sensitivity to light. The primitive faceted insect eye would not be as protected as the eye in Fig. a, for example, but would provide a wider field of view.

#### MAGNITUDE :

At its most sensitive, the eve can detect light when only a very few quanta are absorbed by the retina and, at the other extreme, it can still detect differences in intensity when the light is more than 10,000,000 times stronger than the minimum required to reach its absolute threshold.

The threshold for light can be raised or lowered to a considerable degree; e.g., a dark-adapted eye is sensitive to approximately 0.0000007 «L using achromatic light, while the eye adapted to a luminosity of 2,000 mL is not sensitive to light intensities below 4 mL.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES

Infrared sensitivity, such as found in the snake, is related to light sensitivity. SENSITIVITY TO LIGHT AND TO PATTERNS OF LIGHT, Continued:

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Physical devices sensitive to light have been constructed using various effects such as photochemical, photovoltaic, and photoresistive. Mosaics of light sensitive devices have been used in the construction devices that respond to or process patterns of light. Several such devices are referenced below.

REFERENCES: 57, p. 107; 86; 116, pp. 337-338; 144.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 8
Mechanics	Sensors	Transformers	Light
Optics and Light	Distance	Information	Sensitivity

## THE VERTEBRATE RETINA

## DESCRIPTION:

The retina, which is the inner sensory layer of the eyeball, is a double invaginated gastrula-like cup that is essentially a part of the brain. It is composed of an outer part, a thin layer of pigmented cells, and an inner, thicker part containing the sensory receptors, or rods and comes, plus accessory cellular elements. Response of the rods and comes to light is due to the action of the light-sensitive pigments. See the entry "Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin" for details of the action of visual pigments.

The region of clearest vision in the retina is a small area in the direct line of the optical axis behind the lens and opposite the pupil. It has a distinctly yellowish color and is called the macula lutea. In its center is a conical depression, the fovea centralis, which is the specific region of sharpest vision. The region is covered with more color-receiving cones than rods. Within the fovea centralis the product of the image area and the light intensity is constant for threshold stimuli. This is a constant power relationship and is termed Charpentier's law.

On the inner surface of the eyeball is a blind spot at the point where the large optic nerve leaves the posterior part of the eye. Rays of light which strike this area are not seen because of the absence of photoreceptive rods and cones.

The principal cells of the eye include:

a. <u>Cone cells</u> which are photoreceptors sensitive to color, and <u>rod cells</u>, which are sensitive to all wavelengths of light, provide the discrimination of patterns of light. These cells are packed close together along their longitudinal axis and vertically in relation to the depth of the retina. Each cell registers light from a small area.

b. The rods and cones form synapses with a layer or stratum of <u>bipolar</u> relaying intermediate <u>cells</u>, which in turn connect with large <u>ganglionic cells</u>. The elongated axons of the latter cells group together to form the optic nerve that extends outside the eyehall to the brain. Each ganglionic cell may connect with several intermediate cells, and each of these in turn may receive stimuli from several rods and cones.

c. The <u>amacrine cells</u> are cross-connecting neurons in the layer of the intermediate cells; they join the triple systems together laterally. There are also non-nervous supporting cells which extend from one face of the retinal layer to the other, thereby acting in somewhat of a skeletal capacity. THE VERTEBRATE RETINA, Continued: INTERNAL LIMITING MEMBRANE GANGLIONIC LAYER HULLERIAN FIBERS INNER PLEXIFORM LAYER OUTER NUCLEAR LAYER OUTER NUCLEAR OUTER NUCLEAR OUTER NUCLEAR OUTER LIMITING LAYER LAYER OF RNDS AND CONES LAYER OF PIGMENT

FIG. 19 CROSS SECTION OF THE VERTEBRATE RETINAL LAYER

## ILLUS TRATION:

1

Willy Kuhne performed an experiment in which an albino rabbit was allowed to look at the sky through a barred window for 3 minutes after the rabbit was dark-adapted to allow rhodopsin accumulation in its rods. After the 3-minute exposure, the rabbit was killed and its retina was removed and fixed in alum. This resulted in a picture of the window with a clean pattern of its bars printed upon the retina in bleached and unaltered rhodopsin. Kunne called the process optography and its products optograms.

#### MAGN | TUDE :

There are approximately 7 million cones and 125 million rods in the human retina. The human fovea has approximately 12,000 cones and no rods. The cones are sensitive to a minimum light intensity of about  $10^{-9}$  mL, the rods being sensitive to a much lower intensity. about  $10^{-6}$  mL. The number of nerve fibers in the human optic nerve is generally in the range 800,000, so there is evidently considerable data reduction in the retina.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

See also the entry on "Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light".

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Certain types of photocell circuits obey a law similar to Charpentier's law. The retina may also be compared to a photographic film.

REFERENCES: 26, p. 246; 116, pp. 347-350; 144, pp. 810-811.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Mechanics	Sensors	Light
Optics and Light	Distance	Šensitivity

#### VISION IN EEETLES

## DESCRIPTION:

When animals look at moving objects, numerous physiological interactions between their adjacent visual units occur. studies on the beetle, Chlorophanus viridis, Hassenstein and **Reichardt have shown this to be a process** of cross-correlation. The visual units of movement perception in this case are the numerous facets, or ommatidia, in the beetle's eye. Since the anatomical angle between two adjacent ommatidia is only 6°, a very small light stimulus would be received by only one of these facets and not by those adjacent to it. Beetles, as do many animals, react to movement perception in the visual field by optomotor reactions. This means that they follo the moviment which they perceive by actively turning the head r bod, to reduce the movement stimulus being received by their eyes. This could be considered in terms of a feed-back loop. The physiological reactions of these test beetles enabled Hassenstein and **Reichardt to determine that the strength** of insects' optomotor reactions depends on two main factors: the velocity of the moving pattern and the efficiency of the stimu us of the individual light changes which comprise the stimulus situation itself.

An extensive analysis of all the experimental data obtained during these investigations indicated that the beetle was able to derive velocity information from a shided background that was in motion.

#### ILLUSTRATION :

During the neurological investigations of the eyes of beetles, the direction and strength of the uptomotor response have been used as indicators of the perception processes being performed by the nerves. In these experiments the feedback loop of the reaction mentioned above was terminated by positioning the beetle so its optomotor reactions could be observed and noted. This did not influence the animal's position in relation to its visual environment.

Hassenstein and Reichardt placed the beetle, Chlorophanus viridis, inside a hollow cylonder on the inside of which were perpendicular black and white stripes. As the cylinder rotated, the beetle tried to follow the movement, and the response by the beetle to this observed movement reduced the relative speed of the surroundings to a residual speed they called the "slip". Consequently, the insect, together with its surroundings, formed the feedback loop. While the cylinder was being turned, very small, point-like light stimuli we e directed in succession to the beetle's eye. The real physiological interaction was found to occur between the after effect of one stimulus and the effect

## VISION IN BEETLES. Continued:

of the next one. The first of two successive stimuli is modified by a filter which acts like a low-pass.

## MAGN I TUDE :

The results showed that (1) the simplest successive repetition of light changes that is able to prompt an optomotor response consists of two stimuli in adjacent ommatidia; (2) while these optomotor responses are being produced, each ommatidium (optical unit) can function only in conjunction with its immediate neighbor, or the next one. There does not seem to be any physiological interaction between ommatidia which are separated by more than one unstimulated ommatidium.

The maximum reaction was elicited with a time interval between two stimuli of approximately 150 milliseconds. The strength of the reaction was found to decrease with both longer and shorter time intervals. The maximum time interval that was shown to release a reaction was slightly more than 10 seconds, after which it disappeared. The strength of these optomotor reactions of the beetle was found to be a quadratic function of the stimulus intensities. It was also concluded that the direction and intensity of these optomotor responses of the beetle reflect the multiplication result of signs and intensities of the individual stimuli. There seems to be a physiological mechanism linking the sensory input and the motor output by a process which works according to the multiplication formula.

A mathematical model was made using two linear low-pass filters, of time constant  $\tau_E$ , and two similar filters of time constant,  $\tau_D$ . The latter filters represent the inertia of conduction lines which cross between the two straight channels. The following formula for calculating the output of the system, was derived by Reichardt:

$$f(v) = const \left( exp \left[ - \frac{x}{v\tau_E} \right] - exp \left[ - \frac{x}{v\tau_D} \right] \right)$$

in which  $\tau_{F}$  and  $\tau_{n}$  = the time constants of the output filters.

- r = the velocity of the stripe pattern relative to the sensory inputs.
- x = the spatial distance between the two inputs.

When the two time-constants were assigned specific values, such as  $\tau_E = 3500$  milliseconds, and  $\tau_D = 46$  milliseconds, for the calculation of the theoretical curve, the latter was found to match the actual experimental results.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES: It is possible that the conclusions of Hassenstein and

## VISION IN BEETLES, Continued:

Reichardt, based on their research on the beetle's eye, might apply to the optomotor responses of numerous other animals having multifaceted eyes, as, for example, the crayfish and mosquito.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

This work has already led to the proposal for a groundspeed indicator to be used in airplanes. This instrument would be based on the function of only two of the hundreds of facets in this beetle's compound eye.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>54</u>, pp. 617-619; <u>55</u>; <u>117</u>, pp. 303-317; <u>128</u>, pp. 41-47.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 8
Electricity and	Sensors	Light
Magnetism	Distance	Sensitivity
Optics and Light	Transformers	
	Information	

#### VISION IN FROGS

## DESCRIPTION AND ILLUSTRATION:

Although man and the frog can both regulate the amount of light that enters through the pupil, the frog's eye is unable to accommodate for viewing both near and distant objects. This is due to the inability of the lens to change its form or be brought closer or further away from the retina. Frog's eyes do not move to follow a moving object.

The basis of the excitation factor in the frog's vision is the pattern of local variation of intensity and not the light intensity itself. The frog does not seem to be interested in stationary objects in front of him. However, he will jump toward any moving object in front of him. Lettvin, et al, in their investigations found that there are four types of nerve fibers evenly distributed throughout the retinal surface. This results in four distinct, parallel-distributed "channels" or paths through which the frog's eye tells the brain about the visual image it sees in terms of the local pattern. It appeared to be relatively insensitive to illumination level.

Of the four types of retinal nerve fibers the sustained contrast detectors have axons which are unmyelinated (i.e., not enclosed in a protective myelin sheath) and will not respond when the general illumination is disrupted. For example, when the sharp edge of an object, which is either lighter or darker than the background, moves into this detector's field and stops, it will react immediately, and continue regardless of the edge's shape or size compared to the receptive field. The sustained discharge can be interrupted or greatly reduced in these axons when all the light is off. After the light is turned on again, there is a very slight pause followed by a resumption of the sustained discharge. This resumption is due to the fact that a contrast in some of the fibers in this group is "remembered" Some of these axons maintain a small amount of or retained. activity that is present only if contrast were there before.

The <u>net convexity detectors</u> also have unmyelinated axons and respond under various conditions. According to Lettvin and his co-workers, this group of axons contains the most remarkable elements in the optic nerve. This type of fiber does not respond to a general illumination change, but will respond to a small object that subtends an angle of 3 minutes of arc within the field of vision.

The fiber will not respond to the straight edge of a dark object moving through its receptive field, nor to one which is brought there and stopped.

<u>Moving-edge detectors</u> have myelinated fibers which conduct nerve impulses at speeds of approximately 2 meters per

## VISION IN FROGS, Continued:

second. These fibers react to any edge that can be distinguished while it moves through the receptive field, which is 12° wide. The light-to-dark ratio of the edge to the background does not seem to affect the action of these particular fibers. This is demonstrated by the absence of a reaction when a stationary object is placed in front of the frog's eyes. However, if the object is moved across this field of vision, the response is much more rapid. This total response to nearby object movement is faster and more definitive than responses to total illumination changes, although it does vary only slightly with the general illumination.

In the <u>net dimming detectors</u>, the impulse transmission speed, according to Lettvin, of these myelinated nerve fibers has been measured at 10 meters per second; these net dimming detectors have a large receptive field of about 15°. The effect produced by a moving object has been shown to be directly related to its size and relative darkness compared to its surroundings. When a dark object is moved through the field, after the background light has been dimmed, the resulting effect is the creation of a second dimming pulse. Immediately after the object passes through the field, the overall brightness increases.

In addition to the four main types of detectors just described, there is another but smaller group of afferent fibers; however, this group unlike the other four, does not seem to have specifically defined receptive fields. Their mutual function, although individually performed, is to measure the absolute degree of darkness over a wide area with a long time constant. In other words, as it becomes darker, these nerve fibers are discharged more frequently.

In general, the functional activity of these four "channel-producing" nerve fibers may be summarized as follows:

(1) The frog's contrast detector nerve fiber receives stimuli which tell the frog if there is a sharp boundary present, either moving or stationary.

(2) The convexity detector, in a larger area, indicates when

(a) the object has a curved boundary,

it, or

(b) it is darker than the background and moving on

(c) these detectors remember the object when it has stopped, as long as the boundary is sharp and completely within the visual area of the frog.

These detectors are also most active if the enclosed object moves in relation to the background and lose their "memory" of the object if a shadow comes between the eyes and the object.

(3) The moving edge detector tells if there is a moving boundary in an even larger area in the field.

(4) The dimming detector determines how much dimming occurs in the largest area, influenced by the distance from the VISION IN FROGS, Continued:

center and by the speed with which it happens.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The actual functions of the four main detectors are independent of the general illumination. There are 30 times as many contrast detectors and convexity detectors as there are moving edge detectors and dimming detectors. The sensitivity to edge sharpness, or increments of motion in the first two, is higher than in the last two.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The cells of the lateral geniculate of cats have a response similar to the retinal ganglion cells of those of the frog. Most of them respond when the retina is stimulated by diffuse light.

Goldfish ganglion cells give on, off, and on-off discharges as do those of the frog. Each cell serves as a receptive field of which the center gives an on response and the periphery an off response.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

E. E. Leebner has described a device for simulating the frog's eye. More generally, other pattern recognition devices are discussed under Physical Analogs in the entry on "Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light" in this section.

REFERENCES: 88. pp. 1940-1959.

Section 9: LOCOMOTION

## Page

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF LOCOMOTION	163
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	163
AMOEBOID MOVEMENT	165
ANNELID LOCOMOTION	166
ESCAPE MECHANISMS OF SHRIMP	168
FACTORS AFFECTING WINGBEAT FREQUENCY IN INSECTS	169
FISH LOCOMOTION	171
FLIGHT OF THE HUMMINGBIRD	173
INSECT FLIGHT MUSCLES	174
JET PROPULSION OF THE SQUID	176
MECHANICS OF INSECT FLIGHT	177
METACHRONAL RHYTHM	178
MUSCLE RECEPTOR ORGAN OF CRUSTACEA, THE	180
SNAKE LOCOMOTION	182
TUBE FEET OF STARFISH	184
WALKING MOVEMENTS OF INSECTS	185

## BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF LOCOMOTION

Locomotion is achieved in a variety of ways by living creatures, and, in general, is accomplished by a complex, coordinated set of actions. Even in the amoeba, which moves by pseudopods developed by an internal streaming or flowing of protoplasm, the problems of initiation, control, and cessation of streaming require significant coordination.

Over thousands of years the environment of an animal may affect the development of specialized organs of locomotion. Organs adapt to take advantage of the properties of the medium through which the animal moves or the surface over which it travels. For example, the weight of the bodies of marine animals is supported almost entirely by the water, and the organs of iocomotion provide motion but not any load-bearing action. Air, however, provides very little support for birds Adaptations by birds to the less dense medium of air include hollow bones (which provide greater strength to weight ratio), increased surface area of the propelling organ (which provides greater lift), and increased metabolism (which permits an increased power output).

In animals with a well-developed central nervous system locomotion is initiated by the brain and is carried out by the contraction of muscles caused by the action of nerve impulses on muscles. Since the muscles are connected to various skeletal structures in the vertebrates, the muscular contraction produces position changes.

The speed of locomotion in animals is dependent upon the extent to which specialized organs for locomotion have developed. In land animals, such as the horse, deer, and cheetah, speed in running is achieved by four jointed limbs of about equal length, with a well-developed musculature. In the dolphin, it is believed that a part of its speed is achieved by the prevention of turbulent flow using muscles attached to the skin

## PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

Locomotion is the ability of a system to transport itself from one location to another and includes the diverse possibilities of travel through gaseous, liquid, or solid media along the interface between less dense and more dense media

From a physical point of view, locomotion in the animal kingdom is not very efficient because of the almost inevitable use of third class levers. In the third class lever, the lifting force is applied between the fulcrum and the load. However, the jointed limb, which is an extended series of third class levers. has the property that the point of application of force can be varied or adjusted with respect to the point of attachment of the limb. In brief, a jointed limb is useful for irregular terrain. This property has led to the suggestion that jointed limbs might be more suitable for lunar or planetary exploration vehicles than wheels or treads. The control of jointed limbs is far more complex than the control of a wheel, however, and although mechanical structures of this type could easily be built, the control problem for jointed limbs has received very little study thus far

The capability for flight in animals is of two general types: flapping wing and soaring. Gliders provide a direct analog to soaring animals, but flapping-wing aircraft have been notoriously unsuccessful. For powered flight, the propeller and the jet have proved far more efficient than flapping-wing devices -- so much so that very little serious attention has been or is likely to be directed toward the design of such devices.

Physical Class Fluid Mechanics Materials Properties Mechanics	Physical Operator Transformers Energy Actuators	Section 9 Locomotion
	External	

#### AMOEBOID MOVEMENT

#### DESCRIPTION:

Many microorganisms move by a type of locomotion which does not require muscle tissue. This type of movement is exemplified by the amoebae which move from place to place by means of finger-like protrusions of the body, known as pseudopodia.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

A resudopodium is produced where the elastic strength of the plasmagel is weakest. A hyaline cap is formed and the plasmagel is forced into it by the contraction of the plasmagel solates at the posterior end so that new plasmasol flows forward becoming a gel again just back of the tip of the pseudopodium. Thus amoebae move forward in the direction of the pseudopodium as a result of the solation and gelation of the endoplasm.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The rate of locomption of amoebae depends in part on the temperature; it increases to a maximum at 24°C, then decreases to 28°C increases again to 30°L and decreases above this point, becoming zero at 33°C. The maximum speed attained by amoebae is, at most, a few centimeters per hour.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The white blood cells, which can move around independently and have the capability to penetrate capillary walls, both behave and look much like the amoeba.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

No analog of amoeboid motion is employed for the production of motion in physical devices. However, the use of materials in alternately liquid and solid form is quite common in the molding and casting of materials.

<u>REFERENCES: 128, pp. 76-77.</u>

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 9
Mechanics	Transformers	Locomotion
	Actuators	
	External	

## ANNELID LOCOMOTION

## DESCRIPTION:

Locomotion by annelids is achieved by contraction and expansion of the radial and longitudinal muscles. These actions are aided by a series of siliceous bristles whose orientation and degree of extension are under muscular control.

## 

## 

- (5) (1)

# FIG. 20 LOCOMOTION OF EARTHWORM BY CONTRACTION AND EXPANSION OF RADIAL AND LONGITUDINAL MUSCLES

## ILLUSTRATION:

There are two sets of muscles located in the cylindrical wall of the earthworm's body. One of these sets extends longitudinally from the anterior to the posterior end, coinciding with the longitudinal axis. The second set of muscles runs circularly around the body and perpendicular to the first set. This circular arrangement also extends the full length of the body.

When the circular muscles contract, the longitudinal ones relax. This exerts a pressure on the fluid contents in the main body cavity (the coelum). The body fluid then transfers this pressure to the longitudinal muscles which are at rest, causing these muscles to stretch toward the anterior end. This results in a lengthing of the earthworm's body in a forward direction. Upon contraction of the longitudinal muscles, the worm's back end is drawn forward, thereby shortening the body again by muscular contraction. The small bristle-like setae on the ventral surface of each segment are drawn forward by this muscular action. Then they take hold of, or "stick into" the ground, preventing the body from moving backward.

#### ANNELID LOCOMOTION, Continued:

#### MAGN ITUDE:

The muscles of the earthworm are composed of flat, ribbon-like individual fibers, which are shown by electron microscope measurement to be 20  $\mu$  wide, 2.5  $\mu$  thick, and 2 to 3 mm long. According to Prosser and Hanson, each individual fiber has peripheral fibrils which move in a right-hand spiral diagonally at a 10° angle to the main fiber axis when the fiber is extended. When the fiber is shortened by contraction as much as 50%, this fibril angle increases to 30%. Each of the spiralling fibrils is comprised of about 100 filaments and shows a periodicity of 300 to 500 Å.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The locomotion of the snake is similar in that the snake's scales provide a unilateral coefficient of friction (i.e., one in which resistance to motion is greater in one direction than the opposite). The scales of fish also constitute a surface of unilateral coefficient of friction with respect to water and very likely contribute to the forward motion of a fish.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Although no precise physical analog of annelid locomotion is employed for physical devices, it is conceivable that the two principles employed in this motion, expansion-contraction and the ratchet, could be used for self-propelled vehicles for use over irregular and unknown terrain as would be the case in, say, lurar exploration. The problems of controlling this type of motion are much simpler than the problems of controlling jointed limbs.

REFERENCES: 51, pp. 111-122; 116, pp. 423, 426.
Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 9
Mechanics	Actuators External	Locomotion

#### ESCAPE MECHANISMS OF SHRIMP

#### DESCRIPTION:

The mechanism employed by shrimp for backward leaps (or "escape leaps") is a combination of (1) abdominal segments which are hinged on a "rocker" principle at points above and below which the cross-sectional area is equal and (2) the infolding of intersegmental membranes. This arrangement permits flexion and extension without any energy loss from changes in internal volume. Further, although powerful muscles and a large tail fan are required for "backward" speed, the inertia of the cephalothorax must exceed that of the abdomen for the mechanism to be effective. The entire response is coordinated through the giant fibers of the central nervous system.

## ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

Usually a single stimulus elicits only one backward leap, achieved by one flip or a few successive flips of the tail. However, some shrimps, e.g., Homarus, Panulirus and Galathea, often speed backward at 0.9 to 8.0 m/sec by flexing the abdomen repeatedly and steering with their tails. In Malacostraca the abdomen is flexed ventrally, with many of the appendages pointing forward for "streamlining". There are reports of certain skrimp which are able to propel themselves 15 m or more through the air (into the wind) in "escape leaps".

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The escape mechanisms of shrimp can be compared to some types of swimming in other animals. The use of appendages as oars occurs in certain insects, turtles, and numerous other vertebrates to give added speed in escaping from danger.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

While no direct physical analog of the shrimp leaping mechanism is presently found in devices, the constant-volume flexion and extension in the shrimp has an analog in the constant-volume joints of a space suit. Since the shrimp exoskeleton is fairly rigid, it is conceivable that the principles of the shrimp constant-volume joints could be adapted to provide a more rigid space suit.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 61, pp. 1-252; <u>97</u>, pp. 157-248; <u>95</u>, pp. 353-354; <u>97</u>, pp. 791-800; 150, p. 57.

Physical Class	Physical O	Physical Operator	
Aerodynamics	Sensors	Transformers	Locomotion
Fluid Mechanics	Contact	Energy	
Heat and	Internal	Actuators	
Thermodynamics		External	
Mechanics		Internal	and a stand of the first stand of the stand

FACTORS AFFECTING WINGBEAT FREQUENCY IN INSECTS

#### DESCRIPTION;

The factors which affect wingbeat frequency in insects are species, age, sex, environmental influences (such as air temperature, density, and composition), and internal factors such as fatigue.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

At any given age, the wingbeat frequency of female Drosophila is less than that of males. The effects of temperature change on the flight of different insects are confusing in their variety. With certain species, alterations in rate of wingbeat are produced by variation in air temperature, whereas in other cases the response has been found nearly independent of this factor.

immediately after emergence from the larval stage, the frequency of wingbeat in the Drosophila is relatively low. It rises during the first few days of adult life to a plateau which is maintained until the onset of senescence.

In continuous flight of Drosophila, the average wingbeat frequency follows a typical pattern. Once flight has begun, the mate fluctuates for some time. After some minutes of flight a decline sets in and continues until the rate has dropped to a value equal to about half or two-thirds of the original figure. Flight then ceases.

#### **MAGNITUDE:**

Wingbeat frequency is approximately inversely proportional to the cube root of the moment of inertia of the wings. The frequency is also inversely proportional to atmospheric pressure. The maximum wingbeat frequency that has been recorded is 2218 beats/sec in a male midge, Forcipomyia.

Large-winged, light-bodied species of insects, such as the papilionid and pierid butterflies, have rates of wingbeat of about 4 to 20/sec; the static-load is of the order of 0.01 g/sq cm per wing surface. Heavy-bodied, small-winged insects, such as flies and bees, vibrate the wings 100 or more times per second under normal conditions; here the wing loading is of the order of 0.05 to 0.35 g/sq cm.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The same factors affecting wingbeat frequency in insects will also affect limb movement and locomotion in animals. In Daphnias exposed successively to different intensities in a light field without a gradient, the speed of locomotion increases as a function of the logarithm of the intensity. FACTORS AFFECTING WINGBEAT FREQUENCY IN INSECTS, Continued: SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Age of the physical components, temperature and humidity will, to a small degree, affect the output frequency of both audio-frequency and radio-frequency oscillators. These factors are analogous to the factors affecting the wingbeat frequency in insects.

REFERENCES: 116, pp. 445-447; 119, pp. 591-604.

Physical Class	Physical Oper	ator	Section 9
Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Transformers Energy	Actuators External	Locomotion
f			

# FISH LOCOMOTION

## DESCRIPTION:

Swimming movements of the fish's body are produced by four longitudinal bands of muscles, one heavy band on either side along the back and a thinner band on either side of both trunk and tail. These muscles are arranged in zigzag myotomes. Most fish have a spindle-shaped and laterally-compressed body, as the perch, this form offering very slight resistance to progress through water.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The principal locomotor organ of fish is the tall. By alternating contractions of the muscular bands on the sides of the trunk and tail, the tail with its caudal fin is lashed from side to side, moving in a curve shaped like a figure "8". During the flexions and extensions of the tail, the trunk is curved to bring about an extension or forward stroke and a weak flexion or non-effective stroke. The paired lateral fins (pectoral and ventral) are used as oars in swimming when the They also aid the caudal fin in steering fish is moving slowly. the animal, for, although the course is altered largely by the pointing of the head and tail in the desired direction, the lateral fins assist in swerving the body to one side or the other, either by executing more powerful strokes on one side, or by the expansion of one fin and the folding back of the other. Movement of the fish up or down results from holding the lateral fins in certain positions so that the fins act as elevators or planes for the ascent or descent.

It is likely that the scales of fish are functional in providing additional action in terms of boundary layer fluid flow and skin friction in effecting locomotion.

#### MAGNITUDE

The frequency of the undulating movement in steady forward motion in the dogfish is 54/min. One of the highest frequencies appears in the mackerel at 170 waves/min. The corresponding velocities of the waves are 55 and 77 cm/sec for these fish.

The magnitude of this forward movement depends upon the angle made by the surface of the fish and the axis of its forward movement, and the velocity of the transverse movement of the fish's body.

FISH LOCOMOTION, Continued:

SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The motion of the flagella, or cilia, in single-celled organisms, which is similar to the motion of the stingray tail, is another example of propulsion through water. Other forms of propulsion through water are those employed by amphibia, human swimmers, insect back swimmers using paddling or rowing motions, and the squid jet propulsion.

The ratchet effects described in "Annelid Locomotion" and "Snake Locomotion" can be compared to the unidirectional boundary layer flow over the fish's scales.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Considering the scales of the fish, it is apparent that an undulation which would cause water to flow both forward and backward along different parts of the sides of a stationary fish would produce a net forward thrust on the fish since the skin friction of the forward flowing water is greater than that of the backward flowing water. Under these circumstances a fish would start moving forward because of the ratchet effect of the scales, even though there were no other propulsive mechanism. Rapidly vibrating surfaces of any aquatic vehicle based upon this type of boundary layer mechanism utilizing artificial scales, could conceivably result in motion of the vehicle through water, and possibly through other media, such as mud and quicksand.

The rubber flippers worn by frogmen on their feet produce a moving surface inclined at an angle to its line of motion similar to the fish's tail.

**REFERENCES**: <u>57</u>, pp. 443-444; <u>118</u>, pp. 478-483; <u>153</u>, pp.131-141; <u>158</u>, pp. 1, 27.

172

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 9
Aerodynamics Fluid Mechanics	Transformers Energy Actuators External	Locomotion

# FLIGHT OF THE HUMMINGBIRD

# DESCRIPTION:

Hummingbirds are unlque among the birds in their ability to fly backward and sideways as well as forward. They are also able to remain in stationary flight for an indefinite period of time.

# ILLUS TRATION:

The flight of the hummingbird is directly related to its unusual wing movement. Other birds exert power only during an upward wing beat, but the hummingbird exerts power during a downward wing beat as well.

When moving forward or backward, the hummingbird's wing plane is tilted correspondingly forward or backward. Hovering is accomplished by moving the wings back and forth in a horizontal motion, keeping the axis of movement in the same plane.

# MAGNITUDE:

The range of the hummingbird's wing beat extends from the male Callipalex ametheptina's rate of 80 beats/sec to that of the Patagona gigas which is about 10 beats/sec.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The flight behavior of many insects is similar to that of the hummingbird. For example, the wasp flies backward by reversing the normal plane of wing rotation, likewise deriving power from a downbeat as well as an upbeat of the wings.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Although there are no aircraft that fly by means of oscillating (flapping) wings, stationary flight is obtained by the rotating wing (blades) of a helicopter. Other experimental vertical-lift craft direct a jet downward to accomplish the same end.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>19</u>, pp. 604-605, 620-621; <u>46</u>, pp. 100-115.

Physical Class Aerodynamics Electricity and Magnetism	Physical Operator Transformers Energy	Section 9 Locomotion
Fluid Mechanics		

# INSECT FLIGHT MUSCLES

DESCRIPTION:

The muscles of insects directly concerned in flight are the tergum and the pleura, with their associated endoskeletal extensions. Sternal derivatives play only a small part. They contribute to internal bracing and are seats for muscle attachment. The muscles which effect the movements of the wings are classified into five groups on the basis of function and position. They are:

Muscle Group	Location	Principal Function in Flight
1	dorsal	depression
2	basalar	depression, protraction, pronation
3	subalar	depression, supination, retraction
4	dorsoventral	elevation
5	axillary	flexion (retraction), plication,

# ILLUSTRATION:

Depression of the wings occurs in most insects as the result of contraction of the dorsal muscles, which are stretched mainly between the anterior and posterior tergal phragmata. As these muscles shorten, the tub-shaped notum bulges outward and upward at the lateral margins, which are connected to the first and third axillary sclerites of the wing via the anterior and posterior notal wing processes. The wing is thus pivoted downward over the fulcrum provided by the head of the pleural wing process. At the same time, the relative movement of the articulations is such as to introduce components of protraction and pronation into the movement of the wings.

The basalar muscles have a tendinous connection with the anterior axillary region of the wing so that a pull on the basalar muscle tends to tilt the costa of the wing forward and down-ward.

The subalar muscles are associated with ventral extensions of the second axillary sclerite, a downward pull which depresses the Vannal area of the wing and thus contribute also a component of supination. This action occurs toward the close of the downstroke.

Elevation of the wings is accomplished through contraction of the dorsoventral muscles. When the wings are fully depressed,

# INSECT FLIGHT MUSCLES, Continued:

these muscles, whose dorsal attachments are on the more lateral areas of the tergum, are extended and in the most advantageous position for exerting their full force.

The axillary muscles are concerned in modifications of the pattern of wing movement. They act principally in flexion, plication, and, in conjunction with the subalar group, supination of the wing. By shifting the relative positions of the articulating elements, they alter considerably the path followed by the wing under the driving force supplied by the contraction of the main depressor and elevator groups.

## MAGN ITUDE:

The minimum time required for a complete cycle of contraction and relaxation of a muscle receiving a single nerve impulse is about 15 to 20 ms. Some insects' movements are so fast, 50-70 cps, that they could not possibly be produced by what is described as tetanic contractions. The wing beat in some insects is much faster than the rate of 50-70 cps, so the flight muscles receive nerve impulses at a frequency much lower than the rate of wing beat. As an example, there may be only one nerve impulse for each three or four wing movements.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Hummingbirds and kestrels beat their wings so rapidly that they can hover in the air without moving in any direction. The wing beat frequency of some hummingbirds is from 60 to 70/sec, similar to that of insects.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Since the wing beat frequency is higher than the nerve impulse frequency (input frequency), it may be regarded as a stepped up frequency such as provided by a frequency doubler, or it may be considered as a special type of frequency converter which requires only one input frequency. (A general type of electronic frequency converter requires the excitation of a square law detector by two different frequencies.)

<u>REFERENCES:</u> <u>19</u>, pp. 584-587; <u>129</u>, p. 72; <u>151</u>, p. 806.

175

Physical Class
Fluid Mechanics
<b>Mechani</b> cs

Physical Operator Actuators External Section 9 Locomotion

# JET PROPULSION OF THE SQUID

# DESCRIPTION:

The squid ejects a stream of water which propels it backward when the animal is attempting to capture its prey or to escape capture itself. This "jet propulsion" is brought about by the rapid and repeated contraction of a strong muscular outer wall of the large mantle cavity, which forces the large quantity of water contained therein out through the short muscular necklike tube.

# ILLUSTRATION:

When the squid is in search of food or when it is being attacked, it contracts the muscles around the mantle wall forcing the water from the cavity and propelling the squid in the opposite direction. The muscular siphon through which the water is ejected can be bent either backward or forward allowing the squid to swim in almost any direction by a slight change in muscular tension around the siphon.

# MAGNITUDE:

The Humboldt Current squid can attain speed up to 20 mph. When jet-propelling through the water at this speed the lobes of the caudal fin are closely wrapped around the body and the arms are held tightly together, forming an acute bundle in front, so that the animal, in this condition, is tapered at both ends, and passes through the water with the least possible resistance.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The method of jet propulsion is similar in many respects in most of the cephalopods, although there are some differences in the mechanism. Octopuses have no internal funnel valve and some, such as the Cirromorpha, have only a very narrow opening. However, they do swim by jet propulsion, not as fast as squids, maintaining speeds up to 8 mph.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Although underwater jets for the propulsion of boats are a relative novelty, forms of jet propulsion are commonly used for aircraft.

**REFERENCES**: <u>157</u>, pp. 138-139.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 9
Aerodynamics Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Sensors Contact Distance	Transformers Energy Actuators Internal	Locomotion

# MECHANICS OF INSECT FLIGHT

## DESCRIPTION:

Insects that fly have either one or two pairs of wings. Although insect wings are usually flexible, they are flat and have no appreciable curvature on the upper surface as do most subsonic airfoils. The essential scheme of insect wing motion is that of a figure eight. The figure eight traced in flight is elongated, somewhat bent, and inclined forward at the bottom.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The work of lifting and propelling is done on the downward and forward stroke, while the upward and backward stroke effects the recovery of the wing for the next cycle. The wing twists about its long axis as the result of its own variable flexibility from leading edge to trailing edge and the articulation of the levers and muscles that move it. Thus the wing is made to push against the air during the working portion of its travel and to minimize resistance during recovery. With this compound motion, the wing draws air from above and ahead and pushes it below and behind. In doing so it imparts an equal and opposite upward and forward push to the insect.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Some insects can fly up to 300 miles without stopping. Even smaller insects travel long distances. Aphids regularly cross the North Sea between England and the European continent, a distance of several hundred miles; in Africa black flies may start an epidemic of cattle disease 200 miles from their nearest breeding site, having traveled 100 million times their hody length without stopping.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The stingray fish uses a wing-like structure to propel itself in the water.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

See comments under Sample Physical Analogs in "Flight of the Hummingbird".

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 11, pp. 117-142; <u>65</u>, pp. 92-98; <u>68</u>, pp. 85-92; 119, pp. 578-588.

177

Physical Class

# Physical Operator

Section 9

Fluid Mechanics Mechanics

Transformers Actuators Energy Internal Locomotion

# METACHRONAL RHYTHM

# DESCRIPTION:

Metachronal rhythm is the orderly succession of initiation of beats of cilia located in a spatial sequence on ciliated surfaces. Each cilium along one axis is slightly out of phase with the ones in front of and behind it, in the direction of the wave propagation. At right angles to this wave, cilia beat isochronically, or in phase with one another, giving an optical picture of waves passing over the epithelium. Very little is known about the mechanisms of the coordination and control of cilia. It is probably more complex among protozoans in which a number of complex locomotor patterns may be exhibited by a single individual.

# ILLUSTRATION:

This rhythm occurs as the result of a pattern of beating cilia, as in ciliated epithelial tissue, or multiple limbs, as in Polychaeta. If the effective stroke is considered as moving backwards, then each cilium or limb is at a slightly earlier stage in the beat cycle than the one behind it, and slightly later than the one in front of it.

Among ciliated tissues from various sources, the direction of the wave bears various relationships to the direction of the effective stroke. In the frog's mouth, for instance, the metachronic wave and ciliary effective strokes are in the same direction.

**Cilia reached by a metachronal** impulse strike out from their momentary position in a plane perpendicular to the cell surface and directed towards their point of articulation. As the wave of activity passes away, the cilia becomes limp, bends out of the plane of beat to the right. It then swings, stiffening again from base to tip, counter-clockwise and parallel to the body surface until reached again by the next impulse.

Metachronal rhythm also occurs in microscopic singlecelled animals such as the paramecium in which it forms the latter's means of locomotion.

# MAGN I TUDE :

A typical cilium uses a paddle stroke effect. It vibrates backwards and forwards in regular intervals, completing a cycle in about 1/15 second.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The neuromotor system in control of locomotion in Euplates is similar.

Also, see "Flame Cell as a Pump", p343, and "Peristalsis"

METACHRONAL RHYTHM, Continued:

p. 324.

jan K

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS -

A boating crew in a racing shell moves the oars in a synchronized rhythm to propel the boat in a manner similar to the cilia of the paramecium's body. The distributor action in controlling the phase of pistons

in an automobile is analogous.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 45, p. 232; <u>116</u>, p. 482.

Physical Class Electricity and Magnetism Mechanics	Physical Operator Sensors Contact Actuators External	Section 9 Locomution

# THE MUSCLE RECEPTOR ORGAN OF CRUSTACEA

# **DESCRIPTION:**

The muscle receptor organ is present in most stomatopods as well as all Natantia and Anomura. In stomatopods the muscle receptor organs are a pair of modified muscle fibers, occurring on both sides of the dorsal musculature in each of the six abdominal segments and in the extensor muscles of the seventh and eighth thoracic segments. Near the middle of each muscle receptor fiber the muscle tissue is replaced by a region of connective tissue into which dendrites of the associated sensory neurons penetrate.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The functional study of muscle receptor organs demonstrates that flexion of the crayfish tail evokes action potentials in two nerve fibers of each muscle receptor organ. 0ne fiber adapts slowly and continues to discharge during constant stretch for an hour. The other fiber adapts to zero within one minute during constant stretch. Stimulation of the motor nerves causes contractions of the receptor muscles and also gives rise to action potentials in the sensory neurons at a frequency which is dependent upon the amount of stretch applied to their dendritic terminals. Stretch is applied to the latter either by flexion of the abdominal musculature or by contraction of the receptor muscle due to the stimulation of the motor fibers. The interaction of these two factors governs the discharge frequency of the sensory neurons, causing the response to a standard motor stimulus to vary with the initial tension applied to the receptor.

#### MAGNITUDE :

The larger muscle in stomatopods, the "fast receptor", has a contraction lasting 60-100 ms. The smaller "slow receptor" muscle has a longer lasting contraction.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The intrinsic ganglion system of the crustacean neurogenic heart is a similar example. Considered as a small, complex "central nervous system" with intrinsic automatism, it has an output in the form of spikes in the motor axons to the heart muscle cells, and an input in the form of impluses reaching it.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The governor on a motor which senses immediate changes in speed and opens or closes a valve or relay is analogous to the muscle receptor organ.

THE MUSCLE RECEPTOR ORGAN OF CRUSTACEA, Continued:

A Foucault pendulum is analogous in that its support is free to rotate with the rotation of the earth. The point of maximum excursion of the bob will traverse a circle in 24 hours.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 20, pp. 69-73.

Physical Class Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Physical Operator Actuators External	Section 9 Locomotion

## SNAKE LOCOMOTION

#### DESCRIPTION:

Snake locomotion is accomplished by four different undulations or waving motions, namely the concertina, the sidewinding, rectilinear and horizontal. The most widely used is the lateral or horizontal undulation of the body. The ribs serve as movable appendages and the body grips the ground with the broad backwardprojecting scales of the ventral surface.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Snakes move on land or in water by the movement of spinal column and muscles, which push the sinuous body horizontally against the resistant surrounding medium. Most snakes can glide through a twisted glass tube, but not through a straight one of about their own diameter. A few thick-bodied snakes (e.g., boas, pythons, vipers) can progress slowly in a straight line essentially by means of contraction waves which pass along the costocutaneous musculature from head to tail. These specialized muscles are attached to the ventral scales which engage projections in the ground and draw the animal along. The North American sidewinders (Crotalus) and the Egyptian sand vipers (Cerastes) move over loose sand by means of a series of horizontaldouble loops which engage the earth and propel the animal sideways. Some snakes, such as the Asiatic chrysopelea, can ascend vertical walls and tree-trunks. This is done by the laterally-keeled ventral scales engaging any tiny projections on the surface.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Snakes give an illusion of moving faster than they actually do because of their rapid sideways whippings and undulating. The whip snakes can move up to 12 mph, although most other snakes move no faster than 7 mph.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Locomotion of the earthworm is similar to that of snakes. The earthworm moves by the expansion and contraction of its longitudinal and radial muscles, causing an undulating or wavelike movement of the body.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The motion of a rope loop going as a wave toward the end is similar to annelid movement. If the rope is dropped from the hand, the entire rope will move slightly in the direction of the wave on the ground.

REFERENCES	: <u>113</u> , pp.	520-521.		

# TUBE FEET OF STARFISH

#### DESCRIPTION:

Tube feet, or podia, are found in Echinodermata as hollow extensile appendages connected to the vascular system, and are hydraulic mechanisms. In starfish they end in suckers and are locomotor in function.

# ILLUSTRATION:

When the tube foot is to be stretched out, the ampulla contraction arises as a result of muscular activity running circularly around the ampulla. The tube foot is thus distended and its broad flattened end is brought into contact with the surface of the object upon which it is moving. The muscles of the tube foot, which are arranged in a longitudinal fashion, then commence to act. The pressure of the water prevents the tearing away of the sucker from the object to which it adheres, and the starfish is slowly drawn forward as the fluid in the tube foot flows back into the ampulla.

# MAGNITUDE:

The tube feet of starfish can develop a suction pressure as high as 3,000 grams per orifice area, and by a periodic pulling or suction process can open a bivalve mollusk.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

In brittle stars and crinoids, the suckers are absent, but the tube feet are still important organs, exhibiting locomotion by lateral arm flexion and extension similar to the squid.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

An aspirator build is used to produce a partial vacuum in a manner somewhat similar to that of tube feet.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: 1, p. 337; <u>58</u>, pp. 517-518; <u>81</u>, pp. 114-122; <u>116</u>, p. 393.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 9	
Materials Properties Mechanics	Sensors Contact Internal	Transformers Energy Actuators External	Locomotion	

# WALKING MOVEMENTS OF INSECTS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Walking and running by insects depend, basically, upon stepping movements of the individual legs and coordination of the stepping cycle of each leg with similar but out-of-phase cycles in the other legs.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Tarsal flexion (grasping) enables the insect to obtain a foothold during the propulsive movement of the leg. Flexion of the tarsal claw brings an adhesive pad or pulvillus in contact with a smooth surface or provides a hook for clinging to a rough surface or twig. Tarsal flexion alternates with tarsal extension, which releases the hold for the recovery movement (stepping) of the leg, to produce the actual propulsive movement.

Insects are able to move forward, sideways, and backward. During forward locomotion most insects use legs R1 (right prothoracic), L2 (left mesothoracic), and R3 (right metathoracic) as a tripod support while legs L1, R2 and L3 are raised from the ground. This may be described as (R1 L2 R3), (L1 R2 L3) sequence. Many variations of this sequence may occur in one insect.

# MAGNITUDE:

During walking and running in many insects, such as the mantis, the leg in any segment always alternates with the movements of the corresponding leg on the opposite side, and variations in the order of stepping are due to the sequence of pauses between leg movements.

The speed at which insects walk varies to a considerable degree. The stick insect and the cockroach can walk 20 feet in less than 12 sec.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Leg locomotion in man is similar to insect walking movement in the coordinated motion of the legs and their individual sections.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The pistons in an engine are analogous in that they move up and down in an orderly manner, transmitting discontinuous motion to the drive shaft. The discontinuous motion is smoothed by the fly wheel.

REFERENCES: 119, pp. 467-472.

# SECTION 10:

# MANIPULATICN

# Page

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF MANIPULATION	187
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	187
ELEPHANT'S TRUNK, THE	189
HUMAN HAND, THE	190

# BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF MANIPULATION

Manual manipulation is a characteristic ability of the higher forms of animal life, specifically mammals. Within the mammalian group itself, this ability to work with the hands and fingers increases in efficiency until its highest stage of development is reached in man.

The human arm and hand possess an exceptional mobility and can be placed in positions that serve to illustrate the changes that have taken place during evolution. The fin with dorsal and ventral muscles, serving to raise and depress it for purposes of steering, became changed into a limb. The limb then has a pre-axial border, occupied by the radius bone and the thumb corresponding to the front of the fin, and a post-axial border with the ulna and little finger.

The mammalian limbs have therefore changed from a condition in which they projected in a lateral direction from the body to being brought under the body for support and elongated to act as levers. The first stage was the bending of the limb at the elbow and the wrist. This stage was already reached in mesozoic amphibians and reptiles. The hand was then adapted to be oriented forwards and the first digit to be medial. The bones are fixed this way in many mammals such as the rabbit. In primates however, the hand can be returned to the more primitive supine position, with the radius and ulna parallel and the thumb pointing laterally.

#### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

The history of the invention of manipulative devices is largely a history of man's attempt to extend the manipulative capability of his own hands. It has only been recently that other types of devices have arisen; the impetus for these more recent developments in manipulative devices was largely provided by the introduction of the production line, and the need for handling greater quantities of materials than could men, even with tools.

Material-handling and manipulative devices found on production lines tend to be large, heavy, and usually stationary-a consequence of the concept of a production line as a fixed flow of materials. Still more recently, however, some manipulative devices have been constructed as a direct imitation of man's hand. Modern functional prostheses are an obvious example of this, but the remote handling equipment used for radioactive materials is, perhaps, a better indication of a trend, as yet limited, to more flexible, all-purpose materials handling equipment. Some additional impetus for the development of smaller, lighter, and more capable machines can be foreseen in the requirements for operating in hostile environments, such as in space or under water. As the demand for greater remote handling capability increases, it will also force additional studies of control of multivariable systems. Beneficial secondary effects of these studies on other parts of industry, such as the production of chemicals, can also be anticipated.

Physical Class	Physical Op	erator	Section 10
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Sensors Contact Distance	Actuators External	Manipulation
	- Crocunce	an a	

#### THE ELEPHANT'S TRUNK

# DESCRIPTION:

The elephant's trunk is a muscular organ which is an elongated combination of the elephant's nose and upper lip. It is closely associated with the motor and sensory centers in the certex of the brain. There are two small projections at the end of the trunk which are similar in appearance and function to human fingers. The trunk can be used to perform both feats of strength and delicate sensory and manipulative functions by means of the two end projections.

# ILLUSTRATION:

The highly developed sensory characteristics of the trunk enable the elephant to gather information about its surroundings. The sensitivity of the trunk allows it to be used to pick up a sewing needle from the ground, or untie a knotted rope.

The trunk is also quite strong and the elephant can use it to lift objects weighing hundreds of pounds.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The average trunk is 6 feet long, and weighs 300 pounds. In addition to the highly developed sensory and motor nervous system, there are approximately 40,000 muscles in the trunk. By comparison, the human body has approximately 600 muscles.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The only manipulative organ of an animal that compares with the elephant's trunk in versatility and overall efficiency is the human hand. However, the hands of all the primates, such as monkeys, chimpanzees, and orangutans, are similar.

An octupus tentacle, a mole snout, or the tentacles of the polyp, the sea anemone, and the sea cucumber perform some actions similar to those of the elephant's trunk.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The elephant's trunk is a highly complex system of sensory and motor nerves, muscles, and a combination pneumatic and hydraulic transport system; as such, there are no physical analogs of the entire trunk.

It is possible that an appendage similar to the elephant's trunk would be feasible for an automaton, with manipulation and sensing as the primary functions.

<u>REFERENCES: 4</u>, pp. 53-54; <u>18</u>, p. 14; <u>57</u>, p. 520; <u>60</u>, p. 120; <u>151</u>, p. 2296; <u>156</u>, pp. 18-19; <u>157</u>, pp. 44, 48-49.

Physical Class	Physical O	perator	Section 10	
Mechanics	Sensors Contact	Actuators External	Manipulation	

# THE HUMAN HAND

## DESCRIPTION:

In addition to being a sensory organ, the human hand can be used to grasp, to manipulate, and to participate in some forms of locomotion such as swimming, climbing and crawling.

The skeletal structure of the hand includes the series of 5 metacarpal bones which attach it to the carpal bones of the wrist, and the 5 divergent series of smaller bones (phalanges) located in the fingers. The human thumb is called "opposable" because of its ability to assume a position which is opposite to the 4 fingers, and its flexibility in being able to touch any part of those fingers. The strongest finger and thumb muscles begin in the forearm and are attached to tendons below the wrist. These tendons travel to the fingers and the thumb through tubular sheaths.

# ILLUSTRATION:

Movement results from motor activity of the muscles upon the levers of the skeleton. Each contracting muscle generally exerts a mechanical effect which is due to its fixed attachment to the bone lever. The arrangement of muscles and lever arms allows for several types of organization. The most elementary is the hinge joint as involved in the interphalangeal and metacarpal regions. This joint requires the simultaneous and antagonistic action of two muscles on opposite sides of the bone lever for mobility.

The fingers, thumb and wrist have ball joint articulations which allow movement in any direction around the ball center within its angular cone of action. The articulation is mediated by a series of muscles acting in the several planes.

Man possesses an extensive cortical sensorimptor representation of the hand with predominance of the thumb, then of the second and fifth digits.

# MAGNITUDE:

There are 27 bones in each hand. Of these, the wrist contains 8 carpal bones, and the palm is made up of 5 long metacarpal bones which connect with each of the fingers and the thumb. Each finger contains 3 phalange bones, and the thumb has 2 bones.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

In some monkeys, the prehensile feature of the hand is primary and the thumb is smaller and not opposable.

# THE HUMAN HAND, Continued:

The hand of the ape is quite similar to that of man in that the ape also has a great degree of flexibility in his thumbs.

Squirrels and some other animals have manipulative forepaws, as, presumably did the Tyrannosaurus rex and some of the other dinosaurs.

The praying mantis is another example of a creature with grasping appendages.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Prosthetic arms and hands, or double hooks that open and close, are available for amputees. Most life-like artificial hands, called "cosmetic" hands, have controlled thumb, forefinger and middle finger, with the other fingers being "idlers", provided only for the sake of appearance.

Mechanical arms and have shave been utilized for a number of years in nuclear laberatories to handle radioactive materials from a distance. These are operated by remote control to follow the motions of a pair of human havds.

A computer-controlled arm and hand has been designed at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology to assist in the study of artificial intelligence by incorporating into the hand some of the tactile sensitivity of man.

The type of steel cable through which a manual automobile choke control operates the carburetor choke valve is analogous to the arrangement of tendons and tendon-sheaths in the hand.

A complete communications system, including mechanical transport between points of communication would also be analogous.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: 29, p. 25; 32, pp. 1682-1683; 44, pp. 248-250, 512; 57; 98, pp. 4-63; 142, p. 785; 151, p. 3256.

SECTION 11:

# NERVE SENSITIVITY

# Page

2.

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF NERVE SENSITIVITY	193
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	193
ACETYLCHOLINE TRIGGERING OF MUSCLE ACTION	196
DU BOIS-REYMOND LAW	198
MÜLLER'S LAW OF SPECIFIC NERVE ENERGIES	200
NERVE IMPULSE CONTROL BY ACETYLCHOLINE	202
NERVE IMPULSE TRANSMISSION	203
NERVE NETWORK	206
NERVOUS FACTORS IN INSECT FLIGHT	208
POTASSIUM ACTION ON INSECT NERVE ACTIVITY	209
REFRACTORY PERIOD	210
SENSORY ADAPTATION	212
STIMULUS SUMMATION AND INHIBITION IN NEURONS	213
SYNAPIIC LATENCY AND DELAY	215
WEBER'S LAW	217

# BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF NERVE SENSITIVITY

Nerve, sensitivity may be defined as the ability of nervous tissue to react to stimulation. The basic unit of the nervous system is the nerve cell or neuron. Each neuron has many afferent dendrites, which may be considered as input channels. a cell body, and a branching efferent axon or output channel. The junction point at which the axons of one cell body joins the dendrites or cell body of the next neuron are called synapses.

Neurons are either combined in various numbers to form different types of nerves, or they may act individually. When several nerves are grouped together, they form a nerve trunk. A nerve ganglion is a "bundle" of nerves grouped together.

Nerves are divided into three groups:

The afferent nerves carry a stimulus from the recep-1 tors in the various sense organs to the brain.

2. The efferent or motor nerves carry impulses from the brain, or other nerve centers, to the muscle tissues.

The central or adjustor nerves are those in the brain 3. and spinal column, which carry stimuli between each other and between the sensory and motor nerves.

In man, for example, the complete nervous system is made up of three separate systems, each having its specific functions:

The central or cerebrospinal system, which is com-1. posed of the brain and the spinal cord, forms the main portion, and in a general sense may be considered as the communications center of the animal body.

The peripheral nervous system consists of the nerves 2. which come from the central nervous system and lead to the various parts of the body.

3. The <u>autonomic nervous system</u> (involuntary and made up of two subsystems or branches) controls the internal organs of the body. The motor branch keeps the organs in their state of physiological equilibrium, while the sensory branch transmits the sensations such as hunger and thirst.

#### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

The most precise physical analogs of living nerve cells are the various artificial nerve cells, or neuromimes, used in information networks. There are two types of such cells:

1. The <u>non-adaptive types</u>, such as the original McCulloch-Pitts threshold-logic model which simulates threshold and pulse-repetition frequencies.

2. <u>Adaptive</u> or learning devices like the Artron, Perceptron, Neurotron, and Babcock's neuroscilike elementary unit. Both types of artificial nerve cells can learn as a function of circulating signals in a network, but neuromimes of type 2 can take advantage of the much more efficient type of learning that is found in the neuromime itself.

Some neuron characteristics that have been simulated in neuromimes are observed while others have been postulated. In general, the postulated characteristics have to do with learning, adaptability, and the influence of goals, whereas the observed characteristics have to do with fixed functions such as thresholds and inhibition.

The primary value of fixed function models is in simulating biological parameterization, such as those fixed functions that may exist in the retina of the eye. At the expense of somewhat more complexity, the adaptive function models can cerve the requirements of fixed functions, and, in addition, can learn and adapt to the extent of providing generalized learning capability. Neuromimes with a generalized learning capability can be organized by the environment to provide satisfactory results in a wide range of problem situations.

Some of the more significant characteristics of nerve cells from the viewpoint of using simulated neurons in learning automata have been summarized. Neurons can function as logical gates, such as AND, OR, and INHIBIT gates. Neurons have numerous inputs (dendrites) and one branching output (the axon), and presumably may change from one gating function to another with learning. This latter is an essential point, but needs more neurophysiological investigation.

Neurons can be joined into networks, which may involve systematic connectivities as in lower centers such as the cerebellum, or may be joined into networks which may be more randomized in connectivity as in the higher centers of the brain.

The neuron response is largely "all or none", which implies digital operation, although continuous or analog quantities can influence the response repetition rate of the neuron and certain other features of its firing. This results in analog information being coded as pulse density per unit time, as discussed by von Neumann (Ref. 111).

The functions of neurons are apparently subject to learning by a trial and error process. A type of selective action for organizing functions of neurons in the living brain based on "pain" and "pleasure" is discussed by Wiener in his <u>Cybernetics</u> and a form of habit reinforcement is discussed by Hebb in his <u>The Organization of Behavior</u>. The resemblance of such a trial and error process to the natural selection of species has been noted by Ashby and by Lee, and principles of natural selection are incorporated in Ashby's Homeostat(Ref. 3). and in various Probability State Variable devices developed by Lee (Ref. 86).

Neurons may search function space in the trial and error process as a result of spontaneity in the neuron, which may arise from thermal noise or chemical fluctuations in the blood coming to the neurons. A learning device searches function space and then retains the most satisfactory functions found. A search based upon spontaneity, as may be derived from phenomena such as Johnston noise can be advantageous in machines as discussed elsewhere in this compilation, and may supply the impetus for imagination, creativity, and initiative, when suitably constrained by previous experienc... One possible physical analog here is the kaleidoscope, which, with its random element, has actually been used for creative design art. It may be that nerve cells act like biasable kaleidoscopes, in terms of information rather than colored glass, but the increasing organization in a nerve network comes about through a retention of satisfactory information transfer functions that have no counterpart in the kaleidoscope. Such spontaneous nerve impulses have been observed (Ref. 42). These spontaneous impulses may be quite important in understanding some of the more elusive aspects of intelligence in the human brain and for application in machines.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 11
Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism	Transformers Actuators Energy External Information Internal	Nerve Sensitivity

# ACETYLCHOLINE TRIGGERING OF MUSCLE ACTION

#### DESCRIPTION:

Acetylcholine, an active ester of choline, is found in the end branches of a motor nerve fiber. According to many theories of nerve transmission, activity in the nerve terminals causes a release of acetylcholine which then reacts with the muscles, producing a change in them. It is this chemical reaction which then would account for the transmission of impulses. This theory has been validated to a limited extent in that nerve degeneration or other inhibiting treatment of the nerve will decrease or abolish the amount of acetylcholine.

# ILLUSTRATION:

A motor nerve fiber is divided into several branches near the end. Each of these branches is connected to a muscle fiber by a small flat plate or motor-end-plate. One of the characteristics of this plate is the delay of a few milliseconds between the arrival of a nerve impulse at the end plate and the resulting contraction of the muscle fiber. During this delay acetylcholine is released, allowing the impulse to travel from the motor endplate into muscle fiber to cause the contraction. Immediately after the contraction, the enzyme, acetylcholinesterase, hydrolizes the acetylcholine, thereby allowing it to be removed almost instantly. If the enzyme were not present, or its action inhibited, the acetylcholine would accumulate and block the transmission of subsequent impulses.

#### **MAGNITUDE:**

The required functional quantity of acetylcholine is so minute that it is difficult to demonstrate chemically. However, the extreme sensitivity of tissue to small amounts of acetylcholine is illustrated experimentally when a solution containing 0.001 mg in one liter of fluid causes the heart of an ordinary clam to react.

It has been estimated that the amount of acetylcholine released from the nerve endings at a simple junction in response to a single nerve impulse is about  $10^{-17}$  moles.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

It has been postulated that epinephrine, released at the sympathetic postganglionic endings, accelerates or facilitates the coronary flow in a manner similar to the action of acetylcholine. ACETYLCHOLINE TRIGGERING OF MUSCLE ACTION, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Since acetylcholine serves to link the electrochemical signals from nerve cells to the muscle fibers, any device that couples a signal of, say, a digital nature to an actuator provides an analogous function. In this context, a digital to analog converter provides an analog of acetylcholine functioning.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>5</u>, pp. 949-950, 1101; <u>7</u>, pp.1304-1305; <u>30</u>, pp. 210, 230-233,1133; <u>129</u>, pp. 74, 100, 102.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 11	
Electricity and Magnetism	Sensors Distance Transformers Information	Actuators External Internal	Nerve Sensitivity	

# DU BOIS-REYMOND LAW

# DESCRIPTION:

According to the Du Bois-Reymond law, the efficiency of an electric current passing through neural or muscular tissue depends on the rate of change in the current density rather than on the absolute strength of the current. Therefore, as the rate of change decreases, the absolute rise or fall in potential must be increased to attain threshold.

# ILLUSTRATION:

The strength or intensity of a stimulus is given by the degree of variation in energy potential; for example, it is dependent on the voltage in electrical stimulations and on the rise or fall in temperature in heat stimulus situations. It is the change in the energy level which is primary; the constant phase is effective only during a brief initial period.

For example, the stimulation of a muscle with a galvanic current is illustrative of this fact. There is a contraction at the onset and at the termination of the stimulus but while the current flows at a constant potential, there is no contraction. It is the rise and fall in potential in the two specific instances which act as stimuli.

# MAGNITUDE:

**Du Bois-Reymond expressed** this phenomenon in terms of a **law, namely, that excitation, E, is a** function of the derivative **of the density of current** <u>c</u> with respect to time <u>t</u>; E=f(dc/dt).

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

In terms of visual sensations, an animal must defend itself primarily against hostile motions that are observed as quick changes in the field of view. Similarly, a predator, such as a frog or a flying hawk, looks for motion, that is, sudden change. This effect is then propagated to the visual cortex and the rest of the brain, and may call for sudden muscular response. Thus, in emergency, or in situations calling for quick action, it is the rate of change of signal rather than absolute signal value which counts, and the physiology of neurons and muscle has apparently been adapted to this.

In pattern recognition situations, the tendency to respond to outlines is doubtless due to changes that occur in retinal cells that are near the outlines of patterns. This occurs as the eyeball jitters so that the cell crosses back and forth over the color boundary.

See also "Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells",

DU BOIS REYMOND LAW, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The energy transferred through capacitors, inductors, or circuits combining capacitors and inductors is, in most cases, proportional to the rate of change of the current density.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 68, pp. 772-773.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 11
Acoustics Chemistry Heat and Thermodynamics Mechanics Optics and Light	Sensors Contact Distance Internal	Transformers Information	Nerve Sensitivity

# MULLER'S LAW OF SPECIFIC NERVE ENERGIES

# DESCRIPTION:

The theory of specific nerve energies states that each sensory nerve has its own characteristic type of activity. This has been supported to some extent by the fact that a special group of sense organs normally has a uniquely low threshold for a particular stimulus and also, by anatomical arrangement.

# ILLUSTRATION:

According to this theory, the optic nerve can signal only visual phenomena, the auditory nerve only the quality of sound, the olfactory nerve that of odor and so on. If, for example, the eyes are turned to the extreme left and pressure is applied to the outer corner of the right eyelid, the resulting sensation involves seeing a dark disk in the extreme left of the visual field. The sensation is visual in spite of the fact that the stimulus is pressure. Similarly, most receptors can be stimulated by an electric current with the resulting sensation being one of touch, pain, light or sound, depending on the receptor area being stimulated.

The nerve impulses themselves, however, cannot account for this phenomenon since they are all fundamentally the same. The critical difference may depend on the localization of these impulses when they reach the various areas of the brain. Evidence for this view is found in the fact that a blow on the back of the head, over the occipitallobe, makes a person see a flash of light.

Another theory places the importance on the pattern of the fibers being stimulated. In the sensation of taste, for example, impulses in one set of fibers will produce the sensation of saltiness whereas when this is combined with activity in all the other types of fibers, the resulting sensation is one of a sour taste.

# MAGNITUDE:

Specificity can be substantiated by the varying rates of response as well as by the different sensitivities. For example, there are two types of thermal units in the cat's tongue; in both types the temperature of the receptors determines the frequency of the impulse. However, the maximum frequency in one group is at a temperature of 30 to 32° whereas in the other it occurs at 37.5 to 40°C.

# MÜLLER'S LAW OF SPECIFIC NERVE ENERGIES, Continued:

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

This specificity can also apply to the different properties of the stimulus as well as to the sensory units themselves. For example, mechanically sensitive units do not respond to thermal stimuli or to acid; thermally sensitive units will normally not respond to mechanical stimuli; and furthermore, those units which are sensitive to acid, prick, or burning do not respond to mechanical or thermal stimulation.

Specificity to a particular band of frequencies of a periodic function is another example. The primary units of the retina for instance may respond to different frequencies of light waves and the frequency of sound waves may elicit unique characteristics from the mammalian cochlea. In the latter case it is the mechanical properties of the system which are responsible for the given effect.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Most physical devices used for transduction are quite specific in their sensitivity to different types of stimuli, responding to but one or very few types of inputs. However, the specificity of subjective response of the brain to signals from sensors has no simple, physical counterpart; this is apparently a characteristic of the structure and functioning of the brain.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 5, p. 962; <u>30</u>, p. 124; 68, pp. 867-868.

I. Contraction of the second sec		
Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 11
ChemIstry	Transformers Actuators	Nerve
Electricity and	Energy Internal	Sensitivity
Magnetism	Information	

## NERVE IMPULSE CONTROL BY ACETYLCHOLINE

## DESCRIPTION:

Acetylcholine is the chemical substance found in the end branches of motor nerve fibers. Its release into the area allows an impulse to pass from the nerve endings to the muscle fiber causing contraction of the latter. When the acetylcholine is set free it diffuses down the nerve fibers. Free acetylcholine is unstable and is readily hydrolized to choline and acetic acid by the enzyme acetylcholinesterase, which is present at the ends of the cholinergic nerves.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The depolarization of the naked nerve terminal during activity causes the release of a small amount of acetylcholine (ACh). The ACh diffuses across the small gap between the nerve ending and the end plate and reacts with a receptor in the end plate. The ACh-receptor complex acts to increase the permeability of the end-plate membrane to all ions and is quickly destroyed by the enzyme acetylcholinesterase (AChE), which exists in high concentrations in the end-plate regions of the membrane. The membrane potential of the end plate changes toward zero, no matter what the original potential. If the transmitter action is strong enough, and if the muscle membrane is excitable, the end-plate membrane is depolarized to threshold, and an impulse is propagated away from the end plate in both directions.

# MAGNITUDE:

The arrival of an impulse at the nerve terminals liberates a minute amount of ACh (about  $10^{-17}$  moles). From studies of the electrical potentials at the end plate, it is believed that the ACh is liberated from a large number (at least 200) sites in the form of small packets or quanta containing a constant number (roughly 1,000 to 10,000) of ACh molecules.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The action of epinephrine on cardiac muscles is similar to the action of acetylcholine on nerve transmission.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Acetylcholine serves as the means by which signals in nerves are conveyed to muscle fibers. It is therefore a communication channel. Physical transfer of signals from control equipment to actuators is normally accomplished by wires.

REFERENCES: 7, pp. 1304-1305.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 11
Chemistry Electricity and	Transformers Energy	Nerve Sensitivity
Magnetism	Information	

# NERVE IMPULSE TRANSMISSION

# DESCRIPTION:

A nerve impulse is a travelling wave of chemical and physical reactions involving particularly the surface membrane of a nerve fiber. It is elicited as an all-or-none response.

The energy for the impulse is provided locally along the course of the nerve fiber and not by the stimulus which initiates the impulse. Consequently, the characteristics of the impulse (action potential, speed, etc.) are unaffected by the nature or intensity of the stimulus.

When an impulse travels along a nerve fiber, it can be detected by its effect on the muscle fibers to which it is applied and also by electrical changes in the nerve fiber itself. The action of a nerve impulse sets up a transient variation in the electrical potential between the inside and outside of a nerve fiber that marks the position of the impulse as it travels.

## ILLUS TRATION:

When an electrical impulse is applied to and travels along a nerve fiber, movement of ions on the surface causes a change in the nerve. When such a disturbance is very small, it may not cause a reaction, but if it is increased beyond a certain threshold, an explosive reaction, called the spike or action potential, is produced. Beyond this threshold, the impulse is always the same size regardless of the strength of the stimulus. Furthermore, although nerve fibers may possibly be able to conduct impulses in both directions, they are normally unidirectional.

Most stimuli, including those via a receptor, set off a train of successive impulses in a nerve cell, rather than a single impulse. Therefore, different stimuli produce different responses in a nerve fiber by affecting not the individual impulse, but rather the number and frequency of successive impulses in a train of impulses.

In the absence of an impulse, the inside of a nerve is negatively charged in relation to the outside; this difference is termed the resting potential. During the passage of an impulse past any point on the fiber, it changes momentarily to positive. This wave of energy is the most easily detectable and measurable aspect of an impulse.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The impulse runs without loss of intensity (vigor) through all the branches of that nerve cell. The rate at which an impulse moves in a nerve is usually higher (a) in
#### NERVE IMPULSE TRANSMISSION, Continu d:

warm-blooded animals than cold-blooded ones, (b) in fast moving animals than in those that move slowly, and (c) in larger diameter nerve fibers. For example, the velocity of a nerve impulse may double with a rise in temperature of about 10 degrees.

Motor Nerve Conduction	on Rates
Animals	Meters per Second
Mammals	30 - 120
Fish	50 - 60
Medullated nerve of dogfish	35
Snakes	10 - 35
Squid (small fibers)	4.3
Squid (giant fibers)	18 - 35
Earthworms (small fibers)	0.6
Earthworms (giant fibers)	10 - 30
Nonmedullated nerve of crabs	1.5

Hodgkin and Huxley, during their investigation of the nervous system of the squid, were able to thread an electrode into the giant axon of the squid from the cut end. With the aid of a galvanometer, they found that the electrode inside the fiber has a resting potential of 80 mv below that of the electrode on the outer surface of the fiber.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

A similar action potential occurs in a muscle fiter when it is stimulated.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

H. D. Crane's Neuristor has physical properties analogous to nerve impulse transmission. An electrical impulse, travelling through the Neuristor media, derives energy from the media.

An analogy exists between electronic delay lines having different delay times and conduction rates of various nerves.

A multivibrator circuit has characteristics similar to nerve impulse transmission. A triggering signal or impulse above a given threshold will trigger the circuit, which then forms an output pulse.

According to R. S. Lillie, an iron wire placed in a nitric acid bath will acquire a coating that is resistant to NERVE IMPULSE TRANSMISSION, Continued:

further acid attack. This coating, however, can be broken by scretching, and a wave of new chemical activity is then propagated from the scretch along the wire in a manner somewhat similar to nerve conduction.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: 7, p. 1309; <u>14</u>, p. 46; <u>22</u>; <u>30</u>, pp. 75-76; <u>116</u>, pp. 587, 661; <u>129</u>, pp. 98-99; <u>139</u>, pp. 509-54.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 11
Chemistry Electricity and	Transformers	Nerve
Magnetism	information	Sensitivity

#### NERVE NETWORK

#### DESCRIPTION:

A nerve net consists of a group of interconnected neurons which conduct diffusely and exhibit integrative properties. Conduction is relatively slow and may go in many as well as in one direction. The nerve network makes up the greater part of the nervous system in such groups as the Coelenterata and Echinodermata; it plays a major role in peripheral motion coordination in some annelids and mollusks; and may provide local integration in the visceral musculature of many animals.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

In coelenterates, the nerve nets consitute a primitive coordinating nervous system having many integrative properties peculiar to more complex systems. Conduction may proceed in all directions. These networks show many facilitation requirements. Investigations with drugs have shown much of the facilitation to be neuronal or neuromuscular. For this reason, lack of or decrease in transmission through a net can be attributed to decreasing facilitation at junctions as the wave spreads out from its original location.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

In the luminescent sea pen Renilla, facilitation 's necessary for nonpolarized, non-decremental conduction. The dependence on facilitation varies widely. For example, in the coral Heteroxenia, the response increases upon repetition until the whole colony is involved. In Acropora and Porites a single shock will cause the coordinated contraction of many polyps. In Palythoa on the other hand, there is little spread on repetition.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Single-cell animals, such as amoebae, have no nervous system, and sensing and action functions are provided by more diffuse processes than assemblies of nerve cells.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOG:

Some early artificial nerve nets or cell assemblies were presented by McCulloch and Pitts, Beurle, Farley and Clark, Lee (Reron, Artron, Neurotron), Rosenblatt (Perceptron), and Mattson. Other important contributions have been made by Wiener, Hebb, Ashby (Homeostat), Uttley, Stewart (MABIAC), Barlow, Widrow (Memistor, Adaline), and numerous other investigators. NERVE NETWORK, Continued:

REFERENCES: 116, pp. 617-619.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 11
Aerodynamics	Sensors	Transformers	Nerve
Electricity and	Contact	Energy	Sensitivity
Magnetism	Internal	Information	
Mechanics		Actuators External	

#### NERVOUS FACTORS IN INSECT FLIGHT

#### DESCRIPTION:

The nervous system of insects is primarily responsible for the integration of the various motions involved in the wingbeat to produce forces suitable for flying. Although the mechanical relationships are likewise important, flight is nevertheless initiated, maintained, and regulated by the outflow of impulses through the rorves to the thoracic muscles.

# ILLUSTRATION:

The nature of wing movement can be modified as the result of sensory stimulation on many parts of the body. Several experiments with decapitated insects have shown the importance of the flow of stimulation from the head to the thoracic centers for the maintenance of flight. These insects were able to show normal tarsal and abdominal flight reflexes although decapitation rendered them less responsive and considerably shortened the duration of their flights. This was attributed to the decrease in excitability of the thoracic motor centers inasmuch as the normal flow of impulses had been eliminated.

Sectioning the connectives at various levels similarly abolishes or inhibits the flying action.

# MAGN ITUDE:

With the amputation of all tarsi on an insect, making it impossible for it to gain a firm hold, flight frequently cannot be stopped. Insects treated in this way will often continue to beat the wings until completely exhausted, even after they have fallen to the ground.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The control of respiration by the central nervous system in man is similar in that it is a continuous type of major reflex action.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Guidance systems, such as those used to control drone aircraft, missiles and torpedoes provide control analogous to the control of insect flight by the insect's nervous system.

**REFERENCES:** 119, pp. 648-655.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 11
Chemistry	Transformers	Nerve
Electricity and Magnetism	Energy Information	Sensitivity

#### POTASSIUM ACTION ON INSECT NERVE ACTIVITY

#### DESCRIPTION:

The gradient of potassium across the cell surface of nerve and muscle is closely connected with the phenomena of excitability and conduction. In the insect nerve, demarcation and action potentials decrease as the potassium gradient at the cell surface is decreased by the addition of potassium to the external saline. Insect nerves and muscles lose potassium to the external medium during activity and reclaim it during subsequent inactivity.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Potassium ions have complex effects on excitability. Although an increase in the potassium content of the medium outside a nerve fiber appears to depress excitability, this change is preceded by a transient stimulating action. In the crayfish, increased external potassium causes an increase in the spontaneous activity of the nerve cord, which is followed by a decrease or cessation of spontaneous activity if the rise in external potassium is sufficient. A reduction in external potassium may increase spontaneous activity in freshly dissected insect cords, depressing it in older preparations.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Spontaneous activity and axonic and synaptic transmission in the nerve cord of the cockroach is not immediately affected by changes in external potassium within a range of zero to 50 millimoles which is well above the range tolerated by vertebrate and crustacean nerves. The nerves of Locusta can tolerate 140 millimoles potassium for 2 or 3 hours before conduction block occurs.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Effects on excitable tissue are also derived with calcium and sodium. Calcium most noticeably affects the nerve excitability. An increase in external calcium may cause depression of excitability. The presence of sodium seems to preserve the nerve fibers of vertebrates in a state of normal excitability.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Virus ultrafiltration devices and ion separation devices both are analogous in operation to potassium action on insect nerve activity.

REFERENCES: 119, pp. 452-454.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 11	
Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism Heat and Thermo- dynamics	Sensors Internal	Transformers Information	Nerve Sensitivity	

# REFRACTORY PERIOD

#### DESCRIPTION:

Each nerve impulse occupies an inch or two of the length of the nerve fiber at any instant. When it has passed a given place along the nerve, that area will not transmit another impulse for a given period. This interval is known as the absolutely refractory period.

Within 1 or 2 ms, the fiber has recovered partially so that a very strong stimulus will elicit a very weak impulse. During this period, referred to as the relatively refractory period, the available energy increases until the fiber is restored to its original state.

#### **ILLUSTRATION:**

The refractory period is not due to a change which is limited to the point of stimulation. It follows the nerve impulse as it passes along the fiber. The refractory period will be of the same magnitude and duration all along the fiber. Moreover, if two impulses are transmitted along a nerve in rapid succession, the second one will travel at a subnormal velocity as long as it remains in the relative refractory period of the first.

Following the relatively refractory period is a period of increased excitability, the supernormal period, and following this there is a period of depressed excitability, the subnormal period. These periods seem to be related causally to the durations of the negative afterpotential and the positive afterpotential respectively.

#### MAGNI TUDE :

In a frog's sciatic nerve at a temperature of about 15°C, the absolute refractory period has a duration of between 2 and 3 ms. It is much shorter in mammalian nerve fibers at rates higher than about 1,000/sec.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

In nerve or muscle stimulations, the refractory period is over before the contraction is well started. Therefore if either a muscle or nerve is stimulated twice in such rapid succession that the second stimulus falls within the contraction period of the first, the response will increase. This phenomenon is referred to as the summation of contraction.

#### **REFRACTORY PERIOD**, Continued:

With the heart however, this is not possible. In this case, the absolutely refractory period lasts throughout the contraction so that a second stimulus applied during the contraction will not have any effect at all.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

2

Integrating circuits, gate circuits, filter circuits, and delay lines all have characteristics analogous to the refractory period.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>5</u>, pp. 47, 890, 934; <u>7</u>, pp. 1126-1127; <u>22</u>, pp. 370-371; <u>26</u>, p. 239; <u>86</u>.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 11
Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism Optics and Light	Sensors Contact Distance Internal	Sensors Transformers Contact Energy Distance Information	

#### SENSORY ADAPTATION

# DESCRIPTION:

When a receptor organ is subjected to an abrupt increase in the forces applied to it, and this new level of stimulation is maintained, the sensory unit will discharge impulses at a gradually decreasing rate over a period of time. This decline is referred to as adaptation and may be fast or slow. In order to maintain a constant rate of discharge, the strength of the stimulus would have to be increased continually.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The sense of taste exhibits this adaptation characteristic. The continuous flow of a solution over the tongue results in a rise in the absolute threshold. The necessary increase in threshold and the simultaneous decrease in sensitivity are proportional to the intensity of the adapting stimulus.

Insofar as the taste sensation is concerned, it would seem that adaptation is a central process. This assumption is based on observing phenomena such as that in which the same peripheral fibers and receptor cells are affected by calcium chloride and sodium chloride, yet no cross adaptation occurs.

#### MAGN I TUDE :

There is a small amount of error adaptation in the case of the sour taste and to a lesser degree in the bitter and sweet sensations. However, in the case of salt, no cross adaptation at all was found for 24 different inorganic salts.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Adaptation studies on the eyelid blinking reflex and finger retraction were conducted with human subjects. Before the main tests, one half of the group received initial stimuli from puffs of air and very weak shocks, while the other half was designated as the control group and received no stimuli prior to the tests. The results showed that prior adaptation of eye blinks reduced the conditioned response frequency among the subjects from 27.7 to 6.0. The frequency of finger retraction responses dropped from 27.1 to 10.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANA! OGS :

Differentiating circuits and circuits with phase lead have the property that a step input produces a gradually diminishing response analogous to adaptation.

REFERENCES: 1, p. 10. 30, pp. 125, 524-525; 78, pp. 59-60.

<u>Physical Class</u>	Physical Operator	Section 11
Chemistry	Transformers	Nerve
Magnetism	Information	Sensitivity

#### STIMULUS SUMMATION AND INHIBITION IN NEURONS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Stimulus summation generally refers to the additive effect of separate stimuli. In neurophysiology, it is the additive effect of separate impulses arriving at a nerve cell or effector cell. Summation is one of the main ways in which impulses can interact. Therefore, nerve cells functioning together can produce effects quite different from the sum of those due to the nerve cells singly.

Inhibition in neurons is the prevention of activation of the neuron due to the influence of other nerve impulses on it.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

As a simple example of summation, assume that nerve cell A has synapses with the nerve fibers of nerve cells B and C. Impulses arriving in B or in C alone may not stimulate the production of an impulse in A. However, if impulses arrive simultaneously or very soortly after each other in both B and C, their joint action may produce an impulse in A.

The separation of the summating impulses may be spatial, meaning that they arrive at different synapses on the same nerve cell, or they may be temporal, in which case they arrive successively at the same cell, or both. Many impulses may be involved in any one process of summation.

Whereas summation is a local process, inhibition occurs in the central nervous system. For example, when a muscle is stimulated by its motor nerve fibers to contract, the tonus of antaconistic muscles is simultaneously relaxed by inhibition of their motor nerve cells. This is called reciprocal inhibition. A reflex can also be inhibited by stimulating both the sensory nerve fibers of the reflex and certain other sensory nerve fibers at the same time. Such central inhibition is one of the most important ways in which the central nervous system produces its flexible control over activities by preventing action in unsuitable circumstances.

Peripheral inhibition occurs in Crustacea in which special inhibitory nerve fibers block the neuromuscular transmission of the excitatory impulse in the motor fibers. Similar to excitation, inhibition can summate temporally and spatially.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The short duration of effect of each nerve impulse fades before the refractory period will allow the next impulse to arrive. The impulses must arrive practically simultaneously if they are to summate since the effective period is less than a half ms. STIMULUS SUMMATION AND INHIBITION IN NEURONS, Continued:

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Summation occurs in muscle action in that if a large number of muscle fibers are stimulated to contract, the resultant force is greater than if only a small number are stimulated.

A type of inhibition occurs in the autonomic nervous system of vertebrates; for example, the vagus nerve inhibits heart beat while the sympathetic nervous system stimulates it.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Logic and threshold devices such as computer components or artificial nerve cells (neuromimes) are physical analogs. A logical "and" gate is the analog of summation, and a logical gate with a function such as ab' = c is the analog of inhibition, where the prime is the logical "not".

A threshold device may require input signals on any "m" out of "n" input channels as a necessary and sufficient condition for having an output where  $m \le n$ . It may also require that the sum of weights of stimulated input channels be greater than some threshold value. These functions will give rise to gating functions such as "and" gates, and if some of the weights are negative, will give rise to "inhibit" action.

It appears that such functions in nerve cells should be changeable and adaptable if the nerve network (e.g., cerebral cortex) is to learn. Following this reasoning, the physical analogs of nerve cells for learning systems are typically provided with a means of varying or selecting their minterms, thresholds, and/or weights. Devices developed by Farley and Clark, Lee (Reron, Artron, Neurotron), Rosenblatt (Perceptron), Mattson, and others have such properties. The change is either due to a goal circuit (e.g., Reron, Artron, Neurotron), to a human trainer (e.g., early Perceptron), or to the natural tendency of the networks to gravitate toward a stable equilibrium. Neurotrons also have the capability for learning analog gain and time constants, and as a result of this can provide both minterm selection and threshold selection.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 1, p. 224; 5, pp. 1011-1013; 7, pp. 1119-1124; <u>40</u>, pp. 437-450; <u>83</u>; <u>88</u>; <u>108</u>, pp. 72-76; <u>115</u>.

Physica Class	Physical Operator	Section 11
Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism	Transformers Actuators Information External Internal	Nerve Sensitivity

# SYNAPTIC LATENCY AND DELAY

# DESCRIPTION:

:

The onset of response of the electrically excitable membrane depends on the achievement of a critical level of depolarization. Current knowledge indicates that an appreciable irreducible latency or a synaptic delay always precedes a neurally evoked response. Synaptic latency refers to the activity of the presynaptic terminals and the response of electrically inexcitable synaptic membrane. Synaptic delay involves these as well as the utilization time of electrical excitability, i.e., the duration of the depolarization process which is necessary to reach the critical level to evoke a response.

# ILLUSTRATION:

The synaptic latency is believed to be compounded from the durations necessary for:

- a. release of transmitter from the presynaptic terminals
- b. its transit across a synapse, and
- c. development of the electrogenic reactions when the transmitter acts upon the postsynaptic membrane.

A strong electrical stimulus which results in rapid depolarization will evoke a response with a very brief latency period. In addition, temporal summation or facilitation may decrease the utilization time and thereby shorten the synaptic delay. The shortening may be a result of a decrease in latency or an increased synaptic excitability.

# MAGNITUDE :

A latency of about 0.3 to 0.4 ms exists between the arrival of the presynaptic impulse and the onset of the post-synaptic potential of cat motoneurons. In the eel electroplaque this period is approximately 1 to 2.5 ms.

The utilization time may be as brief as 0.1 to 0.3 ms but can be much longer, depending on the strength of the stimulus.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Reaction time is taken as the elapsed time between a stimulus and a given response on the part of the organism as a whole, for example, the time between seeing a red traffic light and applying the brakes.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Delay in a system, such as rounding and/or delay of the

SYNAPTIC LATENCY AND DELAY, Continued:

leading edge of an impuise in an electronic system would be analogous to synaptic delay.

**<u>REFERENCES</u>**: <u>30</u>, pp. 162-163, 170.

. 9

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 11
Acoustics Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism Heat and Thermo- dynamics Mechanics Optics and Light	Sensors Contact Distance Internal	Transformers Information	Nerve Sensitivity

#### WEBER S LAW

#### DESCRIPTION:

Weber's law expresses the relationship between the strength of the external stimulus and the intensity of the subjective sensation; the least noticeable difference in intensity is proportional to the original stimulus.

# ILLUS TRATION :

A comparison of the retinal currents which are evoked by illumination and the visual sensations received by the subject illustrates this phenomenon. Over a limited range of stimulus values, the height of the action current curves varies with the intensity of the light stimulation. At the extremes, however, this law does not hold.

Weber's traditional application of this law involved weight discrimination abilities. Here again, the smallest detectable difference between two weights is a constant function of the weights themselves.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The threshold varies slightly for different organs, individuals, times, and conditions. The law is not applicable near the extremes of the dynamic range for each sense. Approximate minimum changes discernible are: light, 1%; feeling of weight, 10%; sound loudness, 30%. Fechner formulated the law in mathematical terms as

#### $S = k \cdot \log R$

where S is the experienced intensity, R the physical intensity, and k is a constant for the particular sense. (This is an approximate relationship that holds best through the middle range of intensities, and is often referred to as the Weber-Fechner relation.)

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The Fullerton-Cattel law and Breton's law are similar but not identical. Weber's law is essentially the same as Fechner's law, the quotient hypothesis, the progression law (Delboef), and the parallel law. The Fechner-Helmholtz law and "Dark Adaptation" are related. WEBER'S LAW, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: The logarithmic amplifier is analogous to the biological system.

**<u>REFERENCES</u>**. <u>5</u>, p. 1245; <u>123</u>, p. 306.

REGROWTH AND REPAIR

# Page

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF REGROWTH AND REPAIR	220
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	220
AUTOTOMY PHENOMENON.	222
MOLTING PROCESS, THE	224
REGROWTH BY CRUSTACEA	226
SPONGE REGENERATION	228

46.0

ing a neglitari adal

Ê

#### BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF REGROWTH AND REPAIR

Regeneration is the capacity of the organism in postembryonic stages to rebuild organs or body parts that have been lost.

The power of regeneration is widespread among insects and is a property of many organs. If an organ is amputated, the newly formed part usually reappears after the first or second postoperative molt. The exact time of appearance often depends upon the time within the intermolt period at which amputation took place, hence on the time the regenerated organ had at its disposal between amputation and next molt.

Animals such as the coelenterates, Planaria, Nemertina, and Polyzoa are able to partially revise their growth until they are just a fraction of their original size. They can then regenerate themselves completely. Although temperature does affect the rate of regeneration, the organism's nerve supply is the most important factor in the internal regulation among invertebrates.

Among vertebrate animals, regrowth and repair is not as extensive. The more highly developed the animal, the less extensive is the regeneration. For example, the process is limited in reptiles to regrowth of the tail and scales, and healing of wounds in general whereas in birds it involves the replacement of feathers.

In mammals, this characteristic is evident in the healing of wounds and the repair of tissues. Although regeneration of whole limbs is not possible, this system is quite active. Replacement after damage is fairly extensive. A complete liver is regenerated in a mammal even after more than half of it has been removed. Bones become reunited after fracture and are remodeled to meet strains efficiently. Nerves that have been severed are sometimes able to recover their functions.

# PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

Much work in the engineering industry is now concerned with systems that are suggestive of tissue regeneration or growth physiology. The growth of transistors or other solid state materials provides examples. This represents growth as a manufacturing process, although an area at least as important is the use of growth to foster a learning process. An important area for growth in future systems is in self-repair, where new components may be grown to replace old ones. The ultimate in adaptability involves the growing of new and different types of components (self-forming components) as needed to cope with new problems.

资源

Work by von Neumann and by Burks has been done on growing automata at the mathematics and systems levels for computer simulations. Work by Pask, Feldman, and Lee has been done on selfforming or self-structuring devices which are able to grow new functional parts at the molecular level. In addition, the study of synthetic chemical molecules that reproduce themselves has been going on for almost a decade.

We expect that the technology of growing materials will be an expanding and important one in the solid state, electronics, and chemical industries to provide advanced computing equipment, learning automata, and many other products of the coming decade.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 12
Chemistry Mechanics	Transformers Matter	Regrowth and Repair

#### AUTOTOMY PHENOMENON

# DESCRIPTION:

Autotomy permits an animal to rid itself quickly of an injured appendage at a level possessing the highest potentialities for healing and regeneration. Some decapod Crustacea, particularly the Brachyura, have the ability to sever an appendage at a preformed breakage plane by means of a unisegmental reflex.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Injury to certain portions of an appendage distal to the preformed breakage plane will constitute a stimulus for During autotomy in the crab Carcinus maenas, a limb autotomy. is flexed through the contraction of the anterior levator or autotomizer muscle. Fibers of this muscle have their origin in several regions of the exoskeleton. These are adjacent to the appendage in question and the long slender tendon inserts on the anterodorsal edge of the basi-ischium just proximal to the preformed breakage plane. The segments directly involved with autotomy are the coxa and the fused basi-ischium. Durina extreme contraction of the autotomizer muscle, the basis slips under the coxa, thus causing the basi-ischium to be pressed against the dorsal rim of the coxa segment. Further contraction of the muscle causes the suture at the preformed breakage plane within the basigischium to be sprung on the dorsal side; then the fracture travels ventrally so the limb is ruptured at this level. One fold of a double membrane at the breakage plane is shed with the severed portion of the limb and the other remains attached to the stump.

#### MAGNITUDE:

All species of crabs can autotomize all 5 pairs of limbs. Within the Brachyura, autotomy has reached its most uniform development. Although in general the response is directly proportional to the degree of stimulation, a delay in autotomy occurs in animals having a thick exoskeleton and sometimes external resistance is neccessary. Animals with a light, brittle exoskeleton usually respond quickly and easily.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Echinoderms can similarly cast off portions of their body. If an arm of a starfish is injured, it may constrict near the base and fall off. A brittle star may cast off an arm piece by piece if pressure is applied first near the tip and then at more proximal levels. The entire viscera of a' sea cucumber may be ejected if the animal is disturbed. Within

#### AUTOTOMY PHENOMENON, Continued:

the vertebrates a lizard may sever its tail near the base if the outer portion is injured.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Although there is no direct physical analog of the complete autotomy phenomenon, many physical devices are constructed with detachable parts that can be replaced if damaged.

**REFERENCES: 8, pp. 561-568.** 

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 12
Chamistry Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Sensors Internal Transformers Energy Matter	Actuators Internal	Regrowth and Repair

# THE MOLTING PROCESS

# DESCRIPTION:

Molting (moulting) is a developmental process among many types of animals in which the outer growth or coat is discarded, and replaced by new growth. Aithough molting occurs most frequently among many insects during their various developmental stages it also appears in most birds at least once a year, usually starting after the breeding season, in the form of a loss of feathers.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

As the young insect grows, its outer, chilinous shell becomes tight due to its hard non-elastic state. A molting fluid, which forms between the outer shell and the newer inner layer, acts as a lubricant and partially digests some of the inner surface of the chilinous shell prior to molting. To split the shell and start the process, some insects increase their internal body fluids in certain areas, thereby increasing the pressure on the internal surface of the chilinous shell which causes the latter to tear along the back. The lubrication of the molting fluid facilitates the complete separation of the shell from the insects body. On exposure to air the soft underskin gradually hardens until it becomes a chilinous shell. At this state of the molting process an insect may not have reached its full size, appearing somewhat shrivelled. Many insects inflate their bodies by swallowing air.

#### MAGNITUDE :

The frequency of occurrence of the molting process (also referred to as the molt) during insect development varies with different species. Although there are some insects that mature after only one or two molts, others require many more, such as the May fly with 20 molts. One of the most frequently molting insects is the 17-year cicada locust which passes through as many as 30 molts before reaching adulthood.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Molting also occurs among many crustaceans. When a crayfish egg hatches, the larvae emerge from the egg but remain attached to the outer surfaces for two days. After molting occurs, the egg is discarded and a cuticular outer surface is formed on the larval crayfish. Soon this cuticle is loosened and drops off.

In older crayfish, the hard exoskeleton, composed of chitin, is discarded a minimum of 7 times during the first summer of its life. It is within this latter period that the crayfish undergoes the largest amount of growth. THE MOLTING PROCESS, Continued:

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

覆

The hard, oxide coating that forms on the surface of aluminum is analogous to an exoskeleton in that it could be said to be protective. (The aluminum oxide coating prevents further oxidation of the metal.) If the oxide coating of a piece of aluminum is stripped cff chemically or mechanically, a new coating forms rapidly.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 48, pp. 235-236; <u>98</u>, pp. 26-28; <u>105</u>, p. 1091.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 12
Chemistry Mechanics	Transformers Matter	Regrowth and Repair

#### REGROWTH BY CRUSTACEA

#### DESCRIPTION:

Crustacea have the ability to regrow or restore injured or lost parts of their bodies. The speed at which this is accomplished varies with several factors, including the level at which amputation occurred, the extent of damage to tissue remaining within the stump, the stage of the animal in the intermolt cycle, and environmental conditions.

#### ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

Amputation of a limb from a shrimp produces slight bleeding. This is followed by the formation of a scab, which is sloughed off within several days, revealing a small limb bud. On the sixth day after amputation, a longitudinal furrow appears at the tip of the growing limb bud, and by the ninth day, the first of four annular furrows which delimit the various segmencs is visible. The limb bud eniarges but, as the intermolt (15-18 days) comes to an end, the regenerate's growth rate decreases. During molt the limb is freed from its protective envelope and appears as a miniature replica of the organ which it has replaced. After successive molts the normal size of the limb is attained.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

Regrowth is exhibited by insects, such as Thysanura, Odonata, Orthoptera, Ephemeroptera, Hemiptera, Coleoptera, and Lepidoptera. In general, only regeneration of external parts is possible, although in Lepidoptera replacement of certain internal organs has been reported.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The circuit patterns that can grow into certain configurations in the Adaptive Sandwich developed by R. J. Lee of Adaptronics, Inc. represent one analog. The Adaptive Sandwich is used for learning machine investigations, and the principles of this device may ultimately be of use as a manufacturing process for growing an entire system in a manner analogous to embryonic growth.

Several self-healing devices have been developed using the principle of stored surplus material that can assume the function of another material. As examples, one type of selfhealing gasoline tank employs a fluid substance that hardens on contact with the air; in the event of a puncture in the gasoline tank, this substance flows through the hole and hardens on contact with the air, thus sealing the puncture. One self-healing inner tube uses a surplus of rubber on the outer portion of the tire; the surplus rubber is under compression when the tire is REGROWTH BY CRUSTACEA, Continued:

inflated, and, in the event of a puncture, the rubber under compression is forced into the puncture and prevents loss of air.

Oil filled capacitors also possess a minor self-healing characteristic in that arcing due to overvoltage may not necessarily destroy the functional capability of the capacitor.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 58, p. 392; 87; 114, pp. 232-263.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 12
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Transformers Energy Matter	Regrowth and Repair

### SPONGE REGENERATION

# DESCRIPTION:

A sponge is able to regenerate its entire body from a small part of itself although it is an animal of the simplest type, without a recognizable nervous system or other form of physiological control. It grows as a mass of gelatinous tissue, appearing almost amorphous, in its natural habitat of sea water. The natural sponge, with which most people are familiar, is only the supporting framework in which the soft tissue grows.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

When a sponge is cut into small pieces and each one attached to a rock or some solid surface in a sea water bath, the portion placed on the rock will grow into another animal. If the regrown sponge is pulled away from the rock, leaving only a small piece, again a complete animal will grow from the piece left attached.

When a sponge is forced through a piece of tightly woven cloth or sieve, it becomes a loose mass of separated cells or small pieces of tissue. If these pieces are put into a tank of sea water, they come together, forming the same type of sponge as the original.

#### MAGN I TUDE :

The Florida bath sponge can regenerate from a piece  $2\frac{1}{2}$  cu in to one of  $12\frac{1}{2}$  cu in in 2 months.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

This type of complete regrowth or regeneration is exemplified in the lower forms of animal life such as the Planaria and the one-celled Amoeba. The Planaria has extensive powers of regeneration for a part which may have been separated. A general statement can be made that all forms of animal life are capable of undergoing some form of regeneration. The extent is dependent upon the level of the organism. The lower the form of animal life, the more extensive is the ability to regrow or repair injured or lost parts of their bodies.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Sec other entries in this section.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 57, pp. 120-121; 58, pp. 194-212.

SECTION 13:

SGUND DETECTION AND RANGING

# Page

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING	230
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	231
SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING BY BATS	232
SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING BY DOLPHINS	234

i

#### BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING

Sound detection and ranging (echo location) may be defined as analysis of intensity, time delay, and phase relationship of reflected signals (echoes) originating at a known location. This technique may be used to detect visually obscured objects. The ability is important to the survival of some animals in allowing current awareness of their changing environment and assisting in a search for food. Animals endowed with this ability include sea mammals, fowls, and bats.

Detection and ranging is accomplished by discrete pulses of high intensity. These are produced by a large larynx, with ossified cartilages which make a rigid framework. The strong cricothyroid muscles put great tension on the light vocal cords. In some cases, for example, the horseshoe bat, there are special resonating chambers and the face is elaborately modified to direct the sound forward. The ear may be specialized accordingly.

Several explanatory theories have been suggested. The most generally favored one postulates that the ear receives both the outgoing and the reflected notes and constructs difference or summation tones by the introduction of a specific nonlinear device. Since the sound is used only for location, its absolute qualities are relatively unimportant. Any object can thereby be located by the variation in the beats which are produced as its position changes.

This distortion is probably a function of the cochlea; it is known to occur in many animals. The auditory nerve then carries information only about the difference notes which is then readily recognized by the brain.

**Biological echo** location frequencies range from the audible to the ultrasonic with a known upper limit of about 150 kcs for both airborne and water-borne signals.

Some of the net effect of detection and ranging by sound is achieved by the electric sense organs found in some fish. (See the entry "Electric Current Production in Fish.") Changes in electric current densities of currents passing through the fish are produced by nearby objects just as echoes can result from nearby objects. Hence, a form of detection and, possibly, ranging is also accomplished by electric organs. The range over which electric sensing is effective, however, is probably much less than the range achievable by sound.

### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

Sound navigation and ranging (sonar) is used extensively in both submarines and surface craft. It provides a method of measuring distance to the ocean bottom and for the detection and ranging of surface or subsurface craft.

Because of the higher velocity and greater range of electromagnetic radiation, radar is used for somewhat similar purposes in and above the atmosphere.

Many of the basic concepts of sonar and radar are similar, but the wider frequency spectrum used in radar and the greater range of radar detection have led to more elaborate techniques than are used in sonar.

An examination of behavior and of sounds emitted by animals that employ sound detection and ranging indicates that highly sophisticated solutions to the problems imposed by trying to obtain wide-area coverage and high resolution as well as long and short range coverage, are used by animals. Further studies of these animals indicates a well-developed resistance to interference produced by signals emitted by other animals which are very similar in frequency and repetition rate to that of their own signals.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 13
Acoustics	Sensors Actuators Distance Externa Transformers Information	Sound Detec- tion and Ranging

# SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING BY BATS

# DESCRIPTION:

Bats emit short, sonic and ultrasonic pulses from the mouth. Echoes are received by the ears, analyzed and processed to provide location information of obstacles and food. Duration and frequency of the emitted sounds vary with distance to objects. The mechanism is highly refined to provide discrimination against pulses mitted by other bats. The system used by bats is considered as an amplitude and phase-comparison monopulse system although some bats radiate a frequency-modulated signal.

# ILLUSTRATION:

Due to poor visual faculties, the bat relies almost completcly upon his echo location mechanism for navigation and ranging. The audible and ultrasonic pulse duration and rate are functions of environment and proximity to an object. Plugging the bat's ears or mouth hinders his ability to dodge fine wires strung across a room and to locate insects. Plugging one ear hinders avoidance of obstacles in the flight path.

# MAGNITUDE:

The Eptesicus bat has a maximal acoustic sensitivity between 30 to 40 kcs while most other bats have a maximal acoustic sensitivity at about 10 kcs.

The small brown bat can detect objects of the order of **D.2 mm in diameter.** 

The intensity of bat emissions ranges from a few dynes/cm<sup>a</sup> to approximately 60 dynes/cm<sup>2</sup>

Myotis bats produce signal pulses of nominal duration of 2.3 ms with the frequency in each pulse varying from 80 kcs down to 30 kcs.

Laboratory tests of the Eptesicus bat yield pulse durations of an average of 3 ms compared to an average of 15 ms in the field.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Some birds, such as the Venezuelan oilbird, Steatornis, and the Asian Swift, Collocalia, combine normal vision with echo location to assist in navigation during darkness. In light, vision is predominatly used, while the utilization of echo location increases as visibility decreases. The emission spectrum observed in birds is not as broad as that for bats. In particular, no ultrasonic frequencies have been observed. Examples of underwater echo location are listed under the entry "Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins" in this section. SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING BY BATS, Continued:

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Equipment for the detection of submerged objects and sonar utilize the same principle of navigation and/or ranging employed by bats.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>47</u>, p. 435; <u>49</u>, p. 10; <u>116</u>, pp. 307-308; <u>132</u>, pp. 227-228.

Physical Class	Physical Opera	ator	Section 13
Acoustics Fluid Mechanics	Sensors Distance Transformers Information	Actuators Internal	Sound Detec- tion and Ranging

# SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING BY DOLPHINS

#### DESCRIPTION:

The bottle-nosed dolphin emits complex and varied sounds used in ranging, communication, navigation and food finding. By analyzing the intensity, time delay and phase of echoes the location of objects can be determined.

# ILLUSTRATION:

Dolphins emit three types of sounds: sinusoidal whistles, slow trains of buzzing clicks, and complex waves emitted in pulses. The slow trains of buzzing clicks are used in echo location. From analysis of the echoes, dolphins can navigate in turbid water where visibility is poor. In experiments they avoided sheets of transparent plastic inserted into passageways which had previously been used freely.

### MAGN ITUDE:

Dolphins have a much wider acoustical frequency response than man, with an upper limit of 140 kcs.

The duration of the dolphin's whistle is normally threetenths of a second with experimental measurement ranging from one-tenth of a second to three seconds. Whistle frequencies were measured from seven to ten kcs.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Whales and porpoise employ underwater echo location for navigation and food searching. As a porpoise nears an object while searching for food, the intensity of the emission increases.

Bats and some birds utilize echo detection in air for navigation and searching for food.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

a server with

Echo location devices using electromagnetic and mechanical waves are common analogs of animal sound detection and ranging.

Mechanically produced echoes at ultrasonic frequencies are used to determine the distance to the ocean floor in sonar and in devices for locating schools of fish or other submerged objects. Impact point determination in the ocean is accomplished by analysis of time of arrival of the echo at several known monitoring points.

The echo location principle is used in aids for the blind, geological mapping, and geodetic surveying.

Electromagnetic wave echo location is used in radar and surveying equipment.

SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING BY DOLPHINS, Continued: REFERENCES: 89, p. 63; 90, p. 1689; 91, p. 1873.

-

No. alt

The second second second

SECTION 14:

SOUND PRODUCTION

# Page

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF SOUND PRODUCTION	237
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	237
SOUND PRODUCTION IN INSECTS	238
VOCAL CORDS AND VOICE IN HUMANS	240

#### BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF SOUND PRODUCTION

Most members of the animal kingdom produce characteristic sounds, many of which are stimulated by and centered around special drives.

In man there are three parts which make up the apparatus necessary for sound production: a force that puts a vibrating mechanism into action; the vibrating mechanism itself; and a res onator that reinforces certain vibrations. The force is given by the biast sent through the trachea by the lungs which act as a bellows; the vocal cords form the vibrating mechanism; and the resonator is made up of all the supraglottic cavities, that is, the upper part of the larynx, the pharynx, the mouth and the node. Sound is produced by the blast passing through the glottis. Immediately before speaking, the glottis is closed and the abdominal and thoracic muscles compress the lungs, increasing the pressure in the respiratory tract. When the pressure reaches a certain level, the glottis opens and the voice is emitted.

The intensity or loudness of a noise is proportional to the amplitude of the vibrations of the vocal cords, which increase with the force of the expiratory blast. Loudness of voice is measured in decibels. There is a difference of approximately 100 db between the softest whisper and loudest cry. In ordinary conversation, loudness of voice varies between 40 and 50 db.

#### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

The production of acoustic vibrations by physical devices generally involves strings, rods, membranes, or air columns driven by some suitable means. Resonant cavities are sometimes used to enhance the sound within given frequency ranges. Practically all of the techniques for producing or acoustically amplifying sound used by man are found in living creatures. For example, in creatures with vocal cords, the throat and mouth constitute an air column that is acoustically driven by the vibralions of the vocal cords. The vocal cords themselves behave more as strings than membranes due to muscular tension at the edge of the cords. Resonant cavities in the throat and nose provide distinctive overtones to the sound.

Insect noises (stridulation) are produced by what is physically a stiff membrane driven by a sawtooth-edged rod.

Although the ordinary loudspeaker is capable of producing a good imitation of complex sounds such as the human voice, it is basically an elastic membrane and constitutes an analog of the sound producing mechanisms of animals only in a superficial way.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 14
Acoustics	Sensors	Actuators	Sound
Heat and	Distance	External	Production
Thermodynamics	Transformers		
Mechanics	Information		

#### SOUND PRODUCTION IN INSECTS

#### DESCRIPTION.

Insects usually produce sounds by stridulation, or the rasping of one skeletal structure over another. The sounds may be very complex and compounded by resonance frequencies, sometimes ultrasonic, superimposed on the impact frequency of the scraping structures.

The sounds produced by insects are highly specific, often of social significance such as serving to bring together the two sexes of a species. In most cases the maie is the primary sound producer, but females may also respond in a similar manner with sound.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

In <u>cicadas</u> a cuticular diaphragm is vibrated at high frequency by tightening or relaxing the abdominal muscles. The males of six cicada species, for example, show distinctive sound patterns which serve to isolate each species for sexual attraction. The sounds differ for such social factors as group chorus, courtship and alarm.

Among locusts (specifically the common species known as Melanoplus femur-rubrum) the males produce sounds by rubbing a row of spinss on the inner surface of the femur of the metathoracic leg binst the outer surface of the tegmina. During flight they can also produce this sound by rubbing the upper surface of the anterior dge of one hind wing against the undersurface of the other.

The male <u>katydid</u> produces a special rasping call sound by rubbing together the covers of its wings which have certain modified veins and cells. They will produce their regular sounds with no particular pattern of repetition. However, if a number of these male katydids are relatively near each other and one hears another sing, they are all attracted by one another's sounds and begin to "sing" in concert. The singing of katydids can be induced by appropriate artificial sounds. This reaction seems to illustrate the importance of these sounds in the communal life of katydid colonies.

In male crickets the stridulating apparatus is highly differentiated. It consists of a file on the base of one tegumen and a scraper on the other. When the wings are held up over the body vertically, the file is rubbed over the scraper causing the wings to vibrate. This produces the characteristic chirping sound. Shen a number of male crickets are in the immediate vicinity of each other, they chirp in unison, causing a continuous pulsating and relatively loud "racket" similar to that of the katydids. Male crickets are attracted to the female crickets

#### SOUND PRODUCTION IN INSECTS, Continued:

#### by the latter's rasping sounds.

Numerous types of flying insects also produce their characteristic sounds by beating their wings together. In the mosquito, for example, these sounds serve to attract the males and females to each other.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

The sound pulses emanating from the noise of insect muscular vibration usually range from 3,700 to 4,200 cps. Some classes of insects produce stridulation sounds above the audible range for the human ear. In the locust, Locusta migratoria, the sound of the pulse rate may rise to 14,000 cycles.

The rate at which crickets produce their chirps depends on the temperature of the air around them. This mechanism is so accurate that a mathematical formula has been derived to determine the temperature by means of the number of chirps per minute. For a more detailed explanation of this process, see the entry on "Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior".

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Sound production by stridulation has been observed in Crustacea also. As in crickets and grasshoppers, a crenated ridge on the exoskeleton is rubbed perpendicularly against ridges elsewhere on the body surface. In the marine crab Matuta, sound has been compared with the noise produced when a nail is moved to and fro along a file.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Sounds produced on string or wind musical instruments are analogous to stridulation-produced sound in insects.

REFERENCES: 2, p. 153; 20, pp. 102-103; 116, pp. 311-312.
Physical Class Acoustics Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Physical Operator Transformers Energy Actuators	Section 14 Sound Production
Mechan i cs	Actuators Internal	

## VOCAL CORDS AND VOICE IN HUMANS

## DESCRIPTION:

Vocal cords are the mucous membranous bands or folds in the larynx by which the sounds of the voice are produced when the breath passes between the edges of the folds. The true vocal cords are inserted in the angle formed by the thyroid cartilage. They are directed horizontally and backward, ending by insertion on the median or vocal process of the arytenoid cartilage.



FIG. 21 VOCAL CORDS OF THE HUMAN

## ILLUSTRATION:

Sound produced by the human cords follows a sequence of three steps. The first is forcing a vibrating mechanism into action. The force is produced by the sudden flow of air from the lungs through the trachea, with the latter acting as a bellows. The second step is the vibrating of the vocal cords. The third is the resonating of the supraglottic cavities, i.e., the upper part of the larynx, the pharynx, the mouth, and the nose, reinforcing some of the frequencies of the sound produced by the vocal cords.

## MAGN ITUDE:

The volume and intensity of sound depend on the frequency of its vibrations and the number of tones. These vary with the age and sex of the human. The pitch of the voice depends on the length and tension of the vocal cords. If the vocal cords are suppressed, the noise is toneless.

The frequency range of the newborn is limited to approximately three semitones, increasing as the child grows to include both higher and lower tones. The highest frequency attainable

## VOCAL CORDS AND VOICE IN HUMANS, Continued:

by the human female increases until about the llth year, decreasing thereafter. The highest frequency attainable by the male increases until just prior to or at puberty, at which time both the highest and lowest frequency attainable drop by about one octave. A similar, but much smaller, drop occurs in the female voice at this age. The normal voice pitch and range continue to drop slowly with age in the adult.

The range in pitch in ordinary conversation is usually no more than half an octave. The normal range of the human voice covers about four octaves, the male voice covering 2 1/15 octaves of the lower part of the range and the female voice covering 2 1/15 octaves of the higher portion of the range. There is an overlap of 2/15 of an octave in the middle of the scale.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Parrots and porpoises are able to imitate the human voice. The porpoise imitation is at a higher speed and pitch. It has been reported that an ape has been taught to say several words in proper context.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Speech synthesizers of various types have been constructed, but most of these devices employ physical principles quite different from those of the human vocal apparatus. For example, some speech synthesizers utilize artificially generated formants, while others use a weighted sum of the outputs of oscillators of uniformly spaced frequencies.

One device to produce high intensity sound by means similar to the human vocal apparatus has been reported. This device consisted of a plenum chamber, a pipe containing a flexible, controllable constriction similar to vocal cords, a resonator, and horn to acoustically couple the sound generator to the atmosphere.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>68</u>, pp. 1002, 1007, 1008; <u>142</u>, p. 1536.

# SECTION 15:

# SOUND SENSITIVITY

	Page
BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF SOUND SENSITIVITY	. 243
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	. 243
COCHLEAR COLL AND ITS ROLE IN HEARING IN	
MAMMALS, THE	. 245
ORGAN OF HEARING IN MAMMALS, THE	. 248
SOUND RECEPTION IN BIRDS	. 252
SOUND RECEPTION IN INSECTS	. 254
SOUND SENSITIVITY IN FISH	. 258
TONE COMBINATION EFFECT, THE	. 260

s.

## BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF SOUND SENSITIVITY

The ability to receive and interpret sound stimuli varies greatly among the members of the animal kingdom, and appears to depend on its relative importance in the animal's life.

From a purely physiological viewpoint, man does not hear as well as many other animals. For example, man can hear sound frequencies within the range of approximately 20 to 20,000 cps. However, dogs can detect sounds in the vicinity of 30,000 cps.

Sound localization is another aspect of the overall sensitivity of the organ. There are three widely accepted facts which must be taken into account:

- 1. Localization is greatly improved with two ears rather than with only one.
- Animals frequently make mistakes about "above" and "below" or about "forward" and "backward", but rarely about "right" and "left".
- 3. Noise is more easily located than a pure tone.

The theory which is popularly accepted as explaining these facts depends on the difference in the time of arrival of a sound at the two ears.

In addition to the variation in sound sensitivity among animals, the anatomy of the hearing organ and its location on the animal's body differ considerably. The grasshopper "hears" sounds by means of two tympanic membranes, one on each side on the surface of the middle of its body, whereas in man and many other animals, the organ of hearing is imbedded in the bony structure of the head.

#### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

The analogs of mechanisms that produce sound sensitivity in animals can be thought of as consisting of two distinct parts: a transducer (corresponding to the specialized cells that produce electrochemical signals in response to sounds) and a "property" abstraction or parameterization device (corresponding to nerve pathways and, very likely, some of the sensory portions of the brain). The total perception process is quite complex and composed of many specialized processes.

The more obvious physical analogs of the auditory transducers are various types of microphones: crystal, magnetic, carbon, etc. However, microphones are at best very crude analogs of the auditory or vibratory sensors in animals inasmuch as the sensors in animals often provide a significant part of the parameterization of signals. For example, the cochlear coil acts in some respects like a standpipe: nodes of standing waves fall on different portions of the cochlea for different frequencies. Tiny hair cells produce signals in response to the local acoustic environment within the cochlea; hence, some spatial separation of different sound frequencies is provided by the cochlea. Thus, a part of the analysis of auditory signal is provided by the structure of this organ. As a minimum, it would take a combination of a sensor, such as a microphone, and a bank of filters to simulate the functional characteristics of any of the auditory (or vibratory) sense organs in animals.

and the state of t

We can infer from the structure of various types of sound receptors (and from their apparently different functional characteristics) that the decomposition of sounds is not the same in all animals. Loosely speaking, then, if we think of sound detection in human beings as an auditory sense, we might say that some animals have a non-auditory sonic sense. In any event, whatever the nature of the sound or vibration detection organ, the mechanisms of sound decomposition found in animals are often quite different from those used by engineers, and in some cases it has been simpler for us to describe a possible analog (one not acutally existing) than to describe an existing, but only remotely similar, analog.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 15	
Acoustics	Sensors	Sound	
Fluid Mechanics	Distance	Sensitivity	

THE COCHLEAR COIL AND ITS ROLE IN HEARING IN MAMMALS

DESCRIPTION:

The cochlea is an aperture of the inner ear. It forms the anterior part of the labyrinth, is conical in form, and is placed a most horizontally in front of the vestibule. Its apex is directed forward and laterally with a slight inclination downward toward the upper and front part of the labyrinthic wall of the tympanic cavity. The base of the cochlea corresponds with the bottom of the internal acoustic meatus. It is perforated by numerous apertures for the passage of the cochlear division of the acoustic nerve.

According to Prosser, the current theory of stimulation of the nerve endings in the cochlea is explained as follows:

a. The endocochlear and intracellular potentials provide a battery with an electromotive force (emf) of 150 mv across the hair-bearing ends of the hair cells.

b. The magnitude of the measured potential varies with the displacement of the basilar membrane and consequent bending or shearing of the hair cells; this change constitutes the cochlear microphonic and the summating potential.

c. The movement of the hairs is assumed to alter their electrical resistance so that current flows.

d. The change of potential is due to the change in voltage drop across the membrane.

e. Slight mechanical deformation of the distal processes of the hair cells causes a value action by changing membrane resistance, permitting the generator potentials to appear and allowing a flow of current.

The alternating microphonic potential is an alternating voltage produced by the hair cells of the cochlea, particularly the external cells, in response to sound.

When the ear is stimulated by sound, this cochlear monophonic potential is generated in the cochlea and can be recorded easily from the round window. This microphone response is apparently caused by shear forces due to the tectorial membrane over the hair cells.

The summating potential is a direct response of the cochlea to a tone and emanates from the internal hair cells in the following manner: the hairs arising from these cells undergo a bending or shearing motion which results in their asymmetrical displacement and also the production of the summating potential.



FIG. 22 THE COCHLEAR COIL AND SEMICIRCULAR CANALS

The endocochlear potential of the DC type exists in the electrically positive endolymph of the scala media with respect to surrounding tissue and perilymph. It combines with the negative potential of the cells surrounding the scala media.

The endolymph of the scala media has a positive charge of about 80 mv with respect to the surrounding tissue.

The cells surrounding the scala media like the other tissue cells are internally negative by about 70 mv. Therefore, a total potential of 150 mv exists between the interior of the hair cells and the endolymph. This is an emf of 150 mv across the hair-bearing ends of the hair cells.

#### ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

The cochlea is coiled only 1/4 turn in the duckbilled platypus, 1.5 turns in the whale, 2 in the horse, 2.75 in man, 3 in the cat, and almost 4 turns in the pig and guinea pig.

An audiogram of man's cochlea shows that he has maximum sensitivity in the range from 800 to 2,500 cps with an upper limit of approximate 16,000. Good audiograms for other animals have not always been obtained with sufficiently pure tones to make a very accurate comparison. The audiograms of animals are generally similar to those of man but exhibit higher thresholds. There are also indications that animals hear at higher frequencies.

Certain dogs can hear up to 35 kc; rats and guinea pigs to 40 kc. A cat's threshold of hearing from 100 to 3,000 cps is close to man's, but from 3 kc to 15 kc it is lower than man's. By observation of the reflexes of parts of the ear, it was found that a variety of small animals, especially mice, can hear in the wide range of 6 kc to 93 kc. For example, a dormouse, Muscordinus, had a minimum threshold at 20 kc, while a deermouse was conditioned over the range of 10 to 65 kc.

Cochlear potentials have also been recorded from the ears of the kangaroo rat, Dipodomys, over a range of 100 to 20,000 THE COCHLEAR COIL AND ITS ROLE IN HEARING IN MAMMALS, Continued:

cps, with a maximum sensitivity from 2,000 to 4,000 cps.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Although the cochlear coil does not appear in insects, the transduction of sound into nerve impulses is also effected in insects by hair cells. (See "Sound Reception in Insects".)

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

The overall effect of the cochlea is analogous to the production of standing waves in a standpipe or in a transmission line. An artificial ear has been designed on the basis of this analogy.

The alternating microphonic potential, produced by fluid shear forces acting on the hair cells, suggests a possible sensor that might have some value in air flow studies: Stiff bristles attached to a suitable transducer and placed in a regular pattern over an airfoil could provide electrical signals roughly proportional to local wind velocity.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: 24, pp. 143-154; <u>68</u>, pp. 985-996.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 15
Acoustics Mechanics	Sensors Distance	Transformers Energy Information	Sound Sensitivity

#### THE ORGAN OF HEARING IN MAMMALS

## DESCRIPTION:

The organ of hearing in mammals consists of three distinct parts.

<u>The external auditory canal</u> is the external passage-way leading to the middle ear. The walls of the outer third of the canal is bony and forms a projecting tube from the temporal bone in which both middle and inner ears are housed. The skin lining of the auditory canal is supplied with wax (cerumen) glands and outward-projecting hairs, both of which serve as dust arresters.

<u>The middle ear</u>, or tympanum, is an irregular air-filled chamber in the temporal bone between the external auditory canal and the inner ear. The dorsal recess of the tympanum is the epitympanum, which communicates with the spongy mastoid cavities in the blunt mastoid process of the temporal bone. The eustachian tube below opens into the pharyngeal cavity.

<u>The tympanic membrane</u>, known as the ear drum, is stretched across the circular auditory canal. It is arranged obliquely across the canal, thereby creating a larger receiving surface to be exposed to impact of vibrations

Three bones in vertebrates form a chain from the inner surface of the ear drum to the fenestra vestibuli, the membrane separating the middle ear from the inner ear. The <u>hammer</u>, or malleus, is attached to the ear drum, the <u>stirrup</u>, or stapes, to the fenestra vestibuli, and the <u>anvil</u> or incus is in the middle and connects the malleus to the stapes. The function of these bones is to transmit the sound waves through the middle ear after they intensify the waves and decrease their amplitude.

On the face of the tympanic wall opposite the ear drum and next to the inner ear are two "windows," the fenestra vestibuli and the fenestra cochleae, both of which are covered by drum-like membranes similar to the ear drum. These cause the middle ear to resemble a hollow drum with very small membranous heads at the two ends.

The inner ear is composed of extremely delicate cells surrounded by fluids and is buried in the dense temporal bone. This closed exodermal sac, called the membranous labyrinth, is filled with endolymph fluid and surrounded by the bony labyrinth. The membranous labyrinth cons sts of:

a. the utricular region, in which are the statoreceptors or semicircular canals, and

b. a sacular region; in mammals, including the cochlea. The scala media, which is the cavity in the membranous labyrinth, contains rows of differentiated cells, supported on a basilar membrane, and extending lengthwise to the tip of the cochlea. These cells form the organ of Corti, which is the hearing THE ORGAN OF HEARING IN MAMMALS, Continued:

receptor apparatus. The organ of Corti is formed by orderly rows of differentiated cells running lengthwise to the tip of the cochlea. In man, the most important cells of this organ are the 5 rows of hair cells which are the phonoreceptors proper and which are connected to neurons of the auditory nerve. The latter transmits the vibrating stimuli to the auditory centers in the temporal lobes of the cerebral cortex. In the human ear there are from 13,000 to 54,000 hair cells (estimated) with each hair cell having 40 cilla or hairs at the receptive end projecting into the endolymph. The hair cells all increase in size toward the tip of the cochlea.

A second sound-conducting path to the inner ear exists directly through the bones of the skull, by-passing the outer and middle portions of the ear. <u>Bone conduction</u> thus furnishes a method of testing the physiological status of the cochlear mechanism in patients with middle ear damage. Barany and Bekesy have shown that there are two forms of bone conduction:

a. Inertia bone conduction, in which the skull moves as a rigid body at lower frequencies, occurs if a vibrator is placed against the skull. In this case, although the ossicles do not move, the cochlea does receive the vibration.

b. Compression bone conduction occurs during higher frequencies, where the skull vibrates in sections rather than as a rigid body.

Inertial bone conduction occurs when the vibrator is moving at a frequency below 800 cps. At higher frequencies the compression type occurs. Here all the parts of the ear vibrate as separate units.



FIG. 23 THE HUMAN EAR

## ILLUSTRATION:

The auditory canal serves to convey sound waves to the ear drum and affords, in some measure, protection for the middle and inner ears. After sound waves are received by the outer ear, they pass through the canal and hit the tympanic membrane which

## THE ORGAN OF HEARING IN MAMMALS, Continued.

is caused to vibrate. This vibration is transmitted through the membrane to the middle ear, where it is picked up by the chain of 3 small ear bones and passed on to the inner ear. Since one of the three bones, called the stapes, is attached to the tenestra vestibuli, it acts like the plunger of a piston in transferring the sound waves by a thrust to the inner ear. Within the inner ear, sound waves are converted to nerve impulses by the organ of Corti.

## MAGNITUDE:

In man, the outer ear is about 2.5 cm long and is slightly bent. It is larger at either end than in the middle. The tympanic membrane is about 10 mm in diameter and about 1 mm thick but is slightly thicker at the center than at the margin.

Sound intensity may be expressed as sound pressure level in dynes/cm<sup>3</sup> but is usually expressed in decibels which give the logarithm of the ratio of the two pressures. The human threshold is usually considered as the reference level for the logarithmic decibel (db) scale of sound intensities. The frequency range to which the normal human ear is sensitive extends from 20 to 20,000 cps and covers about 10 octaves. Sylvian and White at the Bell Telephone Laboratory conducted audibility threshold tests among young adult human subjects and found that the region of greatest sensitivity lies between 2,000 and 3,000 cps. This is also the region of the broad resonance peaks of the external canal. Here the threshold is 6 to 8 db below 0.002 dyne/cm<sup>a</sup> or 0.0001 dyne/cm<sup>a</sup> or less. It was also determined that at 15,000 cps and 100 cps the threshold intensity is approximately 40 db higher than at 3,000 cps. According to an extensive survey by the US Public Health Service, only 1.0% of the population can hear sounds beyond these levels. These values represent very sensitive ears having almost ideal hearing. However, about 50% of the population can hear the sound represented by the limits of 8 and 52 db.

Frequency discrimination, which is better at medium and high intensities, is due in part to difference in the position of the maximum of displacement. High tones activate only the basal turn of the cochlea, while its apex is most sensitive to the lowest tones. Records from single fibers of the auditory nerve have shown fairly sharp limits of cut-off toward the higher frequencies. Generally, fibers arising near the beginning of the basal turn of the cochlear coil respond only to higher frequencies, while fibers near the inner end of the coil respond to the lower frequencies. Both primary and secondary neurons respond to only a narrow band of frequencies at threshold and a wider band at higher intensities. However, each point along the membrane shows maximal movement and also stimulation at a particular frequency. At 60 db, a man with normal hearing can recognize about 1,800 tonal differences.

Most dogs are able to detect sound frequencies which would

#### THE ORGAN OF HEARING IN MAMMALS, Continued :

be entirely inaudible to the human ear. Certain types of dog whistles seem to produce a sound inaudible to man but completely audible to the dog. Cats are also known to respond to higher tones than are perceptible by human ears, thus in some respects the cat has a relatively well developed auditory system. For additional magnitude information, see "The Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals".

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

In fish, the inner ear is related to the lateral line organ in its ontogeny, in the hair cell nature of the sensing elements, and in the spontaneous activity in the sensory nerves.

Bony fish have been extensively studied by conditioned reflex techniques with respect to hearing threshold, range and pitch discrimination. In general, the Ostarlophysi hear better than other fish. They have a set of bones, the Weberian ossicles, connecting the swim bladder with the inner ear. The gas of the swim bladder imposes an acoustic discontinuity in the sound path, and the ossicles provide coupling to the sensing elements. Little loss resulted from injury to the utriculus but when the sacculus and lagena were also damaged, reactions remained only to low tones.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The outer, middle and inner ears, exclusive of the phonoreceptors, serve to parameterize sound waves by mapping sound frequency onto various regions of the inner ear. The phonoreceptors transduce the parameterized sound waves into nerve impulses. Although several physical devices have been constructed that perform the functions of the ear, none of these devices is structurally similar to an actual ear. One of the more functionally realistic devices operates on electrical signals after the sound has been transformed rather than before as in the ear.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>7</u>, pp. 1435, 1451; <u>24</u>, pp. 143-154; <u>68</u>, pp. 985-986, 1000; 116, pp. 304-305; 144, p. 21.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 15
Acoustics	Sensors	Sound
Electricity and	Distance	Sensitivity
Magnetism	Transformers	·
Fluid Mechanics	Information	

#### SOUND RECEPTION IN BIRDS

#### DESCRIPTION:

In birds, there is a distinct cochlea, slightly curved, and especially well-developed in owls and in parrots. This cochlea has a basilar membrane, with fibers increasing in length towards the tip, carrying an organ of Corti with hair-cells in contact with a tectorial membrane. At the tip of the cochlea is the lagena, a special sensory region, which is similar to that of lower vertebrates and perhaps responsible for reaction to lower notes.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Birds are more sensitive to low-frequency vibrations than is man. Transmission of vibration from the tympanum to the inner ear is effected by the columella auris, derived from the cartilagesof the hyoid arch. The inner portion of the columella is rod-like (stapes), but the outer end makes contact with the tympanum by means of three somewhat irregular processes.

Hearing is acute and songbirds, for example, can discriminate between simple tunes. Ability to localize sound is high; owls and other night birds probably find their prey largely by ear. For the purpose of direction finding, they have developed an asymmetrical arrangement of the ear cavities or asymmetrical external ears.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

In pigeons the cochlear microphonic potential (CMP) follows sound up to a limit of 25,000 cps with lowest threshold at 3,200 cps.

Conditioning experiments have shown that parrots and crossbills hear and discriminate well over the range of 40 to above 14,000 cycles.

Pheasants hear up to 10,500 cps with their lowest threshold at 6,000 cps.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Many types of songbirds were conditioned best at about 3,200 cps, and they also responded to vibrations of 100 to 3,200 cps with a maximum sensitivity at 800 cps. This sensitivity to low frequency persisted after the ear was destroyed experimentally.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

See the general comments on the physical analogs of the hearing organs at the beginning of this section. Also, see the physical analogs suggested in the entries on "The Organ of

SOUND RECEPTION IN BIRDS, Continued: Hearing in Mammals" and "Sound Reception in Insects". <u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>35</u>, pp. 99-100; <u>116</u>, p. 307; <u>131</u>, pp. 35-48; <u>138</u>, <u>pp. 122-125; <u>151</u>, pp. 488-489; <u>155</u>.</u>

ţ

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 15
Acoustics	Sensors	Sound
Fluid Mechanics	Distance	Sensitivity

## SOUND RECEPTION IN INSECTS

DESCRIPTION:

Insects receive sounds by means of tactile hairs and tympanic organs. The latter occur in different families of Orthoptera, Hemiptera, and Lepidoptera. A tympanic organ consists of 2 parts: (a) a thin cuticular membrane associated with tracheae or air sacs that are often protected by a fold in the exoskeleton, and (b) groups of chordotonal sensilla (sensory hairs) attached either to the tympanum or to the associated tracheae. Other chordotonal organs, separated from tympanic membrane, are located on pliable regions of the cuticle. The chordotonal organ contains a number of scolopidea, each with a distal cap cell surrounding a sense rod attached to the terminal filament of the sense cell. The terminal filament is surrounded by a sheath cell, and the nucleus of the sense cell is at the base of the scolopidium.

The organ of hearing in the grasshopper consists of a tympanic membrane tightly stretched within an almost circular ring over a slender point that is connected to sensory nerve fibers. There is one located on each side of the tergite of the first abdominal segment.

Johnston's organ is found in the pedicle of the antenna of male Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. When a sound is received by either the tympanic membrane or Johnston's organ, those hairs which do not have nerves attached to them set a flagellum in motion which amplifies the sound to stimulate the chordotonal organ.

In the noctuid moth, each sensillum (sensory hair) of the tympanic organ contains 2 scolopes (sense cells) which differ in threshold.



## SOUND RECEPTION IN INSECTS, Continued:

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The grasshopper ears sounds in the following manner:

a. Sound vibrations in the air hit against the tympanic membrane, causing it to vibrate.

b. This vibration affects the slender point just beneath the membrane, causing the stimulus to be transferred to the nerve fibers.

Directional sensitivity to sound is exhibited by the locust which turns to face the source of a sound and extends its forelegs on which are located the tympanic organs.

The tympanic organs in beetles and flies are sensitive to low-frequency vibrations, but in other insects these organs respond to sounds of higher frequencies. Sensory hairs, called sensilla, widely distributed on the surface of caterpillars and on the cerci of crickets, cockroaches, and grasshoppers are sensitive to low frequency sounds.

The tympanum in the moth is so sensitive that moths are able to detect the high frequency sounds emitted by approaching bats which prey on them. Recordings from the tympanic nerves show that the moths detect bats at a distance much greater than that at which they show behavioral escape reactions; this distance can be as great as 5 to 6 miles on occasion. Researchers have found that by attaching electrodes to the nerve leading from the moth's ear, sounds emitted by bats can be readily detected.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Frequency discrimination appears to be poor in insects, as is evidenced by lack of synchronization of nerve impulses with sound and by behavior tests with pure tones. The insect threshold for moderate frequency sounds is high. Apparently, insect ears are not adapted for the frequency discrimination and harmonic analysis which are so important in mammals.

The nerve discharge in insects often shows bursts of impulses at the modulation frequency of a modulated sound and relatively independent of the carrier frequency.

Insects appear to distinguish sounds by modulation frequency or repeated patterning of pulses; this is a temporal pattern of sound units rather than wave form and phase. In all experimental tests, pulsed sounds seem to be detected better than pure tones.

The sensitivity of tympanic organs has been determined by recording the action potentials in the sensory nerves and by noting the behavioral responses to sounds. Tympanic organs are relatively insensitive to low frequencies, but at 10,000 cps and above, the sensitivity approaches, and in some cases exceeds, that of the human ear. Katydids exhibited responses from 800 to above 45,000 cps. Crickets range from 300 to 800 cps.

In the locust, electrical responses recorded from the tympanic organ show that sensitivity increases to a peak at 1,000 decreases, and then rises again to 90 kc. The

SOUND RECEPTION IN INSECTS, Continued:

threshold at frequencies about 10 kc may approach 0.04 dyne/cm, which is lower than that of the human ear at this frequency.

In the grasshopper, Paroya, the nerve inpulses are synchronous with sound frequencies below 200 cps and asynchronous from 450 to 10,000 cps.

For Johnston's sound receptor organ, the frequency range of sensitivity goes from 400 to 525 cps in young male mosquitoes and from 250 to 700 cps in older ones.

In the noctuid moth, the 2 scolopes (sense cells) contained in the sensillae respond to sound over the range of 3 to 240 kc but are most sensitive at 15 to 60 kc. The nerve fiber response is asynchronous, which means it does not correspond to the sound frequency. However, single fibers may fire at 1,000/ sec and this response adapts rapidly. The scape moth, Ctenucha, responds to sound frequencies from 150 to 14,000 cps, and at high intensities to yet higher frequencies as long as its tympanic organs are intact.

The chordotonal organs, which occur without tympanic membranes in the tibiae of Orthoptera, Blattaria, Lepidoptera, and a few Hymenoptera, are able to detect substrate vibrations up to 8,000 cps.

The subgenual organ on the leg of Locusta and Decticus responds to vibrations of the substrate with maximum sensitivity at 1,500 to 2,000 cps. The threshold at this frequency is a  $3.6 \times 10^{-9}$  cm movement.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The organs of hearing in other animals also have both a tympanic membrane which serves to couple the sound to the transducer cells and sensory hairs which respond to or transduce sound waves to provide nerve impulses.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The organs of sound reception in insects can be said to consist of parameterization and transduction elements. The relative simplicity of some insect sound receptors compared to those of mammals leads us toward the conclusion that the parameterization may not be complete, i.e., that many different types of sound patterns distinguished by mammals would all be received equally by insects. In the case of Johnston's sound receptor organ, the parameterization is essentially narrow bandpass filtering to select sounds in a limited frequency range.

The filamentary cells that provide a sound detection capability apparently respond to a very wide range of frequencies. While no precise analog of this type of sensor exists, it would appear to be worthwhile to investigate fairly precise structural models of these sensors. The potential gains are: (a) miniaturization of sound detectors; (b) increased dynamic range of sound detectors. SOUND RECEPTION IN INSECTS, Conterfaces

<u>REFERENCES:</u> <u>34</u>, p. 24; <u>56</u>, pp. 416-419; <u>106</u>, pp. 311-314 <u>120</u>, pp. 127-157.



- · · · ·

1

١

Physical Operator	Section 15
Sensors	Sound
Contact Distance Internal	Sensitivity
	Physical Operator Sensors Contact Distance Internal

#### SOUND SENSITIVITY IN FISH

### DESCRIPTION:

Fish, in general, lack the various accessory devices by which sound waves reach the internal ear in higher vertebrates. But, as shown by studies on men with hearing deficiencies, the conduction of vibration through the skull to the internal ear produces some degree of hearing. Water vibrations, to be heard by most fish, must set up head vibration, and these in turn produce endolymphatic vibrations which are picked up by the hair cells of the internal ear.

There is no positive evidence as to the location in the endolymph of the sensory receptors in fish for hearing vibrations. A considerable amount of evidence has been offered indicating that hearing is present in many forms.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Some bony fish, such as the Ostariophysi, have accessory structures which parallel the "hearing aids" found in land vertebrates. In these fish, the swim bladder is utilized as a device for the reception of vibrations. In herring-like teleosts this air bladder sends forward a tubular extension which lies alongside part of the membrane system of either ear and can thus induce endolymph vibrations.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Bony fish have been extensively studied by conditioned reflex techniques with respect to hearing threshold, range, and pitch discrimination. For instance, the catfish Ameiurus has a constant threshold from 60 to 1600 cps; above this range the threshold rises sharply, with conditioned responses obtained at frequencies as high as 13,000 cps.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The sound receptors for airborne sound, found in insects, have a graded polarization and depolarization of the sound sensing membrane, as have many fish.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The air bladder in fish serves as a resonator and as a means for coupling water vibrations to sound receptors. For analogs of other aspects of hearing, see other entries in this section.

SOUND SENSITIVITY IN FISH, Continued:

REFERENCES: 110, pp. 357-374; 121, pp. 518-520.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 15
Acoustics Electricity and Magnetism	Sensors Transformers Distance Energy	Sound Sensitivity

## THE TONE COMBINATION EFFECT

DESCRIPTION:

When two tones are sounded simultaneously, other tones, called combinational tones, can usually be heard by persons with normal hearing. Combinational tones are of two kinds, differential tones and summational tones. The differential tones have a pitch equal to the difference of the frequencies of the two sounded tones, and the summational tones have a pitch equal to the sum of the frequencies of the two sounded tones.

Combinational tones originate from nonlinearities in either the ear or the musical instrument producing the tones. For example, if the sound source consists of two tuning forks, combinational tones are produced within the ear alone. If sound is produced by the harmonium, the combinational tones are generated in the air contained within the instrument and can be amplified by tuned resonators.

On investigating the combinational tones of two compound musical tones, it was found that both the primary and the upper partial tones may give rise to both differential and summational In such cases the number of combinational tones is very tones. However, the differential tones are stronger than the great. summational tones, and the stronger generating simple tones also produce the stronger combinational tones. The combinational tones, indeed, increase in a much greater ratio than the generating tones, and diminish also more rapidly. In musical compound tones the prime generally predominates over the partials, the differential tones of the two primes are generally heard more loudly than all the sast. They are most easily heard when the two generating tones are less than an octave apart, because in that case the differential is deeper than either of the two generating tones.

## ILLUSTRATION:

When the tones g''' (at 3168 vibrations/sec) and f''''# (at approximately 2970 vibrations/sec) are sounded together on fifes or on a concertina, the difference tone, g, at 198 vibrations/sec can usually be heard. Although high notes forming semitones produce the loudest combinational tones, difference tones can be readily distinguished when tones forming an interval of a third, fourth, or fifth are sounded on two recorders 'blockflutes).

MAGN ITUDE:

As the name implies, a difference tone has a pitch determined by the difference between the frequencies of two other tones; a summation tone's pitch results from the addition of

## THE TONE COMBINATION EFFECT, Continued:

frequencies. Thus the first difference tone  $D_1$  has a pitch number coming from the substraction of one frequency from the other; e.g., if the higher tone (h) has a frequency of 1000 cps and the lower one (1) is 700 cps,  $D_1 = h-1 = 300$  cps. The first summation tone  $S_1$  would come from the summing of the fundamentals;  $S_1 = h+1 = 1700$  cps. There are two "second-order" difference tones: 2h-1 and h-21; three of the third order: 3h-1, 2h-21, 31-h; four of the fourth order: 4h-1, 3h-21, 2h-31, 41-h; etc. In general, the pitch number for any particular combination tone (difference or summation) is given by the expression: N=mh±n1; m and n are any integers satisfying the condition, m+n-1= Orders, for any given order.

Obviously a very large number of combination tones is obtainable, though from direct observation few appear. The reason is that combination tones lying at or near the location of either of the fundamentals or any of the prominent overtones of either fundamental may be masked to the point of inaudibility. Strong fundamentals are necessary to produce the distortion pattern to which the combination tones owe their existence; this situation also produces powerful masking. Analysis of the electrical potentials in the guinea pig's cochlea, under strong stimulation by tones of 700 cps and 1200 cps has, however, revealed the existence of 64 combination tones simultaneously present.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The phenomenon of <u>masking</u> is similar to the combination tone effect. If two tones of different frequency, one high and the other of low intensity, are simultaneously led to the same ear it is likely that the weaker one will not be heard at all. It is said to be "masked" by the stronger.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Since the difference tone arises from nonlinearities in either the sound detection or transmission equipment, modulation and demodulation equipment produce analogs of this effect. In the superheterodyne receiver, the difference frequency between an incoming high-frequency signal and a locally generated signal slightly higher in frequency than the incoming signal are mixed to produce an intermediate frequency signal (at the difference frequency). The intermediate frequency signal is then amplified prior to final detection. It should be noted that both sum and difference frequencies appear in all modulation or mixing operations, but the sum frequency is filtered out in the superheterodyne receiver.

REFERENCES: 37, pp. 128-133; 59, pp. 5, 152-154.

SECTION 16: TACTILE SENSITIVITY

	Page
BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF TACTILE SENSITIVITY	. 263
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	. 263
AIR CURRENT SENSORS	. 264
BABINSKI REFLEX EFFECT	. 265
LATERAL LINE ORGANS	. 266
MEISSNER'S CORPUSCLES	. 268
PAIN DETECTION	. 269
PRESSURE DETERMINATION	. 271
RHEOTAXIS	. 273
TACTILE ORGANS	. 275
THIGMOTAXIS	. 277
TOUCH SENSATION, THE	. 279
VIBRATION RECEPTORS IN THE SPIDER	. 281

## BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF TACTILE SENSITIVITY

Tactile sensitivity is a function of the force per unit area on the skin surface. On the hairy regions of the skin of man, response to touch depends on nerve fibers wrapped around the base of hairs; these act as levers to increase the effect of small movements near the skin surface in distorting the ends of the fibers. The sensitivity of such organs reaches its extreme development in the vibrassae of many mammals. These may be sufficiently sensitive to respond to small air movements and thus become distance receptors like the eye, the nose, or the ear.

Another aspect of touch sensitivity is the power to distinguish patterns and qualities of incident movement. A distribution of receptors sufficiently dense to allow discrimination between patterns differing in fine details occurs in some areas of the skin of primates, such as the fingers, where there are special organized nerve endings consisting of a few epidermal cells, associated with the nerve fibers.

The nerve fibers in the skin pass through an elaborate plexus; this arrangement of fibers is presumably of primary importance in determining the pattern of impulses projected centrally from the stimulation of a given group of receptors in the skin.

#### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

From a physical point of view, tactile sensitivity can be thought of as a combination of force (or possibly pressure) and vibration detection, or, even more generally, as vibration detection if displacement is treated as the zero level mode of vibration. The tactile sense involves more than a single point sensor, of course; it also involves spatially distributed sensors which provide the characteristics of textures.

Physical devices that provide electrical signals in response to deformation or vibration include piezoelectric crystals, electromagnetic pickups for phonographs, accelerometers, microphones, and strain gages. These are usually based upon either piezoelectric effects or some type of electromagnetic principle. The seismograph provides a visible record of vibrations but does not necessarily provide electrical outputs, since purely mechanical devices can be used to detect and record vibrations.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 16
Aerodynamics Mechanics	Sensors Contact	Tactile Sensitivity
		Í

## AIR CURRENT SENSORS

DESCRIPTION:

Air current sensors, also called anemoreceptors, enable organisms to orient themselves in relation to the direction and speed of the air current (anemotaxis). Although these sensors are not described in the literature as specific anatomical entities there are numerous examples of anemotaxis, especially among the invertebrates. A critical evaluation of these examples leads to the fairly reasonable conclusion that these sensors are closely connected to the sense of touch.

## ILLUSTRATION:

a. Among the invertebrates, the halteres of flies have been shown to be sensors that are stimulated by air currents. These structures, which take the place of the posterior pair of wings in the Diptera, enable poising insects of this kind to orient themselves into the wind. See "Balance and Flight of insects".

b. Among the vertebrates, migrating birds are known to direct their flight into the wind, while communal birds, such as gulls and ducks, all come to rest facing in the direction of major air currents. During the recent investigations of the perception of visual information by tactile stimuli in humans, very small jets of air were used to stimulate the subject's skin. The results indicated that the phenomena of apparent location and apparent motion could both be produced by air jet stimulation. The apparent location, for instance, was produced by simultaneous stimulation with air jets of different pressure intensities.

SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

See "Rheotaxis", "Geotropism" and "Thigmotaxis".

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The Q-ball, an instrument for determining the angle of approach (or attack) in air, is an analog of the anemoreceptor organs.

**<u>REFERENCES</u>**: <u>33</u>, pp. 256-260; <u>36</u>, p. 29; <u>116</u>, p. 293; <u>144</u>, p. 768.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section
Mechanics	Sensors Contact Actuators	Tactile Sensitivity
	External	

## BABINSKI REFLEX EFFECT

## **DESCRIPTION:**

The Babinski reflex is elicited by stroking the outer margin of the sole of the foot from the heel to the small toe. The resulting reaction has two phases: an initial digital extension particularly the big toe, and a subsequent lateral fanning.

## **ILLUSTRATION:**

In the human infant, stimulation of the sole of the foot results in a lateral extension of the toe. During maturation, the reflex changes to a flexion of the toes inward. In adults moreover, the appearance of a positive (extension) Babinski reflex is an abnormal condition which may indicate damage or deterioration of the pyramidal tract of the central nervous system.

Similar reactions are obtained with the chimpanzee, the baboon and the gibbon.

## MAGNITUDE :

The Babinski reflex persists indefinitely in the chimpanzee. In the baboon, removal of the cortical motor area associated with the leg produces the response, and motor recovery is slow. In the gibbon, believed to show even higher cortical dominance, the Babinski reflex is well developed for 3 weeks after removal of the cortical motor area, and return of motor functions is even more slow than exhibited in the baboon.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Scratching the skin of the buttock causes contraction of the gluteal muscles. It depends upon the integrity of the 4th and 5th lumbar and upper sacral segments. Light scratching of the skin on the abdomen of a normal person causes a reflex contraction of the abdominal muscles.

Oppenheim's reflex consists of dorsiflexion of the hallux which results when a firm downward sliding pressure is applied to the skin over the anterior border of the tibia.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Reflexes, in general, are crudely modeled by trigger circuits which provide a fairly uniform impulsive response to a triggering input. Modifications in reflex responses have their analogs in wave shaping circuits whose characteristics can be modified.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: 7, pp. 1205, 1211, 1212; <u>31</u>, pp. 807-808; <u>68</u>, p. 1041; <u>122</u>, p. 197.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 16
Fluid Mechanics	Sensors	Transformers	Tactile
Mechanics	Distance	Information	Sensitivity

## LATERAL LINE ORGANS

DESCRIPTION:

Lateral line organs are found in all fish and in many of the early Amphibia. They consist of a complex system of sensory canals containing fluid or mucus. They run along the sides of the body and often on the head, either covered, with a few openings, or entirely open and exposed. At one time they were arranged in 3 parallel rows down each side of the body. However, the middle row is the only remaining one in most fish.

The walls of these canals have epithelial cells and specialized hair cells called neuromasts which are frequently grouped together as sensory ridges, with their hair processes projecting into a gelatinous "capula". The openings exposing the lateral line organs in fish are either between the scales or are pores which penetrate the scales.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The lateral line system is directly concerned with the sense of touch at distances in sensing ripples and vibrations, localizing moving objects such as other aquatic animals, and detecting fixed objects by reflecting waves.

Movement of an object in the water in the vicinity of a fish with active lateral line organs originates currents. These currents move the fluid in the tube-like canals of the lateral line organs, causing the sensory hair-like neuromasts in the canal to stimulate the branched fibers of the lateral line nerve, thereby signalling the fish.

It has also been suggested that the canals record displacements produced by the fish while swimming.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

The nerve fibers show a continuous background of spontaneous activity which originates in the neuromasts. This system responds to vibration frequencies from about 100/sec in most fish up to about 500 vibrations/sec in some. Modulation of these nerve fibers is obtained by mechanical stimulation of spontaneously active neuromasts and is measured in cycles of low-frequency wave stimulation. This varies in different species from several spikes per cycle (< 20/sec ) up to 100/sec.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The scattered pit organs are independent groups of receptor cells distributed mostly on the head of a fish. They may be isolated from each other or regularly arranged either in rows at the bottom of the grooves or in canals which open at intervals to the outside by means of pores.

## LATERAL LINE ORGANS, Continued:

In elasmobranch fish the Ampulli of Lorenzini are highly modified pit organs which are temperature receptors. They are deeply imbedded below the surface and enlarged into a bulb-like cavity at the bottom of an elongated duct that becomes completely sealed off from the outside. Both the bulb-like cavity and the duct are supplied with receptor cells, surrounded by abundant mucus and terminating with sensory hairs.

The Vesicles of Savi, found only in the aberrant electric fish, Torpedo nobiliana, are located along the outer edges of the electric organ on either side and around the border of the nasal pits.

Investigators in Herefordshire, England, discovered a large number of fossilized specimens of the prehistoric fish, Cephalaspis and Pteraspis. Examination of the dorsal surface of one of these fossil skulls revealed a number of small depressions each covered by a small scale and having wide canals leading to the vestibular region. Two theories were postulated concerning the possible function of these canals. The first was that they could have contained nerves. The second and more plausible theory, based on present day knowledge of similar structures, was that they may have contained tubular extensions of the labyrinth, thereby transmitting pressure waves to the ear. In this manner, these canals may have functioned as substitute reinforcements for a defective lateral line system.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The functions of lateral line organs range from flow metering to vibration detection and have corresponding devices as analogs.

The signals from lateral line organs are used in object detection (and, possibly, ranging) for which a sonar system is analogous.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>33</u>, pp. 250-253, 260; <u>64</u>, pp. 77, 82, 695-714; <u>73</u>, pp. 87-99; <u>75</u>, pp. 776-777; <u>116</u>, pp. 294-295; <u>153</u>, pp. 127, 218-220.

<u>Physical Class</u> Mechanics	Physical Operator Sensors Contact	<u>Section 16</u> Tactile Sensitivity
	Transformers Information	

#### MEISSNER'S CORPUSCLES

## DESCRIPTION:

Meissner's corpuscles are encapsulated endings found in the papillae of hairless skin regions. They consist of a spiral arrangement of nerve fibers that branch and end in knots. They are believed to be the tactile receptors in primates.

## ILLUSTRATION:

It has been hypothesized that free nerve endings are the receptors for pressure on hairy regions of the body and that the Meissner's corpuscles were effective in hairless areas. The main argument for this is based on the matter of distribution. The lips and parts of the hands and feet are highly responsive to pressure and the Meissner's corpuscles are plentiful in these areas.

The nerve fibers leading to the corpuscles approach the cluster from various directions indicating that there may be considerable overlap from several fibers.

## MAGNITUDE :

Meissner's corpuscles occur in hairless skin regions in groups of 2 or 3, and 10 such groups may occur in an area of about 1 mm<sup>2</sup>. Contacts on, for instance, the finger tips of one or a few millimeters apart can be recognized as distinct. On the hairy portions of the skin, the minimum distance at which points can be discriminated increases to about 1 cm.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

Thermal receptors similar to tactile receptors have been postulated. The Krause end bulb is the receptor for cold. This has been partially verified anatomically in that areas of the surface of the eye most sensitive to cold showed the greatest concentration of Krause end bulbs. The Ruffini cylinder is reported to be the end organ for warmth.

Pacinian corpuscles respond to rate of mechanical deformation. See also "The Touch Sensation".

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Since Meissner's corpuscles apparently respond to deformation or to pressure by triggering nerve cells, pressure transducers or indicators, such as the sphygmomanometer (which is used to measure blood pressure) are analogous.

**REFERENCES:** 37, pp. 170, 190-192, 225; 152, p. 477.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 16
Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism Heat and Thermo- dynamics Mechanics	Sensors Contact Internal	Transformers Information	Tactile Sensitivity

#### PAIN DETECTION

## DESCRIPTION:

The sensory receptors for pain are spread throughout the body and three general types of pain can be recognized: superficial or cutaneous pain; deep pains from muscles, tendons, joints, and fascla; and visceral pain. Pain can be elicited by several kinds of stimulation, electrical, mechanical, thermal and chemical. This indicates that the receptors are not necessarily specialized to any particular kind of stimulation as may be the case with other cutaneous receptors.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Much evidence points to the free nerve endings as the receptors for pain. The cornea of the eye presented the most definitive support for this theory in that it contains only free nerve endings and was thought to be sensitive only to pain. However, recent investigation has refuted this fact. Under carefully controlled conditions, a group of investigators applied brass cylinders, similar to the type used in thermal exploration of the skin, to the cornea. The resulting sensation was one of pressure rather than pain.

The phenomenon of double pain provides additional information on pain signal conduction. Observers have reported a sharp sudden pain at first, followed by a longer lasting second pain, the first a pricking sensation and the second, a burning ache. The temporal separation between the two has been attributed to a difference in the rates of conduction of two types of nerve fibers; the faster pain is conducted by medullated fibers and the slower by unmyelinated ones.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Pain conduction in medullated fibers proceeds at the rate of 14.45 m/sec whereas unmyelinated fibers conduct at approximately 2 m/sec.

For a standard 3 sec exposure, the absolute threshold for pricking pain is 220 millicalories. The practical upper limit is about 480 millicalories.

Investigations on the cat's tactile sensitivities have shown that pain impulses travel along the nerves at less than 5 m/sec as compared to 30 to 60 m/sec for impulses received from the cat's sensory hairs.

By the careful mapping of certain cutaneous regions a normal human adult has been shown to have in his skin the following approximate receptor ratios, which indicates that pain receptors are far more numerous than other tactile receptors. PAIN DETECTION, Continued:

Estimated No.		<u>Ratio</u>
30,000	Caloreceptors	2
250,000	Frigidoreceptors	13
500,000	Tangoreceptors	25
4,000,000	Algesireceptors (Pain)	200

SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Itching seems to result from rather minimal stimulation of the free nerve endings. It is also brought about as an after effect of the sharp sensation of pain. It can be induced by electrical, chemical or mechanical stimulation.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Since pain receptors are indicative of a condition of bodily overstress, any transducer providing out-of-tolerance signals is analogous to a pain receptor.

**REFERENCES**: <u>30</u>, p. 498; <u>37</u>, pp. 197, 202-204, 208; <u>123</u>, pp. 311-313, 326-327.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 16
Mecharics	Sensors	Tactila
	Contact	Sensitivity
	Iranstormers	
	Information	

#### PRESSURE DETERMINATION

## DESCRIPTION:

The sensation of pressure results from tension within the cutaneous tissue. The receptors are believed to be the free nerve endings around hair follicles in the hairy regions of the body and Meissner's corpuscles where there is no hair. This theory is based primarily on the wide distribution of these receptors throughout the body.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Adaptation can occur with pressure sensation as it does with other sensory processes. The rate of adaptation may depend on several variables: location on the body, size of the area stimulated, and the intensity of the stimulus. The more intense the stimulus and the smaller the cutaneous area, the faster adaptation will occur.

Experimental observation has shown that if a given stimulus is applied over a period of time, it will continually move downward on the skin for a long while. The pressure sensation continues as long as a supraliminal rate of movement is maintained. The obvious conclusion would be that adaptation results from stimulus failure, the stimulus causing tension of the cutaneous tissue.

Similarly, when the stimulus is removed a new pressure sensation should occur, since again there is a readjustment of tension in the skin. This readjustment seems to correlate with the so-called "aftersensation" of pressure.

#### MAGN ITUDE:

Pressure thresholds are reached at an approximately constant level around 0.85 g/mm<sup>2</sup>. A minimal energy of 0.4 erg, when applied to the end of a hair which is 1.0 cm long, will exceed the sensation threshold.

A direct comparison of this sense with visual or auditory phenomena shows that the skin absorbs from 100 million to 10 billion times the energy required for minimal activation of the eye or the ear.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

In much the same way that itching is a derivative of the pain sensation, so tickling and vibration are related to the pressure sensation.

Tickling will result for the gentle movement of a hair or a light brushing of the hairless regions as the lips. The threshold for a vibratory sensation varies directly as the pressure threshold does for any particular receptor locations,

# PRESSURE DETERMINATION, Continued:

thereby strongly suggesting that the same receptors are involved in both processes.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: See the analogs in the entry, "Meissner's Corpuscies".

**<u>REFERENCES</u>**: <u>37</u>, pp. 179-189.

Physical Class Fluid Mechanics	Physical Operator Sensors Contact	Section 16 Tactile Sensitivity

## RHEOTAXIS

### DESCRIPTION:

Rheotaxis is the change in the orientation of an organism in response to mechanical stimulation by a current or stream of water. This type of reaction is very common among animals; it may occur in planarians, gastropods, crustaceans and fish as well as in the nymphs, larvae and imagoes of insects.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

In fish, rheotaxis depends, in a very broad sense, on three sensitivities. As long as the fish can see, it will rely on optical ability to fix its surroundings. In a smooth channel, if the fish is already impeded by friction, it will make use of the lateral line organs; however, true rheotaxis occurs when the fish is in contact with a medium (such as the ground or a liquid stream) and the mechanical stimuli are primary.

When the minnow, Phoxinus laeris, was blinded experimentally, it could not orientate unless some mechanical stimulation and contact with a solid object was provided.

The Planaria alpina will put out a layer of mucus and move over it in a pedal wave fashion. This is interposed like a cushion between the ground and the animal's contact receptors. In this case, then, the receptors responsible for rheotaxis are current receptors, i.e., the sensors are sensitive to motion of the liquid relative to the animal.

In the invertebrates, the process is always determined by optic fixation.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Planaria alpina are positively rheotactic when the temperature is over 12°C; that is, they will migrate upstream. If the temperature is below 12°C, sexual maturity will likewise result in migration upstream until breeding takes place. The overpopulation then leads to relative starvation which in turn, in temperature below 12°C, will result in negative rheotaxis or migration downstream.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The orientation to air currents, or anemotaxis, in flying animals is similar to the rheotaxis phenomenon. In flies, for example, antennal sense organs are sensitive to wind and therefore will elicit postural changes in accordance with the speed of air flow. See also "Thigmotaxis", "Geotropism", and "Air Current Sensors". RHEOTAXIS, Continued:

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: Rheotaxis depends upon several sensors and upon the nervous system which acts as a control system. For analogs of controllers see Section 5, "Equilibrium Sensing and Control".

**REFERENCES:** 33, pp. 250-256; <u>116</u>, p. 293.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 16
Mechanics	Sensors Contact Transformers Information	Tactile Sensitivity

## TACTILE ORGANS

DESCRIPTION AND ILLUSTRATION: Many of the lower forms of animals have large numbers of small tactile hairs distributed over the surfaces of their bodies. Similar sensory hairs are found in higher animais as well. An insect such as the fly is covered with sensory bristles. In nocturnal mammals, such as mice or cats, these tactile hairs are used to determine the presence of obstacles in the dark.

The coelenterates show the first true tactile organ, the tentacle. The tentacles are arranged in a circular fashion around the mouth in the polyp and the jellyfish. The organs con-tract when stimulated mechanically. The same type of reaction is obtained by stimulating the fleshy tentacles on the head of a marine Nereid worm. In insects such as the katydid, these organs may extend the entire length of the body.

Tentacle-like organs may also be found in vertebrates, for example, the catfish.

## MAGNITUDE:

In hydra, the tentacles are capable of extreme expansion, stretching out from a small blunt projection to a thin thread 7 cm or more in length. The number of tentacles may vary considerably. Six hundred specimens of Hydra viridissima displayed from 4 to 12 tentacles each; 54% had 8; 24%, 7; 15%, 9, and only a few in the other categories. The number of tentacles may increase with the size and age of the animal.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Reactions to gravity are closely related to the tactile senses. Jellyfish possess a small organ at the base of the tentacles called a lithocyst. It contains a freely moving granule which falls on the sensory hairs around it, indicating the downward direction. All sense organs reacting to gravity appear to have these sensory hairs.

In the semicircular canal of vertebrates, the sensory hairs detect the fluid indicating a change in position.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Tactile organs in animals are used in many different ways, and physical analogs vary accordingly. For example, "curb feelers" on automobiles provide an audible signal when in moving contact with a solid surface and are analogous to the tactile hairs of nocturnal animals in detecting solid objects.
TACTILE ORGANS, Continued: <u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>58</u>, p. 144; <u>132</u>, pp. 40-41.

Physical Class Mechanics	<u>Physical Operator</u> Sensors Contact	Section 16 Tactile Sensitivity

### THIGMOTAXIS

### DESCRIPTION:

Thigmotaxis is the instinctive preference of certain insects such as bedbugs, cockroaches and scorpions for narrow tight crevices in which their bodies are in close contact with the surrounding surfaces. This characteristic behavior is also called thigmotropism or stereotropism although the latter generally refers to botanical phenomena.

### ILLUSTRATION:

This particular reaction differs from other kinesthetic motion in that the animal is not under the influence of the stimulus until it actually finds the crevice and remains there.

When the animal reaches the crevice, it presses its body against the available surfaces. For example, the earwig, Forficula, presses its body against the wall of a dish so that it curves to fit the wall.

When the salamander, Triturus torosus, is stroked along the side of the body, it rolls over so that the dorsal side can also be stimulated. Similarly, if the tail is stroked, it will bend around to the stimulated side, thereby increasing the amount of contact with the surrounding surface. This type of behavior will occur reliably in the decapitated animal or even the isolated tail.

### MAGN I TUDE:

The intensity of the stimulus is often critical. If, for example, a phototactic animal (one orienting towards light) is placed between two light sources which vary in intensity, it will usually orient toward the one which is nearer the "sensitivity threshold" for the particular species.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Some similar types of behavior involve a measure of learning. For example, menotaxis, whereby an animal moves at a fixed angle to a source of light, may involve a small degree of learning. The homing insect learns the proper angle for his return trip during his journey outward. The dorsal light reaction of fish and insects is a special case of menotaxis in that the animals constantly maintain their longitudinal axis at right angles to the light source.

See also "Geotropism", "Rheotaxis", and "Air Current Sensors".

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: Since thigmotaxis involves not only tactile sensors but THIGMOTAXIS, Continued:

also a behavior pattern following stimulus of the sensors, a complete control system is required to model thigmotaxis. Such a system would contain sensors, a controller and a set of actuators.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> <u>33</u>, pp. 248-249; <u>45</u>, pp. 991-992; <u>102</u>, p. 505; <u>120</u>, pp. 703-706.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 16
Mechanics	Sensors Contact Transformers Information	Tactile Sensitivity

### THE TOUCH SENSATION

# DESCRIPTION:

Meissner's corpuscles and Merkel's discs are believed to be the receptors for the touch sensation. They are composed of the dendrites of sensory neurons which are enclosed in capsules of varying complexities. This increases the amount of area which is exposed to contact since these encapsulations are close to the skin. Merkel's discs contain flattened plates which constitute the specialized nerve endings. Their sensitivity to manipulation is the critical characteristic which identifies them as probable touch receptors.

Pacinian corpuscles, which are numerous in the palm of the hand and the sole of the foot, respond to rate of mechanical deformation and also contribute to the sensations resulting from tactile stimuli. (See also "Tactile Organs.")

### **ILLUSTRATION:**

Similar to pressure, touch is aroused by a mechanical deformation of the skin. This is concluded from the observation that, when a finger is submerged in mercury, sensation is felt only at the surface between the mercury and the air where deformation occurs, rather than throughout the entire finger.

There seems to be a reciprocal relation between the presence of hair in mammals and specific tactile receptors. Similarly, in birds, these receptors occur mostly in the regions having no feathers.

### **MAGNITUDE:**

The size of the receptor unit varies in different species and on different parts of the body. The area of one unit in the cat's tongue is 5 mm<sup>2</sup> whereas in the skin of the frog, it is 100 mm<sup>2</sup>.

In man, the end organs of the encapsulated receptors found in the subcutaneous tissue and also in deeper tissue may be excited by deformation of 0.5mm applied for a period of 100 ms.

The results of the quantitative experiments described by Burton-Opitz are given in the following table, which gives the distance along the surface of the skin at which two points of calipers can be felt as two rather than one (two-point discrimination). THE TOUCH SENSATION, Continued:

		mm
a.	Palm of the last phalanx of finger	2.2
Ь.	Palm of the second phalanx of finger	4.4
C۷	Tip of the nose	6.6
d.	Back of the second phalanx	11.1
e.	Back of hand	29.8
f.	Forearm	39.6
q.	Sternum	44.0
ň.	Middle of back	67.0

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

The sensations of touch and pressure are very similar; some investigators believe that the latter results simply from a more intense stimulation of the same receptors as the former. One of the main differences is due to the fact that a

One of the main differences is due to the fact that a wider area of skin is stimulated to achieve pressure; furthermore, the sensation of touch is more definitely localized in time and space than is pressure.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

See the analogs in the entry on "Meissner's Corpuscies".

REFERENCES: 68, pp. 876-878; 144, pp. 755-756, 760.

Physical Class Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Physical Operator Sensors Contact Distance	Section 16 Tactile Sensitivity

# VIBRATION RECEPTORS IN THE SPIDER

### DESCRIPTION:

Arthropods are highly sensitive to vibrations of the substratum, which may be either solid or liquid. They also have been found to respond to airborne sounds. The vibration receptors are most frequently short sensory bairs, called sensilla, attached to the chitinous covering at the joints of the insects. The sensilla of the common house spider, Achaearanea, are found under its thin chitin near the tarsal-metatarsal joints of its legs.

### ILLUSTRATION:

A spider walking across its web varies the amount of stress being placed on its tarsal sensillae and thus is able to change the frequency of maximum sensitivity of these vibration sensors. The spider detects an insect caught in its web by vibration.

### MAGNITUDE:

Under certain conditions, the spider sensilla can detect vibrations in a higher frequency range than some of the more characteristic animal phonoreceptors. Since these sensory hairs are somewhat tuned by their own resonant frequency, they are able to differentiate between frequencies in the range of 100 to 1,000 cps. Spiders have been shown to respond to vibrations of 2,000 cps, the amplitude of which was 25 Å. When an inanimate vibration source of 400-700 cps is placed on the web, the spider will attack immediately.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

At the lower frequency limits, vibration receptors are quite similar to tactile sensors and proprioceptors, while at the higher limits they resemble sound receptors.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Electromechanical vibration sensors are used in testing vibratory properties and for analyzing equipment in vibration stress tests. Two types of vibration sensors in common use are crystal detectors that make use of piezoelectric effects and electromagnetic devices that use variable reluctance or generator principles.

REFERENCES: 116, pp. 295-296.

SECTION 17:

THERMAL SENSITIVITY

<u> </u>	age
BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF THERMAL SENSITIVITY	283
PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL	283
HIBERNATION	285
INFRARED SENSING BY RATTLESNAKES	286
MAN'S TEMPERATURE REGULATING CENTER	288
METABOLIC RATE IN POIKILOTHERMS	290
OPTIMUM AND EXTREME TEMPERATURES	293
TEMPERATURE REGULATION IN HOMEOTHERMS	296
TEMPERATURE REGULATION IN POIKILOTHERMS	298
THERMAL INFLUENCE ON ANIMAL BEHAVIOR	300
THERMAL INFLUENCE ON INSECT FLIGHT	302
THERMAL INSULATION IN BIRDS	304
THERMORECEPTORS	305

# BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF THERMAL SENSITIVITY

ç.

Thermal sensitivity limits the distribution of animals and regulates their activity. In general, life activities occur only within the range of about 0°C to 40°C although most animals live within much narrower limits; some survive but are inactive below 0°C.

The maintenance of a certain temperature is of vital importance to the organism because all biologic processes are conditioned by temperature. In mammals the central nervous system ceases to function at 44 to 45°C and the heart stops beating at 48°C. A rise in temperature of 5°C causes a twofold to threefold increase in pulse rate, oxygen consumption, etc.

The mechanisms of heat regulation are activated in two ways: by thermal receptors in the skin, and by direct stimulation of the thermoregulator in the brain by changes in blood temperature.

Heat and cold receptors are distributed in a definite pattern in the skin, the warmth receptors are usually deeper than the cold receptors although the latter are the more numerous. Some thermoreceptors may be encapsulated but many are free nerve endings. Much sensory summation occurs so that the threshold for stimulation decreases as the size of the area stimulated increases. Sensations occur for changes in temperature of a few thousandths of a degree in a second.

The influence of temperature on the activity of insects is illustrated as follows: The noctuid moths will flap their wings frequently at great speeds prior to flying. This preflight activity was attributed to a necessity for "warming up" the flight muscles to the proper temperature. This is quite similar to the "warm-up" period necessary in a propeller-driven airplane. Experimentation with caged moths kept at different temperatures and then released led to the finding that at 86°F, the moths required no preflight period but were able to start flying immediately from a stationary position.

### PHYSICAL ANALOGS IN GENERAL

The effects of temperature on living creatures become directly evident in poikilothermic (cold-blooded) animals as a result of metabolic rate dependence on temperature. Metabolic rate changes have been shown to be quite similar to changes in the activity rate of enzymes in relation to temperature and can be presumed to be a consequence of them. The more complex behavioral changes in poikilotherms are probably a consequence of temperature sensors in these animals. These behavioral changes have no obvious physical analogs.

Homeotherms (warm-blooded animals), however, have a highly developed internal temperature controlling mechanism and, within an optimum temperature range, can adjust to temperature changes by controlling blood flow rate and distribution. Outside this region of "thermoneutrality", other mechanisms come into play in warm-blooded animals to provide adaptation. At low temperatures, the metabolic rate increases to provide extra heat, and at high temperatures sweating and panting provide evaporative cooling. The obvious physical analog of this temperature regulation process in homeotherms is that of a regulatory mechanism consisting of a temperature sensor, a controller, and heating and cooling devices. (See the comments on regulation in the introductory remarks to Section 5, "Equilibrium Sensing and Control".)

The temperature sensors in animals are of two types: one for cold (frigidoreceptors) and one for heat (caloreceptors). There are apparently several kinds of thermal receptors of varying sensitivities in different animals. The most sensitive heat detector thus far reported is the infrared sensor found in the rattlesnake. (For a discussion of this sensor and of the physical analogs for it, see the entry on "Infrared Sensing in Rattlesnakes".) The physical analogs of thermal receptors include thermocouples and thermistors and simple bulb thermometers. Physical Class Chemistry Heat and Thermodynamics

# Physical OperatorSensorsTransformersInternalEnergyMatter

<u>Section 17</u> Thermal Sensitivity

### HIBERNATION

# **DESCRIPTION:**

Hibernation is a period of dcap unconsciousness and slowing, almost to arrest, of all the body processes which many animals undergo in the winter months. It is especially common with cold-blooded animals.

# ILLUSTRATION:

As winter approaches frogs take to water and burrow into the moist mud at the bottom of ponds below the frost line, where they stay through the winter. While hibernating the frog takes no food, being dependent during this time on the energy stored in its body as fat and glycogen. All activities are suspended except those necessary to maintain life, such as the beating of the heart. Its metabolism is greatly reduced, little oxygen is required, and respiration takes place almost entirely through the skin.

# MAGNITUDE :

During hibernation the animal's oxygen consumption may drop from 1/30 to 1/100 of the normal. The heart rate decreases to a few beats per minute and at times there is a complete suspension of breathing for several minutes.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Adjustments to temperature by some animals is by migration or by modifications of structure, such as special seasonal development of fat, fur or feathers. In the Arctic regions, animals such as the Arctic fox, seal, and polar bear are well protected by heavy pelage and thick layers of fat.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

There are many chemical processes that are slowed by lowering the temperature. Photographic film is often stored under refrigeration to prolong its shelf life.

REFERENCES: 146, pp. 440-441.

Physical Class Chemistry Heat and Thermodynamics Optics and Light

### Physical Operator Sensors Distance

ł

and the second second

Students.

## INFRARED SENSING BY RATTLESNAKES

# DESCRIPTION:

The rattlesnake has an organ sensitive to infrared radiation. This organ is located in the facial pit between the nares and eye. It enables the snake to strike accurately at prey that produce heat.

The organ consists of a membrane innervated by a superficial branch of the superior maxillary division of the trigeminal nerve and a scalloped inner cavity.

# ILLUSTRATION:

The pit functions when the inner cavity is heated by radiation, expanding the air and deflecting the membrane. A small opening near the eye, controlled by a sphincter muscle, communicates with the inner cavity and serves as a safety mechanism when the entrapped gases are subjected to abnormal heat intensity.

# MAGNI TUDE :

By applying electrodes to the exposed nerve of the sensing organ, it was found that a continuous barrage of impulses was present when apparent stimulation was lacking, but if air movement or temperature changes occurred in the receptor region a change in the level of discharge was reflected by a proportional deflection in the membrane. Stimulus intensity change seldom required more than 150 ms for adaptation. Low sensitivity was registered to wavelengths in the short infrared region (1µ), but greater outputs occurred in the long infrared region, 10-15µ. Even when other sense organs were rendered nonfunctional, the snake still maintained its ability to locate prey and discriminate between it and thermally neutral objects.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Female mosquitoes are attracted to radiant heat, for example, the heat which passes through windows or screens from a warm house at night. Infrared sensitivity is significantly stronger in the female than in the male.

Inasmuch as the snake's infrared sensor is not imageproducing, it may be compared with the eyespots of the ant or other small creatures, except that eyespots are normally sensitive in the visual range of the spectrum.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Infrared sensing is an important technique for detecting warm objects such as the plume of a missile during launch. Combined with scanning, or a matrix of sensors, the technique can INFRARED SENSING BY RATTLESNAKES, Continued:

be used for infrared imaging such as in the case of the World War II snooperscope which could image the figure of a man from his body temperature to provide the capability of "seeing" in the dark. Other applications of IR (infrared) sensing include haze-penetration, signalling, medical electronics techniques wherein the distribution of temperature over the skin of a patient is important, and aerial reconnaissance, where an infrared image, when compared with an image covering the visual spectrum, can provide additional information.

Some IR sensing materials that provide electrical response are photoconducti or photovoltaic materials such as lead sulfide, lead selenide, lead telluride, indium arsenide, thallium sulfide, and zinc-doped germanium. Inermistor material, and infrared photographic film are frequently used where practicable. Many IR sensing arrangements are simply for detecting and are not image-producing.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 105, pp. 93, 95; 128, pp. 41-47; 135.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 17
Chemistry	Sensors Actuators	Thermal
Electricity and	Contact Internal	Sensitivity
Magnetism	Internal	
	Transformers	
	Information	

# MAN'S TEMPERATURE REGULATING CENTER

# DESCRIPTION:

The net result of the summed chemical and physical reaction to temperature stress is the regulation of internal temperature constancy despite varying thermal gradients between body and environment. The temperature regulation center that accomplishes this constancy is located in the hypothalamus.

# ILLUSTRATION:

Impulses from temperature receptors ascend via lateral spinothalamic tracts and the thalamus to the hypothalamus from which various autonomic reflex responses are activated.

When man's body needs more heat, the hypothalamus sends nerve impulses to the muscles causing contractions and shivering. If the body needs cooling, impulses activate the sweat glands to induce the production of perspiration for evaporative cooling.

# MAGN ITUDE:

Under basal conditions, man loses about 20% of his heat by vaporization, in exercise 75 to 80%. Loss of heat by radiation exceeds loss by vaporization at low temperatures, but above 31°C loss by vaporization predominates in man at rest.

in cool air, man may lose by evaporation one liter of water per day; in hard work on the desert, he may evaporate 1.5 liters per hour. The temperature regulating center increases the output of sweat 20 grams per hour for each 1°C rise in air temperature.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The temperature regulating centers of many animals are similar to those of man. Local warming of the anterior hypothalamus of a cat produces peripheral vasodilation and increased breathing. Lowering blood temperature, without cooling the skin, will produce shivering. Thus the hypothalamus provides both a temperature regulating center and a second level of detecting mechanism, responding to changes in blood temperature.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The human temperature control system is an example of a human dynamic system approaching the accuracy of an engineered system. Small percentage changes from equilibrium correspond to catastrophes for the total system, e.g., death results from an increase of internal temperature as little as 7°F.

The physical analog for the temperature control system of a man is the dynamic temperature control system of the sun in terms of the scope of activity. By a dynamic interplay of MAN'S TEMPERATURE REGULATING CENTER, Continued:

nuclear interaction, radiation and gravity, the temperature of the sun is strongly regulated. Small percentage changes in temperature show up as sun spots and could even lead to catastrophe.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 116, pp. 257-260.

1.74

And the second statement of the second s

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 17
Chemistry Heat and Thermodynamics	Sensors Internal	Transformers Energy Information	Thermal Sensitivity

### METABOLIC RATE IN POIKILOTHERMS

### DESCRIPTION:

The body temperature of poikilothermic (cold-blooded) animals varies with the temperature of their surroundings. All animals, other than manmals and birds, are poikilothermic. Within the temperature range that permits an active and normal life for these animals, temperature change has a profound effect on metabolic processes. Many animals can talerate temperatures below the active life limit and survive cold in an inactive state. However, their tolerance to increased temperatures is usually quite limited. Within the temperature range that can be tolerated by a poikilothermic animal, the metabolic rate and many other processes are doubled fairly regularly for each temperature rise of 10°C. If the increase continues, the rate accelerates rapidly.



FIG. 25 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TEMPERATURE CHANGE AND METABOLIC RATE IN ANIMALS WITH VARYING BODY TEMPERATURES

# ILLUSTRATION:

Under conditions of controlled temperature, illumination, and humidity the metabolic rate in poikilotherms fluctuates as a function of time. These fluctuations in metabolism, with time, under controlled conditions, contain the same periods as those of the external physical environment. Poikilotherms in their natural physical environments possess adaptively adjusted rhythms of their various activities which are reflected in metabolic rate changes. Since their periodic patterns tend to persist even in constant conditions in the laboratory metabolic rate is a function of time under these laboratory conditions. The common periods for these persistently recurring patterns of biological activity are the solar day, the lunar day, the synodic month, and the year. These rhythms appear normally to depend upon the external cycles of such common factors as light, temperature, and ocean tides for establishing

### METABOLIC RATE IN POIKILOTHERMS, Continued:

their phase relationships relative to the actual times of day, lunar day, phase of moon, and through photoperiod, time of year; but once the phases are adjusted the actual period lengths of the recurring patterns are independent of these rhythmic changes in light and temperature. Solar and lunar rhythms of metabolism appear to persist indefinitely, with high mean precision in period length, under constant conditions in the laboratory. The length of the periods are independent of temperature. In the fiddler crab, Uca, for example, 0<sub>2</sub> consumption in a persistent daily cycle is 30 to 50% higher at about 6 a.m. than at about 6 p.m., and in a lunar day cycle it is 30 to 50% higher when the moon is at either its highest or lowest altitude than when it is at the horizon.

### MAGN I TUDE :

The metabolic rate increase for each 10°C temperature rise is called  $Q_{10}$ . If the rate is doubled, the  $Q_{10}$  is 2, and if it is tripled for each 10°C rise,  $Q_{10}$  is 3, etc., the result being an exponential curve which may be described as an exponential function: (+-+)/10

$$M_2 = M_1 \cdot Q_{10}$$

where  $M_2$  and  $M_1$  are the metabolic rates at two temperatures, t<sub>2</sub> and t<sub>1</sub>. This general equation allows the  $Q_{10}$  to be calculated when observations are made at two temperatures that are not  $10^{\circ}$  apart. For easier calculation the logarithmic form is

$$\log M_2 = \log M_1 + \frac{t_2 - t_1}{10} \cdot \log Q_{10}$$

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Many chemical processes are similarly temperature-dependent in that they have a  $Q_{10}$  of about 2 or 3. Numerous enzyme reactions are accelerated at this rate by increased temperature. The function of enzymes as organic catalysts indicates that a great similarity exists in the nature of chemical processes inside and outside the body.

Another example of the influence of temperature on the rate of body processes is the change in chirping rate in a cricket caused by temperature variation.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

In the general sense, any temperature-dependent physical or chemical process is analogous to the examples described above. The expansion of gases or metals, for example, with temperature increases is well-known.

The change of transistor properties in relation to temperature and the changes in resistivity of metals or thermistors are also analogs. METABOLIC RATE IN POIKILOTHERMS, Continued:

Electronic circuits that can operate effectively within a wide range of temperatures, using capacitors and resistors with low temperature coefficients and thermistors to compensate for changing transistor characteristics, would correspond to survival of cold-blooded animals during wide temperature variations.

Another analog would be a temperature-compensated watch which is a passive mechanism, as contrasted with the active or dynamic mechanism of temperature regulation.

<u>**REFERENCES**</u>: <u>116</u>, p. 160; <u>129</u>, p. 38.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section i7
Chemistry Heat and Thermo-	Sensors Transformers Internal Energy	Thermal
dynamics	Information	Schartwity
	Matter	

### OPTIMUH AND EXTREME TEMPERATURES

### DESCRIPTION:

All animals have an optimal temperature range within which they can most successfully carry on their activities and their geographical distribution is governed to a great extent by this. Whenever the environmental temperature varies from this optimum range, the organism becomes progressively handicapped. At extremes of temperature, life is not possible. The temperature range at which organisms remain active is somewhat less than that at which life is possible, as is illustrated by the existence of hibernating animals.

### ILLUSTRATION:

The optimum temperature range varies from one species of organism to another, and temperatures that would be fatal for one organism are well within the optimum range for another. These differences undoubtedly arise by adaptation. However, rapid change of environmental temperature might be fatal to an organism, while gradual changes might not.

In describing the effects of extreme heat and extreme cold, Davenport states that the effect of high temperatures is mainly chemical, involving the living plasma, or protoplasm, and that the effect of low temperature is mainly mechanical, involving the water content of the body.

Although animals vary in their endurance to extreme heat, it is known that proteins coagulate and become denatured and enzymes are inactivated at a high temperature of about  $50^{\circ}$ C. This inactivation frequently starts at about  $40^{\circ}$ C and proceeds more rapidly as the temperature rises. If the thermal destruction of proteins and enzymes goes beyond a certain point, it cannot be alleviated by lowering the temperature. The lethal temperature of an animal depends not only on the temperature but also on the duration of its exposure; this is substantiated by the fact that enzyme inactivation is also dependent on these two factors.

As an animal's body temperature decreases, its metabolic processes become slower, oxygen consumption decreases, and the animal becomes lethargic. Although excessive cooling of the body may be fatal, the degree of cooling that can be tolerated is extremely variable. Many animals can withstand a temperature below 0°C, but if the temperature drops too low or is extended over a long time, the water in some animal tissues will freeze and form ice crystals. This is fatal to most animals. **OPTIMUM AND EXTREME TEMPERATURES, Continued:** 

in warm-blooded animals the adaptation to temperature variation has been achieved through regulation of internal temperature, while in cold-blooded animals the adaptation enables them to survive even though the body temperature changes.

If the temperature in a tropical fish aquarium drops well below room temperature and remains at this low level overnight, the fish will die. On the other hand there are fish that live normally in water close to 0°C. Penguins, certain species of fish, and other forms of animal life found in the polar regions, are good examples of adaptation of animal life to extreme cold.

Subfreezing temperatures are not always fatal. Many lower animals have been cooled to a temperature of -183°C in liquid oxygen and even to -269°C in liquid helium and have survived. One of the methods for storage of numerous types of microorganisms is in liquid nitrogen.

The amoeba has a much smaller temperature range. When an amoeba is subjected to gradually increasing temperature, at first it becomes more active as it extends its pseudopods. Later, it withdraws its pseudopods entirely to the point at which it exposes the least amount of its body surface. As the temperature continues to rise, the amoeba finally dies because of the coagulation of its protoplasm. If, however, the temperature is slowly lowered from the optimum, the pseudopods remain extended, movement becomes more and more sluggish, and finally, the animal freezes in an expanded condition.

### MAGN I TUDE :

A great many land animals, such as mammals, birds, reptiles, and insects have a lethal upper limit of about  $45^{\circ}$  C. The highest tolerance to temperature is found in animals that live in hot springs, e.g., protozoans and mosquito larvae have been found thriving at  $50^{\circ}$  C. Aquatic animals, which have a lower heat tolerance than land animals, may die if the temperature goes up to  $30^{\circ}$ - $35^{\circ}$  C. Some arctic animals may die if the temperature is raised to only  $10^{\circ}$  C.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Plants also have an optimum and extreme temperature range. This range of temperature within which plants are able to grow may be designated by three temperature points, viz., the minimum, or temperature below which no growth takes place, the optimum which is usually considered the temperature which gives the highest rate of growth or is the best for growth, and the maximum temperature, above which no growth takes place.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Physical and chemical effects due to reduced or elevated temperatures are not so much analogies of low or high temperature effects in animals as they are the causes of these effects. OPTIMUM AND EXTREME TEMPERATURES, Continued:

Notwithstanding this, the temperature-operating range of physical equipment is usually restricted to specified limits for satisfactory operation. More generally, physical devices have the characteristic of optimum operating range over all measurable variables. For example, a lead sulfide cell for infrared detection produces output signals for a limited portion of the total electromagnetic spectrum. Even more directly analogous are germanium diodes which fail to function properly at both high and low temperatures, and are even permanently damaged if operated beyond certain limits.

The adaptation of organisms to high temperatures might conceivably be compared to the heat treatment of metals.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 63, p. 237; <u>129</u>, p. 40; <u>144</u>, p. 760.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 17
Chemistry	Sensors	Thermal
Electricity and	Contact	Sensitivity
Magnetism	Internal	
Heatand	Actuators	
Thermodynamics	External	

### TEMPERATURE REGULATION IN HOMEOTHERMS

# **DESCRIPTION:**

ammals and birds as homeothermic (warm-blooded) animals maintain an almost constant body temperature. The variation from species to species is not great, being only a few degrees at most. However, mammals have developed means by which they can compensate for or regulate these temperature changes. These compensations can be either physiological, as in the case of man, or partly anatomical, as in the case of fur-covered animals.

The physiological basis of the temperature-regulating mechanism is generally the same for all homeotherms. Usually, the cooling of the body is counteracted by increased heat production while overheating is prevented by evaporation of water or sweating. Not all animals are able to do this, and therefore some animals accomplish this evaporation of water by panting, which consists of the evaporation of water from the tongue and upper respiratory tract.

### ILLUSTRATION:

The means for regulation of temperature in man varies for heat and cold as follows:

COLD:

Man (whose body temperature is 37.5°C) feels comfortable within the narrow external temperature of 27° to 31°C, and since his body temperature usually does not change, the heat produced during metabolism is given off to the surroundings.

If the surrounding temperature is cooler than 27°C, his body loses heat faster than it is produced. The only way he can maintain his body temperature is to produce more heat, and this is done by involuntary muscle contractions called shivering. The colder it is, the more heat he must produce to keep up with the rate of cooling, and therefore the more he shivers. Toward the lower end of the range, the body also attempts to decrease the heat loss by reducing the amount of blood circulating to the skin.

HEAT: When the surrounding temperature is higher than 31°C, the air is not cool enough to remove the heat produced by man's metabolism, and the only way he can cool the body is to evaporate water by sweating. The higher the temperature, the more he must sweat. In addition to perspiration as a method of cooling in the upper limits, the body sends as much blood as possible to the skin to become

## TEMPERATURE REGULATION IN HOMEOTHERMS, Continued:

cooled.

When a dog becomes very hot, it will perspire slightly, but the primary cooling is achieved by panting, or the evaporation of water from the tongue region. This evaporation rate is increased by the passage of more air over the wet surfaces due to an extremely rapid respiration rate. Cattle and sheep sweat and pant to some extent, but not as efficiently as man and dog.

### MAGNITUDE:

The extent to which man can regulate his body temperature in both the upper and lower limits of the ranges of 27° to 31°C depends almost entirely on two factors: the exposure temperature and length of time or duration of exposure to the unusual conditions. Generally speaking, within this "thermoneutrality range" the blood flow process is sufficient to adjust the rate of heat loss to heat production, while outside the range, shivering and sweating are employed.

The normal respiration rate in a dog is about 15 to 30 breaths per minute, but during panting it increases to over 300 per minute. Simultaneously, the respiration becomes very shallow. If it did not, the ventilation would increase considerably, and the loss of  $CO_2$  from the lungs and bloodstream would be excessive.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The Alaskan ground squirrel has a lower thermoneutrality limit of about 10°C; below this it must increase its metabolism to maintain a high body temperature.

to maintain a high body temperature. An Alaskan husky has a heavier coat of fur which insulates him so well that his metabolic rate increases only when the temperature drops below 0°C.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

See comments on Physical Analogs in General in Section 5, "Equilibrium Sensing and Control", in which equilibrium regulators are described. Also, the water-circulating system in an automobile engine and radiator is similar to the use of blood circulation for cooling purposes. A thermostatically controlled heating or cooling system is also analogous.

REFERENCES: 116, pp. 238-240; 257-258; 129, pp. 44-45.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 17
Heat and Thermodynamics	Sensors Contact Internal	Actuators External	Thermal Sensitivity

# TEMPERATURE REGULATION IN POIKILOTHERMS

# DESCRIPTION:

Poikilothermic (cold-blooded) animals maintain a body temperature close to the same temperature as their surroundings. If the temperature of the surroundings changes, so does the body temperature of the poikilotherm. This does not mean that these animals cannot regulate their temperature at all; they can and do seek out warmer spots in their environment and thus change their body warmth to some extent. They lack the extensive physiological mechanisms employed by homeotherms (warm-blooded animals) to maintain a virtually constant body temperature.

# ILLUSTRATION:

In general, compensation for cold by acclimatizing reactions is more marked in aquatic than in terrestrial poikilotherms, although it does occur in snails and some insects (e.g., cockroach). Metabolic heat is used to varying extents for temperature regulation by colonial Hymenoptera and termites. In winter most colonial Hymenoptera cluster together and the temperature of the cluster may be kept well above the air temperature.

Absorption of radiant heat from the sun is another means of raising body temperature in poikilotherms. This method of temperature regulation is correlated with pigmentation; a light colored snout beetle, Compus niveus, absorbs 26% and a dark carrion beetle, Silpha obscura, absorbs 95% of the infrared impinging on it. A dark brown grasshopper on sunny desert sand remains 4 to 5% warmer than a light buff grasshopper.

# MAGNITUDE:

The temperature of an occupied termite mound may be  $14^{\circ}$  to  $18^{\circ}$  higher than an unoccupied region. Thus colonial insects utilize physical and chemical means in maintaining relatively constant temperature of the nest.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

See entry on "Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms".

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Partial temperature regulation is achieved by poikilotherms in that activity liberates heat, warming the animal; cooling is achieved behaviorally or by accident of coloration. In most physical devices, operation of the device is accompanied by a liberation of heat which can, under some circumstances, increase the operating efficiency of the device. For example, rapid discharge of a battery at low temperatures liberates heat due to the internal resistance of the battery. The heat causes an TEMPERATURE REGULATION IN POIKILOTHERMS, Continued:

increase in temperature, which increases the emf of the battery. Temperature regulation in some physical devices is also obtained by coloration. Some satellites have been painted with reflective paints to maintain internal temperatures within a desirable operating range.

REFERENCES: 116, pp. 252-256.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 17
Chemistry Heat and Thermodynamics	Sensors Contact Internal	Transformers Energy Actuators External	Thermal Sensitivity

# THERMAL INFLUENCE ON ANIMAL BEHAVIOR

# DESCRIPTION:

Environmental temperature changes can act as stimuli to different organisms by influencing their behavior to a great extent.

Temperature limits the distribution of animals and at the same time determines their rate of activity. The range of environmental temperatures on earth is much greater than the range permissive of actual life. In general, life activities occur only within the range of about 0°C to 40°C; most animals live within much narrower limits; some survive but are inactive below 0°C. Since temperature is a measure of molecular agitation, it limits the rate of chemical reaction, and it is one factor in the control and influence of animal growth and behavior.

# ILLUSTRATION:

**Frogs usually swim at the surface** of the water, but if the air temperature drops to about 50°F, they will go to the bottom of the water. This regulating effect may possibly be due to temperature inversions in the water.

Cricket chirping rates vary with temperature changes. During the hot summer months when the temperature is high, the chirping sounds are both rapid and high-pitched. When the weather is colder, as in the fall, winter and early spring, the chirping rate is much slower and the frequency is lowered to a point at which it sounds like a rattle.

# MAGNITUDE :

The relationship between the cricket's chirp and the surrounding temperature is fairly linear and the following mathematical formulae have been derived for calculating the environmental temperature after first determining the chirping rate. In all three formulae, T = temperature in degrees Farenheit and N = the number of chirps per minute.

1. The temperature formula for the tree cricket, Oecanthus niveus is: N-92

 $T = 50 + \frac{N-92}{4.7}$ 

2. For the house cricket it is:

$$T = 50 + \frac{N-40}{4}$$

3. For the katydid, Cyrtophyllus perspicalis, it is.

THERMAL INFLUENCE ON ANIMAL BEHAVIOR, Continued:

$$T = 60 + \frac{N-19}{3}$$

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Temperature has a marked influence on the size, form, and general structure of plants just as the range of temperature influences the behavior of animals. When plants are kept constantly under low temperature, the length of the growing zone increases but the internodes remain short, resulting in a plant of comparatively low stature. On the other hand, when they are kept under high temperature, the length of the growing zone decreases, the internodes become longer and the plants become taller.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Almost any temperature-dependent physical or chemical effect is analogous to these effects in animals, but it is evident that there can be amplification of temperature effects by the nervous systems of some animals. A thermometer is an analog of the effect of temperature change on cricket chirps.

REFERENCES: 36, pp. 202-203; 45, p. 720; 63, pp. 240-241.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 17
Aerodynamics Heat and Thermodynamics	Transformers Energy	Thermal Sensitivity

# THERMAL INFLUENCE ON INSECT FLIGHT

### DESCR | PT | ON :

The frequency with which insects move their wings varies with many factors, primarily differences in species, age and temperature. Insects have a special thermal problem because of their high rate of metabolism during flight. If an insect is cold, its muscles cannot contract fast enough to carry it in flight; however, it can increase the temperature of the flight muscles by contractions similar to shivering in man.

### ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

Successful flight by insects is not possible unless the internal temperature attains a critical value, which may differ from one species or individual to another.

Observations of Vanessa showed that during the first few seconds of flight, when the thoracic temperature was rising, the amplitude of the wing stroke increased from 120° to 180° of arc. Also, with Bombus, an increase in stroke amplitude was noted





### THERMAL INFLUENCE ON INSECT FLIGHT, Continued:

during the warming-up period preceding flight. When the temperature of the thorax was only 20°C, the amplitude rose to 120°.

The frequency of the wing beat of Drosophila influenced by temperature is represented by the figure of Williams and Chadwick.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Insect flight may also be altered by various other sensory and environmental factors. Fleshflies buzz about more rapidly and with higher frequencies when stimulated by the smell of meat. Another example is the behavior of bees and hornets when disturbed and ready to sting. Flies and hawk moths hovering over flowers move the wings at lower frequencies during stationary flight than when shifting from one spot to another.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The underlying factor involved in the necessity for a warm-up period by insects is the metabolic rate. As in other cold-blooded animals, the metabolic rate of flying insects is dependent on environmental temperature when the insects are at rest, and repeated contraction of the muscles serves to warm them. In this respect all temperature-dependent chemical reactions constitute analogs of the thermal influence on insect flight muscles.

With respect to function, the warm-up period used for piston-driven aircraft is analogous to that employed by insects, since an aircraft engine warm-up also increases the power output of the engine.

REFERENCES: 19, pp. 591-603.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 17
Heat and Thermodynamics Mechanics	Sensors Contact Distance	Actuators External Internal	Thermal Sensitivity

# THERMAL INSULATION IN BIRDS

# DESCRIPTION:

Insulating fat layers under the skin of birds help maintain body heat in cold weather, while the body is covered with down feathers which trap air for further insulating effect. Skin feathers automatically fluff the larger and heavier feathers, causing them to stand erect, thereby increasing the thickness of insulation in cold weather.

# ILLUSTRATION:

As the air temperature drops, various insulating mechanisms in the bird will maintain its body temperature until the critical temperature is reached. In winter, the amount of insulation increases, that is, the skin feathers are denser, the fat content of the skin increases, and the metabolic rate speeds up.

# MAGNITUDE:

Birds maintain a higher and more variable temperature than mammals. Adult mammals range roughly between 36° and 39°C, while birds range from 37.7° to 43.5°C, the majority of them from 40° to 42°C.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Bears and whales have thick insulating layers of fat. In hairy animals, hairs stand erect in cold weather to provide a thermal insulating effect.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The role of the autonomic nervous system in the erection of feathers or hairs for temperature regulation suggests thermostatic action. The use of erecting feathers or hairs on arctic clothing as a means of temperature regulation might be considered as a possibility. Also, compressed air could be used to "ballon out" clothing as a related technique, or exhaust the "ballooning" effect depending upon activity and temperature. Pad-like areas could be individually inflated.

REFERENCES: 18, p. 74; 116, pp. 244-245, 263-264.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 17
Heat and	Sensors	Thermal
Thermodynamics	Contact	Sensitivity

### THERMORECEPTORS

### DESCRIPTION:

In humans there are two types of thermoreceptors which transmit temperature stimuli as sensations of heat or warmth and cold.

a. <u>Caloreceptors</u> transmit sensations of heat or warmth, lie deeper in the skin, and are less numerous than receptors for sensations of cold. These caloreceptors are found in greater numbers of the forehead, cheeks, and palms of hands than on the rest of the body surface.

b. <u>Frigidoreceptors</u> transmit sensations of cold to the brain. They lie closer to the surface of the skin and are also more numerous than the caloreceptors. The location and relative number of these cold receptors brings them into a close association with the touch receptors in the skin.

### ILLUSTRATION:

The research on thermoreceptors by Goldscheider showed the presence of distinct warm and cold sensitive spots over definite small areas on the surface of the human body. Microscopically, he found separate distinct nerve terminals corresponding to the warm and cold loci.

### MAGN ITUDE:

Results of temperature differentiation studies over the human body indicate the following degrees of difference which can be registered:

Eyelids, 1/20°C The lips, 1/10°C Outside surface of arm, 1/4°C Palm of hand, 1/2°C

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The many Golgi-Mazzini corpuscles found in the cornea and conjunctiva of the eye are considered frigidoreceptors since these two parts of the eye are sensitive to cold.

Ruffini endings are quite numerous in the eyelids which are particularly sensitive to heat, and thus are classed as caloreceptors.

### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Thermal receptors such as a thermocouple or thermistor provide signals proportional to temperature,

REFERENCES: 144. p. 760.

305

SECTION 18:

SPECIAL LAWS

	Page
BIOGENESIS, LAW OF	. 307
JORDAN AND KELLOGG'S LAWS OF DISTRIBUTION	. 309
MENDEL'S LAWS OF INHERITANCE	. 311
NATURAL SELECTION OF SPECIES, LAW OF	. 313

7

大学のないないないです。

Physical Class

Physical Operator

Chemistry Mechanics Transformers Matter Section 18 Special Laws

# LAW OF BIOGENESIS

# DESCRIPTION:

The biogenetic law or the theory of recapitulation relates the developmental history of the individual to the evolution of the race. The former is said to parallel the latter; in other words, "ontogeny recapitulates phylogeny".

Organic evolution, that is, the evolution of one organism from another, is now accepted as an established fact. Evolutionists do not claim that the more complex forms have evolved directly from the simpler animals, but that their ancestors were related. Evidence for this exists in embryological as well as chemical data.

# ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

Lower vertebrates, such as fish, have a heart which is composed of two main chambers: the auricle which receives blood from the body, and the ventricle which pumps it out to supply the whole body. In amphibians, which compose the next higher group, the auricle is divided into two parts while the ventricle remains undivided, resulting in three chambers. In reptiles, such as crocodiles and alligators, the heart consists of four chambers, which carries over to all adult birds and mammals. The pertinent feature is that this progression from two to four chambers parallels very closely the successive embryonic stages in the development of the heart of the individual bird or mammal.

Biochemical analysis contributes to the theory also in the investigation of chordate evolution. It has been found that, with one exception, invertebrate tissue contains arginine phosphate; vertebrate tissue contains creatine phosphate. The tissues of an intermediate form, the protochordate Dolichoglossus, have both phosphates, however. Likewise, the echinoids which show embryological similarity to some protochordates, have both phosphates. The evidence supports the view that chordates have evolved from a stock close to that of the echinoderms.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

a. Ernst Haekel's law of biogenesis states that the development of the individual recapitulates the evolutionary stages of the race. He considered the ancestor of the many-celled animals to be a two-layered sac similar to a gastrula, which he cailed the gastraea. The coelenterates were considered to be slightly modified gastraea.

b. Fritz Müller supported a similar view on the basis of the following evidence. Generally, he found that not all Crustacea arise from the egg so nearly like the adult as does

# LAW OF BIOGENESIS, Continued:

the crayfish which emerges almost in the adult stage. The others pass through the various stages of development that are quite similar to the adult stages of other crustaceans.

c. Von-Baer's law describes the development of embryos of different kinds of organisms which are at first similar but diverge from one another at different stages in their embryonic development. On the basis of the closeness of their relationships, those which are least closely related diverge first.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Biogenetic laws are uniquely characteristic of growing systems. Except for crystal growing, our knowledge and utilization of nonliving systems is quite limited. One effect observed in crystal growths, which is reminiscent of some characteristics of biological systems, is that, if a crystal is grown on top of a second crystal with a different lattice structure, it will tend for the first few layers to assume the crystal structure of the base, rather than its own structure.

**REFERENCES:** 1, pp. 33, 198; 58, pp. 507-510; 148, pp. 371-373.

<u>Physical Class</u> Mechanics	Physical Operator Transformers Energy Matter	Section 18 Special Laws

### JORDAN AND KELLOGG'S LAWS OF DISTRIBUTION

# DESCRIPTION:

Jordan and Kellogg formulated three laws which govern the distribution of animal life. They are: Every species of animal life is found everywhere unless

- a) it was unable to get there;
- b) having arrived there, it was unable to stay; and
  c) having arrived, it became modified into another species.

# ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

An example of the first law is exhibited by the fact that, although there are over 450 species of hummingbirds in South and Central America, there are none in Africa. This is not because Africa is in itself unfavorable to hummingbird occupation, but rather that these small birds have never been able to cross the wide oceans which separate their usual habitat from Africa.

In relation to the second law, a number of years ago the U. S. Government transported a herd of camels to the semiarid region of the Southwest and allowed them to run wild in the hope that they would multiply, spread and eventually form a valuable addition to a region inhospitable to most large animals. Their new environment was very much like that from which they had come, so the experiment might have been successful; however, local cowboys periodically put them through their paces so the camels could not survive.

A classic illustration of the third law was cited by Charles Darwin in "The Origin of Species", concerning animals on the Galapagos Islands off the northwest coast of South America. Twenty-six species of land birds were found on these islands. Of these, 23 species are similar to, but still specifically different from, those inhabiting continental land a few hundred miles away. Darwin explained this by the supposition that when the Galapagos group of islands were separated from the mainland in recent geological times, a new habitat was formed on certain islands where various members of the continental species were isolated. In the course of time, 23 of these isolated species gradually changed until each had become sufficiently divergent to warrant being considered a different species.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Another relationship which influences animal distribution is that between expansion and repression. In detail, the relationship is that each species originated historically from some preceding species at some definite place, and its current distribution is due to the interactions of two opposing forces, JORDAN AND KELLOGG'S LAWS OF DISTRIBUTION, Continued:

expansion and repression.

SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS: The distribution laws of Jordan and Kellogg are also applicable to gases. These laws are qualitative, however, and more precise statements of expansion rate, and rate of chemical reaction are available for gases.

**REFERENCES:** <u>144</u>, pp. 79-81.

Physical Class Chemistry <u>Physical Operator</u> Transformers Energy Information Matter Section 18 Special Laws

# MENDEL'S LAWS OF INHERITANCE

### DESCRIPTION:

Gregor Mendel applied the methods of statistical analysis to the factors involved in breeding. His law of independent assortment reflected the fact that there is an independent assortment of the genes determining the different characteristics in the offspring. Size and color, for example, are independently inherited.

### ILLUSTRATION:

Mendel experimented with monohybrids as well as the more complex polyhybrids. One of the investigations involved crossing two peas, one producing yellow round seeds and the other producing green wrinkled seeds. The first generation offspring produced only yellow round seeds indicating that these were the two dominant characters. However, after self-fertilization such hybrid plants produce offspring with seeds showing all possible combinations: yellow round, green wrinkled, as well as yellow wrinkled and green round. This would show then that the intervening first generation offspring contained both sets of genes although the yellow round characteristics were dominant. The new combinations of yellow wrinkled and green round are evidence for the independent assortment phenomenon.

One variation of these laws occurs when the hybrid shows a different condition from either one of the parents. For example, on crossing the red and white races of the four o'clock (Mirabilis jalapa), the progeny are neither red nor white but rather an intermediate pink flower.

In other cases, rather than offspring showing an intermediate characteristic, the hybrids will show the characters of both parents; neither character is recessive. In short horn cattle, for example, red and white parents produce roan, a color which results from an interaction or mosaic of both the red and white hairs in the coat.

### MAGNITUDE:

The typical ratio of the hybrid relationships is 3:1, that is, 75% dominant to 25% recessive individuals. When crossing pure tall and short varieties of peas, Mendel obtained 787 dominant (tall) and 278 recessive (short) individuals, a ratio approximating 3:1.

### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Mendel's law of segregation further amplifies the description of the breeding process. Each gamete or reproductive cell contains genes for only one characteristic. When hybrids are
MENDEL'S LAWS OF INHERITANCE, Continued:

inbred, for example, the offspring consist of hybrids as well as the parental types in pure form. Therefore, it must be that the factors or genes which determine the characters are sorted out or segregated for reproductive purposes so that hybrids can produce the pure parental type individuals.

PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

See the entry on "Law of Natural Selection of Species" for an analog of the genetic process.

**REFERENCES:** <u>148</u>, pp. 319, 321-322.

Physical Class Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism Mechanics	<u>Physical Operator</u> Transformers Information Matter	Section 18 Special Laws

# LAW OF NATURAL SELECTION OF SPECIES

### DESCRIPTION:

Natural changes and mutations tend to be retained or discarded depending upon their value to the individual or the species. In 1859 Charles Darwin emphasized this fact, which may be stated in more detail as follows: Of the range of different individuals which make up a population of given species, those individuals having certain characteristics contribute more offspring to the succeeding generation than those having other characteristics. If such characteristics have an inherited basis, the composition of the population is thereby changed to more fully incorporate these characteristics. The successful variants and their progeny are said to be "related" by a natural process.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The development of the eutherian (placental) mammals illustrates the phenomenon of natural selection. Changes in the 1) Many of the structure of four sets of characters occurred. mammals became larger. This was especially advantageous for warm-blooded animals in cold climates since it reduced the rela-2) The limbs grew longer and the number tive area of heat loss. of toes was reduced so that locomotion was facilitated. 3) The number of teeth was reduced and the overall shapes became specialized by the addition of cusps for cutting edges in carnivorous animals and by fusion to form transverse or longitudinal grinding ridges in herbivorous animals. 4) The brain became more developed; specifically the nonolfactory part of the cortex and the frontal lobes increased allowing for more complicated behavior and memory requirements.

### MAGNITUDE :

The factors underlying the evolutionary process are more obscure when it is realized that some animals remain nearly unchanged for long periods---for example, opossums and shrews for 80 million years, lemurs and targiers for 50 million years, pigs and tapirs for 35 million years and deer for 20 million years.

Human evolution has progressed at a fairly rapid rate. Proconsul, the man-like ape that preceded man, appeared about 500,000 years ago. The first Neanderthal man (preared approximately 50,000 years ago and the first modern man 25,000 years ago.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Lamarck's laws of evolution preceded Darwin in time and were significantly less readily accepted. His first law, which is basically sound, stated that constant use of an organ leads

# LAW OF NATURAL SELECTION OF SPECIES, Continued:

to its strengthening whereas disuse leads to its weakening and eventual disappearance.

The second law, however, was highly questioned. He maintained that acquired characteristics are preserved by heredity and passed on to future generations.

Also see "Mendel's Laws of Inheritance" in this section.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

A simple experiment with numbers has been devised which illustrates to a degree the mechanics of natural selection. Taking a set of, say, 10 integers as a population, let the rule of combination be multiplication. Let the second generation consist of the last digit of the product of ten randomly selected pairs of digits from the first generation. After several generations, it is evident that most (or all) of the digits will be even numbers (provided that the first generation contained some even numbers). Eventually, it is expected that the entire population will evolve into a set of zeroes. Hence, in this experimental "population", the property of evenness is more dominant than oddness, and the property of being a zero dominates both evenness and oddness.

# <u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>132</u>, pp. 292–293; <u>148</u>, pp. 380–382; <u>153</u>, pp. 575– 576.

SECTION 19:

SPECIAL EFFECTS

# Page

.

COMPETITIVE INHIBITION	316
ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGE RESPONSE	318
INITIATION OF FLIGHT IN INSECTS	319
MEMBRANE PERMEABILITY	320
MUSCLE CONTRACTION BY ELECTRICAL IMPULSE	322
PERISTALSIS	324
VASOCONSTRICTION	326
WATER BALANCE IN AQUATIC INSECT METABOLISM	327
WATER BALANCE IN KANGAROO RATS	328

1

3

ţ

<u>Physical Class</u> Chemistry	Physical Operator Transformers Matter		Section 19 Special Effects

# COMPETITIVE INHIBITION

## DESCRIPTION:

This type of inhibition may occur in situations in which two processes compete for some raw material used by both. It results in inhibition of one process and diversion of available supplies of the raw material to the other.

## ILLUSTRATION:

The keenest competition that most animals have is with others of their own species. This is true, not because they are usually actively hostile toward each other, but because the needs and desires of all individuals in the same species are practically identical. In each of the fundamental requirements of life -food, air, light, space, mates, and protection -- an individual is rivaled by members of its own kind more than by any other kind, because the individuals of other kinds will usually desire a different kind of food, breathe in different ways, prefer another light intensity, or hunt, nest and hide in different situations. The competition with other forms will in most cases decrease the more and more distantly related they are.

# MAGN ITUDE:

The degree of competitive inhibition varies inversely with the quantity of any available material which is mutually sought by two processes or animals. In other words, the greater the quantity the lower will be the degree of competitive inhibition.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

A similar example to the above inhibition is an enzymecatalyzed reaction. The natural substrate can prevent the formation of the enzyme-inhibitor complex; or if this complex is already formed, can displace the inhibitor from the enzyme surface.

The rate of competitively enzyme-catalyzed reactions depends only on the ratio of the amount of inhibitor to the amount of substrate.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

In bistable electronic circuits, a form of activity occurs that could be compared to competitive inhibition. One tube or transistor in a flip-flop circuit conducts and prevents the second tube or transistor from conducting. When the flip-flop is triggered, it momentarily permits the second tube or transistor to conduct, cutting off or inhibiting the first completely. COMPETITIVE INHIBITION, Continued:

. ,

÷

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 1, p. 59, <u>102</u>, pp. 442-443; <u>116</u>, p. 600.

-----

Physical Class	Physical Op	erator	Section 19
Chemistry	Sensors	Transformers	Special
Heat and	Contact	Energy	Effects
Thermodynamics	Distance	Information	
Mechanics	Internal	Actuators	
Optics and Light		External	

#### ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGE RESPONSE

#### DESCRIPTION:

Changes which occur in an environment can be the source of stimuli that act on an animal to produce various responses.

## ILLUSTRATION:

Some animals change internally to conform to the environment. For example, poikilotherms respond to temperature changes by varying internal temperature. Others maintain relative internal constancy in a changing environment by means of regulatory mechanisms. Measurements of conformity and regulation can be extended to all the physical factors of the environment, In general, conformers tolerate wide internal variation, but narrow environmental limits, whereas regulators tolerate only narrow internal variations but a wider environmental range.

The stick insect Carausius typically becomes pale on a light ground and dark on a black one, through hormonally excited exoskeletal pigmentary changes elicited visually. Coupled with this feature is the akinesis response through which the stick insect is ordinarily immobilized on bushes in the day time, and the unique external morphology which reduces its visibility to common predators. Conditions such as akinesis are reflex responses to environmental stimuli such as light and mechanical stimulation.

#### MAGNITUDE:

The sweat giands in man respond to environmental changes. At rest, visible sweating usually commences at an environmental temperature between  $80^\circ$  and  $90^\circ$  F.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The hibernation period of bears is a period during which all their body processes are slower. This period is a more general and longer lasting response of the bear to cold weather.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

All systems that are strongly coupled to the environment exhibit responses to changes in the strongly coupled variables. The wide variety of animal responses to environmental changes precludes the possibility of a simple model of this effect. However, analogs of some of these effects are given in Section 17, "Thermal Sensitivity".

<u>**REFERENCES**</u>: <u>116</u>, p. 4; <u>144</u>, p. 750.

Physical Class	Physical Ope	rator	Section 19
Aerodynamics Mechanics	Sensors Contact Transformers Informatio	Actuators External	Special Effects

# INITIATION OF FLIGHT IN INSECTS

## DESCRIPTION:

The process of flight in insects can be started by the interruption of tarsal contact between the insect's feet and the surface on which it is standing. Once it has begun, flight is maintained by wing stimulation sense organs, especially in insects with two pairs of wings, and by sensory organs in the area where the head is attached to the rest of the body.

## ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

Experimental studies have shown that insects will rest quietly when they are standing on the surface of some moving object, just as they would on a stationary object. However, when the surface is abruptly removed, the insect immediately starts moving its wings for flight. This reaction ends in flight in almost every case in which it is observed.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

A somewhat similar situation is observed in birds which have been trained to perch on a finger or forearm. The arm and hand can be moved freely without disturbing the bird, but the abrupt removal of the "perch" will initiate immediate flight.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> <u>36</u>, p. 29; <u>116</u>, p. 302.

Physical Class Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Mechanics Physical Operator Transformers Matter Section 19 Special Effects

## MEMBRANE PERMEABILITY

#### DESCRIPTION:

The permeability of a membrane is the extent to which molecules can pass through it. All membranes have selective permeability, i.e. certain substances pass through it more or less easily, and to others it is impermeable. The size of the particle with respect to the size of the membrane pores and, in the case of ions, the electric charge are fundamental factors in the permeability of the membrane.

## ILLUSTRATION:

Membranes of the tissue cells generally are permeable to water, or to OH-or H<sup>+</sup> ions or both, and to  $HCO_3^-$  ions. Chloride ions pass readily into and out of certain cells, such as erythrocytes and cells of the gastric mucosa, yet muscle cells contain exceedingly small quantities of Cl-ions.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Cell membranes generally are made up of an organized and oriented lipid layer superposed upon a meshwork of protein layers, the lipid and protein layers being held together by forces of adsorption and by complex formations between them. The lipid layer of the erythocyte membrane is about 50 Å thick, equal to the thickness of two to four lipid molecules. The thickness of the membrane lipid layers of other cells appears not to exceed 100 Å. The thickness of the protein layers is less well known; however, it probably is something of the same order of magnitude.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

See entry entitled "The Sodium Pump and Electrical Potential".

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Filters using filter paper or porous porcelain provide a gross selective action on particles in solution or suspension since particles smaller than a given size pass through a filter. Membrane permeability is more complex than the filtration process, however, since ionic charge may be involved. The action of a screen grid in a vacuum tube is analogous to the rejection of ions by a membrane. MEMBRANE PERMEABILITY, Continued:

<u>REFERENCES:</u> <u>147</u>, pp. 113, 594-595.

•

Physical Class	Physical Op -	ator	j Section 19
Chemistry Electricity and Mag- netism Mechanics	Transformers Energy	Actualors External Internal	Special Effects

## MUSCLF CONTRACTION BY ELECTRICAL IMPULSE

DESCRIPTION:

In many organisms, there are highly differentiated, elongated cells which have the ability to shorten and the ken. These cells are the muscle fibers, and this type of action is called contraction. The muscle is an organ formed of a bundle of such contractible fibers. Among invertebrates the fibers of a muscle are loosely associated, but in the vertebrates they are bound together and enveloped by special tissues. The typical vertebrate muscle is surrounded by a connective tissue sheath. Muscles respond to many kinds of stimuli, but in physiological conditions, striated muscles are excited by nerve impulses, but electrical stimulation also produces the contraction.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Muscles, especially skeletal muscles, are composed of a large number of functionally independent single fibers, each having a threshold independent of that of any other fibers. Thus an impulse applied to a whole nerve may be strong enough to excite only a few of the individual fibers, in which case a weak contraction would be evoked. A stronger impulse will cause excitation in a larger number of fibers, and the summed response will be greater. If the impulse is large enough, all the fibers will undergo contraction and a further increase in the strength of the impulse will produce no greater contraction.

## MAGN ITUDE:

The interval between the beginning of the electrical impulse and the attainment of maximum contraction marks the duration of the contraction process and is called the <u>contraction</u> <u>time</u>. The contraction times of various skeletal muscles vary considerably, and these differences serve as a basis for a classification of muscles into "slow" and "rapid" types. In the cat the following contraction times (in milliseconds) have been obtained:

> soleus, 100 ms medial head of gastrocnemius, 40 ms extensor digitorum longus, 40 ms internal rectus of the eye, 7.5 to 10 ms

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Muscle contraction can be provoked experimentally by chemical, thermal, and mechanical as well as electrical stimuli. Also, chemical and thermal stimuli are particularly important in the case of such related effects as amoeboid movements, ciliary MUSCLE CONTRACTION BY ELECTRICAL IMPULSE, Continued:

movements, and tropisms in unicellular organisms.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Artificial muscles based on protein-like chemical structures have been devised. More recently, a bladder device that expands laterally and contracts longitudinally upon inflation has been devised by Howard A. Baldwin of the Laboratory for the Study of Sensory Systems, Tucson, Arizona.

REFERENCES: 23, pp. 884-886, 905; 68, p. 793.

Physical Class	Physical Opera	Section 19	
Fluid Mechanics	Transformers	Actuators	Special
Mechanics	Energy	Internal	Effects

#### PERISTALSIS

# DESCRIPTION:

Peristalsis is the "wormlike" movement by which the alimentary canal in higher animals propels is contents. It consists of wave-like contractions which are produced by surrounding coats of smooth muscle lining the alimentary canal.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The process of peristalsis is produced by a contraction of the circular muscles of the walls of the alimentary canal. The movement of a food bolus, according to Bayliss and Starling, is described by stating that the "law of the intestine" is constriction on the oral side and relaxation on the anal side of any stimulated point. The contraction is usually more prominent than the relaxation. Peristalsis is well marked in the oesophagus and stomach. In the latter it occurs during digestion soon after a meal and begins again some hours later as "hunger" contractions.

#### MAGN I TUDE :

Peristalsis waves follow each other rhythmically every 15 to 20 sec; they take from 15 to 30 sec to travel down the stome ach, and continue as long as there is food in the stomach.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The vasoconstriction of blood vessels, usually arterioles, is a similar example in that they become narrow due to the constriction of the smooth muscles in their walls. Also see "Pumping Action of the Heart", and "The Flame Cell as a Pump".

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

A peristaltic tubing pump is one analog in which the tubing is pressed together and released in a manner serving to move material through it. The action is roughly comparable to that of an aspirator hulb in which the valving is replaced by pressing the tubing together and releasing it with a motor and drum.

A similar device could be based on a "muscular valving" technique developed by Howard A. Baldwin of the Laboratory for the Study of Sensory Systems, Tuscon, Arizona. This would itvolve the use of artificial sphincter muscles to produce wavelike contractions to mix the contents of the tubing and move them along the tubing. Baldwin's muscle device for linear contraction is noted under "Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulses".



Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 19
Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Sensors Internal Actuators	Special Effects
	Internal	

# VASOCONSTRICTION

# DESCRIPTION:

Vasoconstriction is the decrease in diameter of the blood vessels, usually arterioles, resulting from contraction of smooth muscles in their walls. These muscles are mainly controlled by the sympathetic nervous system. The capillaries apparently constrict by a change in shape of the endothelial cells. This process of vasoconstriction provides certain physiological adaptations in the case of tension, shock, or generally in cases where emergency to the organism is sensed.

# ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

An underfilled state of blood vessels as may result from hemorrhage or shock, or any condition which tends to cause a fall in blood pressure, will result in vasoconstriction to adjust the vascular capacity to reduce blood volume and thus maintain the blood pressure.

Studies on the correlation between frequency of stimulation of the vasomotor area and vasoconstrictor response showed that an increase in frequency of the stimuli from 0 to 6 impulses/sec resulted in an almost linear rise of the peripheral resistance and a vasoconstriction amounting to 80 to 85% of the maximal effect.

This vasoconstriction produced at frequencies in this range will disappear within 4.5 to 5.5 sec after cessation of the stimulation.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The process of peristalsis is somewhat similar to vasoconstriction in that there is a contraction of smooth muscle. See entry on "Peristalsis".

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Vasoconstriction can be viewed as one element in a feedback control system. See the Physical Analogs in General for the section "Equilibrium Sensing and Control" for a discussion of control systems.

**REFERENCES**: <u>1</u>, p. 241; <u>31</u>, pp. 1134-1135.

Physical Class	Physical Op	erator	Section 19
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Mechanics	Sensors Transformers Internal Matter Actuators		Special Effects

## WATER BALANCE IN AQUATIC INSECT METABOLISM

## DESCRIPTION:

The problem of water balance in aquatic insects is the same as in other aquatic animals, invertebrate or vertebrate. In fresh water there is danger of loss of salt to the hypotonic environment, or gain of water through the body surface or in feeding. In brackish water osmotic stress is reduced, but the insect usually has to cope with an environment with fluctuating salt content and with ion ratios differing from those in the body fluid. A sea-water environment is reasonably constant, but, since it is usually hypertonic, it tends to withdraw water from, or donate salts to, the blood.

## ILLUSTRATION:

The simplest type of regulation occurs in the larva of the alder fly, Stalis. Is which the osmotic pressure of the blood is approximately 1% sodium chloride and the normal plasma chloride varies between the concentrations in 0.15% and 0.34% sodium chloride solutions. In the Sialis, water balance is maintained by a combination of active excretion of water through the Malpighian tubes plus active absorption of electrolytes from the environment.

## MAGNITUDE:

In Sialis the primary defense against salt loss appears to be a permeability to outgoing chloride so low that six week's starvation in distilled water is required to lower the plasma chloride to the equivalent of a 0.06% sodium chloride solution.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Under normal circumstances, insects seem to regulate their water balance in much the same way as mammals, if not perhaps within quite so narrow limits. If there is a dissimilarity between the two groups, it is rather in the greater ability of insects to endure accidental or forced changes.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> 15, pp. 199-200.

Physical Class	Physical OperatorSensorsActuatorsInternalInternalTransformersMatter		Section 19
Cliemistry Fluid Mechanics Heat and Thermodynamics			Special Effects

# WATER BALANCE IN KANGAROO RATS

# DESCRIPTION:

The kangaroo rat (Dipodomys) is a rodent which can survive for long periods of time without drinking water. This animal thrives on seeds and other dry plant material, eats little or no green food, and can survive drinking sea water.

# ILLUSTRATION:

The bodies of kangaroo rats contain as much water as those of other animals (an average of 66%). Although they may have eaten only dry food for weeks or months, the water content remains the same, their water loss never exceeding their water gain. The animals have no sweat glands and do not need water for heat regulation since they are nocturnal animals that avoid the heat of the day and search for food only during the cool night. Evaporation from the lungs is inevitable, however, and is the greatest single source of water expenditure in the kangaroo rat. The feces on the other hand, have a very low water content and take only a small fraction of the available water.

# MAGNITUDE:

The kangaroo rat can excrete salt in a concentration twice that in sea water.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The camel's slow rate of water loss, combined with his unusual tolerance to dehydration of the body, maintains a water balance similar to that of the Kangaroo rat.

**REFERENCES:** 129, pp. 62-63.

# SECTION 20:

# SPECIAL PHENOMENA

# Page

ALARY MUSCLES OF INSECTS 330
AXIAL GRADIENT
BIOLOGICAL CLOCK, THE 333
BIOTYPE SPECIALIZATION
CELLULOSE DIGESTION IN MAMMALS
CHEYNE-STOKES RESPIRATION
CONSTANCY PHENOMENON
CONVERGENCE
FLAME CELL AS A PUMP, THE
GROUP BEHAVIOR OF FISH
INSTINCT IN INSECTS
INTEROCEPTORS
MODIFIED FUNCTIONS OF INSECT WINGS
NEUROGLIA CELLS
NUTRITIONAL REQUIREMENTS OF INSECTS
ORIGIN OF THE HEARTBEAT IN INSECTS
PHYSIOLOGICAL COMPENSATION
PROPRIOCEPTORS
PUMPING ACTION OF THE HEART 359
SYMBIOSIS
TIME JUDGMENT IN HUMANS

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 20
Electricity and Magnetism Materials Properties Mechanics	Sensors Internal Transformers Energy	Actuators Internal	Special Phenomena

# THE ALARY MUSCLES OF INSECTS

# DESCRIPTION:

Contraction of the alary muscles of some insects facilitates the diastolic phase of the heartbeat. The muscles are developed differently in various insect species and even in different stages of a single species. Observations do not indicate a uniform action of the alary muscles, but variously reveal their functioning as elastic elements or as muscles that actively contract in rhythm, maintain a steady contracted state, or do not contract at all.

# ILLUSTRATION:

In larvae of Chironomus the alary muscles definitely play an active roll in heart dilatation. In this insect, in which the heart action can be observed through the cuticle, the alary muscles are found to contract rhythmically and synchronously with each other, although their action is not quite in synchrony with the heartbeat. When the alary muscle contraction is in phase with diastole, the heart dilatation is exaggerated. After dilation a contraction of the heart muscle occurs as a reaction to the mechanical stimulation exercised by the tension. The early systolic refractory period is presumed to maintain the regularity of the heartbeat.

# MAGN ITUDE:

The number of alary muscles present in insects varies from one insect to another. There are 12 pairs of alary muscles in Periplaneta, 4 pairs in the hive bee, 3 pairs in Haematopinus, and 2 pairs in the larva of Chironomus.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The flight muscles of insects resemble these alary muscles in their reflex type of reaction to external stimuli.

**REFERENCES:** 6, pp. 247-249; <u>70</u>, pp. 151-153.

Physical Class Chemistry Physical Operator Transformers Matter Section 20 Special Phenomena

# AXIAL GRADIENT

DESCRIPTION:

Axial gradients are graded regional differences in living organisms, involving metabolism and conditions associated with or resulting from it. The gradients appear to be primarily quantitative and constitute the earliest known stages of organization characteristic of physiological axes. These axes are imaginary lines representing the gradient patterns and later organization. In general, the region of highest rate of activity in animal eggs, embryos and other reproductive bodies becomes the apical end or the head of the larvae, or later stages or both.

# ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

The Planaria illustrates the theory of axial gradients. The primary axis or axis of polarity is an imaginary line extending from the anterior to the posterior end of the body. In Planaria the head has a relatively high rate of metabolism and dominates the rest of the body. Experiments have shown that a gradient of metabolic activity proceeds from the anterior to the posterior end. For example, if planarians are cut into four pieces, the anterior piece will be found to use up more oxygen and give off more carbon dioxide than any of the others; the second piece comes next in its rate of metabolism; the third piece next; and the tail piece gives the lowest rate of all.

When a planarian is young, it is relatively short and its whole body, expecially the head, has a relatively high rate of metabolism. As it grows older, it becomes longer and its whole metabolic rate slows down. When young, the high metabolic rate of the head was able to exercise a dominance through the transmission of stimuli down the gradient over the entire length of the animal. With a slowing down of the metabolic rate of the apical end and an increase in the length of the path over which the impulse travels, there comes a time when the apical end can no longer maintain a physiological dominance over the entire axis. At the point where dominance fades out, an independent part of the body arises through what is known as physiological isolation. The isolated piece, the second zooid, has its own gradient, the metabolic rate of the anterior end being the high-This region now becomes a new apical end or, morphologicalest. ly speaking, the head of a new zooid. No structure indications of a new individual are visible, however, at this time. The only tests of the presence of a second or third individual are physiological tests. The isolated posterior zooid now forms a new head, with eyes, brain, and other parts. The new head then reorganizes the rest of the piece into a complete new individual.

AXIAL GRADIENT, Continued:

SIMILAR EXAMPLES: The axial gradient phenomenon is similar to the process of regeneration. See section on "Regrowth and Repair".

REFERENCES: 58, pp. 213-214.

Physical Class Chemistry Electricity Magnetism	Physical Operator Sensors Internal	Section 20 Special Phenomena

## THE BIOLOGICAL CLOCK

#### DESCRIPTION:

The term biological clock refers to the phenomenon of pacing of activity by an organism in a cyclic manner as related to the environment. The system may be influenced by external factors, primarily light and temperature, to which it may adapt. This clock mechanism is generally assumed to underly such things as the swarming of marine annelids; the migration, meeting, and sexual activity of many animals; and the flowering and vegetating of plants.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The orientation of birds under varying conditions gives an excellent illustration of the clock mechanism. Birds that were kept indoors were able to find the proper direction if tested under the artificial sun. No direct information was available so that the bird would be aware of the local time. It was therefore suggested that an internal clock which is synchronized with local time was the relevant cue. Further evidence was obtained when experimenters tried to shift the internal clock.

Birds that had been previously trained were exposed to an artificial light-dark situation, such that their day began and ended six hours later than the normal day. After several days, the birds were tested again. Results were as expected; that is, the birds went in a direction about 90° to the right from the original training route. It was therefore concluded that the internal clock is somewhat guided by the environmental factors. Further experiments with other species yielded similar results.

Various effects have been obtained when temperature rather than light is altered. If a nocturnal animal is placed in an environment which is dark yet constantly oscillating in temperature, it will reset its phase and follow a steady state rhythm with a 24-hour cycle dependent on temperature. The onset of activity in nocturnal cockroaches also will readjust so as to coincide with the highest range of temperatures.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Rhythmic periods may vary from 1/10 sec for the brain waves of the diving beetle to a year for the reproductive cycle in birds.

In the alga Hydrodicton reticulatum there is evidence that the rhythms of growth and oxygen metabolism are entrained by 12:12, 6:6, 10.5:7 hour cycles of light and darkness, and that the rhythms persist 3 days in darkness with periods of 24, 12, and 17.5 hours respectively. THE BIOLOGICAL CLOCK, Continued:

The rhythm of petal movement in the flower Kalanchoe blossefeldiana conforms to cycles of light and darkness for 24:24 hours to 6:6 hours, but not to 4:4 and 2:2 hour cycles.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Man displays a similar type mechanism in much of his behavior; however, in this case the environment may play a principal role in the synchronization of rhythms.

For example, evidence from arctic subjects who are periodically exposed to long durations of light or darkness without the normal sunrise or sunset, show that the normal rhythmic pattern of excretory habits disappears. Moreover, in the winter season, when the everyday activity follows a fairly regular schedule, the disorganization of these rhythms is even more extreme. Therefore, the activity patterns themselves do not cxplain the evidence. The resulting theory places the emphasis on the environmental conditions such that physiological rhythms are more normal when a period of daylight coincides with the normal hours of activity.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Many computing systems employ clocks or timing mechanisms; these timing mechanisms may run at a fixed rate or may be synchronized to some external times. The timing for ignition in gasoline engines is basically cyclic but varies in phase during acceleration according to the carburetor pressure.

<u>REFERENCES</u>: <u>17</u>, pp. 1-9; <u>66</u>, pp. 379-387; <u>79</u>, pp. 265-285; <u>80</u>, pp. 72-74; <u>94</u>, pp. 325-332; <u>126</u>, pp. 1-81; <u>127</u>, pp. 463-473.

Chemistry Transformers Electricity and Matter Magnetism Heat and Thermodynamics	Special Phenomena
---	----------------------

## BIOTYPE SPECIALIZATION

# DESCRIPTION:

A biotype is a population of individuals that are identical genetically. The test of genetic purity of a population of a pathogenic fungus is the consistency of its behavior. Most species of plant pathogenic fungi comprise many biotypes, and attempts are made to group the most closely related ones into races and then to group the most closely related races into varieties, which in turn are grouped into species. These spe-cialized biotypes are indictinguishable in structure, but show differences in physiological, biochemical, and pathogenic characteristics.

# ILLUSTRATION:

Biotype specialization is illustrated by results of investigation of Puccinia graminis, the fungus that causes stem rust of small grains and grasses.

Puccinia graminis is a species within which there are clearly recognizable varieties, races, and biotypes. There are at least six rather distinct varieties that differ in size of spores and in the kinds of plants they can attack: i. Triticum (wheat) whose host plants are wheat, barley,

and many wild grasses;

2. Secale (rye) whose host plants are rye, barley, and many wild grasses like those attacked by Triticum;

Avena (oats) whose host plants are oats and wild 3. grasses different from those attacked by Triticum;

4. Phleumpratense (timothy) whose host plants are timothy and certain wild grasses;

5. Agrostis (redtop) whose host plants are redtop and other species of Agrostis;

6. Poa (bluegrass) whose host plants are Kentucky bluegrass and related species.

Races are known within the varieties Triticum, Avena, and Secale. Although there sometimes are at least slight morphologic differences between races within a variety, the most important and most easily recognizable differences are in the degree of pathogenicity on certain varieties within the genera Triticum, Avena, and Secale respectively.

## MAGNITUDE:

More than 200 physiological species of Puccinia fungus have so far been demonstrated.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

In linguistics, each major ranguage is identified as

BIOTYPE SPECIALIZATION, Continued:

consisting of sublanguages, called glossas. Each glossa contains a number of dialects. These groupings of languages, glossas and dialects parallel the groupings of species, varieties and races.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Variations in populations arise from the natural selection process. For an analog of the process, see the entry, "Law of Natural Selection of Species".

**REFERENCES:** <u>136</u>, pp. 36-38.

<u>Physical Class</u> Chemistry	<u>Physical Operator</u> Transformers Matter	Section 20 Special Phenomena

## CELLULOSE DIGESTION IN MAMMALS

# DESCRIPTION:

Microbes (bacteria and Protozoa) which live in the digestive tract act upon certain materials, which cannot otherwise be hydrolized, to change them into a form suitable for digestion. This is actually a form of symbiotic digestion. This is the process used in the digestion of cellulose inasmuch as the hydrolizing enzyme, cellulase, is not produced by a vertebrate.

## ILLUSTRATION:

In the cow and other ruminants, the true stomach is preceded by a large sac called the rumen. Food enters the rumen and there undergoes heavy fermentation; the decomposition products are absorbed and utilized whereas the remaining food is regurgitated and processed again.

In the horse, the fermentation of cellulose takes place in an enormous pouch of the intestine, the caecum. However, it does not have the full advantage of microbial fermentation since the caecum is placed in the hind end of the digestive tract. The dead microbial bodies do not undergo complete digestion and fermentation of the plant fibers is less complete, for there is no remastication of unfermented cellulose as in the cow.

## MAGNITUDE :

The bacterial count necessary for cellulose digestion is approximately a billion per milliliter of caecum content.

The ruman itself may accommodate contents up to oneseventh the weight of the ruminant animal itself. The pH of the sheep ruman during digestion is between 5.5 and 6.8.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The South African honey guide, a relative of the woodpecker, exhibits another form of symbiot's digestion. It seems to prefer wood as well as honeycomb. Similarly, bacteria are responsible for the digestion of wood by the honey guides.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Commercial use of bacterial action is made in the treatment of sewage. This process could not be considered symbiotic, but it is an instance of useful application of bacteria.

Biological or bacterial fuel cells have been constructed which employ bacteria to provide electrical power.

<u>REFERENCES: 116, p. 117; 129, pp. 8-9.</u>

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 20
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Heat and Thermo- 	Sensors Internal Transformers Energy	Actuators Internal	Special Phenomena

# CHEYNE-STOKES RESPIRATION

# DESCRIPTION:

Periodic breathing results from an involuntary disturbance in the regular breathing rhythm. The most common type of this is the Cheyne-Stokes breathing pattern. Regular periods of respiration alternate with periods of temporary suspension. Breathing begins by shallow movements which gradually increase in amplitude; they then gradually decrease and finally cease. After a short interval, the cycle begins again.

Periodic variations in arterial blood pressure accompany this type of breathing. A loss of consciousness may also be experienced with this phenomenon. Cheyne-Stokes breathing is sometimes seen in infants during sleep. It is often involved in adaptation to high altitudes. In hibernating animals and aquatic mammals, it is a normal occurrence.

# ILLUSTRATION:

The most widely accepted explanation for Cheyne-Stokes breathing is as follows: Anoxia diminishes the excitability of the respiratory centers, leading to apnea. This increases anoxia sufficiently to stimulate the chemoreceptors in the carotid and aortic bodies thereby leading to a reflexive increase in the excitability of the center; carbon dioxide is accumulated during the period of apnea until the concentration is reached which is high enough to stimulate the respiratory center. Respiration begins again so that anoxia and carbon dioxide concentration lessens and apnea occurs.

The underlying mechanism involved here may be the respiratory center in the medulla. In newborn infants the medulla is not yet in control of the spinal centers; hence, this phenomenon occurs frequently in infants. Similarly, the fact that this is more frequently experienced during sleep or under drugs which depress the central nervous system gives further evidence for this theory.

## MAGNITUDE -

The periods during which there is a temporary ressation of breathing last for about 35 seconds.

The effects of Cheyne-Stokes respiration may alter the venous pressure. It may rise to 180 mm H<sub>2</sub>O during the phases of cessation of breathing, perhaps due to the low content of  $CO_2$  in the blood.

SIMILAR EXAMPLES: There are many types of periodic breathing. In Bist's

# CHEYNE-STOKES RESPIRATION, Continued:

breathing, for example, the periods of breathing terminate abruptly, rather than gradually decreasing as with the Cheyne-Stokes process. There is also much greater irregularity in the duration of each period. Bist's breathing may occur in cases of meningitis and has much more serious significance than the Cheyne-Stokes phenomenon.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

ことであるとうとうとうとないたいできょうないとうとうとうとうとうとうとうとうとう

The timing mechanism in respiration is undoubtedly produced by a biological clock which has a rate dependent upon CO<sub>g</sub> level in the blood and by other parameters. Hence, it should be possible to construct a timing device which simulates this dependence on other variables.

REFERENCES: 7, p. 174; 68, pp. 303-304.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 20
Optics and Light	Sensors Transformers Distance Informatic	Special Phenomena

# CONSTANCY PHENOMENON

DESCRIPTION:

Constancy is a phenomenon of perceptual recognition whereby the psychological factors of the stimulus situation outweigh the physical characteristics which are actually affecting the sense organ. The parameters of object size, color and shape can all be sensitive to the constancy characteristic.

## ILLUSTRATION:

In terms of size constancy, two categories are relevant: first, a known object will always be judged to be the same size although the retinal image may vary considerably, and secondly, the size of an unknown object will be judged on the basis of the size of the retinal image as well as by the perceived distance from the nodal point to the object.

In the latter case, it has been shown that size constancy is largely a function of the cues available to the subject. That is, if there are reliable cues available, the stimulus will be judged close to its actual physical size no matter what the intervening distance is. If black drapes or some other material is placed so as to eliminate almost all cues, the subject relies primarily on visual angle (retinal image) and this results in inaccurate information.

# MAGNITUDE:

The formula determining the perceived size of an object is:

#### a = A/D

that is, the retinal area a subtended by an object varies directly with the object area, A, and inversely with its distance D.

One experiment to test these hypotheses had the subject stand at the intersection of two long corridors arranged in an L-shape. The comparison disk was placed in one corridor 10 ft. away from the subject; in the other corridor was a similar disk arranged at various distances (10-120 ft), always large enough to subtend a visual angle of  $1^\circ$ . The task was to adjust the size of the comparison stimulus so it appeared equal in size to the standard one. In cases of binocular and monocular vision, there was good size constancy. When an artificial pupil was added, however, eliminating accessory depth cues, the settings were midway between the laws of size constancy and visual angle. If the spot was 50 ft away, according to size constancy, it would appear about 10 in, whereas according to visual angle results, it would appear about 1 in. With an artificial pupil, the subject approximated the size to be about 5 in, whereas with black drapes which naturally eliminated all cues, size was

## CONSTANCY PHENOMENON, Continued:

judged to be about 3 in.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Another instance where the psychological parameters of the stimulus dominate the physical characteristics is seen in the closure phenomenon. This is mainly a principle of Gestait psychology. It indicates the act of mentally completing a physically incomplete figure. This results in the perception of a "good Gestalt", a familiar form with definite meaning.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Pattern recognition devices have been described which have some of the properties of constancy, i.e., which are only partially sensitive to object size. These devices also exhibit a tendency to ignore defects in figure shapes and, hence, exhibit a tendency to closure.

REFERENCES: 110, p. 134; 149, pp. 480-487.

<u>Physical Class</u> Chemistry	<u>Physical Operator</u> Transformers Matter	<u>Section 20</u> Special Phenomena

# CONVERGENCE

# DESCRIPTION:

As animals of different ancestry have adapted similar modes of life, they have tended to become similar in some of their features. There are innumerable instances in the animal kingdom of animals that look alike externally and yet are fundamentally different. This approximation of dissimilar stocks is called convergence.

# ILLUSTRATION:

Moths and birds are obviously different groups of organisms. However, the hummingbird and the humming moth exhibit such similarity in habits and functional operation that they have been mistaken for each other very frequently when observed from a distance.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

Parallelism is a type of evolutionary phenomenon similar to convergence in many respects. It is demonstrated in those groups which are similar in adaptation and structure, and still undergo independent evolutionary changes in the same direction. For example, the coiled oyster, Gryphaea, differs from most other oysters not only in its overall coil-like appearance, but in some internal characteristics also. However, all the different species of oysters, including Gryphaea, exhibit the evolutionary parallelism which allows them to be classified as of one group.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

A common restraint condition can produce similarity of behavior in learning machines from initially dissimilar conditions.

Also, dissimilar learning machines can learn the same solutions to problems in similar environments.

<u>**REFERENCES**</u>: <u>135</u>, pp. 67-69.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 20
Fluid Mechanics	Actuators External	Special Phenomena

## THE FLAME CELL AS A PUMP

## DESCRIPTION:

The flame cell is a large hollow cell with flickering cilia, extending into the central cavity, that create a current which forces sterial in solution through the tubules. This type of cell forms the excretory system of the planaria and of members of the phylum Gastrotricha.



FIG. 27 THE FLAME CELL

### ILLUSTRATION:

The flame cell of the planaria acts as a liquid pump. The pumping action is controlled by three sets of muscles, a circular layer just beneath the ectoderm, external and internal layers of longitudinal muscle fibers, and a set of oblique fibers lying in the mesoderm.

Contraction and relaxation of these muscles at different times creates a current and forces material in solution through the tubules.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Other examples of biological pumps include (1) the heart as a variable pump and (2) peristalsis. The flame cell is the reverse of microorganisms that move through fluid using cilla or flagella. In the flame cell, water is moved through the cell by this mechanism. In the vertebrates ciliated cells are used to whip small particles along tubes, as in the windpipe and its small branches in the lungs; here, inhaled dust is whipped along by wave-like motion of cilia.

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

There could be some applications for the type of mechanism employed by the flame cell, such as a fuel pump or a water pump. Air blowers may possibly be another workable application for such THE FLAME CELL AS A PUMP, Continued:

devices. However, attempts to scale up the size of the flame cell will quite likely result in devices less efficient than existing pumps or blowers.

**REFERENCES:** <u>18</u>, p. 113; <u>57</u>, p. 153.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 20
Mechanics	Sensors Contact Transformers Information	Actuators External	Special Phenomena

#### GROUP BEHAVIOR OF FIS

# DESCRIPTION:

A school of fish is a group-type of social organization to which the fish are bound by rigorously stereotyped behavior and even by anatomical specialization.

Schooling fish do not merely live in close proximity to their kind, as many other fish do; they maintain, during most of their activity, a remarkably constant geometric orientation to their fellows, heading in the same direction, their bodies parallel and with virtually equal spacing from fish to fish. Swimming together, approaching, turning and fleeing together, all doing the same thing at the same time, creating an illusion of a single animal moving in a sinuous path through the water.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Constant observation under laboratory situations has shown that schooling is a gradual process. It develops initially from the interaction of two larvae or fry. The visual stimulation seems to be the determining factor. The original head-on approach gives way to the head-to-tail approach. During the original head-on situation, the visual pattern is changing, the head and eyes coming constantly closer. When approaching the tail, however, the fry simply sees a small silvery stripe undulating in front of bim.

T. C. Schneirla has hypothesized that in general mild stimuli are attracting whereas intense ones are repelling, even without any prior exposure to the situation. This seems to be the principle underlying the fry's behavior.

Moreover, the two attributes, visual attraction and schooling behavior, seem to arise simultaneously. In fact, fish which cannot see, cannot school. A fish blinded in one eye approaches and aligns himself with another fish only on the side of the intact eye.

The visual cue which seems most important is movement rather than color and/or species. The typical spacing between them being a function of the amount of visual attraction or repulsion.

#### MAGNITUDE:

About 2,000 species of marine fish school, as well as a major group consisting mainly of the freshwater fish, typrinidae, that contains at least 2,000 schooling species.

When newly hatched fry from 5 to 7 mm in length approach others within 5 mm, they dart away; at 8 to 9 mm, two fry school momentarily if one approaches the tail of the other; at 9 to 10,5 mm, the head-to-tail approach is primary and two fry will school GROUP BEHAVIOR OF FISH, Continued:

for 5 to 10 sec; at 11 to 12 mm, the fry will begin to school normally in groups ranging between 30 and 50 fish.

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The migration of birds is similar to schooling in several ways. It is a mass activity of a group; also it seems somewhat instinctive in that young birds which have never migrated before will leave after the older ones and yet follow the same route. The parallel situation occurs when fry reared in isolation inevitably form schools when placed together.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

The complete causal chain involved in instinctive activities includes optical sensors, a controller, and a built-in behavior pattern much like a fixed computer program. For further information on control systems, see the section "Equilibrium Sensing and Control".

**REFERENCES:** <u>33</u>, p. 302; <u>133</u>, pp. 128-138.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	<u>Section 20</u>
Chemistry	Transformers	Special
Electricity and	Information	Phenomena
Magnetism		

### INSTINCT IN INSECTS

## DESCRIPTION:

Instinct in insects is the unlearned response of the insect to a single or to several stimuli, and consists of coordinated reflexes which are complex chains of tropisms. Stimuli are received both from without and from within the insect.

Instincts in insects are executed without prevision or without experience or training, and are therefore not associated with reasoning. They are complex reflexes in response to numerous chemical or physical stimuli, proceeding in a regular sequence characterized by rhythm and repetition. Generally they are inflexible but submit feebly to modification.

### ILLUSTRATION:

The reactions of insects can seldom be attributed to a single reflex. It has been shown that the egg-laying instinct of Drosophila melanogaster is not the result of a single stimulus but follows a chain of responses incurred by stimuli such as odor, moisture, taste, and touch. Simple reflexes thus combine to form an instinctive act.

In general, the responses of insects are inflexible. All mud daubers of the same species inhabit the same type of location, provision their nests with the same kind of food, and employ the same type of architecture.

#### MAGNITUDE :

Instinctive action reaches high degrees of complexity in such insects as wasps, spiders, bees, and ants. Instinct is probably manifested to a greater degree of complexity in the insect than in any other life form.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Learning provides a survival mechanism in higher forms that progressively replaces instinct in the evolutionary sequence toward man. Some instincts must await maturation before thc, are manifest, and for this reason may sometimes be confused with learning in such animals as the cat or chimpanzee.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

In function, the action of a digital computer under the control of a coordinated set of instruction lists is quite similar to the action of an insect under instinctive control. The repetitive nature of instinctive action is similar to the action of a computer in a loop. Instinctive actions are subject to
INSTINCT IN INSECTS, Continued:

interruption as are some real-time computer programs.

REFERENCES: 36, pp. 219-221; 154.

Physical Class	Physical Op	Section 20	
Mechanics	Sensors	Transformers	Special
	Internal	Information	Phenomena

#### INTEROCEPTORS

# DESCRIPTION:

Interoceptors are sensory receptor organs within the animal body which receive stimuli originating in the body. They are located in inings of the digestive system and are stimulated by conditions in this system.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

Hunger and thirst are two distinct sensations associated with the digestive apparatus for which adequate sense organs have not yet been discovered.

<u>Hunger</u> may result either from nutritional "poverty" in the blood, or from the contractions of the stomach which occur (normally) rhythmically at a given time after meals or at a certain state of emptiness of the stomach. These contractions are believed to stimulate certain receptors in the muscular stomach wall. The conditions which make the stomach contract are largely unknown.

<u>Thirst</u> results from stimulation of receptors by dryness of the membranes of the pharynx caused by an increase in salt concentration in the blood. Also there are receptors within the hypothalamus which are sensitive to changes in the blood. The reaction of these receptors to a high salt concentration also causes the sensation of "thirst".

#### MAGNITUDE :

Muscular contractions produced by stimulating the interoceptors of the digestive system usually last from 2 to 5 minutes, but may be as long as 15 minutes. These receptors are more sensitive in young robust individuals than in older persons.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

Although appetite is not usually considered as a "sense", it has been described occasionally as "the memory of food enjoyment" brought about by internal changes connected with such external stimuli as the sight, odor, or taste of food.

1

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

The Reron and Artron devices, developed by Lee, have a goal to keep an internal storage battery charged. Dissipation of the stored electrical energy in this battery causes a drop in battery potential which, through the goal circuit, reduces the degree of conditioning of the Reron or Artron and increases the tendency to explore or experiment.

REFERENCES: 57. pp. 412-413. 81: 82: 83: 144. p. 753.

Physical Class	Physical Operator	Section 20
Heat and	Actuators	Special
Thermodynamics	External	Phenomena
Mechanics		
	· ·	1

#### MODIFIED FUNCTIONS OF INSECT WINGS

#### DESCR PTION:

Insect wings often serve for purposes other than their primary one of flight. They may serve for protection, for temperature regulators, and for auxiliary activity in the mating process.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

In many groups such as Blattaria, Hemiptera, and Coleoptera, the forewings are modified to a greater or lesser degree to act as protective coverings for the second pair of wings and the body. In these species, the forewings often retain an active part in flight; in other cases, however, as with many beetles, these are merely held passively out of the way, perhaps acting as gliding surfaces or stabilizers.

Further modification is apparent in the activity of the Bombus. This creature is stimulated to warm itself with vibrations of the wing muscle when transferred to a colder temperature. Both temperature and ventilation are controlled in this way by apis in the hive.

#### MAGNITUDE:

If the Bombus is transferred from a temperature of  $20^{\circ}$ C to  $5^{\circ}$ C, it will initiate the vibratory activity of its wing muscles.

Differences of  $1.8^{\circ}$ C in body temperature have been recorded in butterflies, depending on whether the insect is so oriented as to expose a maximal or a minimal area of the wings to the sun.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The male Drosophila uses its wings in a mating dance. By various vibrations, it may serve to attract its partner and ward off competitors. In Orthoptera, the wings are used to produce sounds which serve as mating signals. They are equipped with certain unique structural modifications for this purpose. Violent mating reactions are evoked when male Aedes are approached with a tuning fork vibrating at a frequency characteristic of the female flight rhythm.

<u>REFERENCES: 19, pp. 608-609.</u>

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 20
Chemistry Electricity and Magnetism Mechanics	Sensors Internal	Transformers Energy	Special Phenomena

## NEUROGLIA CELLS

## DESCRIPTION AND ILLUSTRATION:

Neuroglia cells are the supporting structure of nervous tissue which consists of a fine web of tissue made up of modified ectodermic elements. They are of three types: macroglia or astroglia, oligodendroglia, and microglia.

The macroglia, or astroglia, cells are moderately large cells with numerous processes which radiate out from the cell body. In most instances one or more processes have terminal expansions which attach to blood vessels or the pia mater. The marginal astrocytes together with the pia form the piaglia membrance which invests the brain and spinal cord and accompanies penetrating blood vessels as a cuff to considerable depths. The macroglia cells provide the repair mechanism and replace lost tissue by forming glial scars.

The oligodendroglia cells are somewhat smaller than the macroglia cells and have fewer processes. They are found either in close association with smaller blood vessels, or as satellite cells closely applied to large nerve cells, or in rows between bundles of fibers in the white matter. In the latter situation their processes clasp the nerve fibers. The oligodendroglia cells function in a metabolic role in the formation and preservation of the myelin sheaths of the nerve fibers in the central nervous systems.

The microglia cells are found diffusely through both the gray and white matter. Normally they are small cells, with two cr more finely branching feathery processes. They are the scavengers of the nervous system and become actively amoeboid and phagocytic in case of injury and death of the other elements.

The number of glia cells is not known. However, it is known that the neuroglia cells outnumber the reurons by at least two to one in the cortex.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Nerve cells or neurons are similar to neuroglia cells in that the latter may also provide some data processing and may interact with nerve cells.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Some studies of brain structure have been made by R. M. Stewart from the viewpoint of constructing inorganic electrochemical devices that simulate the neuroglial and neuronal lattices. Stewart has related this work to the theory and construction of his MABIAC, an electrochemical apparatus that contains a homogeneous metallic lattice immersed in acid, through which NEUROGLIA CELLS, Continued:

surface "waves of polarization" similar to nerve impulses propagate and interact. It is possible that the lattice could be fabricated from a large number of small spheres.

**<u>REFERENCES</u>**: <u>7</u>, p. 1115; <u>44</u>, pp. 933-935; <u>139</u>, pp. 509-514.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 20
Chemistry Fluid Mechanics Heat and Thermodynamics	Transformers Energy Matter	Actuators Internal	Special Phenomena

#### NUTRITIONAL REQUIREMENTS OF INSECTS

# DESCRIPTION AND ILLUSTRATION:

Many insects survive and grow on what appears to be an extremely restricted diet. For instance, some termites live in dry wood, wax moths feed on the wax and debris of bee combs, and clothes moths live on wool. In all cases that have been investigated critically, however, it is found that this apparent limitation of diet is not complete, in that the insects require a number of vitamins and sources of organic nitrogen in the form of essential amino acids.

In the case of termites these essential amino acids, vitamins, and organic nitrogen are supplied by microorganisms either in the food or in the bodies of these insects. The termite alimentary canal contains a large number of protozoa, which, in addition to decomposing cellulose, may also provide the essential metabolites that otherwise are absent from the insect's diet.

Cockroaches and various grain beetles have a high degree of independence from these vitamins necessary to the diet of nearly all animals. They have been shown to be dependent on the synthetic activities of yeasts or bacteria which live in the alimentary canal.

#### MAGNITUDE:

Many insects require a great quantity of one type of food. The larvae of the mealworm will not grow on a diet containing less than 40% carbohydrate, with the best growth obtained from a diet containing 72% carbohydrate.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The necessity of vitamin C to maintain the integrity of the blood capillaries and normal bone and tooth development is similar.

<u>REFERENCE:</u> <u>101</u>, p. 129; <u>103</u>, pp. 109-132.

ysical Class	Physical Operator	Section 20
ectricity and Magnetism	Transformers Energy	Special   Phenomena
chan i cs	Actuators Internal	
chanics	Actuators Internal	

# ORIGIN OF THE HEARTBEAT IN INSECTS

# DESCRIPTION:

Anatomical evidence suggests in some insects that the heartbeat is of myogenic origin, while other evidence points to a neurogenic origin. There is no current general agreement among investigators on these points.

# ILLUSTRATION:

The heart beats of the dragonfly Anox junius, and the silkworm Bombyx mori, are believed to be myogenic in origin since they continue to beat in the absence of ganglion cells. It is, however, difficult to demonstrate beyond doubt that all intrinsic ganglion cells are absent in a heart preparation, and consequently that the heart muscle alone initiates the contraction wave. The hearts of some insects are very well innervated. This innervation can, of course, be responsible for the control and regulation of the heartbeat even if unnecessary for initiating the contraction.

Evidence for a reurogenic heartbeat has been offered by the temperature characteristic. The temperature range in the Periplaneta americana nymph is approximately 15-30°C which is equivalent to 12,000 calories. This specific value is often a factor in studies on invertebrate nervous systems and on structures under nervous control. Insofar as the temperature characteristic of the heart approximates this value, the neurogenic origin is a possibility.

The pharmacologic evidence supporting either view is inconclusive. The total potency of the heart in rhythmic behavior strongly suggests a myogenic beat, and there seems to be no question that the heart is under nervous control. However, the origin of the insect heartbeat is still open to question.

# MAGNITUDE:

The speed of propagation of the heartbeat varies among insects and at different times within the same insect. It may be so slow that 3 waves of contractions are visible in the dorsal vessel as in the Corethra larvae, in which the contraction wave moves at not more than 1 mm/sec. On the other hand it may be so rapid that the entire vessel seems to contract simultaneously, as in the Lucanus cervus larvae where the rate of propagation ranges from 19.5 to 44.5 mm/sec with an average of 27.2 mm/sec.

During the larval development of the Sphinx ligustri the contraction rate shows a progressive decrease, from 73-108/min for the first two instars, 50-79 for the third, 33-56 for the fourth, and 28-55 for the fifth.

#### ORIGIN OF THE HEARTBEAT IN INSECTS, Continued:

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The insect electrocardiogram shows a complex wave, usually oscillatory, the significance of the components not being so clear as in the Limulus where the controlling cardiac ganglion can be treated separately from the cardiac musculature. In Limulus also, the electrogram of the pacemaker ganglion shows bursts of impulses corresponding to each heartbeat, thus indication a neurogenic origin. The point of initial activity may vary in location at any one time, the automatism of the heart segments being correlated with the number of associated ganglion cells. In the insect, however, the pacemaker may shift from one end of the heart to another without any noticeable correlation with cardiac innervation.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> <u>6</u>, pp. 240, 245, 270-272.

Physical Class	Physical Operator		Section 20
Mechanics	Sensors Internal Transformer Energy	Actuators Internal s	Special Phenomena

#### PHYSIOLOGICAL COMPENSATION

## LESCRIPTION:

Physiological compensation, often reflex in origin, is frequently employed during the function of a sensory or muscular system of one part of the body to restore the normal status function of another part of the body.

## ILLUSTRATION:

An illustration of physiological compensation is the maintenance of arterial blood pressure at relatively constant levels by afferent discharge of the pressoreceptors in the aortic arch and the carotid sinus. These receptors continuously monitor the arterial pressure and, through appropriate reflex connections, alter the tonic autonomic discharge controlling both the heart rate and the diameter of the arterioles.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

The thermostatic regulation of the mammalian body is similar. A constant heat level is maintained by autonomic reflex arcs which appropriately vary the diameter of the cutaneous blood vessels (through which heat is lost to the environment), the activity of the pilomotor muscles and sweat glands, and the secretion of the calorigenic product of the adrenal medulla, epinephrine.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

An analog of physiological compensation occurs in learning machines following the failure of one of the artificial nerves in the learning network. Following a failure, the other artificial nerves, under the action of goal circuits, modify their functioning until proper system action is restored.

REFERENCES: 122, p. 226.

<u>Physical Class</u>	Physical Operator	Section 20
Chemistry	Sensors	Special
Mechanics	Internal	Phenomena

#### PROPRIOCEPTORS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Proprioceptors (proprioreceptors) are those sensors that give man information about both his own body and his environment. These receptors are located in the deeper regions of the body and receive stimuli from the region of location.

This class of sense organs also includes the special receptor system which is located in the non-auditory labyrinth of the inner ear and which, through the generation of an elaborate set of postural reflexes, is responsible for the maintenance of general bodily equilibrium.

#### ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE:

Since the extensive work of the British physiologist, B. H. C. Matthews, the end organs responsible for initiating proprioceptive messages have been quite well understood. Four sets of receptors are involved, two in muscle proper, one in tendon, and one in the fascia associated with muscle. Matthews has designated them respectively: A<sub>1</sub>, A<sub>2</sub>, B, and C endings.

 $A_1$  fibers are found to be stimulated by passive stretch of the muscle. Active contraction brings about an abrupt cessation of  $A_1$  activity. A slight tension exerted on the muscle invariably brings the  $A_1$  endings back into play, and a strong, sudden stretch may excite a sufficiently high level of activity to produce sensory impulses from  $A_1$  at frequencies up to 500/ sec. About 50% of the fibers in muscle are of the  $A_1$  type.

 $A_2$  fibers are of larger diameter, hence more prompt to report. They provide much the same data as do the  $A_1$  type. They likewise normally respond to stretch by initiating impulses and cease firing upon active contraction of the muscle. However, the terminations of  $A_2$  do show heightened activity during a very strong contraction. This is because they are wound around so-called "intrafusal" fibers, modified red muscle cells, which also contract when the main body of the muscle contracts vigorously. Both  $A_2$  and  $A_1$  fibers will continue to fire with great regularity when the muscle is slightly stretched.

B receptors have higher thresholds than do  $A_1$  or  $A_2$ . They respond with some regularity to tension, however it is imposed. Thus they signal both stretch and active contraction.

The C receptors function to report mechanical deformations whether imposed from without ("deep pressure") or from within (muscle movement).

Proprioceptive sensitive measurements on discrimination of motion at joints have been done by Goldscheider. He made a lengthy systematic set of experiments. It was found that of nine joints tested, the shoulder was the most sensitive and the **PROPRIOCEPTORS**, Continued:

ankle was the least. Displacements of 0.22 to  $9.42^{\circ}$  (at a speed of  $0.3^{\circ}$ /sec) could be discerned at the shoulder. The wrist and knuckle of the index finger were nearly as sensitive (0.26-0.42° and 0.34-0.43°, respectively), while the ankle required relatively larger displacements (1.15 - 1.30°).

# SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

Other sensing organs, particularly the ones providing tactile and chemical sensations, are similar in many respects to proprioceptors. Examples of these are contact receptors (which respond to impressions from objects in contact with the body) and gustatory receptors (the receptors for the sense of taste). See also the entry "Pain Detection".

# SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Strain gages for detecting elongation of materials provide information analogous to the proprioceptors. Goniometers are angle measuring devices which provide signals analogous to proprioceptors in joints.

<u>**REFERENCES:**</u> 37, pp. 233-239; 68, pp. 901-902.

Physical Operator	Section 20
Actuators Internal	Special Phenomena
•	<u>Physical Operator</u> Actuators Internal

#### PUMPING ACTION OF THE HEART

#### DESCRIPTION:

The pumping portions of the heart are the two ventricles, right and left, separated by a muscular septum.

The right ventricle occupies a large part of the ventral or sternocostal surface of the heart. Its right boundary is the coronary sulcus, its left, the anterior longitudinal sulcus. The wall of the right ventricle is about one-third as thick as that of the left ventricle; it is thickest near the base of the heart and gradually becomes thinner toward the apex.

The left ventricle occupies a small part of the sternocostal and about half of the diaphragmatic surface of the heart, its tip forming the apex of the heart. The left ventricle is longer and more conical in shape and its walls are about three times as thick. The interior presents two openings, the atrioventricular guarded by the mitral valve, and the aortic guarded by the aortic valve.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

The means by which the heart cavities are able to pump the necessary volume of blood from the systemic veins to the arteries and to impart a pressure sufficient to cause a continuous flow of blood through the capillaries can be considered in terms of atrial, ventricular, and arterial pressures, and of variations in the volume and means of emptying the cardiac cavities.

Ventricular contraction initiates the pumping action of the heart. At the beginning of this contraction there is an instant closing of the mitral valve, as the ventricular pressure curve exceeds the left atrial pressure curve. The "C" wave in the atrial curve begins at this time and is due to the rising pressure in the ventricle which is transmitted through the closed arteriovenous valves which bulge into the atrium. This marks the onset of the left ventricular isometric contraction period which consists of a slow and then a rapid phase of pressure rise. The isometric contraction period in which the ventricle is a closed cavity ends at the moment at which the ventricular pressure exceeds the aortic pressure. The aortic valves are forced open as indicated by the onset of the pressure rise in the aorta, and blood is discharged from the ventricular cavity.

From the moment that the aortic values open until they close, ventricle and aorta are common cavities and, consequently, their pressure pulses have a similar contour. Ventricular volume now starts to decrease. The period of maximum ejection lasts until the peak of the aortic pressure pulse and is followed by a period of reduced ejection which is completed at the

# PUMPING ACTION OF THE HEART, Continued:

beginning of the incisura. This is the end of ejection of blood and of ventricular systole. The ventricular cavity still retains more than half its original diastolic volume. Duriny protodiastole the pressure within the ventricle continues to decline and this phase ends at the moment of aortic valve closure. Isometric relaxation then follows. At this time, the atrium and ventricle are relaxed and the left ventricular cavity is completely closed off from the atrium and aorta and only partially filled.

During the preceding ventricular contraction, the left atrial pressure undergoes a temporary abrupt decline as a result of an artefact imposed by cardiac movement; however, as blood pours into the cavity of the left atrium from the pulmonary veins, the atrial pressure rises continuously to the end of the isometric relaxation period.

#### MAGNI TUDE:

The quantity of blood ejected by each beat of the left ventricle in the average healthy man during rest is from 70 to 80 cc. An equal quantity is, of course, discharged at the same time by the right ventricle, making a total for the whole heart of from 140 to 160 cc. The contents of the left ventricle are ejected against a much higher mean arterial pressure than the contents of the right; the mean pressure in the pulmonary artery being about 1/6 of that in the aorta.

The heart of an adult of sedentary occupation pumps at least 5500 liters of blood through his body daily.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

See "Peristalsis" and "The Flame Cell As A Pump" for a discussion of other biological pumps.

#### SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS:

Artificial heart-lung devices used in heart surgery employ pumps quite different in principle from the heart. No portable artificial hearts have been devised at this time; however, at least two are being developed. It appears that it will be a difficult engineering feat to duplicate the pumping capability of the heart in a comparable sized package.

**REFERENCES**: <u>7</u>, pp. 242-244, 305; <u>44</u>, pp. 567-588.

Physical Class Chemistry <u>Physical Operator</u> Transformers Energy Matter

Special Phenomena

#### SYMBIOSIS

#### DESCRIPTION:

Symbiosis is the living together of two species that can not otherwise exist without each other.

Associations of different species of plants and animals are by no means always an expression of cooperative adaptations. All gradations occur from those which are mutually beneficial to the members of a species, to those in which one member secures all the advantage at the expense of the other.

The most intimate associations in which the organisms involved are mutually benefited, if not absolutely necessary for each other's existence, are termed symbiotic.

#### ILLUSTRATION:

An illustration of symbiosis is that of the termites and their intestinal flagellates. The termites feed on celluiose contained in wood, but are unable to digest it; the flagellates render the cellulose digestible. Without the flagellates the termites would starve to death in the midst of plenty, as has been proved by depriving termites of their flagellates. The flagellates live on the cellulose eaten by the termites and are unable to exist anywhere except in the termite's intestine.

Less intimate cases of symbiosis occur between crabs, sponges, and coelenterates. Crabs may place sponges on their shell with the result that the sponge is transported from place to place, which may be of advantage to it, and the crab is concealed from its enemies and prey and if detected is not attacked because of the disagreeable qualities of the sponge. Hermit crabs that live in snail shells often place hydroid coelenterates. or sea anemones on top of the shell; the nematocysts of the coelenterates drive away enemies and the coelenterates are carried about and probably obtain some of the food captured by the crab. Other examples of symbiosis occur among insects and vertebrates. Ants protect aphids and in return "milk" honeydew from them, which they use as food. Birds remove insects from the backs of buffaloes, rhinoceroses, etc., and warn their hosts of approaching danger.

#### SIMILAR EXAMPLES:

There is a wide range of similar symbiotic relations. Certain seeds, such as the seeds of leguminous plants, are unable to germinate without an association with a fungus.

From the standpoint of agriculture, there exists a symbiotic relationship between the nitrogen-fixing bacteria and plants.

Best Available Copy

SYMBIOSIS, Continued:

These bacteria form small nodules on the roots of higher plants and make atmospheric nitrogen available to the latter, gaining in return adequate nutrition from the plants. Within the human intestinal tract is the bacterium,

Within the human intestinal tract is the bacterium, Escherichia coli, which acts on food material, thereby aiding In its breakdown.

REFERENCES: 58, pp. 457, 702-703.

<u>Physical Class</u> Acoustics Optics and Light

#### Physical Operator Sensors Internal

Section 20 Special Phenomena

## TIME JUDGMENT IN HUMANS

## DESCRIPTION:

Sector and

Time judgment refers to the ability of a person to estimate time. Efficiency in the estimation of time may be judged by attempts to depress a button for a specified number of seconds. In one series of tests, five seconds were estimated accurately, while estimates of one and ten seconds were inaccurate. The efficiency of the subject's time orientation may be judged by success in attempting to depress the button at a specified time of day. Usually, estimations of a fixed period of hours become gradually shorter. In general, humans in isolation have a poor sense of time.

## ILLUSTRATION AND MAGNITUDE :

The following experiment was devised to test a person's ability to determine time intervals in hours, and shorter intervals in seconds. The subject was isolated in a dark room for a period of 48 hours. He was required to indicate 4 and 8 o'clock by pushing a button for one second, noon by depressing it for 5 seconds, and midnight by depressing it for 10 seconds. Generally, one second was overestimated, 5 seconds were estimated accurately, and 10 seconds were underestimated. Over a period of 48 hou the 4-hour estimations became progressively shorter. Most persons were unable to estimate time accurately and even became disoriented in relation to time. Some were not able to spend 48 hours in isolation.

## SIMILAR EXAMPLES :

A similar time disorientation and lack of ability to indicate time correctly occurs even when the isolated subject is supplied with light and a clock.

## SAMPLE PHYSICAL ANALOGS :

Although no satisfactory analog exists for the process of judgment, the data from time judgment experiments suggests a bio-logical clock (for long intervals) that requires external synchronization signals such as those provided by day and night.

<u>REFERENCES:</u> <u>43</u>, pp. 12-18; <u>106</u>, pp. 1-13; <u>112</u>, pp. 1-21.

## ACCELEROMETERS

Geotropism, p. 72 Tactile Sensitivity, Physical Fialcgs in General, p. 263

# ACCELEROMETER, ANGULAR

Semicircular Canals, p. 74 Statocysts of Crayfish, pp. 77, 78

#### ACCELEROMETERS, MUTUALLY ORTHOGONAL

Geotropism, p. 72

## ADALINE, WIDROW'S

Nerve Network, p. 206

## ADAPTIVE SANDWICH, LEE'S

Regrowth of Crustacea, p. 226

#### ADAPTIVE ARTIFICIAL NERVE CELLS

Learning, Physical Analogs in General, p. 85 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 194

# AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS, STEREO PAIRS

Binocular Vision, p. 116

#### AERIAL RECONNAISSANCE

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

#### AIDS FOR THE BLIND

Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234

## AIR BLOWERS

Flame Cell as a Pump, The, p. 343

# AIR FLOW SENSORS

Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 247

#### 364

AIRCRAFT

1

いたのであるとないので、 こうしていたい しょうしょう

4

Vision in Beetles, p. 158

#### AIRCRAFT, FLAPPING WING

Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 164

AIRCRAFT, JET PROPELLED

Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Jet Propulsion of the Squid, p. 176 Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 164

AIRCRAFT, LIGHTER-THAN-AIR Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 80

AIRCRAFT, VERTICAL-LIFT

Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173

<u>AMPLIFIER, LOGARITHMIC</u> Weber's Law, p. 218

ANALYSIS OF SUBSTANCES, SPECTROSCOPICALLY Taste Buds, p. 51

ANGLE MEASURING DEVICES

Proprioceptors, p. 358

ARM AND HAND, COMPUTER CONTROLLED Human Hand, The, p. 191

ARMS AND HANDS, MECHANICAL

Human Hand, The, p. 191

ARMS AND HANDS, REMOTE CONTROL Human Hand, The, p. 191

#### ARTIFICIAL ARMS AND LEGS

Human Hand, The, p. 191 Manipulation, Physical Analogs in General, p. 187

# ARTIFICIAL NERVE NETS OR CELLS

Learning, Physical Analogs in General, p. 85 Light Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 106 Nerve Network, p. 206 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 193, 194 Physiological Compensation, p. 356 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214

See also:

ADALINE, WIDROW'S ARTRON DEVICE, LEE'S HOMEOSTAT, ASHBY'S MABIAC, STEWART'S MEMISTOR, WIDROW'S NEURON-LIKE UNIT, BABCOCK'S NEUROTRON, LEE'S PERCEPTRON, ROSENBLATT'S RERON DEVICE, LEE'S PRIMUS THRESHOLD-LOGIC DEVICE, McCULLOCH-PITTS

#### ARTRON DEVICE, LEE'S

Interoceptors, p. 349 Nerve Network, p. 206 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 194 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214

## ASPIRATOR, BULB

Peristalsis, p. 324 Tube feet of Starfish, p. 184

## AUTOMATA, APPENDAGES FOR

Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189

AUTOMATA, GENERAL PURPOSE

Learning, Physical Analogs in General, p. 85

AUTOMATA, GROWING Regrowth and Repair, Physical Analogs in General, p. 221

AUTOMATA, INTELLIGENT

Learning, Physical Analogs in General, p. 85

BALLAST TANKS Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 80

BALLOONS

Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 80

BALLOON TYPE CLOTHING

Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304

BAND-LIMITED PHYSICAL DEVICES

Flicker Phenomenon, p. 135

BATTERIES, ELECTROLYTIC WET-CELL

Electric Current Production in Fish, p. 58

## BATTERIES, RAPID DISCHARGE AT LOW TEMPERATURES

Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, pp. 298, 299

BINDING POTENTIAL

Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 118

BIOLOGICAL CLOCKS, ARTIFICIAL

Photoperiodism, p. 147 Time Judgment in Humans, p. 363

BIOLOGICAL FUEL CELLS

See: CELLS, BIOLOGICAL FUEL

BLADDER DEVICE

Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 323

BOATS, JET PROPELLED Jet Propulsion of the Squid, p. 176

BUBBLE LEVEL See: Spirit Level

CABLE, STEEL, AUTOMOBILE CHOKE Human Hand, The, p. 191

CAMERA DIAPHRAGM Iris of the Eye, p. 137

CAMERA LENS Eye Lens, p. 131

CAMERA, TELEVISION Eyeball of Vertebrates, p. 129

CAMOUFLAGE

Contrast, p. 124

CAPAC ITORS

DuBois-Reymond Law, p. 199

CAPACITORS, ELECTRICAL POWER GENERATING

Photosynthesis, p. 23

CASTING OF MATERIALS

Amoeboid Movement, p. 165

CATHODE RAY TUBES, ELECTRONIC

Accommodation, p. 108 Aftersensations, p. 109

CELLS, BACTERIAL FUEL

Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Electrical Energy, Physical Analogs in General, p. 54

CELLS, BIOCHEMICAL FUEL

Electric Current Production in Fish, p. 58

CELLS, BIOLOGICAL FUEL

Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Electrical Energy, Biological Aspects of, p. 54 Photosynthesis, p. 23

CELLS, CHEMICAL FUEL

Electric Current Production in Fish, p. 58

CELLS, PHOTOELECTRIC

Color Blindness, p. 122 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148

CELLS, LEAD SULFIDE

Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 295

CELLS, SOLAR (SILICON, GERMANIUM, ETC.) Photosynthesis, p. 23

CERENKOV RADIATION

Light Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 97

CHEMICAL REACTIONS, TEMPERATURE-DEPENDENT

Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303

#### CHEMILUMINESCENCE

Bacterial Luminescence, p. 99 Cypridina Luminescenes, pp. 100, 101 Firefly Luminescence, p. 102 Light Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 97

CIRCUITS, AUTOMATIC FREQUENCY CONTROL

Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 112

CIRCUITS, CAPACITIVE AND INDUCTIVE

DuBols-Reymond Law, p. 199

CIRCUITS, DIFFERENTIATING

Sensory Adaptation, p. 212

CIRCUITS, ELECTRONIC

Direction Eyes, p. 127 Metabolic Rate in Poikilotherms, p. 292

CIRCUITS, ELECTRONIC BISTABLE Competitive Inhibition, p. 316

CIRCUITS, FILTER

Refractory Period, p. 211

CIRCUITS, FREQUENCY CONTROL

Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 112

CIRCUITS, GATE

Refractory Period, p. 211

CIRCUITS, INTEGRATING Refractory Period, p. 211

CIRCUITS, MULTIVIBRATOR Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204

CIRCUITS, PHOTOCELL

Vertebrate Retina, The, p. 155

CIRCUITS, PHOTOELECTRIC CONTROL Photonasty, p. 146

CIRCUITS, TEMPERATURE COMPENSATED Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 292

CIRCUITS, TRIGGERING

Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204

CIRCUITS, WAVE SHAPING

Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265

CIRCUITS, WITH PHASE LEAD Sensory Adaptation, p. 212

CLOSED-LOOP LIFE SYSTEMS Photosynthesis, p. 23

<u>CLOTHING, ARCTIC</u> Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304

COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

Human Hand, The, p. 191

COMPUTERS, ANALOG

9.9

Behavior, Physical Analogs in General, p. 10 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38

COMPUTER PROGRAMS, FIXED

Chemotropism, p. 36 Group Behavior of Fish, p. 346

## COMPUTERS, DIGITAL

Instinct in Insects, p. 347

## COMPUTER PROGRAMS, REAL-TIME

Instinct in Insects, p. 348

#### COMPUTING EQUIPMENT

Biological Clock, The, p. 334 Regrowth and Repair, Physical Analogs In General, p. 221

#### CONDUCTORS

Electrical Energy, Physical Analogs in General, p. 54

# CONSTANT VOLUME JOINTS

Escape Mechanisms of Shrimp, p. 168

#### CONTACT LENSES

Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141

#### CONTROL MECHANISM, SATELLITE ORIENTATION

Semicircular Canals, p. 74

#### CONTROL SYSTEMS

Direction Eyes, p. 127 Group Behavior of Fish, p. 346 Rheotaxis, p. 274 Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 284 Thigmotaxis, p. 278

#### CONVERTERS, DIGITAL TO ANALOG

Acetylchollne Triggering of Muscle Action, p. 197

#### COOLING SYSTEM, THERMOSTATICALLY CONTROLLED

Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 197 Thermal Sonsitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 234

#### CORRELATION DEVICES

Binecular Vision, p. 116

## CRYSTAL GROWTH

Biogenesis, Law of, p. 308

# CRYSTALS

Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 112

# CRYSTALS, PIEZOELECTRIC

Tactile Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 263 Vibration Receptors in the Spide:, p. 281.

CURB FEELERS, AUTOMOBILE Tactile Organs, p. 275

DATA HANDLING SYSTEMS, ELECTRONIC

Learning, Physical Analogs in General, p. 85

# DELAY IN A SYSTEM

Synaptic Latency and Dolay, pp. 215, 216

## DELAY LINES

Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204 Refractory Period, p. 211

#### DELAY OF LEADING EDGE OF IMPULSE

Synaptic Latency and Delay, pp. 215, 216

#### DEMODULATION EQUIPMENT

Tone Combination Effect, The. p. 261

#### DESALINIZATION

See: MACHINES, FILTERING AND PURIFYING

272

#### DETACHABLE PARTS OF DEVICES OR MACHINES

Autotonomy Phenomenon, p. 223

## DETECTION EQUIPMENT FOR SUBMERGED OBJECTS

Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 233

# DETECTORS, AQUEOUS

Taste Buds, p. 51

#### DETECTORS, CHEMICAL

Chemical Sensitivity, Physical Analogs In General, pp. 34, 35 Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 43 Taste Buds, p. 51

# DETECTORS, CRYSTAL

Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281

#### DETECTORS, GAS

Homing Migratics of Salmon, p. 43 Taste Buds, pp. 51, 52

#### DETECTORS, FAK

Taste Buds, p. 52

# DETECTORS, ODOR

Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 43 Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44

#### DETECTORS, SOUND

Sound Reception In Insects, p. 256

# DETECTORS, VIBRATION

Lateral Line Organs. p. 267 Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 244 Tactile Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 263 Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281

DEVICES, ANGULAR DISPLACEMENT Statocysts of Crayfish, pp. 77, 78

DEVICES, ANGULAR VELOCITY Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 78

DEVICES, VERTICAL-INDICATING Geotropism, p. 72

DEW LINE

1

Behavior, Physical Analogs in General, p. 10

DIES (FOR DRAWING OUT WIRE) Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30

DIODES, GERMANIUM Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 295

DIRIGIBLES

Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 80

DISTRIBUTOR, GASOLINE ENGINE, AUTOMOBILE Metachronal Rhythm, p. 179

DYES, COLOR FILM, IRREVERSIBLE Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 112 Eye Pigments, p. 133

DYES, REVERSIBLE (COLOR CHANGES FOLLOWING EXPOSURE)

Eye Pigments, p. 132

EAR, ARTIFICIAL

Cochlear Coll and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 247 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 251

EAR SIMULATOR

Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 251

ECHOES, MECHANICALLY PRODUCED

Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234

ECHO LOCATION DEVICES

Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234

EINSTEIN PHOTOELECTRIC EQUATION

Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 118

ELECTROCHEMICAL DEVICES, INORGANIC Neuroglia Cells, p. 351

ELECTROCHEMICAL LIGHT PRODUCTION

Light Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 97

ELECTROLUMINESCENCE

Light Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 96

ELECTRONIC "NOSE"

Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44

ENGINE WARM-UP, AIRPLANE

Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303 Thermal Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 283

EVOLUTIONARY SYSTEMS, ARTIFICIAL

See: POPULATION, EXPERIMENTAL

FEEDBACK CONTROL SYSTEMS

Vasoconstriction, p. 326

#### FEEDBACK LOOPS

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Physical Analogs in General, p. 66

# FEEDBACK MECHAN ISMS

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Physical Analogs in General, p. 66

FIBERS, ARTIFICIAL Silk Production, p. 29

# FILM, COLOR

Color Blindness, p. 121 Eye Pigments, p. 133

FILM, COLOR, IMPROPERLY EXPOSED Betzold-Brüche Effect, pp. 111, 112

# FILM, PHOTOGRAPHIC

Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 118 Hibernation, p. 285 Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287 Photonasty, p. 146 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148 Vertebrate Retina, The, p. 155

FILM SENSITIVITY

Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 118 Color Blindness, p. 121

FILTERS, CHEMICAL

Membrane Permeability, p. 320

FILTERS, ELECTRONIC

Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 112 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256 Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 244

FLIGHT-CONTROL SYSTEMS Types of Equilibrium, p. 82

FLIP-FLOP, BI-STABLE

Competitive Inhibition, p. 316

FLIPPERS, RUBBER

Fish Locomotion, p. 172

FLOW METERS

Lateral Line Organs, p. 267

FLUORESCENCE

Bacterial Luminescence, p. 99 Light Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 96

FOCUS ING

Accomodation, p. 108

"FREEZE"-LEARNING IN MACHINES See: LEARNING IN MACHINES, 'ONE SHOT'

FREQUENCY CONVERTER Insect Flight Muscles, p. 175

FREQUENCY DOUBLER

Insect Flight Muscles, p. 175

FRICTION, PRODUCTION OF LIGHT BY

Light Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 96

f-STOP, CAMERA

Iris of the Eye, p. 137

FUEL CELLS

See: CELLS, BACTERIAL FUEL CELLS, BIOCHEMICAL FUEL CELLS, BIOLOGICAL FUEL CELLS, CHEMICAL FUEL

## GAS, CHEMICAL REACTION

Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 310

GAS EXPANSION

Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 310 Metabolic Rate in Poikilotherms, p. 291

GAS, IRRITATING Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20

GAS, POISON

Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20

GAS TUBES

Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 56

GENERAL!ZED LEARNING

Instrumental Conditioning, p. 94 Learning, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 85, 86

## GENERATORS, ELECTRIC POWER

Electrical Energy, Physical Analogs in General, p. 54 Photosynthesis, p. 23

GEODETIC SURVEYING

Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234

# GEOLOGICAL MAPPING

Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234

## GERMANIUM CELLS

Photosynthesis, p. 23

## **GLIDERS**

Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 164

#### GOGGLES OR SAFETY GLASSES

Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141

## **GONIOMETERS**

Proprioceptors, p. 358

# GOVERNOR, MOTOR

Muscle Receptor Organ of Crustacea, The, p. 180

#### GROWING MATERIALS

Regrowth and Repair, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 220-221

# GUIDANCE SYSTEMS, DRONE AIRCRAFT, MISSILES AND TORPEDOES

Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208

## GYROSCOPIC INSTRUMENTS

Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 70

#### HAZE-PENETRATION

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

# HEART-LUNG DEVICES, ARTIFICIAL

Pumping Action of the Heart, p. 360

## HEAT-DETECTING MATERIAL

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

#### HEAT DETECTORS

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286

## HEATING SYSTEM, THERMOSTATICALLY CONTROLLED

Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 297 Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 284

HEAT TREATMENT OF METALS Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 295

.

# HELICOPTERS

Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173

"HILL-CLIMBING"METHODS

Chemotropism, pp. 36, 37

HOMEOSTAT, ASHBY'S

Nerve Network, p. 206 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 194

#### HYPODERMIC SYRINGE

Bee Sting, p. 19

IGNITION TIMING, GASOLINE ENGINE Biological Clock, The, p. 334

INCANDESCENCE

Bacterial Luminescence, p. 39 Light Production, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 96, 97

INDICATOR, GROUND SPEED

Vision in Beetles, p. 158

INDICATORS, PRESSURE

Meissner's Corpuscles, p. 268

INDUCTORS, EFFICIENCY OF TRANSFER THROUGH DuBois-Reymond Law, p. 199

INFRARED LIGHT, PRODUCTION OF

Light Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 97

INFRARED IMAGING

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

INFRARED SENSITIVE CHEMICAL MATERIALS

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

INFRARED SENSORS

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, pp.
286, 287

INSECTICIDES

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18

#### ION SEPARATION DEVICES

Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209

JETS, AIRPLANE

Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 164

JETS, LIQUID EXPULSION

Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30

#### KALEIDOSCOPE

構成の

Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 195

LATTICE, HOMOGENEOUS METALLIC

Neuroglia Cells, pp. 351, 352

LEARNING MACHINES AND DEVICES

Behavior, Physical Analogs in General, p. 10 Convergence, p. 342 Learning, Physical Analogs in General, p. 85 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 194, 195 Physiological Compensation, p. 356 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214

LEARNING IN MACHINES, "ONE-SHOT"

Imprinting in Animals, p. 92

## LENS, OPTICAL

Accommodation, p. 108 Eye Lens, p. 131

#### LENS, UNCORRECTED

Chromatic Aberration, p. 120

## LEVERS

Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 163

#### LIE DETECTOR

Psychogalvanic Response, p. 61

## LIFE SYSTEMS

See: CLOSED-LOOP LIFE SYSTEMS
LIGHTER-THAN-AIR CRAFT

See: AIRCRAFT, LIGHTER-THAN-AIR

## LIGHT-SENSITIVE DEVICES

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 153 A STATE OF A STATE AND A STATE AND A STATE

## LOGIC DEVICES AS COMPUTER COMPONENTS

Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214

## LOGIC GATES

Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 194 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214

#### LOUDSPEAKER

Sound Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 237

# LUBRICATING AND WASHING SYSTEMS

Lachrymal Glands, p. 22

## LUNAR EXPLORATION VEHICLES

Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 164 Annelid Locomotion, p. 167

MABIAC, STEWART'S

Nerve Network, p. 206 Neuroglia Cells, p. 351

# MACHINES, FILTERING AND PURIFYING

Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26

#### MACHINES, INTELLIGENT

Learning, Physical Analogs in General, p. 85

MANIPULATIVE DEVICES, PRODUCTION LINE

Manipulation, Physical Analogs in General, p. 187

MATERIAL-HANDLING DEVICES, PRODUCTION LINE

Manipulation, Physical Analogs in General, p. 187

MANUFACTURING PROCESSES

Regrowth and Repair, Physical Analogs in General, p. 220

#### MEAT TENDERIZERS

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18

MECHANICS OF NATURAL SELECTION

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, µ. 314

MEDICAL ELECTRONICS TECHNIQUES Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

MEMBRANES, SEMIPERMEABLE Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 27

MEMBRANES, ULTRAFILTRATION

Sodium Pump and Electrical Potential, The, p. 62

MEMISTOR, WIDROW'S

Nerve Network, p. 206

METAL EXPANSION

Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 291

## MICROPHONES

·\*.

١

Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 244 Tactlle Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 263

## MICROPHONES, CARBON

Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 244

## MICROPHONES, CRYSTAL

Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 244

#### MICROPHONES, MAGNETIC

Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 244

### MINING, MINERAL

Assassin Buy Digestive Venom, p. 18

#### MODULATION EQUIPMENT

Tone Combination Effect, The, p. 261

#### MOLDING OF MATERIALS

Amoeboid Movement, p. 165

#### MOTURS

Types of Equilibrium, p. 8!

#### MULTIVIBRATORS, BI-STABLE

Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 56

#### MULTIVIBRATORS, MOND-STABLE

Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 56

## MUSCLES, ARTIFICIAL

Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 323

## MUSCLES, ARTIFICIAL SPHINCTER Peristalsis, p. 324

## MUSCULAR VALVING TECHNIQUE

Peristalsis, p. 324

## MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS, STRING

Sound Production in Insects, p. 239

## MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS, WIND

Sound Production in Insects, p. 239

## NEEDLES, HYPODERMIC

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Bee Sting, p. 19

## NEURISTOR, CRANE'S

Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204

## NEUROMIMES

See: ARTIFICIAL NERVE NETS OR CELLS

## NEURUN-LIKE UNIT, BABCOCK'S

Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 194

## NEUROTRON, LEE'S

Instrumental Conditioning, pp. 93, 94 Nerve Network, p. 206 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 194 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214

NEURONS, PLASTIC

-

Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87

NOZZLES, GARDEN HOSE

Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30

OARS, SYNCHRONIZED

Metachronal Rhythm, p. 179

OPTICS, FIBER SYSTEMS

Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, p. 140

OSCILLATORS, AUDIO-FREQUENCY

Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 170 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 241

OSCILLATORS, CRYSTAL Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 112

OSCILLATORS, RADIO-FREQUENCY Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 170

<u>OSMOTIC MEMBRANE, INORGANIC</u> Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 27

OXIDE COATINGS ON METALS

Molting Process, The, p. 225

PAPER, FILTER

Membrane Permeability, p. 320

#### PARAMETERIZATION DEVICES

Light Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 106 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256 Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 243, 244

#### PASSIVATED METAL

See: LATTICE, HOMOGENEOUS METALLIC WIRE, IRON, IN ACID BATH

PATTERN RECOGNITION

Light Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 105

#### PATTERN RECOGNITION DEVICES AND MACHINES

Behavior, Physical Analogs in General, p. 10 Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 114 Constancy Phenomenon, p. 341 Optical Illusions, p. 145 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 153 Vision in Frogs, p. 161

PENDULUM, FOUCAULT

Muscle Receptor Organ of Crustacea, The, p. 181

## PERCEPTRON, ROSENBLATT'S

Nerve Network, p. 206 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 194 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214

PERISTALTIC TUBING PUMP

Peristalsis, p. 324

pH METERS

Taste Buds, p. 51

#### PHONOGRAPHIC PICK-UP ARM, ELECTROMAGNETIC

Tactile Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 263

PHOSPHORESCENCE

Bacterial Luminescence, p. 99

PHOTOCELLS

Color Blindness, p. 122 Direction Eyes, p. 126 Eyespots, p. 134

PHOTOCHEMICAL DEVICES

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 153

PHOTOCHEMICAL EFFECTS

Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 118

## PHOTOCONDUCTORS

Dark Adaptation, p. 125

## PHOTOCONDUCTIVE MATERIALS

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

## PHOTOELECIRIC EFFECT

Bursen-Roscoe Law, p. 118

#### PHOTOMETER

Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 114

FHOTORFS ISTINE DEVICES

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 153

#### PHOTOSENSITIVE DEVICES

Color Blindness, p. 122 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148

#### PHOTOTUBES

Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 114

#### PHOTOVOLTAIC DEVICES

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 153

#### PHOTOVOLTAIC MATERIALS

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

#### PISTON

Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185

#### PLANETARY EXPLORATION VEHICLES

Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 164

#### PLUME BOB

Geotropism, p. 72 Semicircular Canals, p. 74

## POISON ARROWHEAD OR SPEARPOINT

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25

#### POLYGRAPH

Psychogalvanic Response, p. 61

#### POPULATION, EXPERIMENTAL

Natural Selection of Speries, law of, p. 314

### PORCELAIN FILTERS

Membrane Permeability, p. 320

#### POTENTIOMETEKS

Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38

#### PPESERVATIVES, FOOD

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18

## PROBABILITY STATE VARIABLE DEVICES

Learning, Physical Analogs in General,p. 85 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 195 291

#### PROCESSORS, SIGNAL AND INFORMATION

Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38

#### PRODUCTION LINE

Manipulation, Physical Analogs in General, p. 187

#### PROPELLORS, AIRPLANE

Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 164

#### "PROPERTY" ABSTRACTION OR FILTERING DEVICES

Light Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 106 Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 243

## PROSTHESES

Manipulation, Physical Analogs in General, p. 187

## PROSTHETIC ARMS AND HANDS

Human Hand, The, p. 191

#### PUMPS

Flame Cell as a Pump, The, p. 343 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

## PURIFYING MACHINES (SEA WATER)

Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26

## Q-BALL

Air Current Sensors, p. 264

## RADAR

Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Sound Detection and Ranging, Physical Analogs in General, p. 231 CROSS REFERENCES BE PLASSEAL ANALUS

### RADAR PPI SCOPES

Aftersensations, p. 109

#### RADAR SIGNAL DETECTION

Chemotropism, p. 36

RANGE FINDER, BINOCULAR Binocular Viston, p. 116

## RATCHET

Annelid Locomotion, p. 167 Fish Locomotion, p. 172

## RECEIVERS, SUPERHETERODYNE

Tone Combination Effect, The, p. 261

## REFLECTIVE PAINT

Temperature Regulation in Polkilotherms. p. 299

## RELAYS, LATCHING AND TIME-DELAY

Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 56

### REMOTE HANDLING EQUIPMENT

Manipulation, Physical Analogs In General, pp. 187, 188 

## RERON DEVICE, LEE'S PRIMUS

Interoceptors, p. 349 Nerve Network, p. 206 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214

#### RESISTIVITY OF METALS

Metabolic Rate in Poikilotherms, p. 291

## RESONANT CAVITIES

Sound Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 237 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258

ROPE

Snake Locomotion, p. 182

SATELLITE ORIENTATION CONTROL Semicircular Canals, p. 74

SATELLITES, ARTIFICIAL Direction Eyes, p. 127

SCHULER-TUNED STABLE PLATFORM Geotropism, p. 72

SCREENGRIDS IN VACUUM TUBES Membrane Permeability, p. 320

## **SEISMOGRAPH**

Tactile Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 263

#### SELF-FORMING DEVICES

Regrowth and Repair, Physical Analogs in General, p. 221

SELF-HEALING DEVICES Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226

SELF-HEALING CAPACITORS

Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 227

## SELF-HEALING GAS TANKS OR TIRES

Regrowth by Crustacea, pp. 226, 227

## SELF-REPAIR

Regrowth and Repair, Physical Analogs In General, p. 220

## SELF-REPRODUCING SYNTHETIC CHEMICAL MOLECULES

Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, pp. 220, 221

#### SELF-STRUCTURING DEVICES

Regrowth and Repair, Physical Analogs in General, p. 221

#### SENSORS, OPTICAL

Group Behavior of Fish, p. 346

## SENSORS, PHYSICAL

Night Blindness, p. 142

## SENSORS, VIBRATION (ELECTROMECHANICAL)

Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p 281

### SERVO SYSTEMS

Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, p. 140

## SEWAGE, TREATMENT OF

Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337

## SHARK REPELLENT

Defensive Secretions of the Millipede, p. 21

# SIGNAL DETECTORS, DIRECTION

Chemotropism, p. 36

#### SIGNALLING

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

### SIGNAL COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

Nerve impulse Control by Acetylcholine, p. 202

#### SILICON CELLS

Photosynthesis, p. 23

## SNOOPERSCOPE

infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 287

#### SOLAR CELLS

See: CELLS, SOLAR

## SOLID STATE DEVICES

Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscie Cells, p. 56

#### SONAR

Lateral Line Organs, p. 267 Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 233 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Sound Detection and Ranging, Physical Analogs in General, p. 231

SPACE SUIT, JOINTS

Escape Mechanisms of Shrimp, p. 168

#### SPEAR POINTS

Assassin Bug Digestive Velom, p. 18

#### SPECTROMETERS

Taste Buds, p. 51

#### SPECTROSCOPE

Taste Buds, p. 51

#### SPEECH SYNTHES IS DEVICES

Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 241

#### SPHYGMOMANOMETER

Meissner's Corpuscies, p. 268

#### SPIRIT LEVEL

Geotropism, p. 72 Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 78

## SPOT WELDING DEVICES

Electric Current Production in Fish, p. 58

#### SPRAY GUNS, TEAR GAS

Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 32

#### SPRING MASS SYSTEMS

Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 112

#### STANDP IPE

Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 247 Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 244

## STRAIN GAGE

Proprioceptors, p. 358 Tactile Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 263

#### SURVEYING EQUIPMENT

Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234

## SYSTEMS, TEMPERATURE REGULATING

Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288

## TELEVISION CAMERA, OPTICAL SYSTEM

Eyeball of Vertebrates, p. 129

## TEMPERATURE CONTROL, DYNAMIC

Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288

#### TEMPERATURE-DEPENDENT PROCESSES

Hibernation, p. 285 Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 291

#### TEMPERATURE-DEPENDENT CHEMICAL REACTIONS

Thermal influence on insect Flight, p. 303

## TEMPERATURE-DEPENDENT EFFECTS

Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior.

p, 301

## TEMPERATURE OPERATING RANGES

Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 295

#### TEMPERATURE REGULATION BY COLORATION

Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 299

#### TEMPERATURE REGULATING DEVICES AND SYSTEMS

Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304 Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 284 Types of Equilibrium, p. 82

#### THERMAL RECEPTORS

Thermoreceptors, p. 305

#### THERMISTOR MATERIAL

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 28%

#### THERMISTORS

Metabolic Rate in Poikilotherms, pp. 291, 292 Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 284 Thermoreceptors, p. 305

#### THERMOCOUPLE

Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 284 Thermoreceptors, p. 305

#### THERMOGRAPHY

See: MEDICAL ELECTRONICS TECHNIQUES

### THERMOLUM IN ESCENCE

Bacterial Luminescence, p. 99 Light Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 96

#### THERMOMETER

Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 301 Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 284

#### THERMOSTAT

Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304

#### THRESHOLD-LOGIC DEVICE, MCCULLOCH-PITTS

Nerve Network, p. 206 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 194

## THRESHOLD DEVICES

Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 56 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214

## TIMING DEVICES, EXTERNALLY SYNCHRONIZED

Biological Clock, The, p. 334 Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, p. 339 Time Judgment in Humans, p. 363

#### TIMING MECHANISMS FOR COMPUTING SYSTEMS

Biological Clock, The, p. 334

#### TRANSDUCERS

Cochlear Coil and its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 247 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38 Light Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 106 Muller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 201 Pain Detection, p. 270 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256 Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 243, 244

## TRANSDUCERS, PRESSURE

Meissner's Corpuscles, p. 268

## TRANS IS TOR PROPERTY CHANGES

Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, pp. 291, 292

## TRANS ISTORS

Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

#### TRANSISTORS, GROWING

Regrowth and Repair, Physical Analogs In General, p. 220

#### TRANSMISSION LINE

Cochlear Coll and Its Role in Hearing In Mammals, The, p. 247

## TRANSPORT SYSTEMS, HYDRAULIC AND PNEUMATIC

Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189

#### ULTRAFILTRATION DEVICES, VIRUS

Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209

#### UNDERWATER BREATHING APPARATUS

Gill Slit, p. 41

VACUUM TUBES

Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

VEHICLE, AQUATIC

Fish Locomotion, p. 172

<u>VEHICLES, EXPLORATORY</u> Annelid Locomotion, p. 167 Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 164

VEHICLES, SELF-PROPELLED Annelid Locomotion, p. 167

VERTICAL-INDICATING DEVICE See: DEVICES, VERTICAL INDICATING

VIBRATION PICKUPS, ELECTROMAGNETIC

Tactile Sensitivity, Physical Analogs In General, p. 263 Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281

VIBRATING STRINGS, RODS, MEMBHANES, AND AIR COLUMNS

Sound Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 237

WATCH, TEMPERATURE COMPENSATED Metabolic Rate in Poikliotherms, p. 292

### WATER CIRCULATING SYSTEM

Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 297

WAVES, STANDING

Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Hammals, The, p. 247 Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 244

## WELL DIGGING

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18

WHE EL

Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, p. 164

WINDOW WASHING DEVICES, AUTOMOBILE Lachrymal Glands, p. 22

WIRE, IRON, IN ACID BATH Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204

#### ACOUSTICS

Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 111 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 245 Flicker Phenomenon, p. 135 Muiler's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 248 Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 232 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Sound Production in Insects, p. 238 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 254 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Time Judgment in Humans, p. 363 Tone Combination Effect, The, p. 260 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 240 Weber's Law, p. 217

#### AERODYNAMICS

Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 69 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169 Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Initiation of Flight in Insects, p. 319 Insect Flight Muscles, p. 174 Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 302

#### **CHEMISTRY**

Acetylcholine Triggering of Huscle Action, p. 196 Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 17 Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Axial Gradient, p. 331 Bacterial Luminescance, p. 98 Bee Sting, p. 19 Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 113 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Biological Clock, The, p. 333 Biotype Specialization, p. 335 Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 117 Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337

CHEMISTRY, Continued:

Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Chemotropism, p. 36 Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338 Color Blindness, p. 121 Competitive Inhibition, p. 316 Conditioned Reflex, p. 89 Convergence, p. 342 Cypridina Luminescence, p. 100 Dark Adaptation, p. 125 Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Eye Pigments, p. 132 Firefly Luminescence, p. 102 Gill Slit, p. 40 Hibernation, p. 285 Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42 Imprinting in Animals, p. 91 Influence of Harmones on Fighting, p. 11 Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Instrumental Conditioning, p. 93 Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288 Membrane Permeability, p. 320 Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311 Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 290 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Müller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nerve Impulse Control by Acetylcholine, p. 202 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 203 Nerve Network, p. 206 Neuroglia Cells, p. 351 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44 Olfactory Sensitivity in Crayfish, p. 46 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 293 Pain Detection, p. 269 Photoperiodism, p. 147 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148 Photosynthesis, p. 23 Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25 Potassium Action on 1 sect Nerve Activity. p. 209

#### CHEMISTRY, Continued:

Proprioceptors, p. 357 Psychogalvanic Response, p. 60 Refractory Period, p. 210 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Silk Production, p. 28 Sodium Pump and Electrical Potential, The, p. 62 Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30 Sponge Regeneration, p. 228 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 213 Symbiosis, p. 361 Synaptic Latency and Delay, p. 215 Taste Buds, p. 50 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300 Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327 Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328 Weber's Law, p. 217 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 31

#### ELECTRICITY AND MAGNETISM

Acetlycholine Triggering of Muscle Action, p. 196 Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330 Biological Clock, The. p. 333 Biotype Specialization, p. 335 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Conditioned Reflex, p. 89 Du Bois-Reymond law, p. 198 Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 55 Electric Current Production in F'sh, p. 57 Insect Flight Muscles, p. 174 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Instrumental Conditioning, p. 93 Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Muscle Receptor Organ of Crustacea, The p. 180 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nerve Impulse Control by Acetylcholine, p. 202 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 203

#### ELECTRICITY AND MAGNETISM, Continued:

Nerve Network, p. 206 Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208 Neuroglia Cells, p. 351 Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 354 Pain Detection, p. 269 Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209 Psychogalvanic Response, p. 60 Pumping Action of the Heart, p. 359 Refractory Period, p. 210 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Sodium Pump and Electrical Potential, The, p.62 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neuron, p. 213 Synaptic Latency and Delay, p. 215 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Tone Combination Effect, The, p. 260 Vision in Frogs, p. 159 Weber's Law, p. 217

#### FLUID MECHANICS

Amceboid Movement, p. 165 Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 17 Bee Sting, p. 19 Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 113 Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 117 Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338 Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 245 Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 109 Fish Lucomotion, p. 171 Flame Cell as a Pump, The, p. 343 Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Geotropism, p. 71 Gill Slit, p. 40 Insect Flight Muscles, p 174 Jet Propulsion of the Squid, p. 176 Lachrymal Glands, p. 22 Lateral Line Organs, p. 266

#### FLUID MECHANICS, Continued:

Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 Membrane Permeability, p. 320 Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Peristalsis, p. 324 Photonasty, p. 146 Pumping Action of the Heart, p. 359 Rheotaxis, p. 273 Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26 Semici-cular Canals, p. 73 Silk Production, p. 28 Snake Locomotion, p. 182 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 254 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30 Sponge Regeneration, p. 228 Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 79 Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81 Vasoconstriction, p. 326 Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 240 Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327 Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328

#### HEAT AND THERMODYNAMICS

Bacterial Luminescence, p. 98 Biotype Specialization, p. 335 Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects. p. 169 Hibernation, p. 285 Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286 Metabolic Rate in Poikilotherms, p. 290 Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Müller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 293 Pain Detection, p. 269 Photosynthesis, p. 23 Refractory Period, p. 210

407

#### HEAT AND THERMODYNAMICS, Continued:

Sound Production in Insects, p. 238 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 302 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304 Thermoreceptors, p. 305 Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328 Weber's Law, p. 217

#### MECHANICS

Accommodation, p. 107 Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330 Amoeboid Movement, p. 165 Annelid Locomotion, p. 166 Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 17 Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265 Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 69 Bee Sting, p. 19 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Contrast, p. 123 Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20 Direction Eyes, p. 126 Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 55 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Escape Mechanisms of Shrimp, p. 168 Eyeball of Vertebrates, p. 128 Eye Lens, p. 130 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169 Fish Locomotion, p. 171 Geotropism, p. 71 Group Behavior of Fish, p. 345 Human Hand, The, p. 190 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 Initiation of Flight in Insects, p. 319 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Interoceptors, p. 349 Jet Propulsion of the Squid, p. 176 Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 309

#### MECHANICS, Continued:

Lateral Line Organs, p. 266 Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 Meissner's Corpuscles, p. 268 Membrane Permeability, p. 320 Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178 Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Müller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Muscle Receptor Organ of Crustacea, The, p. 180 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208 Neuroglia Cells, p. 351 Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 248 Origin of the Heartbeat in insects, p. 354 Pain Detection, p. 269 Peristalsis, p. 324 Physiological Compensation, p. 356 Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25 Pressure Determination, p. 271 Proprioceptors, p. 357 Pumping Action of the Heart, p. 359 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Semicircular Canals, p. 73 Sens, with to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Silk Production, p. 28 Snike Locomotion, p. 182 Sound Production in Insects, p. 238 Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30 Sponge Regeneration, p. 228 Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 76 Tactile Organs, p. 275 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304 Thigmotaxis, p. 277 Touch Sensation, The, p. 279 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81 Vasoconstriction, p. 326 Vertebrate Retira, The, p. 154 Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281 Vision in Beetles, p. 156 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 240 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185 Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327 Weber's Law, p. 217

#### MATERIALS PROPERTIES

Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185

#### OPTICS AND LIGHT

Accommodation, p. 107 Aftersensations, p. 109 Bacterial Luminescence, p. 98 Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 111 Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 113 Binocular Vision, p. 115 Bunsen Roscoe Law, p. 117 Chromatic Aberration, p. 119 Color Blindness, p. 121 Constancy Phenomenon, p. 340 Contrast, p. 123 Cypridina Luminescence, p. 100 Dark Adaptation, p. 125 Direction Eyes, p. 126 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Eyeball of Vertebrates, p. 128 Eye Lens, p. 130 Eye Pigments, p. 132 Eyespots, p. 134 Firefly Luminescence, p. 102 Flicker Phonomenon, p. 135 Imprinting in Animals, p. 91 Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286 Irls of the Eye, p. 136 Müller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, p. 138 Nicitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141 Night Blindness, p. 142 Optical Illusions, p. 143 Photonasty, p. 146 Photoperiodism, p. 147 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148 Photosynthes's, p. 23 Phototropism in insects, p. 150 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Time Judgment in Humans, p. 363 Vertebrate RetIna, The p. 154

## OPTICS AND LIGHT, Continued:

Vision in Beetl**as**, p. 156 Vision in Frogs, p. 159 Weber's Law, p. 217

#### A. SENSORS

#### 1. CONTACT

Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265 Balance and Flight of insects, p. 69 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Chemotropism, p. 36 Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Environmental Change Sesponse, p. 318 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169 Group Behavior of Fish. p. 345 Human Hand, The, p. 190 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 Initiation of Flight in Insects, p. 319 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p.288 Mechanics of insect Flight, p. 177 Melssner's Corpuscles, p. 268 Müller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Muscle Receptor Organ of Crustacea, The, p. 180 Nervous Factors In Insect Flight, p. 208 Pain Detection, p. 269 Pressure Determination, p. 271 Rheotaxis, p. 273 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 79 Tactile Organs, p. 275 Taste Buds, p. 50 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Temperature Regulation in Polkilotherms, p. 298 Thermal influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304 Thermoreceptors, p. 305 Thigmotaxis, p. 277 Touch Sensation, The, p. 279 Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185 Weber's Law, p. 217 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 31

La Vinne La

#### 2. DISTANCE

Accommodation, p. 107 Aftersensations, p. 109 Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 111 Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 113 Binocular Vision, p. 115 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Chemotropism, p. 36 Chromatic Aberration, p. 119 Cochlear Coll and its Role in hearing in Hammals, The, p. 245 Constancy Phenomenon, p. 340 Contrast, p. 123 Dark Adaptation, p. 125 Direction Eyes, p. 126 Du Beis-Reymond Law, p. 198 Electric Current Production in Fish, p. 57 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Eyeball of Vertebrates, p. 128 Eye Lens, p. 130 Eye Pigments, p. 132 Evespots, p. 134 Flicker Phenomenon p. 135 Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42 Imprinting in Animals, p. 91 Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Irls of the Eye, p. 136 Lateral Line Organs, p. 266 Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 Müller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, p. 138 Night Blindness, p. 142 Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44 Olfactory Sensitivity in Crayfish, p. 46 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48 Optical Illusions, p. 143 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 248 Photonasty, p. 146 Photoperiodism, p. 147 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148 Phototropism in Insects, p. 150 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 232 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234

#### 2. DISTANCE, Continued:

Sound Production in Insects, p. 238 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 254 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304 Tone Combination Effect, The, p. 260 Vertebrate Retina, The, p. 154 Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281 Vision in Beetles, p. 155 Vision in Frogs, p. 159 Weber's Law, 217

### 3. INTERNAL

Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330 Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 69 Biological Clock, The, p. 333 Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 117 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p.169 Gentropism, p. 71 Hibernation, p. 285 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Interoceptors, p. 349 Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288 Metabolic Rate in Poikilotherms, p. 290 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Muller's Law of Specific Norve Energies, p. 200 Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208 Neuroglia Cells, p. 351 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 293 Pain Detection, p. 269 Physiological Compensation, p. 356 Proprioceptors, p. 357 Pumping Action of the Heart, p. 359 Refractory Period, p. 210 Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26 Semicircular Canals, p. 73 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Statesysts of Crayfish, p. 76

3. INTERNAL, Continued:

Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Temperature Regulation in Polkilotherms, p. 298 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300 Time Judgment in Humans, p. 363 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81 Vasoconstriction, p. 326 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185 Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327 Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328 Weber's Law, p. 217

#### B. TRANSFORMERS

1. EN ERGY

Acetylcholine Triggering of Muscle Action, p. 196 Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330 Amoebold Movement, p. 165 Annelld Locomotion, p. 166 Bacterial Luminescence, p. 98 Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338 Cypridina Luminescence, p. 100 Dark Adaptation, p. 125 Effect of Micotine on the insect's Heart, p. 38 Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells. p. 55 Electric Current Production in Fish, p. 57 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in insects, p. 169 Firefly Luminescence, p. 102 Fish Locomotion, p. 171 Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Hibernation, p. 285 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Insect Flight Muscles, p. 174 Instinct and insect Behavior, p. 14 Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 309 Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 lendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311 Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 290 Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Nerve impulse Control by Acetylcholine, p. 202 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 203 Nervous Factors In Insect Flight, p. 208 Neuroglia Cells, p. 351 Natritional Requirements of insects, p. 353 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 293 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 248 Origin of the Heartbeat in insects, p. 354 Peristalsis, p. 324 Photonasty, p. 146 Photoperiodism, p. 147 Photosensitive Froperties of Rhodopsin, p. 148 Photosynthesis, p. 23 Payslological Compensation, p. 356

#### 1. ENERGY, Continued:

Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209 Psychogalvanic Response, p. 60 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Sodium Pump and Electrical Potential, The, p. 62 Sponge Regeneration, p. 228 Symbiosis, p. 361 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 302 Tone Combination Effect, The, p. 260 Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184 Vocal Cords and Voice In Humans, p. 240 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185

#### 2. IN FORMATION

Acetylcholine Triggering of Muscle Action, p. 196 Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 115 Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 117 Chromatic Aberration, p. 119 Color Blindness, p. 121 Conditioned Reflex, p. 89 Constancy Phenomenon, p. 340 Dark Adaptation, p. 125 Du Bols-Reymond Law, p. 198 Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 55 Environmental Change Response, p. 318, Eye Pigments, p. 132 Filcker Phenomenon, p. 135 Group Behavior of Fish, p. 345 Imprinting in Animals, p. 31 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Initiation of Flight in Insects, p. 319 instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Instrumental Conditioning, p. 93 Interoceptors, p. 349 Lateral Line Organs, p. 256 Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288 Meissner's Corpuscies, p. 268 Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 31 Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 290 Müller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200

## 2. INFORMATION, Continued

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nerve Impulse Control by Acetylcholine, p. 202 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 203 Nerve Network, p. 206 Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208 Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44 Olfactory Sensitivity in Crayfish, p. 46 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48 Optical Illusions, p. 143 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 293 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 248 Pain Detection, p. 269 Photoperiodism, p. 147 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148 Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209 Pressure Determination, p. 271 Psychogalvanic Response, p. 60 Refractory Period, p. 210 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 232 Sound Detection and Ranging by Delphins, p. 234 Sound Production in Insects, p. 238 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 213 Symaptic Latency and Delay, p. 215 Tacile Organs, p. 275 Touch Sensation, The, p. 279 Vertebrate Retina, The, p. 154 Vision in Frogs, p. 159 Weber's Law, p. 217 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 31

## 3. MATTER

Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Axial Gradient, p. 331 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Biotype Specialization, p. 335 Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Competitive Inhibition, p. 316 Convergence, p. 342 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38 Gill Slit, p. 40 Hibernation, p. 285 Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 309

#### 3. MATTER, Continued:

Lachrymal Glands, p. 22 Membrane Permeability, p. 320 Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 293 Photosynthesis, p. 23 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26 Silk Production, p. 28 Sponge Regeneration, p. 228 Symbiosis, p. 361 Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327 Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328
### CROSS REFERENCES BY PHYSICAL OPERATOR

# C. ACTUATORS

### 1. EXTERNAL

Acetylcholine Triggering of Muscle Action, p. 196 Amoeboid Movement, p. 165 Annelid Locomotion, p. 166 Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 17 Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265 Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 69 Bee Sting, p. 19 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Chemotropism, p. 36 Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20 Du-Bois Reymond Law, p. 198 Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 55 Electric Current Production in Fish, p. 57 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Escape Mechanisms of Shrimp, p. 168 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169 Fish Locomotion, p. 171 Flame Cell as a Pump, The, p. 343 Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Geotropism, p. 71 Group Behavior of Fish, p. 345 Human Hand, The, p. 190 Initiation of Flight in Insects, p. 319 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Iris of the Eye, p. 136 Jet Propulsion of the Squid, p. 176 Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Muscle Receptor Organ of Crustacea, The, p. 180 Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208 Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141 Phototropism in Insects, p. 150 Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25 Silk Production, p. 28 Snake Locumption, p. 182 Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 232 Sound Production in Insects, p. 238 Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30 Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 79

420

1. EXTERNAL, Continued:

.

Synaptic Latency and Delay, p. 215 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304 Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 31

# CROSS REFERENCES BY PHYSICAL OPERATOR

#### C. ACTUATORS

#### 2. INTERNAL

Accommodation, p. 107 Acetylcholine Triggering of Muscle Action, p. 196 Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330 Bacterial Luminescence, p. 98 Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 117 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Chevne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338 Cypridina Luminescence, p. 100 Du Bois-Reymond Law, p. 198 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38 Electrical Response in Gerve and Muscle Cells, p. 55 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169 Firefly Luminescence, p. 102 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Lachrymal Glands, p. 22 Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288 Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Nerve Impulse Control by Acetylcholine, p. 202 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 054 Peristalsis, p. 324 Physiological Compensation, p. 356 Sodium Pump and Electrical Potential, The, p. 62 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 79 Synaptic Latency and Delay, p. 215 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304 Vasoconstriction, p. 326 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 240 Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327 Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328

# ACHAEARANEA

See: HOUSE SPIDERS

# ACROPORA

See: CORAL

# AEDES AEGYPTI

See: MOSQUITOES

# AFRICAN CATFISH

Electric Current Production in Fish, pp. 57, 58

# ALASKAN GROUND SQUIRRELS

Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 297

# ALASKAN HUSKIES

Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 297

# ALBINO RABBITS

Vertebrate Retina, The, p. 155

# ALDER FLIES

Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327

# ALLIGATORS

Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307

### AMEIURUS

See: CATFISH

# AMOEBAE

Amoeboid Movement, p. 165 Locomotion, Biological Aspects of, p. 163 Nerve Network, p. 206 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Sponge Regeneration, p. 228

### AMPHIBIANS

Accommodation, p. 107 Blogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Fish Locomotion, p. 172 GIII Slit, p. 40 Lateral Line Organs, p. 266 Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Light Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 105 Manipulation, Biological Aspects of, p. 187 Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, p. 138

#### AMPHIOXUS

Gill Slit, p. 40

#### ANIMALS IN GENERAL

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Axial Giadlent, p. 331 Bacterial Luminescence, p. 99 Behavior, Biological Aspects of, p. 9 Behavior, Physical Analogs in General, p. 10 Binocular Vision, p. 115 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Biological Clock, The, p. 333 Chemical Production, Biological Aspects of, p.16 Chemical Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 34 Chemotropism, p. 36 Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Competitive Inhibition, p. 316 Convergence, p. 342

#### ANIMALS IN GENERAL, Continued:

Direction Eyes, p. 126 Du Bois-Reymond Law, p. 198 Electrical Energy, Biological Aspects of, p. 54 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, pp. 65, 66 Escape Mechanisms of Shrimp, p. 168 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency In Insects, p. 169 Geotropism, p. 71 Hibernation, p. 285 Imprinting In Animals, p. 91 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, pp. 12, 13 Instrumental Conditioning, p. 93 Interoceptors, p. 349 Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 309 Learning, Biological Aspects of, p. 84 Learning, Physical Analogs in General, p. 85 Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Light Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 105 Light Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 105, 106 Locomotion, Biological Aspects of, p. 163 Locomotion, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 163, 164 Manipulation, Biological Aspects of p. 187 Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288 Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 290 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204 Nerve Network, p. 206 Nerve Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of p. 193 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, pp. 293, 294 Peristalsis, p. 324 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148 Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25

#### ANIMALS IN GENERAL, Continued:

Regrowth and Repair, Blological Aspects of, p. 220 Rheotaxis, p. 273 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Sound Detection and Ranging, Biological Aspects of, p. 230 Sound Detection and Ranging, Physical Analogs in General, p. 231 Sound Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 237 Sound Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 237 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256 Sound Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 243 Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 243, 244 Symbiosis, p. 361 Tactile Organs, p. 275 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, pp. 300, 301 Thermal Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 283 Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 283, 284 Thigmotaxis, p. 277 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81 Vision in Sectles, pp. 156, 158 Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328

#### Types of Animals

Aquatic, pp. 266, 294, 327 Arctic, pp. 285, 294 Carnivorous, p. 313 Cold-blooded (Pcikilothermic), pp. 204, 283, 284, 285, 290, 292, 294, 298, 303, 318 Crawling, p. 65 Flying, p. 273 Fur-covered, p. 296 Hairy, p. 304 Herbivorous, p. 313 Hibernating, pp. 285, 293, 338 Land, pp. 44, 163, 294 Luminous, p. 96

426

Types of Animals, Continued:

Marine, pp. 96, 152, 163 Nocturnal, pp. 275, 333 Ruminants, p. 337 Warm-blooded (Homeothermic), pp. 66, 204, 284, 294, 296, 298, 313

# ANNELIDS

See: EAR THWORMS

### ANODONTA, FRESH WATER

Sea: MUSSELS

## ANOMURA

See: CRUSTACEA

# ANOX JUNIUS

See: DRAGONFLIES

# ANTS

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Symbiosis, p. 361 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 32

# APES

Human Hand, The, p. 191 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 241

#### APHELORIA CORRUGATA

See: MILLEPEDES

# APHIDS

Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 Symbiosis, p. 361

# APIS

See: BEES

# AQUATIC ANIMALS

Lateral Line Organs, p. 266 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Water Bolance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327

# AQUATIC CHORDATES

GIII SIIt, p. 40

# AQUATIC CRUSTACEA

GI11 S11t, p. 40

# AQUATIC INSECTS

Gill slit, p. 40 Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327

# AQUATIC MANNALS

Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338

# AQUATIC POIKILOTHERMS

Temperature Engulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298

# ARACHNIDS

Chemical Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 16

### ARCTIC ANIMALS

Hibernation, p. 285 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294

### ARCTIC FOX

Hibernation, p. 285

#### **AR THROPODS**

Direction Eyes, p. 126 Vibration Receptors In the Spider, p. 281

### ASIAN SWIFT

Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 232

# ASIATIC CHRYSOPELEA

Snake Locomotion, p. 182

### ASSASSIN BUGS

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, pp. 17, 18

# AUKS

Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141

#### BABOONS

Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265

# BATH SPONGES

See: SPONGES

# BATS

Sound Detection and Ranging, Biologica' Aspects of, p. 230

BATS, Continued:

Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, pp. 232, 233 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 255

### BEACH CRABS

GI11 Slit, p. 40

# BEARS

Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Hibernation, p. 285 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304

### BEDBUGS

Thigmotaxis, p. 277

# BEES

Aiary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330
Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18
Bee Sting, p. 19
Chemical Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 16
Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency In Insects, p. 169
Flicker Phenomenon, p. 135
Instinct in Insects, p. 347
Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350
Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, pp. 48, 49
Phototropism in Insects, p. 150
Polsonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25
Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303

#### BEETLES

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 Geotropism, p. 71

### BEETLES, Continued:

Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 255 Vision in Beetles, pp. 156, 157, 158

### Species and Types of Beetles

Carbuncle, p. 102 Carrion, p. 298 Chlorophanus viridis, p. 156 Click, p. 65 Diving, p. 333 Dung, p. 12 Firefly, p. 102 Grain, p. 353 Scavenger, p. 12 Snout, p. 298 Staphlinid, p. 71

### BIRDS IN GENERAL

Accommodation, p. 107 Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 70 dlogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Biological Clock, The, p. 333 Convergence, p. 342 Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Group Behavior in Fish, p. 346 Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42 Imprinting in AnImals, p. 91 Initiation of Flight in Insects, p. 319 Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 309 Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Locomotion, Biological Aspects of, p. 163 Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 290 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Nicitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151

### **BIRDS IN GENERAL**, Continued:

• 1

Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 232 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Symbiosis, p. 361 Taste Buds, p. 50 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304 Touch Sensation, The, p. 279

#### Species and Types of Birds

Asian Swifts, p. 232 Auks. p. 141 Cranes, p. 82 Crossbills, p. 252 Ducks, pp. 42, 91, 141, 264 Gulls, pp. 26, 264 Hawks, pp. 151, 198 Honey Guides, p. 337 Hummingbirds, pp. 173, 175, 309, 342 Kestrels, p. 175 Land, p. 309 Loons, p. 141 Mallards, p. 91 Marine, p. 26 Migrating, p. 264 Night, p. 252 Nighthawks, p. 81 Owls, p. 252 Parrots, pp. 241, 252 Penguins, p. 294 Pheasants, p. 252 Pigeons, pp. 42, 93, 252 Songbirds, p. 252 Venezueian Oilbird, p. 232 Woodpeckers, p. 337

### BLACK FLIES

Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177

### **BLATTARIA** (Cockroaches)

Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256

# BLOWFLIES

Flicker Phenomenon, p. 135

# BOA SNAKES

Snake Locomotion, p. 182

# BOMBYX MORI

See: SILK MOTHS

# BOMBUS (Bumblebees)

Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 302

# BONY FISH

Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 251 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258

# BOTTLE-NOSED DOLPHINS

Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234

# BRACHIOPODS

ž

Geotropism, p. 71

#### BRACHYURA

See: CRUSTACEA

# BRITTLE STARS

Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184

# BROWN BATS, SMALL

See: BATS

# BUFFALOES

Symbiosis, p. 361

# BUTTERFLIES

Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169 Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48

### CALLIPALEX AMETHEPTINA

Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173

### CALLIPHORA

See: BLOWFLIES

# CAMELS

Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 309 Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328

# CARAUSIUS

See: STICK INSECTS

# CARBUNCLE BEETLES

Firefly Luminescence, p. 102

#### CARCINUS MAENUS

See: CRABS

### CARNIVOROUS ANIMALS

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

CARP

Taste Buds, p. 51

### CARRION BEETLES

Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298

#### CATERPILLARS

Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25 Scund Reception in Insects, p. 255

### CATFISH

Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Tactile Organs, p. 275 Taste Buds, p. 51

# CATS

Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Iris of the Eye, p. 137 Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288 Muller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 251 Pain Detection, p. 269 Synaptic Latency and Celay, p. 215 Tactile Organs, p. 275 Taste Buds, p. 51 Touch Senjation, The, p. 279 Vision in Frogs, p. 161

# CATTLE

Cellulose Digestion in Ammals, p. 337 Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311 Phototropism in Insects, p. 150 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 297

# CEPHALASPIS

See: PREHISTORIC FISH

# CEPHALOPODS

Direction Eyes, p. 126 Jet Propulsion of the Squid, p. 176

# CERASTES

See: SAND VIPERS, EGYPTIAN

### CHAMELEONS

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151

# CHEE TAH

Locomotion, Biological Aspects of, p. 163

### CHICKENS

Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151

# CHIMPANZEES

Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265 Chain of Conditioned Reflexes, p. 87 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Instinct in Insects, p. 347

#### CHIRONOMUS

Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330

### CHLOROPHANUS VIRIDIS

Vision in Beetles, p. 156

#### CHORDATES

Bacterial Luminescence, p. 99 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Gill Slit, p. 40

### CICADAS

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Sound Production in Insects, p. 238

#### CIRROMORPHA

See: OC TOPUSES

# CLAMS

Acetylcholine Triggering of Muscle Action, p. 196

# CLICK BEETLES

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65

# CLOTHES MOTHS

Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353

### COCKROACHES

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Biological Clock, The, p. 333 Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 255 Temperature Regulation in Polkilotherms, p. 298 Thigmotaxis, p. 277 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185

# COELENTERATES

Bee Sting, p. 19 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Nerve Network, p. 206 Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220 Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 77 Symbiosis, p. 361 Tactile Organs, p. 275

COILED OYSTER

Convergence p. 342

# COLD-BLOODED ANIMALS

Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Hibernation, p. 285 Metabolic Rate in Poikilotherms, pp. 290, 292 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303 Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 283, 284

# **COLEOP TERA**

Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226

#### COLLOCALIA

See: ASIAN SWIFT

# COLONIAL INSECTS

Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298

# COMPUS NIVEUS

See: SNOUT BEETLES

# CORAL

Nerve Network, p. 206

# CORE THRA

Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 354

 $\leq$ 

# COWS

See: CATTLE

# CRABS

Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Geotropism, p. 71 Gill Slit, p. 40 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204 Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 355 Sound Production in Insects, p. 239 Symbiosis, p. 361

# Types of Crabs

Beach, p. 40 Fiddler, p. 291 Hermit, p. 361 High-Intertidal, p. 40 Intertidal, p. 40 Land, p. 40 Limulus, p. 355 Low-Tide, p. 40 Marine, p. 239

# CRANES

Types of Equilibrium, p. 82

# CRAWLING ANIMALS

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65

### CRAYFISH

Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 70
Biogenesis, Law of, p. 308
Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65
Molting Process, The, p. 224
Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, pp. 138, 139
Muscle Receptor Organ of Crustacea, The, p. 180
Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44
Olfactory Sensitivity in Crayfish, pp. 46, 47
Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209
Semicircular Canals, p. 74
Statocysts of Crayfish, pp. 76, 77
Vision in Beetles, p. 158

# CRICKETS

Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 291 Sound Production in Insects, pp. 238, 239 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 255 Thermal influence on Animal Behavior, pp. 300, 301

#### CRINOIDS

Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184

#### CROCODILES

Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Taste Buds, p. 50

. ..... -

### CROSSBILLS

Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252

### CROTALUS

See: SIDEWINDERS, NORTH AMERICAN

### CRUSTACEA

Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Biogenesis, Law of, pp. 307, 308 Cypridina Luminescence, p. 100 Eye Pigments, p. 132 Gill Slit, p. 40 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, p. 138 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Rheotaxis, p. 273 Sound Production in Insects, p. 239 Stimulus Summation and Invertebrates, p. 239

# CTENUCHA

See: MOTHS

# CYPRIDINA HILGENDORFII

Cypridina Luminescence, p. 100

### CYPRINIDAE

See: FRESH WATER FISH

### CYRTOPHYLLUS PERSPICALIS

See: KATYDIDS

#### DAPHNIAS

Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169

# DECAPODS

See: CRUSTACEA

# DECTICUS

Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256

# DEER

Locomotion. Biological Aspects, p. 163 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

# DEERMOUSE

Cochiear Coil and its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246

### DIGGER WASPS

Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14

# DINOSAURS

Human Hand, The, p. 191

### DIFODOMYS

See: \GAROO RATS

# DIPTERA

See: FLIES

### DISSOSTEIRA CAROLINA

See: GRASSHOPPERS

# DIVING BEETLES

Biological Clock, The, p. 333

# DIVING DUCKS

Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141

# DOGFISH

Fish Locomotion, p. 171 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204

# DOGS

Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Conditioned Reflex, p. 89 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, pp. 250,251 Sound Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 243 Taste Buds, p. 51 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 297

# DOLICHOGLOSSUS

See: PROTOCHORDATES

# DOLPHINS

Locomotion, Biological Aspects of, p. 163 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234

# DORMOUSE

Cochlear Coll and Lts Role in Hearing In Mammals, The, p. 246

# DRAGONFLIES

Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 354

### DROSOPHILA

See: FRUIT FLIES

# DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER

See: FRUIT FLIES

# DUCKBILLED PLATYPUS

Cochlear Coll and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246

### DUCKS

Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42 Imprinting in Animals, p. 91 Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141

# DUNG BEETLES

Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12

# EARTHWORMS

Annelid Locomotion, pp. 166, 167 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204 Nerve Network, p. 206 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Snake Locomotion, p. 182

### EARWIGS

Thigmotaxis, p. 277

ECHINODERMS

Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Light Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 105 Nerve Network, p. 206 Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184

ECHINOIDS (Sea Urchins)

Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307

# ELASMOBRANCH FISH

Lateral Line Organs, p. 267

## ELECTRIC EELS

Electric Current Production in Fish, pp. 57, 58 Synaptic Latency and Delay, p. 215

### ELECTRIC FISH

Electric Current Production in Fish, pp. 57, 58 Electrical Energy, Biological Aspects of, p. 54 Lateral Line Organs, p. 267

# Species and Types of Electric Fish

African Catfish, pp. 57, 58 Electric Eels, pp. 57, 58, 215 Electric Rays, pp. 57, 58, 267 Gymnotidae, p. 58 Momicidae, p. 58

# ELECTRIC RAYS

Electric Current Production in Fish, pp. 57, 58 Lateral Line Organs, p. 267

# ELEC TROPHORUS

See: ELECTRIC EELS

# ELEPHANTS

Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189

### EPERIA GEMMA

See: GARDEN SPIDERS

### E PHEMEROP TERA

un jerk

GL1 SIIt, p. 40 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226

# EPTESICUS

See: BATS

# EUGLENA

Equilibrium Sensing and Sontrol, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 Eyespots, p. 134

### EUPLATES

Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178

### EUTHERIAN MAMMALS

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

# FIDDLER CRABS

Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 291

### FIREFLIES

Cypridina Luminescence, p. 100 Firefly Luminescence, p. 102 Phototropism in Insects, p. 150

# FISH IN GENERAL

Accommodation, p. 107 Annelid Locomotion, p. 167 Bacterial Luminescence, p. 98 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Electric Current Production in Fish, pp. 57, 58 Electrical Energy, Biological Aspects of, p. 54 Eye Pigments, p. 132

# FISH IN GENERAL, Continued:

Fish Locomotion, pp. 171, 172 Gill Slit, p. 40 Group Behavior of Fish, pp. 345, 346 Homing Migration of Salmon, pp. 42, 43 Imprinting in Animals, p. 91 Lateral Line Organs, p. 266 Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Light Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 105 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204 Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 251 Rheotaxis, p. 273 Sound Detection and Ranging, Biological Aspects of, p. 230 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Sound Sensitivity In Fish, p. 258 Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 79 Taste Buds, p. 51 Thiqmotaxis, p. 277

### Species and Types of Fish

Bony, pp. 251, 258 Carp, p. 51 Catfish, pp. 51, 258, 275 Dogfish, pp. 171, 204 Elasmobranch, p. 267 Flounders, p. 81 Fresh Water, pp. 79, 345 Goldfish, p. 161 Mackcrei, p. 171 Marine, pp. 79, 345 Minnows, p. 273 Perch, p. 171 Physoclist, p. 79 Prehistoric, p. 267 Salmon, pp. 42, 91 Sea Horses, p. 79 Schooling, p. 345 Sharks, pp. 21, 44

447

्या गडे स्वतन्त्री से हे. हे क्षेत्र जन्म् क्षेत्र क

Species and Types of Fish, Continued.

Stingrays, pp. 172, 177 Suckers, p. 51 Teleosts, p. 258 Tropical, p. 294 Tuna, p. 42 See also: ELECTRIC FISE

# FLAGELLATES

Symbiosis, p. 361

# FLANNEL MOTHS

Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25

# **FLATWORMS**

Direction Eyes, p. 126 Eyespots, p. 134 Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44

### FLESH FLIES

Ingestive Behavior In Animals, p. 12 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303

# FLIES

Air Current Sensors, p. 264
Balance and Flight of Insects, pp. 69, 70
Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169
Flicker Phenomenon, p. 135
Rheotaxis, p. 273
Sound Reception in Insects, p. 255
Tactile Organs, p. 275
Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303

# FLOUNDERS

Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

# FLYING ANIMALS

Rheotaxis, p. 273

### FLYING INSECTS

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 Sound Production in Insects, p. 239 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303

### FORCIPOMYIA

See: MIDGES

### FORFICULA

See: EARWIGS

# FOWLS

Sound Detection and Ranging, Biological Aspects of, 230

### FRESHWATER FISH

Group Behavior of Fish, pp. 79, 345

#### FROGS

Du Bois-Reymond Law, p. 198
Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 55
Eye Pigments, p. 132
Hibernation, p. 285
Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178
Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141
Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148
Refractory Period, p. 210
Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300
Touch Sensation, The, p. 279
Vision in Frogs, pp. 159, 160, 161

# FRUIT FLIES

Chemotropism, p. 36 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, pp. 302, 303

# FUR-COVERED ANIMALS

Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296

# **GALA THEA**

See SHRIMP

# GARDEN SPIDERS

Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30

# **GAS TRAEA**

Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307

# **GASTROPODS**

Rheotaxis, p. 273

# **GASTROTRICHA**

Flame Cell as a Pump, The, p. 343

# GIBBONS

Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265

# GOLDFISH

Vision in Frogs, p. 161

こうしょう しょうちょう ないのない ないない しょうちょう

### GRAIN BEETLES

Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353

### GRASSHOPPERS

Chemotropism, p. 36 Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, p. 139 Sound Production in Insects, p. 239 Sound Reception in Insects, pp. 254, 255. 256 Sound Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 243 Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298

### GRYPHAEA

See: OYSTERS

### GUINEA PIGS

Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Tone Combination Effect, The, p. 261

# GULLS

Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26

### GYMNOTIDAE

See: ELECTRIC FISH, Species and Types of

# HAEMATOPINUS

Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330

#### HAGFISH

Semicircular Canals, p. 74

0.41

### HAIRY ANIMALS

Thermal Insulation In Birds, p. 304

#### HAWK MOTHS

Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303

# HAWKS

Du Bois-Reymond Law, p. 198 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151

### HELIOZOANS

Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

#### **HEMIP TERA**

Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 254

# HERBIVOROUS ANIMALS

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

#### HERM!T CRABS

Symbiosis, p. 361

.....

#### HETEROXENIA

See: CORAL

### HIBERNATING ANIMALS

Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338 Hibernation, p. 285 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 293

452

# HIGH-INTERTIDAL CRABS

Gill Slit, p. 40

# HIPPOCAMPUS

See: SEA HORSES

HOLOTHURIANS (Sea Cucumbers)

Geotropism, p. 71

# HOMARUS

See: SHRIMP

# HOMEOTHERMS

See: WARM-BLOODED ANIMALS

# HOMING INSECTS

Thigmotaxis, p. 277

# HONEYBEES

a second of a

Bee Sting, p. 19 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, pp. 48, 49

# HONEY GUIDES

Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337

# HORNE TS

Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303

# HORSES

Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Locomotion, Biological Aspects of, p. 163

# HORSESHOE BATS

<del>م</del>ر ۱

Sound Detection and Ranging, Biological Aspects of, p. 230

# HOUSE CRICKETS

Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300

### HOUSE SPIDERS

Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281

# HUMANS

See: MAN

# HUMBOLDT CURRENT SQUID

See: SQUID

# HUMMINGBIRDS

Convergence, p. 342 Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Insect Flight Muscles, p. 175 Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 309

#### HUMMING MOTHS

Convergence, p. 342

# HYBRID ANIMALS

Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311

# HYDRA

Equilibrium Sersing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Tactile Organs, p. 275

HYDRA VIRIDISSIMA

Tactile Organs, p. 275

# HYDROMEDUSAE

See: MEDUSAE

# HYDROPHILIDAE

See: SCAVANGER BEETLES

# **HYMENOP TERA**

Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256 Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298

# ICHNEUMON FLIES

Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48

# INSECT PARASITES

Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12

# INSECT PREDATORS

Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12

#### INSECT SCAVENGERS

Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12

# INSECTS IN GENERAL

ŧ

Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330 Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 17 Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 69 Behavior, Biological Aspects of, p. 9
## INSECTS IN GENERAL, Continued:

Cochlear Coll and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 247 Direction Eyes, p. 126 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, pp. 38, 39 Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 **Escape Mechanisms** of Shrimp, p. 168 Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169 Fish Locomotion, p. 172 Flicker Phenomenon, p. 135 Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Imprinting in Animals, p. 91 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Initiation of Flight in Insects, p. 319 Insect Flight Muscles, pp. 174, 175 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177 Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Molting Process, The, p. 224 Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, pp. 138, 139 Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208 Nutritional Requirements of insects, p. 353 Olfactory Sensitivity in Crayfish, p. 47 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, pp. 354, 355 Phototropism in Insects, p. 150 Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25 Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209 Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Rheotaxis, p. 273 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 152 Silk Production, p. 29 Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 232

## INSECTS IN GENERAL, Continued:

Sound Production in Insects, pp. 238, 239 Sound Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 237 Sound Reception in Insects, pp. 254, 255, 256 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Symbiosis, p. 361 Tactile Organs, p. 275 Temperature Regulation in Polkilotherms, p. 298 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, pp. 302, 303 Thermal Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 283 Thigmotaxis, p. 277 Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185 Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 32

Types of Insects

Aquatic, pp. 40, 327 Colonial, p. 298 Flying, pp. 65, 239, 303 Homing, p. 277 Nettling, pp. 20, 25, 32 Parasites, p. 12 Predators, p. 12 Scavengers, p. 12 Vegetarians, p. 12

INSECT VEGETARIANS

ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12

INTERTIDAL CRABS

Gill Slit, p. 40

# INVERTEBRATE ANIMALS IN GENERAL

Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307

## INVERTEBRATE ANIMALS IN GENERAL, Continued:

Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, pp. 138, 139 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 354 Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220 Rheotaxis, p. 273

#### JAPANESE WALTZING MICE

Semicircular Canals, p. 74

## JELLYFISH

Statocysts of the Crayfish, p. 77 Tactile Organs, p. 275

## KANGAROG RATS

Cochlear Coll and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Water Balance in Kangaroo Rats, p. 328

#### KATYDIDS

Sound Production in Insects, p. 238 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 255 Tactile Organs, p. 275 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300

## KESTRELS

Insect Flight Muscles, p. 1/5

## LAMPREYS

Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44 Semicircular Canals, p. 74

#### LAND ANIMALS

Locomotion, Biological Aspects of, p. 163 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294

## LAND BIRDS

Jordan and Kellogg's Laws of Distribution, p. 309

#### LAND CRABS

Gill Slit, p. 40

#### LEMURS

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

#### LEPIDOPTERA

Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Sound Reception in Insects, pp. 254, 256

#### LIGHTNING BUGS

See: FIREFLIES

LIMULUS (Horseshee Crab)

Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 355

#### LIZARDS

Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 223 Sensitivity to Light and Patterns of Light, p. 151

#### LOCUSTA

Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256

# LOCUSTS

Molting Process, The, p. 224 Sound Production in Insects, pp. 238, 239 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 255

## LOCUSTA MIGRATORIA

See: LOCUSTS

#### LOGGERHEAD TURTLES

Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26

## LOONS

Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141

## LOW-TIDE CRABS

Gill Slit, p. 40

# LUCANUS CERVUS (Stag Beetles)

Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 354

#### LUMINOUS ANIMALS

Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96

## MACKEREL

Fish Locomotion, p. 171

## MACROSIPHUM TULIPAL

Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38

MALACOSTRACA

See: SHRIMP

#### MALAP TERURUS

See: AFRICAN CATFISH

#### MALLARD DUCKS

Imprinting in Animals, p. 91

#### MAMMALS IN GENERAL

Accommodation, p. 107 Blogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Cochlear Coll and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 245 Gill Slit, p. 40 Imprinting in Animals, p. 91 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Manipulation, Biological Aspects of, p. 187 Metabolic Rate in Polkilotherms, p. 290 Muller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 201 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204 Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 248 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148 Phyclological Compensation, p. 356 Refractory Period, p. 210 Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Sound Reception in Insects, pp. 255, 256 Tactile Sensitivity, Bloioglcal Aspects of, p. 263 Taste Buds, pp. 50, 51 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304

#### MAMMALS IN GENERAL, Continued:

Thermal Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 283 Touch Sensation, The, p. 279 Water Balance in Aquatic Insect Metabolism, p. 327

Types of Mammals

Aquatic, p. 338 Eutherian, p. 313 Nocturnal, p. 275 Sea, p. 230

# MAN

Accommodation, p. 107 Aftersensations, p. 109 Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Babinski Reflex Effect, p. 265 Betzold-Brüche Effect, p. 111 Binocular Color Rivalry, p. 113 Binocular Vision, p. 115 Biological Clock, The, p. 334 Bunsen-Roscoe Law, p. 117 Chemical Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 16 Chemical Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 34 Chemical Sensitivity, Physical Ana ogs in General, p. 35 Cheyne-Stokes Respiration, p. 338 Chromatic Aberration, p. 119 Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Color Blindness, p. 121 Constancy Phenomenon, p. 340 Dark Adaptation, p. 125 Electrical Energy, Biological Aspects of, p. 54 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 Eyeball of Vertebrates, p. 129

#### MAN, Continued:

Eye Lens, pp. 130, 131 Eye Pigments, p. 132 Fish Locomotion, p. 172 Flicker Phenomenon, p. 135 Human Hand, The, pp. 190, 191 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Instrumental Conditioning p. 93 Interoceptors, p. 349 Iris of the Eye, p 137 Learning, Biological Aspects of, p. 84 Learning, Physical Analogs in General, pp. 85, 86 Light Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 106 Manipulation, Biological Aspects of, p. 187 Manipulation, Physical Analogs in General, p. 187 Man's Temperature Regulating Center, p. 288 Müller's Law of Specific Nerve Energies, p. 200 Multifacet Eyes of Invertebrates, p. 139 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nerve Sensitivity, Blological Aspects of, p. 193 Nerve Sensitivity, Physical Analogs In General, p. 195 Nervous Factors in Insect Flight, p. 208 Night Blindness, p. 142 Olfactory Sacs In Sharks, p. 45 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, pp. 48, 49 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, pp. 249, 250, 251 Pain Detection, p. 269 Propaioceptors, p. 357 Pumping Action of the Heart, p. 360 Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, pp. 151, 152 Sensory Adaptation, p. 212 Sound Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 237 MAN, Continued:

Sound Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 237 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256 Sound Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 243 Sound Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 244 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Symbiosis, p. 362 Tactile Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of. p. 263 Taste Buds, pp. 50, 51 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, pp. 296, 297 Thermal influence on insect Flight, p. 302 Thermoreceptors, p. 305 Time Judgment in Humans, p. 363 Tone Combination Effect, The, p. 260 Touch Sensation, The, p. 279 Types of Equilibrium, p. 82 Vertebrate Retina, The, p. 155 Vision in Frogs, p. 159 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, pp. 240, 241 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185 Weber's Law, p. 217

## MANTIS

See: PRAYING MANTIS

## MARINE ANIMALS

Locomotion, Biological Aspects of, p. 163 Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 152

#### MARINE ANNELIDS

Biological Clock, The, p. 333

## MARINE BIRDS

Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26

# MARINE CRABS

Sound Production in Insects, p. 239

# MARINE FISH

Group Behavior of Fish, p. 345 Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 79

# MATUTA

See: MARINE CRABS

## MAY FLIES

Molting Process, The, p. 224

#### MEALWORMS

Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353

#### MEDUSAE

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 152 Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 77

## MELANOPUS RUBRUM

See: LOCUSTS

## METAZOAN LARVAE

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151

## METRIDIUM

See: SEA ANEMONES

# MICE

Cochlear Coil and its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Influence of Hormones on Fighting, p. 11 Semicircular Canals, p. 74 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Tactile Organs, p. 275 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 31

#### ▲ MICROBES

Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337

#### MICROORGANISMS

Amoeboid Movement, p. 165 Flame Cell as a Pump, The, p. 343 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Optimum and Extreme Temperature, p. 294 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

## MICROSCOPIC WATER ORGANISMS

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65

## MIDGES

Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169

## MILLEPEDES

Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, pp. 20, 21 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 32

#### MINNOWS

Rheotaxis, p. 273

## MOLES

Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189

## MOLLUSKS

Nerve Network, p. 206 Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184

#### MOMICIDAE

See: ELECTRIC FISH, Species and Types of

#### MONARCH BUTTERFLIES

Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48

## MONKEYS

Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Human Hand, The, p. 190

# MOSQUITOES

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286 Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Sound Production in Insects, p. 239 Sound Reception in Insects, pp. 254, 256 Vision in Beetles, p. 158

## MOTHS

Behavior, Biological Aspects of, p. 9 Chemical Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 34 Chemotropism, p. 36 Convergence, p. 342 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48 Phototropism in Insects, p. 150 Polsonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25

MOTHS, Continued:

Silk Production, p. 28 Sound Reception in Insects, p. 255 Thermal Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 283

Species and Types of Moths

Clothes, p. 353 Flannel, p. 25 Humming, p. 342 Night-Flying, p. 48 Noctuid, pp. 254, 256, 283 Saddleback, p. 25 Scape, p. 256 Silk, pp. 16, 28, 30, 354 Wax, p. 353

MUD DAUBERS

Instinct In Insects, p. 347

MUD WASPS

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18

# MUSCORDINUS

See: DORMOUSE

# MUSSELS

Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 77

## MYJTIS

See: BATS

#### MYXINE

See: HAGFISH

#### NATANTIA

See: CRUSTACEA

## NAUTILUS

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 152

#### NEANDER THAL MAN

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

## NEMERTINA

Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220

#### NEREID WORMS

Tactile Organs, p. 275

# NETTLING INSECTS

Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20 Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 32

#### NIGHT BIRDS

Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252

#### NIGHT-FLYING MOTHS

Olfactory Sensitivity in Insects, p. 48

#### NIGHTHAWKS

计算机的

Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

#### NOCTUID MOTHS

Sound Reception in Insects, pp. 254, 256 Thermal Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 283

#### NOCTURNAL ANIMALS

Biological Clock, The, p. 333 Tactile Organs, p. 275

#### NOCTURNAL COCKROACHES

Biological Clock, The, p. 333

## NOCTURNAL MAMMALS

Tactile Organs, p. 275

# OCTOPUSES

Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Jet Propulsion of the Squid, p. 176

# **ODONATA** (Dragonflies)

Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 69 Gill Slit, p. 40 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226

## OECANTUS NIVEUS

See: TREE CRICKETS

#### OPOSSUMS

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

#### ORANGUTANS

Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189

#### OR THOP TERA

Modified Functions of Insect Wings, p. 350 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Sound Seception in Insects, pp. 254, 256

## CS TAR I OPHYS I

See: BONY FISH

# OSTRACODS

Cyridina Luminescence, p. 100

## OWLS

Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252

## OYSTERS

Convergence, p. 342

## PALYTHOA

See: CORAL

#### PANULIRUS

See: SHRIMP

#### PAPILIONID BUTTERFLIES

Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in Insects, p. 169

#### PARAMECIA

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 Metachronal Rhythm, pp. 178, 179

#### PAROYA

المناطر والأسابو فالعالية

**a series de la series** 

See: GRASSHOPPERS

#### PARROTS

Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 241

#### PATAGONA GIGAS

Flight of the Humminghirs, p. 173

#### PENGUINS

Outlinum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294

## PERCH

Fish Locomotion, p. 171

# PER PLANETA AMERICANA (Cockroaches)

Alary Muscles of Insects, The, p. 330 Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38 Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 354

# PETROMYZONS

See: LAMPREYS

## PHEASANTS

Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252

## PHOT INUS

See: FIREFLIES

#### PHOTOTACTIC AN IMALS

Thigmotaxis, p. 277

## PHOXINUS LAERIS

See: MINNOWS

## PHYSOCLIST FISH

Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 79

## PIERID BUTTERFLIES

Factors Affecting Wingbeat Frequency in insects, p. 169

#### PIGEONS

Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42 Instrumental Conditioning, p. 93 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252

# PIGS

Cochlear Coil and Its Role in Hearing in Mammais, The, p. 246 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

PLANARIA (Flatworms)

Axial Gradient, p. 331 Direction Eyes, p. 126 Flame Cell as a Pump, The, p. 343 Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44 Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220 Rhectaxis, p. 273 Sponge Regeneration, p. 228.

#### PLANARIA ALPINA

See: PLANARIA

# PLANARIA MACULATA

See: PLANARIA

## PLATYMERIS

See: ASSASSIN BUGS

## PLCOPTERA

Gill Slit, p. 40

## POIKILOTHERMS

See: COLD-BLOODED ANIMALS

#### POLAR BEARS

Hibernation, p. 285

473

;

## POLYCHAETES (Marine Worms)

Geotropism, p. 71 Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178

## POLYDESMOID MILLEPEDES

See: MILLEPEDES

## POLYPS

Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Tactile Organs, p. 275

# POLYZOA

Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220

## PORITES

Sec: CORAL

#### PORPOISES

Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Vocal Cords and Voice in Humans, p. 241

#### PRAYING MANTIS

Human Hand, The, p. 191 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185

## **PREDATORS**

Binocular Vision, p. 115 Du Bois-Reymond Law, p. 198 See also: INSECT PREDATORS

## PREHISTORIC FISH

Lateral Line Organs, p. 267

## PRIMATES

Binocular Vision, p. 115 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Meissner's Corpuscies, p. 268 Tactile Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 263

#### PROCONSUL

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

#### PRODENIA ERIDONIA (Moths)

Effect of Nicotine on the Insect's Heart, p. 38

#### **PROTOCHORDATES**

Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307

#### PROTOZOA

Bacterial Luminescence, p. 99 Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

## PTERASPIS

See: PREHISTORIC FISH

#### PULMONATE SNAILS

Geotropism, p. 71

# **PYTHONS**

Snake Locomotion, p. 182

# RABBITS

Binocular Vision, p. 115 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Manipulation, Biological Aspects of, p. 187 Taste Buds, p. 51 Vertebrate Retina, The, p. 155

## RATS

Cochlear Coil and its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Geotropism, p. 71 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12

## RATTLESNAKES

Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286 Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs In General, p. 284

#### REDUVIIDAE COMPRIAE

See: ASSASSIN BUGS

#### RENILLA

See: CORAL

#### REPTILES

Accommodation, p. 107 Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Biogenesis, Law of, p. 307 Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Manipulation, Biological Aspects of, p. 187 Nictitating Membrane in Birds, p. 141 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220 Taste Buds, p. 50

#### RHINOCEROSES

Symblosis, p. 361

#### RUMINANTS

Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337

# SADL LEBACK MOTHS

Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25

. . . .

## SALAMANDERS

Thigmotaxis, p. 277

## SALMON

Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42 Imprinting in Animals, p. 91

## SAND VIPERS, EGYPTIAN

Snake Locomotion, p. 182

## SARCOPHAGID FLIES

See: FLESH FLIES

# SCAPE MOTHS

Sound Reception in Insects, p. 256

# SCAYENGER BEETLES

Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12

#### SCHOOLING FISH

Group Behavior of Fish, p. 345

#### SCORPIONS

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Bee Sting, p. 19 Thigmotaxis, p. 277 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 31

#### SCYPHOMEDUSA

See: MEDUSAE

## SEA ANEMONES

Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Symbiosis, p. 361

#### SEA CUCUMBERS

Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Elephant's Trunk, The, p. 189

## SEA GULLS

Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26

# SEA HORSES

Swim Bladder in Fish, p. 79

#### SEA LAMPREYS

See: LAMPREYS

## SEALS

Hibernation, p. 285

## SEA MAMMALS

Sound Detection and Ranging, Biological Aspects of, p. 230

# SEA PEN

See: CORAL

## SEA SNAILS

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 152

# SHARKS

Defensive Secretion of the Millepede, p. 21 Olfactory Sacs in Sharks, p. 44

## SHEEP

Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 297

# SHORT HORN CATTLE

Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311

# SHREWS

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

#### SHRIMP

Escape Mechanisms of Shrimp, p. 168 Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226 Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 77

# STALIS

See: ALDER FLIES

# SIDEWINDERS, NORTH AMERICAN

Snake Locomotion, p. 182

## SILK MOTHS

Chemical Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 16 Chemical Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 16 Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 354 Silk Production, p. 28 Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30

## SILKWORMS

See: SILK MOTHS

# SILPHA OBSCURA

See: CARRION BEETLES

## SINGLE-CELLED ORGANISMS

See: UNICELLULAR ORGANISMS

# SKUNKS

Chemical Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 16

## SNAILS

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 Geotropism, p. 71 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 152 Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 77 Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298

## SNAKES

Annelid Locomotion, p. 167 Chemical Production, Siological Aspects of, p. 16 Infrared Sensing by Rattlesnakes, p. 286 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204

-

SNAKES, Continued:

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 152 Snake Locomotion, p. 182 Taste Buds, p. 50

#### SNOUT BEETLES

Temperature Regulation in Polkilotherms, p. 298

# SOCKEYE SALMON

Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42

#### SONGBIRDS

Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252

#### SPHYNX LIGUSTRI (Hawk Moths)

Origin of the Heartbeat in Insects, p. 354

## SPIDERS

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Chemical Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 16 Instinct in Insects, p. 347 Silk Production, pp. 28, 29 Spinnerets in the Spider, p. 30 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81 Vibration Receptors in the Spider, p. 281

SPONGES

Sponge Reguneration, p. 228 Symbiosis, p. 361

## SQUID

ł

Eye Lens, p. 131 Fish Locomotion, p. 172

SQUID, Continued:

Jet Propulsion of the Squid, p. 176 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204 Sodium Pump and Electrical Potential, The, p. 62 Statocysts of Crayfish, p. 77 Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184

# SQUIRRELS

Human Hand, The, p. 191 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 297

## STAPHYLINID BEETLES

Geotropism, p. 71

## STARFISH

Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 222 Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 Tube Feet of Starfish, p. 184

## STEATORNIS

See: VENEZUELAN OILBIRD

#### STICK INSECTS

Environmental Change Response, p. 318 Walking Movements of Insects, p. 185

#### STINGRAY

Fish Locomotion, p. 172 Mechanics of Insect Flight, p. 177

## STOMA TOPODS

See: CRUSTACEA

# SUCKERS

Taste Buds, p. 51

## TADPOLES

Eye Pigments, p. 132 Photosensitive Properties of Rhodopsin, p. 148

# TAPIRS

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313

#### TARSIERS

Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 315

## TELEOSTS

Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258

#### TERMI TES

Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Symbiosis, p. 361 Temperature Regulation in Polkilotherms, p. 298

## TERRESTRIAL ANIMALS

Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96

#### TERRESTRIAL FOIKILOTHERMS

Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298

#### TERRESTRIAL SNAILS

Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, - P. 152 -Statocysts of Grayfish, p. 77

483

## **TE TRAPODS**

GI11 Slit, p. 40

# THYSANURA

Regrowth by Crustacea, p. 226

#### TORPEDO NOBILIANA

See: ELECTRIC RAYS

# TREE CRICKET

Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 300

# TRITURUS TOROSUS

See: SALAMANDERS

# TROPICAL FISH

Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294

# TUNA

Homing Migration of Salmon, p. 42

#### TUNICATES

GI11 S1It, p. 40

### TURBELLARIANS

Direction Eyes, p. 126 Geotropism, p. 71

# TURTLES

Escape Mechanisms of Shrimp, p. 168 Salt Glands in Marine Birds, p. 26

TYRANNOSAURUS REX

See: DINOSAURS

UCA

See: FIDDLER CRABS

## UNICELLULAR ORGANISMS

Fish Locomotion, p. 172 Metachronal Rhythm, p. 178 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 323 Nerve Network, p. 206

VANESSA (Butterflies)

Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 302

#### VENEZUELAN OILBIRD

Sound Detection and Ranging by Bats, p. 232

#### VERTEBRATES IN GENERAL

Air Current Sensors, p. 264 Autotomy Phenomenon, p. 223 Balance and Flight of Insects, p. 70 Blogenesis, Law of, p. 304 Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Direction Eyes, p. 126 Electrical Response in Nerve and Muscle Cells, p. 55 Escape Mechanisms of Shrimp, p. 168 Eyeball of Vertebrates, p. 128 Eyespots, p. 134 Flame Cell as a Pump, The, p. 343 Locomotion, Biological Aspects of, p. 163 Muscle Contraction by Electrical Impulse, p. 322 Organ of Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 252 Potassium Action on Insect Nerve Activity, p. 209

## VERTEBRATES IN GENERAL, Continued:

Regrowth and Repair, Biological Aspects of, p. 220 Semicircular Canals, p. 73 Sensitivity to Light and to Patterns of Light, p. 151 Sound Reception in Birds, p. 252 Sound Sensitivity in Fish, p. 258 Stimulus Summation and Inhibition in Neurons, p. 214 Symbiosis, p. 361 Tactile Organs, p. 275 Taste Buds, p. 50 Vertebrate Retina, The, p. 154

#### VINEGAROONS

See: WHIP SCORPIONS

## VIPER SNAKES

Snake Locomotion, p. 182

#### WARM-BLOUDED ANIMALS

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Physical Analogs in General, p. 66 Natural Selection of Species, Law of, p. 313 Nerve Impulse Transmission, p. 204 Optimum and Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Temperature Regulation in Homeotherms, p. 296 Temperature Regulation in Poikilotherms, p. 298 Thermal Sensitivity, Physical Analogs in General, p. 284

#### WASPS

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Flight of the Hummingbird, p. 173 Instinct and Insect Behavior, p. 14 Instinct in Insects, p. 347

# WAX MOTHS

Natritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353

# WHALES

ł

Cochlear Coll and Its Role in Hearing in Mammals, The, p. 246 Sound Detection and Ranging by Dolphins, p. 234 Thermal Insulation in Birds, p. 304

# WHIP SCORPIONS

Defensive Secretions of the Millepede, p. 20 Whip Scorpion's Defense Mechanism, p. 31

## WHIP SNAKES

Snake Locomotion, p. 182

# WOUDPECKERS

Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337

# ACHROMOBAC TER FISCHERI

See: LUMINESCENT BACTERIA

#### AGROSTIS FUNGUS

See: REDTOP FUNGUS

# ALGAE

Biological Clock, The, p. 333

# ASTERS

Photoperiodism, p. 147

# AUTUMN FLOWERS

Photoperiodism, p. 147

## AVENA FUNGUS

See: OAT FUNGUS

## BACTERIA

Bacterial Luminescence, pp. 98, 99 Cellulose Digestion in Mammals, p. 337 Cypridina Luminescence, p. 100 Electrical Energy, Biological Aspects of, p. 54 Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353 Symbiosis, pp. 361, 362

#### BARLEY

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

#### BLUEGRASS

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

## BLUEGRASS FUNGUS

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

# COLIFORM BACTERIA

Symbiosis, p. 362

# COSMOS

Photoperiodism, p. 147

#### COTTON

Chemical Production, Physical Analogs in General, p. 16

## DANDELIONS

--- Photonasty, p. 146

## DINOFLAGELLIDA

Eyespots, p. 134

# ESCHERICHIA COLI

See: COLIFORM BACTERIA

## FLOWERS IN GENERAL

Photonasty, p. 146 Thermal Influence on Insect Flight, p. 303

# FOUR O'CLOCKS

Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311 Photonasty, p. 146

## FUNGI

Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Symbiosis, p. 361

# FUNGI, PATHOGENIC

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

# GRAINS, SMALL

Blotype Specialization, p. 335

# GRASSES

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

#### HYBRID PLANTS

Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, pp. 311, 312

## HYDRODICTYON RETICULATUM

See: ALGAE

# KALANCHOË BLOSSFELDIANA

Biological Clock, The, p. 334

#### LEGUMINOUS PLANTS

Symbiosis, p. 361

#### LETTUCE

Photoperiodism, p. 147

# LONG-DAY PLANTS

Photoperiodism, p. 147

#### LUMINESCENT BACTERIA

Bacterial Luminescence, p. 98 C/pridina Luminescence, p. 100 Light Production, Blological Aspects of, p. 96

# MIRABILIS JALAPA

See: FOUR O'CLOCKS

# MONOHYBRID PLANTS

Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311

# NETTLE PLANT

Poisonous Hairs of Nettling Insects, p. 25

## NITROGEN-FIXING BACTERIA

Symbiosis, pp. 361, 362

## OAT FUNGUS

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

## OATS

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

#### PEAS

Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311

## PERENNIALS, HERBACEOUS

Photoperiodism, p. 147

#### PHLEUM PRATENS FUNGUS

See: TIMOTHY FUNGUS

## PHY TOMONADIDA

Eyespots, p. 134
## CROSS REFERENCES BY PLANT

## PLANTS IN GENERAL

Assassin Bug Digestive Venom, p. 18 Biological Člock, The, p. 333 Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Physical Analogs in General, p. 67 GeotropIsm, p. 71 Ingestive Behavior in Animals, p. 12 Light Production, Biological Aspects of, p. 96 Light Sensitivity, Biological Aspects of, p. 105 Optimum a: Extreme Temperatures, p. 294 Photonasty, p. 146 Photoperiodism, p. 147 Photosynthesis, p. 23 Phototropism in Insects, p. 150 Symbiosis, pp. 361, 362 Thermal Influence on Animal Behavior, p. 301

## POA FUNGUS

See: BLUEGRASS FUNGUS

## POISON IVY

Contrast, p. 123

#### POLYHYBRID PLANTS

Mendel's Laws of Inheritance, p. 311

## PUCCINIA GRAMINIS

Blotype Specialization, p. 335

## RADISHES

Photoperiodism, p. 147

#### RAGWEED

Photoperiodism, p. 147

# CROSS REFERENCES BY PLANT

REDTOP

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

REDTOP FUNGUS

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

RYE

Brotype Specialization, p. 335

RYE FUNGUS

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

SCARLET SAGE

Photoperiodism, p. 147

SECALE FUNGUS

See: RYE FUNGUS

SEDUMS

Photoperiodism, p. 147

SHORT-DAY PLANTS

Photoperiodism, p. 147

SPRING FLOWERS

Photoperiodism, p. 147

TIMOTHY

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

# CROSS REFERENCES BY FLANT

## TIMOTHY FUNGUS

Blotype Specialization, p. 335

# TOBACCO

Photonasty, p. 146

# TOMA TOES

Photoperiodism, p. 147

# TRITICUM FUNGUS

See: WHEAT FUNGUS

# VOLVOX

Equilibrium Sensing and Control, Biological Aspects of, p. 65 Types of Equilibrium, p. 81

# WHEAT

Biotype Specialization, p. 335

## WHEAT FUNGUS

Blotype Specialization, p. 335

# YEAST

Nutritional Requirements of Insects, p. 353

- 1. Abercrombie, M., Hickman, C. J. and Johnson, M. L., <u>A Dic-</u> tionary of Biology, Penguin Books, London, 1959.
- 2. Alexander, R. D., "Sound production, crickets, cicadas", Ohio J. Sci., 57: 1957, pp. 153-163.
- 3. Ashby, W. R., <u>Design for a Brain</u>, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1952.
- 4. Baker, M. and Bridges, W., <u>The Illustrated Book of Wild Ani-</u> mals of the World, Garden City Books, Garden City, 1960.
- 5. Bard, P., Ed., <u>Medical Physiology</u>, The C. V. Mosby Company, St. Louis, 1956.
- Beard, R. L., "Circulation", in <u>Insect Physiology</u>, K. D. Roeder, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1953, pp. 232-272.
- Best, C. H. and Taylor, N. B., <u>The Physiological Basis of</u> <u>Medical Practice</u>, The Williams and Wilkins Company, Baltimore, 1961.
- 8. Bliss, D. E., "Autotomy and regeneration", in <u>Physiology of</u> <u>Crustacea</u>, Vol. I, T. H. Waterman, Ed., Academic Press, New York, 1960, pp. 561-568.
- Bliss, J. C. and Kotovsky, K., <u>Tactual Perception of Visual</u> <u>Information</u>, Stanford Research <u>Institute Interim Report No. 1</u>, <u>Contract AF 33(657)-8824</u>, <u>Electronics Technology Laboratory</u>, ASD, September 1962, pp. 3, 5, 18-19, 32-34.
- Blum, M. S. and Woodring, J. P., "Secretion of benzaldehyde and hydrogen cyanide by the millepede", <u>Science</u>, 138 (3539): 1962, p. 512.
- Boettiger, E. G., "Interpretation of flight muscle", in <u>In-</u> vertebrate Physiology, B. T. Scheer, Ed., University of Oregon Press, 1957, pp. 117-142.
- 12. Bonner, J., "The biology of plant growth", in <u>Growth in</u> Living Systems, M. X. Zarrow, Ed., Basic Books, Inc., New York, 1951, pp. 439-452.
- 13. Braemer, W. and Braemer, H., "Gravity orientation by various fish", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 40: 1958, pp. 529-542.
- 14. Brazier, M. A. B., <u>The Electrical Activity of the Nervous</u> System, Pitman Publishing Corp., New York, 1958.

- 15. Buck, J. B., "The internal environment in regulation and metamorphosis"; in <u>Insect Physiology</u>, K. D. Roeder, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1963, pp. 199-200.
- 16. von Buddenbrock, W., <u>The Senses</u>, The University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor, 1958.
- 17. Bunning, E., "Opening Address: Biological Clocks", in <u>Cold</u> <u>Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology, Biological</u> <u>Clocks</u>, Vol. 25, Long Island Biological Association, Inc., Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, 1960, pp. 1-9.
- 18. Burnett, R. W., Fisher, H. I. and Zim, H. S., Zoology, Golden Press, New York, 1958.
- Chadwick, L. E., "The motion of wings", in <u>Insect Physiol-oqy</u>, K. D. Roeder, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1953, pp. 507-614.
- Cohen, M. J. and Dijkgraaf, S., "Mechanoreception", in <u>Phys-iclogy of Crustacea</u>, T. H. Waterman, Ed., Academic Press, Wew York, 1961, pp. 69-73.
- 21. Cowan, S. L., "lons and nerve potentials, Maia (Crustacea)", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. (London)</u>, 115: 1934, pp. 216-260.
- 22. Crane, H. D., "The Neuristor", <u>IRE Trans. on Electronic Com-</u> <u>puters</u>, Vol. EC-9, September, 1960, pp. 370-371.
- Curtis, G. J., "The neuromuscular system", in <u>Medical Phys-iology</u>, P. Bard, Ed., The C. V. Mosby Company, St. Louis, 1956, pp. 884-886, 905.
- 24. Davis, H., Tasaki, I. and Goldstein, R., "Sequence of electrical events in the excitation of the cochlea", in <u>Cold</u> <u>Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology</u>, <u>The Neuron</u>, Vol. 17, Long Island Biological Association, Inc., Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, 1952, pp. 143-154.
- 25. Dravnieks, A., "Electronic nose sniffs differences between smells", Popular Mechanics, February, 1962.
- 26. Drever, J., <u>The Dictionary of Psychology</u>, Penguin Books, Ltd. Harmondsworth, England, 1952.
- Edwards, J. S., "Insect assassins", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 202(6): 1960, pp. 72-78.
- 28. Eisner, T., "Surviva! by acid defense", <u>Nat. Hist.</u>, 71: 1962, pp. 10-19.

- 29. Ernst, H. A. (based on work of), "A computer-controlled hand imitates a child", <u>The M. I. T. Tech. Rev.</u>, 1962, p. 25.
- 30. Field, J., Ed.-in-Chief, "Neurophysiology", in <u>Handbook of</u> <u>Physiology</u>, Vol. 1, Sec. 1, American Physiological Society, Williams and Wilkins Press, Baitimore, 1959.
- 31. "Neurophysiology", in <u>Handbook of</u> <u>Physiology</u>, Vol. 1, Sec. 1, American Physiological Society, Williams and Wilkins Press, Baltimore, 1960.
- 32. , "Neurophysiology", in <u>Handbook of</u> <u>Physiology</u>, Vol. 1. Sec 1, <u>American Physiological Society</u>, Williams and Wilkins Press, Baltimore, 1961.
- 33. Fraenkel, G. S. and Gunn, D. L., <u>The Orientation of Animals</u>, Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1961.
- 34. Frings, H. and Frings, M., "Hearing in moths", <u>Science</u>, 126: 1957, p. 24.
- 35. and Slocum, B., "Hearing range of birds", <u>Auk.</u>, 75: 1958, pp. 99-100.
- 36. Frost, S. W., <u>Insect Life and Insect Natural History</u>, 2nd edition, Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1959.
- 37. Geldard, F. A., <u>The Human Senses</u>, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., London, 1953.
- Getman, F. H. and Daniels, F., <u>Outline of Physical Chemistry</u>, John Wiley and Sons, inc., London, 1943, p. 590.
- 33. Gilmour, D. <u>The Biochemistry of Insects</u>, Academic Press, New York and London, 1961.
- 40. Gilstrap, L. O., Jr. and Lee, R. J., "Learning machines", in First Bionics Symposium, <u>Living Prototypes - Key to a New</u> <u>Technology</u>, USAF WADD Technical Report 60-600, September 1960, pp. 437-450.
- 41. tems that learn", in <u>Human Factors in Technology</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1963.
- 42. "Learning automata and artificial intelligence", in <u>Human</u> <u>Factors in Technology</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1963.

- 1911年、「大学校の変化の変化の変化ななななななななななななななななないないないないないないない。

43. Goldberger, L. and Holt, R. R., <u>Studies on the Effect of</u> <u>Perceptual Alteration</u>, USAF ASD Tech. Rept. 61-416, August 1961. (AD#268782.)

- 44. Gray, H., <u>Anatomy of the Human Body</u>, C. M. Goss, Ed., Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia, 1959.
- 45. Gray, P., Ed., <u>The Encyclopedia of Biological Sciences</u>, Reinhold Publishing Corp., New York, 1961.
- 46. Greenewalt, C. H., "Photographing hummingbirds in Brazil", Natl. Geog., 123, (1): 1963, pp. 100-115.
- 47. Griffin, D. R., "The sound of bats: Obstacle avoidance by acoustic orientation", J. Exp. Zool., 123: 1953, pp. 435-465.
- 48. , "Listening in the dark", <u>Amer Sci.</u>, 41: 1953, pp. 209-244.
- 49. Grinnell, A. D. and Griffin, D. R., "Sensitivity of echolocation in bats", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 114: 1958, pp. 10-22.
- 50. Grundfest, H., "The mechanisms of discharge of the electric organs in relation to general and comparative physiology", <u>Prog. Biophys.</u>, 7: 1957, pp. 1-85.
- 51. Hanson, J., "Structure of muscle fibers of the earthworm body wall", J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol., 3: 1957, pp. 111-122.
- 52. Harvey, E. N., Ed., "Bioluminescence", <u>Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.</u>, 49: 1952, pp. 327-482.
- 53. , "Light production", in <u>Physiology of Crustacea</u>, Vol. II, T. H. Waterman, Ed., Academic Press, New York, 1961, pp. 171-187.
- 54. Hassenstein, B., "A cross correlation process in the nervous center of an insect eye", <u>Nuovo Cimento</u>, Series X, (13), (2): 1959, pp. 617-619.
- 55. , "Analysis of the Visual Perception in Movement of Insects", Fourth Annual Meeting of the Biophysical Society, Philadelphia, February, 1960.
- 56. Hayashi, T. and Boehm, G. A. W., "Artificial muscle", Sci. Amer., 187(6): 1952, p. 18.

57.	Hegner, R. W., <u>College Zoology</u> , The Macmillan Company, New York, 1936.
58.	, <u>Invertebrate Zoology</u> , The Macmillan Company, New York, 1947.
59.	Helmholtz, H. L. F., <u>On the Sensations of Ione</u> , Dover Pub- lications, Inc., New York, 1954, pp. 5, 152-154.
60.	Henry, T. R., <u>The Strangest Things in the World</u> , Public Af- fairs Press, Washington, 1958.
61.	Herrick, F. H., "The american lobster, a study of its habits and development", <u>Bull. U. S. Fish Comm.</u> , 15, 1895, pp. 1-252.
62.	Hess, E. H., "Imprinting in animals", <u>Sci. Amer.</u> , 198 (3): 1958, pp. 81-90.
63.	Hill, J. B., Overholts, L. O. and Popp, H. W., <u>Botany, A</u> <u>Textbook for Colleges</u> , McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1950, pp. 231-234.
64.	Hoagland, H., "Activity in lateral line nerve of catfish", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u> , 16: 1933, pp. 695-714; 17: 1933, pp. 77-82.
65.	Hocking, B., "Insect flight", <u>Sci. Amer.</u> , 199 (6): 1958, pp. 92-98.
66.	Hoffmann, K., "Experimental manipulation of the orientational clock in birds", in <u>Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantita-</u> <u>tive Biology, Biological Clocks</u> , Vol. 25, Long Island Biologi- cal Association, Inc., Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, 1960, pp. 379-387.
67.	Horridge, A., "The histology of Aurelia", <u>Quart. J. Micr.</u> <u>Sci.</u> , 95: 1954, pp. 85-92.
68.	Houssay, B. A., Ed., <u>Human Physiology</u> , McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1955.
69.	Hubbard, R "Vision created by light acting on eye pigment", <u>Schl. Sci. and Math.</u> , 62 (4): 1962, p. 34.
70.	lmms, A. D., <u>A General Textbook of Entomology</u> , E. P. Dutton and Company, Inc., New York, 1960.
71.	Johnson, F. H., Shimomura, O. and Saiga, Y., "Luminescence potency of the Cypridina system", <u>Science</u> , 134 (3492): 1961, pp. 1755–1756.
	499

- 72. Judd, D. B., "Basic correlates of the visual stimulus", in Handbook of Experimental Psychology, S. Stevens, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1951, pp. 811-867. (Cited from Prosser.)
- 73. Katsuki, K., "Electrical responses from lateral line organ of fish", Jap. J. Physiol., 1: 1951, pp. 87-99, 264-268.
- 74. et al., "Electrical responses from hair-cells in the ear of fish", Proc. Jap. Acad. Tokyo, 30: 1954, pp. 248-255. (Cited from Prosser and Brown.)
- 75. and Davis, H., "Electrophysiology of the ear of the kangaroo rat", J. Neurophysiol., 17: 1954, pp. 308-316. (Cited from Prosser and Brown.)
- 76. Keynes, R. D., "Electric organs", in <u>The Physiology of Fishes</u>, M. E. Brown, Ed., Academic Press, New York, 1957.
- 77. and Martins-Ferreira, H., "Electric organs in fish", J. Physiol., 119: 1953. (Cited from Gray's Encyclopedia of Biological Sciences.)
- 78. Kimble, G. A., <u>Hilgard and Marquis' Conditioning and Learn-</u> ing, Appleton-Century-Crofts, Inc., New York, 1961, p. 45.
- 79. Kramer, G., "Experiments on bird orientation", Verhandlung das Deutschen Zoologische Gesellschaft in Freiburg, 94: 1952-b, pp. 265-285. (Cited from Sauer and Sauer.)
- 80. , "The sun-orientation of birds", <u>Verhandlung das</u> <u>Deutschen Zoologische Gesellschaft in Freiburg</u>: 1952-a, pp. 72-84. (Cited from Sauer and Sauer.)
- 81. Lavoie, M. E., "How sea stars open bivalves", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 111: 1956, pp. 114-122.
- 82. Lee, R. J., <u>A Generalized Learning-Machine</u>, (Copyright 1954) On file in U. S. Patent Office, Serial No. 229388, Adaptive Sandwich, October 9, 1962.
- 83. , <u>Self-Programming Information and Control Equip-</u> ment (SPICE), Melpar, Inc., Falls Church, June 1959.
- 84. , <u>Generalization of Learning in a Machine</u>, paper presented at the 14th National Meeting of the Association for Computing Machinery, September 1959.
- 85. \_\_\_\_\_, "More on bionics and artron", Electronic Design, 9: 1961, pp. 166-167.

- 86. Lee, R. J., Gilstrap, L. O., Jr. and Pedelty, M. J., <u>Theory of Probability State Variable Systems</u>, Adaptronics, Inc. Interim Report No. 1, Contract AF 33(657)-7100, Electronic Technology Laboratory, ASD, January 1962.
- 87. , Leslie, J. A. and Schlissel, M. S., <u>Research on</u> <u>Adaptive Sandwiches and Learning Automata</u>, Adaptronics, Inc. Interim Engineering Report No. 2, Contract AF 33(657)-8674, Electronic Technology Laboratory, ASD, November 1962.
- 88. Lettvin, J. Y., Maturana, H. R., McCulloch, W. S. and Pitts, W. H., "What the frog's eye tells the frog's brain", <u>Proc.</u> <u>IRE</u>, November 1959, pp. 1940-1959.
- 89. Lilly, J. C., <u>Man and Dolphin</u>, Doubleday and Company, Inc., Garden City, 1961.
- 90. and Miller, A. M., "Sounds emitted by the bottlenose dolphin", <u>Science</u>, 133, (3465): 1961, pp. 1689-1693.
- 91. , "Vocal exchanges between dolphins", <u>Science</u>, 134: 1961, pp. 1873-1876.
- 92. Lindberg, R. G., "Growth population dynamics, and field behavior in the spiny lobster, Panulirus interruptus", <u>Publs.</u> <u>Zool.</u>, University of California at Berkeley, 59: 1955, pp. 157-248.
- 93. Lissmann, H. W., "On the function and evolution of electric organs in fish", J. Exper. Biol., 35: 1958, 156-191.
- 94. Lobban, M. C., "The entrainment of circadian rhythms in man", in <u>Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology, Biolog-</u> <u>Ical Clocks</u>, Vol. 25, The Biological Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, New York 1960, pp. 325-332.
- 95. Lockhead, H., "Locomotion", in <u>Physiology of Crustacea</u>, Vol. 11, T. H. Waterman, Ed., Academic Press, New York, 1961, pp. 353-354.
- 96. Lowenstein, O., "Equilibrium function of otolith organs and semicircular canals of Elasmobranch Raja, analyzed by nerve impulse recording", <u>Proc. Royal Soc. Med.</u>, 45: 1952, pp. 133-134. (Cited from Prosser.)
- 97. Manton, S. M., "Notes on the habit and feeding mechanisms of Anaspides and Paranaspides", <u>Proc. Zool. Soc. London</u>: 1930, pp. 791-800.

- 98. Margenau, H., Watson, W. W. and Montgomery, C. G., <u>Physics</u>, <u>Principles</u>, and <u>Applications</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1949.
- 99. McElroy, W. D., <u>Bacterial Luminescence</u>, McCollum-Pratt Institute, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Md., 1958.
- 100. and Strehler, B. L., "Bioluminescence", <u>Bact.</u> <u>Rev.</u>, 18: 1954, pp. 177-194.
- 101. Meister, A., "Nutritional requirements of insects", in <u>Bio-chemistry and Physiology of Nutrition</u>, G. A. Bourn and G. W. Kidder, Eds., Vol. I, Academic Press, New York, 1953, p. 129.
- 102. Metcalf, C. L. and Flint, W. P., <u>Fundamentals of Insect</u> <u>Life</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1932.
- 103. Michelbacher, A. E., Hoskins, W. M. and Herms, W. B., "Nutrition for Lucilia (Diptera) larvae", <u>J. Exptl. Zool.</u>, 64: 1932, pp. 109-132.
- 104. Miller, B., "Advanced video ideas to have space use", Avn. Wk. and Space Tech., September 3, 1962.
- 105. Milne, L. J. and Milne, M. J., <u>The Bictic World of Man</u>, Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1958.
- 106. Mitchell, M. B., <u>Time Disorientation and Estimation in Iso-</u> <u>lation</u>, USAF ASD Tech. Doc. Rept. 62-277, April 1962. (AD#277148).
- 107. Mohr, C. E., <u>Inventions in Nature</u>, Nelson Doubleday, Inc., Gurden City, 1959.
- 108. Morgan, C. T. and Stellar, E., <u>Physiological Psychology</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1950.
- 109. Moulton, J. M., "Acoustic behavior of sea robins and other fish", <u>Biol. Bull</u>., 114: 1958, pp. 357-374.
- 110. Mowrer O. H., Learning Theory and Behavior, John Wiley and Sons, .nc., New York, 1960, p. 15.
- 111. von Neumann, J., <u>The Computer and the Brain</u>, Yale University Press, New Haven, Conn., 1958.
- 112. Ormiston, D. W., <u>A Methodological Study of Confinement</u>, USAF WADD Tech. Rept. 61-258, March 1961. (AD#266211.)

- 113. Parker, T. J. et al., <u>A Textbook of Zoology</u>, St. Martin's Press, New York, 1962.
- 114. Pask, G., "The natural history of networks", in <u>Proc. Inter-</u> <u>discpl. Conf. on Self-Organizing Systems</u>, Pergamon Press, Inc., New York, 1960, pp. 232-263.
- 115. Pedelty, M. J., "A memory complex for an adaptive control system", in Proc. 1960 Symp. on Adaptive Control Systems, (to be published by Pergamon Press).
- 1'6. Prosser, C. L. and Brown, F. A., <u>Comparative Animal Phys-iology</u>, 2nd edition, W. B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, 1961.
- 117. Reichardt, W., "Autocorrelation An evaluation of principles of the central nervous system", in <u>Sensory Communication</u>, W. A. Rosenblith, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1960, pp. 303-317.
- 118. Richards, A. G., "Structure and development of the integument", in <u>Insect Physiology</u>, K. D. Roeder, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1953, pp. 30-31.
- 119. Roeder, K. D., Ed., <u>Insect Physiology</u>, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1953.
- 120. and Treat, A. E., "Sound reception by tympanic organ of moctuid moths", J. Exp. Zool., 134: 1957, pp. 127-157.
- 121. Romer, A. S., <u>The Vertebrate Body</u>, W. B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, 1950, pp. 518-520.
- 122. Ruch, T. C. and Fulton, J. F., <u>Medical Physiology and Blo-physics</u>, W. B. Saunders Company, <u>Philadelphia</u>, 1961.
- 123. Patton, H. D., Woodbury, J. W. and Towe, A. L., Neurophysiology, W. B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, 1961.
- 124. Rushton, W. A. H., "Cone pigments in man", <u>Ann. N. Y. Acad.</u> <u>Sci.</u>, 74: 1958, pp. 291-304.
- 125. , "Visual pigments in man", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 207(5): 1962, pp. 120-132.
- 126. Sage, A. P., Jr., <u>Study and Research on Electronic Simula-</u> tion of the Biological Clock, USAF ASD Tech. Doc. Rept. No. 62-191, May 1962.

- 127. Sauer, E. G. F. and Sauer, E. M., "Star navigation of nocturnal migrating birds", in <u>Cold Spring Harbor Smyposia on</u> <u>Quantitative Biology</u>, <u>Biological Clocks</u>, Vol. 25, Long <u>Island Biological Association</u>, Inc., Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, New York, 1960, pp. 463-473.
- 128. Savely, H. E., "Air Force research on living prototypes", in <u>Living Prototypes - The Key to a New Technology</u>, USAF, WADD Tech. Rept. 60-600, September 1960, pp. 41-47.
- 129. Schmidt-Nielsen, K., <u>Animal Physiology</u>, Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, 1960.
- 130. \_\_\_\_\_, "Salt glands", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 200, (1): 1959, pp. 109-116.
- 131. Schwartzkopff, J., "Hearing in various birds; Cochlear potentials, conditioned responses", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 41: 1958, pp. 35-48.
- 132. Scott, J. P., <u>Animal Behavior</u>, Doubleday and Company, Inc., Garden City, New York, 1963.
- 133. Shaw, E., "The schooling of fistes", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 206, (6): 1962, pp. 128-138.
- 134. Silvers, W. K. and Billingham, R. E., "Skin transplants and the hamster", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 208: 1963, p. 118.
- 135. Simpson, G. G., <u>The Meaning of Evolution</u>, The New American Library of World Literature, Inc., New York, 1951, pp. 67-69.
- 136. Smith, R. A., Jones, F. E. and Chasmar, R. P., <u>The Detection</u> <u>and Measurement of Infrared Radiation</u>, Oxford University Press, London, 1958.
- 137. Stakeman, E. C. and Christensen, "Problems of Variability in Fungi in Plant Disease", in <u>The Yearbook of Agriculture</u>, U. S. Dept. of Agriculture, Washington, 1953, pp. 36-38.
- 138. Stewart, P. A., "Audiogram of pheasant", <u>Ohio J. Sci.</u>, 55: 1955, pp. 122-125.
- 139. Stewart, R. M., "Structurally Homogeneous Adaptive Systems", in <u>NAECON Natl. Conf. Proc.</u>, Dayton, Ohio, May 14-16, 1962, pp. 509-514.

- 140. Storer, T. L., <u>General Zoology</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1943.
- 141. Tweney, C. F. and Hughes, L. E. C., <u>Chambers' Technical</u> <u>Dictionary</u>, 3rd edition, Rev., The Macmillan Company, New York, 1958.
- 142. Van Nostrand, D., Van Nostrand's Scientific Encyclopedia, D. Van Nostrand Company, Inc., Princeton, N.J., 1958.
- 143. Wald, G. and Griffin, D. R., <u>J. Opt. Soc. Am.</u>, 37: 1947, p. 321. (Cited from Handbook of Physiology, Vol. Ι, μ. 668, Ref. No. 30.)
- 144. Walter, H. E., <u>Biology of the Vertebrates</u>, The Macmillan Company, New York, 1947.
- 145. Welty, J. C., <u>The Life of Birds</u>, Alfred A. Knopf, New York, 1963, p. 81.
- 146. Weimer, B. R., <u>Man and the Animal World</u>, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1951, pp. 440-441.
- 147. West, E. S. and Todd, W. R., <u>Textbook of Biochemistry</u>, The Macmillan Company, New York, 1961.
- 148. Woodruff, L. L. and Baitsell, G. A., <u>Foundations of Biology</u>, The Macmillan Company, New York, 1959.
- 149. Woodworth, R. S. and Schlesberg, H., <u>Experimental Psychology</u>, Henry Holt and Company, New York, 1954.
- 150. Worcester, D. C., "Note on the occurrence of a fiying crustacean in the Philippine Islands", <u>Phil. J. Sci.</u>, 9: 1914, p. 57.
- 151. World Book Encyclopedia, Field Enterprises Corp., Chicago, 1958.
- 152. Young, J. Z., <u>The Life of Mammals</u>, Oxford University Press, New York, 1957.
- 154. Zim, H. S. and Cottam, C. C., <u>Insects A Guide to Famillar</u> <u>American Species</u>, Golden Press, New York, 1956.
- 155. and Gabrielson, L. N., <u>Birds A Guide to the</u> Familiar American Species, Golden Press, New York, 1960.

- 156. Zim, H. S. and Hoffmeister, D. F., <u>Mammals A Guide to</u> <u>Familiar American Species</u>, Golden Press, New York, 1960.
- 157. and Ingle, O., <u>Seashores A Guide to Animals</u> and Plants along the Beaches, Golden Press. New York, 1955.
- 158. and Shoemaker, H. H., Fishes A Guide to Freshand Salt-Water Species, Golden Press, New York, 1956.
- 159. and Smith, H. M., <u>Reptiles and Amphibians A</u> <u>Guide to Familiar American Species</u>, Golden Press, New York, 1956.

# BEHAVIOR

Hall, C. S., "Temperament: A survey of animal studies", <u>Psychol. Bull.</u>, 38: 1941, pp. 909-943.

したいまたいがったなななない。 美麗人 しんしょうしょう たい

Schneirla, T. C., "Behavior, observation and experimentation", Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 51: 1950, pp. 1022-1044.

# CHEMICAL PRODUCTION

- Blum, M. S. and Woodring, J. P., "Secretion of benzaldehyde and hydrogen cyanide by the millipede Pachydesmus crassicutis (wood)", <u>Science</u>, 138: 1962, p. 512.
- Brookhaven Symposium in Biology No. 11, <u>The Photochemical</u> <u>Apparatus, Its Structure and Function</u>, U. S. Atomic Energy Commission, Brookhaven Laboratories, Upton, New York, 1959.
- Carey, F. G. and Schmidt-Nielsen, K., "Secretion of lodide by the nasal gland of birds", <u>Science</u>, 137: 1962, pp. 866-867.
- Hegner, R. W. and Stiles, K. A., <u>College Zoology</u>, The Macmillan Company, New York, 1953.
- Kellog, V. L., "Chemical attraction between silk moths", <u>Biol.</u> <u>Bull.</u>, 12: 1906, pp. 152-154.
- van Nlel, C. B., "The comparative piochemistry of photosynthesis", in <u>Photosynthesis in Plants</u>, J. Franck and W. E. Loomis, Eds., Iowa State College Press, Ames, iowa, 1949.

O'Connor, R., Rosenbrook, W. Jr. and Erickson, R., "Hymenoptera: Pure venom from bees, wasps, and hornets", <u>Science</u>, 139: 1963, p. 420.

Rabinowitch; E. I., <u>Photosynthesis and Related Processes</u>, volumes 1 and 11, Interscience Publishers, Iric., New York, '945-1956.

"Progress in photosynthesis", in <u>Plant Life</u>. Scientific American Book Sorles, Simon and Schuster, Inc., New York, 1957, pp. 91-99.

n an tracking in the state of the second second

#### CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY

- Abel, E., "Sense of smell, lizards", Oster. Zool. Ztschr., 3: 1951, pp. 83-125.
- Adrian, E. D., "Electrical responses from different parts of olfactory tract, mammals", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 128: 1955, pp. 21P-22P.
- and Ludwig, C., "Nervous discharges from the olfactory organs of fish", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 94: 1938, pp. 441-460.
- Allison, A. C., "Morphology of olfactory system in vertebrates", Biol. Rev., 28: 1953, pp. 195-244.
- Andersson, B. et al., "Responses from taste fibers of dog", Acta physiol. scand., 21: 1950, pp. 105-119.
- Bang. B. G., "Anatomical evidence for olfactory function in some species of birds", <u>Nature</u>, 188(4750): 1960, pp. 547-549.
- Earber, S. B., "Chemoreception in Limulus", J. Exp. Zool., 131: 1956, pp. 51-69.
- Beach, F. A. and Jaynes, J., "Studies of maternal retrieving in rats. I. Recognition of young", <u>J. Mammal.</u>, 37(2): 1956, pp. 177-180.
- Beidler, L. M., "Theory of taste and olfaction", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 38: 1954, pp. 133-139.
  - et al., "Analysis of taste responses, mammals", Amer. J. Physiol., 181: 1955, pp. 235-240.
- Bruce, H. M. and Parrott, D. M. V., "Role of olfactory sense in pregnancy block by strange males", <u>Science</u>, 131(3412): 1960, p. 1526.
- Butler. C. G., "Olfaction in discovery of tood by honeybee", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B</u>, 138: 1951, pp. 403-413.
- Chapman, J. A. and Craig, R., "Electrical analysis of chemoreception in insects", <u>Canad. Entomol.</u>, 85: 1953, pp. 182-189.
- Cohen, M. J. et al., "Response of spectrum of taste fibers in cat", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 33: 1955, pp. 316-332.

CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Cragg, B. G., "A specific response in the hippocampus of the rabbit to olfactory stimulation". <u>Nature</u>, 184(4700): 1959, p. 1697.
- Davies, A. T. and Taylor, F. H., "Role of adsorption and molecular morphology in olfaction", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 117-1959, pp. 222-238.
- Deinse, J. B., Jongkees, L. B. W. and Klign, J., Olfactory nystagmus of the head", <u>Acta Oto-laryngol.</u>, 44(3): 1954, pp. 233-236.
- Dethier, V. G., "Chemoreception in relation to choice of food plants by lepidopteran larvae", Amer. Nat., 75: 1941, pp. 61-73.

, "Stimulation of tarsal chemoreceptors in flies by various organic molecules", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 165: 1951, pp. 247-250.

, "The relation between olfactory response and receptor population in the blowfly", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 102: 1952, p. 111.

, "Summation and inhibition of responses to tarsal chemos mulation", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 105: 1953, pp. 257-268.

, "The physiology of olfaction in insects", <u>Ann.</u> <u>N. Y. Acad. Sci.</u>, 38: 1954, pp. 139-155.

, "The physiology and histology of the contact chemoreceptors of the blowfly", Quart. Rev. Biol., 30: 1955, pp. 348-371.

, "Sensory physiology of blood-sucking arthropods", <u>Exp. Parasitol.</u>, 6: 1957, pp. 68-122.

, "Chemo reception and the behavior of insects", in <u>Survey of Biological Progress</u>, 37, B. Glass, Ed., Academic Press, 1957, p. 149.

et al., "Relation between taste and ingestion of carbohydrates, biowfly", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, ill: 1956, pp. 204-222.

and Bodenstein, D., "Hunger in the blowfly", Ztschr. Tierpsychol., 15: 1958, pp. 129-140.

and Chadwick, L. E., "Relation between solubility and stimulating effect of inorganic and organic compounds", J. Gen. Physiol., 33: 1950, pp. 589-599.

CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

今日の 二日 一日 二日日

and the system and the second second

- Dethier, V. G. and Yost, M. T., "Olfactory stimulation by homologous alcohols", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 35: 1952, pp. 823-839.
- Deutsch, J. A. and Jones, A. D., "The water-salt receptor and preference in the rat", Nature, 183(4673): 1959, p. 1472.
- El Barodi, A. F. and Bourne, G. H., "Localization of gustatory and olfactory enzymes in the rabbit, and the problems of taste and smell", <u>Nature</u>, 168(4284): 1951, pp. 977-979.
- von Euler, U. S., Liljestrand, G. and Zotterman, Y., "Uber den Reizmechanismus der Chemorezeptoren im Glomus caroticum", Acta physiol. scand., 1: 1941, pp. 383-385.
- Evans, D. R. and Dethier, V. G., "The regulation of taste thresholds for sugars in the blowfly", <u>J. Insect</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 1: 1957, p. 3.
- Fishman, I. Y., "Single fiber gustatory impulses in rat and hamster", <u>J. Cell. Comp. Physiol.</u>, 43: 1957, pp. 319-334.
- Forrester, A. T. and Parkins, W. E., "Test of infrared absorption theory of olfaction", <u>Science</u>, 114: 1951, pp. 5-6.
- Frings, H., "Sweet taste in the cat and the taste-spectrum", Experientia, 7(11): 1951, pp. 424-426.

and Frings, M., "The loci of contact chemoreceptors in insects", <u>Amer. Midland Nat.</u>, 41: 1949, p. 602.

, "Contact chemoreceptors in adult Trichopera (caddis flies)", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 111: 1956, pp. 92-100.

, "Location of contact chemoreceptors in Lepidoptera", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 110: 1956, pp. 291-299.

and O'Neal, B. R., "Contact chemoreceptors in females of horsefly Tabanus", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 103: 1946, pp. 61-79.

- von Frisch, K., "Comparative physiology of taste, particularly in honeybees", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 21: 1934, pp. 1-156.
- Gerebtzoff, M., "Olfaction", <u>J. Physiol. Paris</u>, 45: 1953, pp. 247-283.
- Goetzl, F. R., Abel, M. S. and Ahokas, A. J. Occurrence in normal individuals of diurnal variations in olfactory acuity", J. Appl. Physiol., 2(10): 1950, pp. 553-562.

CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Gordon, G. et al., "Responses of taste fibers in chorda tympani of monkey", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 46: 1959, pp. 119-132.
- Gotz, B., "Chemical sex attractants in Lepidoptera", <u>Experiments</u>, 7: 1951, pp. 406-418.

Göz, H., "Olfactory discrimination by fish", <u>Ztschr. vergl.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 29: 1941, pp. 1-45.

Grabowski, E. T. and Dethier, V. G., "The structure of the tarsal chemoreceptors of the blowfly, Phormia regina, Meigen", J. Morphol., 94: 1954, pp. 1-19.

Haagen-Smit, A. S., "Smell and taste", in <u>Scientific American</u> <u>Reader</u>, Simon and Schuster, New York, 1953.

Hasler, A. D., "Odour perception and orientation in fishes", J. Fish Res. Bd. Canada, 11(2): 1954, pp. 107-129.

and Wisby, W. J., "Discrimination of stream odors and pollutants by fish", <u>Quart. Rev. Biol.</u>, 31: 1956, pp. 200-209.

Hassett, C. C. et al., "Comparison of nutritive value and taste thresholds of carbohydrates, blowfly", <u>Biol.</u> <u>Bull.</u>, 99: 1950, pp. 446-453.

Hodgson, E. S., "Reaction thresholds of an aquatic beetle to salts and alcohols", <u>Physiol. Zool.</u>, 24: 1951, pp. 131-440.

, "Chemoreception in aqueous and gas phases by a beetle", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 105: 1953, pp. 115-127.

, "Chemoreception in invertebrates", Quart. Rev. Biol., 30: 1955, pp. 331-347.

, "Electrophysiological studies of arthropod chemoreception", J. Insect. Physiol., 1: 1957, pp. 240-257.

, "Electrophysiological analysis of responses of single chemoreceptor hairs of Diptera; chemoreceptors of terrestrial and fresh-water arthropods", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 115: 1958, pp. 114-125.

and Barton-Browne, L., "Mechanical stimulation of chemoreceptors", <u>Anat. Rec.</u>, 137: 1960, p. 365.

CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Constant of the second

\*\*\*

194 - 1 - 14

Hodgson, E. S., Lettvin, J. Y. and Roeder, K. D., "Physiology of a primary chemoreceptor unit", <u>Science</u>, 122: 1955, p. 417.

and Roeder, K. D., "Electrophysiological studies of arthropod chemoreception", <u>J. Cell. and Comp. Physiol.</u>, 48: 1956, pp. 51-76.

Hudson, B. N. A., "The effect of flight on the taste threshold and carbohydrate utilization of Phormia regina, Meigen", J. Insect Physiol., 1: 1958, p. 293.

> , "Chemical factors in oviposition site selection by mosquitoes", <u>Exp. Biol.</u>, 33: 1956, pp. 478-492.

- Kalmus, H., "The discrimination by the nose of the dog of individual human odours and in particular the odours of twins", <u>Brit. J. Animal Behaviour</u>, 3(1): 1955, pp. 25-31.
  - , "The chemical senses", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 198(4): 1958, pp. 97-106.
- Kleerekoper, H. and Mogensen, J. A., "Scent of trout", <u>Ztschr.</u> vergl. Physiol., 42: 1959, pp. 492-500.
- Köhler, F., "Wäche und Völksduft im Bienenstaat", <u>Ztschr. f.</u> <u>Bienenforsch.</u>, 3(3): 1955, pp. 57-63.
- Kriner, M., "Chemical discrimination by minnows", <u>Ztschr. vergl.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 21: 1934, pp. 317-342.
- Kuhn, R. and Gauche, A., "Alkaloid glycosides of Solanaceae in relation to feeding by potato beetles", <u>Ztschr. Naturforsch</u>, 2: 1947, pp. 407-409.
- Landgren, S., Liljestrand. G. and Zotterman, Y., "Chemical transmission in taste fiber endings", <u>Acta physiol.</u> <u>scand.</u>, 30: 1954, pp. 105-114.
- LeMagnen, J., "Les phénomènes olfacto-sexuels chez l'homme", <u>Arch. Sci. Physiol.</u>, 6(2): 1952, pp. 125-160.

, "Les phénomènes olfacto-sexuels chez le rat blanc, <u>Arch. Sci. Physiol.</u>, 6(4): 1952, pp. 295-331.

Liljestrand, G. and Zotterman, Y., "Water taste in mammals", Acta physiol. scand., 32: 1954, pp. 291-303.

Mangold, O., "Chemical discrimination by earthworms", Zool. Jahrb. Abt. allg. Zool. Physiol., 62: 1951, pp. 441-512.

CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Marcström, A., "Reaction thresholds of roaches to some aromatic substances", <u>Arkiv. Zool.</u>, 12(4): 1959, pp. 335-338.
- McIndoo, N. E., "Olfactory sense of honeybee, Coleoptera, Orthoptera", J. Comp. Neurol., 31: 1920, pp. 405-427.
- Michelsen, W. J., "Procedure for studying olfactory discrimination in pigeons", <u>Science</u>, 130(3376): 1959, pp. 630-631.
- Miles, P. W., "Contact chemoreception in some Heteroptera, including chemoreception internal to the stylet food canal", <u>J. Insect Physiol.</u>, 2(4): 1958, pp. 338-347.
- Miles, W. R. and Beck, L. H., "Infrared absorption hypothesis of olfaction", <u>Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.</u>, 35: 1949, pp. 292-310.

بالمراجع المستخل والمواطر والمراجع المراجع المراجع والمراجع

- Minnich, D. E., "Tarsal sensitivity to sugar, butterfly Pyrameis", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 36: 1922, pp. 445-457.
- Moncrieff, R. W., "Olfactory adaptation and odor likeness", J. Physiol., 113: 1956, pp. 301-316.
- Morita, H. S., Doira, S., Takeda, K. and Kuwabara, M., "Electrical response of the contact chemoreceptor on tarsus of the butterfly, Vanessa indica", <u>Mem. Fac. Sc., Kyushu</u> <u>Univ., series E (Biol.)</u>, 2: 1957, p. 119.

and Yamashita, S., "Generator potential of insect chemoreceptor", <u>Science</u>, 130: 1959, p. 922.

- Moultan, D. G., "Studies in olfactory acuity The comparative olfactory sensitivity of pigmented and albino race", <u>Animal Behavior</u>, 8(3) and (4): 1960.
- , Ashton, E. H. and Eayrs, J. T., "Studies in olfactory acuity - Relative detectability of n-aliphatic acids by the dog", <u>Animal Behavior</u>, 8(3) and (4): 1960, pp. 117-128.
- Mullins, L. J., "Theory of olfaction", <u>Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.</u>, 62: 1955, pp. 247-276.
- Neuhaus, W., "Oifactory thresholds in dog", <u>Ztschr. vergi.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 38: 1956, pp. 238-258.
- Neurath, H., "Olfactory sense in minnows", <u>Ztschr. vergl.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 31: 1949, pp. 609-626.

CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Ottoson, D., "Analysis of the electrical activity of the olfactory epithelium", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 35 Suppl. 122: 1956, pp. 1-83.
- Pfaffman, C., "Gustatory afferent impulses", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 17: 1941, pp. 243-258.

, "Chemical sense", in <u>Experimental Psychology</u>, S. Stevens, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1951, pp. 1143-1171.

\_\_\_\_\_\_, "Gustatory nerve impulses, rat, cat, rabbit", J. Neurophysiol., 18: 1955, pp. 429-440.

- Rahm, N., "Localization of chemoreceptors in mosquitoes", <u>Rev.</u> <u>Suisse Zool.</u>, 65: 1958, pp. 779-792.
- Ribbands, C. R., "Scent perception of honeybee", Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B, 143: 1955, pp. 367-379.
- Roeder, K. D. and Kennedy, N. K., "Action of anticholinesterases on synapses and axones of the cockroach", <u>Fed. Proc.</u>, 6: 1947, p. 191.
- Roys, C., "Olfactory nerve potentials a direct measure of chemoreceptors in insects", <u>Ann. N. Y. Acad, Sci.</u>, 58: 1954, p. 250.
- Schneider, D., "Electrical responses from moth antennai receptors during chemostimulation", Experientia, 13: 1957, pp. 89-91.
- Schwarz, R., "Olfactory thresholds of honeybee" Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 37: 1955, pp. 180-210.
- Schwinck, I., "Localization and morphology of chemoreceptors in silk moth", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 37: 1955, pp. 439-458.
- von Skramlik, E., "Smell and taste in man", <u>Pflüg. Arch.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 249: 1948, pp. 702-716.
- Sladden, D. E., "Transference of induced food habit from parent to offspring", Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B, 114: 1934, pp. 31-46.
- Slifer, E. H., "Detection of odors and locations of receptors in grasshoppers", J. Exp. Zool., 130: 1955, pp. 301-317.

15.

CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Slifer, E. H., "Ultrastructure of chemoreceptors and other sense organs on antennal flagellum of grasshopper", J. Morphol., 105: 1959, pp. 145-191.

, Preslage, J. J. and Beams, H. W., "Structure of long basiconic sensory pegs of grasshopper", <u>J.</u> <u>Morphol.</u>, 101: 1957, pp. 359-381.

, "The chemoreceptors and other sense organs on the antennal flagellum of the grasshopper", <u>J. Morphol.</u>, 105(1): 1959, pp. 145-191.

- Smyth, T. and Roys, C. C., "Chemoreception in insects and the action of DDT", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 108: 1955, pp. 66-76.
- Snyder, L. H., "Inheritance of taste differences in man", <u>Ohio</u> J. Sci., 32: 1932, pp. 436-440.
- Spillane, A. E., "Feeding habits of the orchard spider", <u>Victorian Nat.</u>, 71(3): 1954, p. 50.
- Studd, J. H., "Interaction between ants on a scent trail", Nature, 183(4675): 1959.
- Stürckow, B., "Behavior and electrophysiological studies on chemoreception in potato beetle Leptinotarsa", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 42: 1959, pp. 255-302.
- Teichmann, H., "Concerning the power of the olfactory sense of the eei", <u>Zeitschr. vergl. Physioi.</u>, 43(3): 1959, pp. 206-254.

Thorpe, W. H., "Biological races identified by food plant selection", <u>Biol. Rev.</u>, 5: 1930, pp. 177-212.

, "Preimaginal olfactory conditioning in insects", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B</u>, 127: 1939, pp. 424-433.

and Jones, F. G., "Olfactory conditioning in parasitic insect", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B</u>, 124: 1937, pp. 56-81.

Thorsteinson, A. J., "Chemolactic responses in relation to food plants, Lepidoprera", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 31: 1953, pp. 52-72.

Valentine, J. M., "Olfactory sense of flour beetle Tenebrio", J. Exp. Zool., 58: 1931, pp. 165-227.

## CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

A setting and the set of the set of the set of the set

- Verschaeffelt, E., "Food selection by herbivorous insects", Proc. Acad. Sci. Amsterdam, 14: 1910, pp. 536-542.
- Vinnekov, A., "The olfactomotor response of the receptor cells of the olfactory organ", <u>Uspe</u> **Sovren Biol.**, 41(3): 1956, pp. 358-365.
- Walsh, R. R., "Single cell activity in olfactory bulb, rabbit", Amer. J. Physici. 186: 1956, pp. 255-257.
- Weddell, G., "Somasthesis and the chemical senses", <u>Ann. Rev.</u> <u>Psychol.</u>, 6: 1955, pp. 119-136.
- Willis, E. R. and Roth, L. M., "Reactions of Aedes and of Tribolium to carbon dioxide", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 127: 1954, pp. 117-152.
- Wolbarsht, M. L., "Electrical activity in the chemoreceptors of the blowfly. 11. Responses to electrical stimulation", J. Gen. Physiol., 42: 1958, pp. 393-428.
- and Dethier, V. G., "Electrical activity in the chemoreceptors of the blowfly. 1. Responses to chemical and mechanical stimulation", J. Gen. Physiol., 42: 1958, pp. 393-412.
- Zayko, N. S., "Regular phenomena of the functional activity of the human gustatory receptor apparatus", <u>Biull. Eksp.</u> <u>Biol. i. Met.</u>, 41(1): 1956, pp. 19-22.
- Zotterman, Y., "Species differences in water, sweet and salt taste", Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 81: 1959, pp. 358-366.

and Diamant, H., "Has water a specific taste?", Nature, 183(4655): 1959, pp. i91-192.

517

#### ELECTRICAL ENERGY

- Abbott, B. C., "Heat production in perve and electric organ", J. Gen. Physiol., 43(5): 1960, Pt. 2, pp. 119-127.
- Abe, N., "Galvanotropism of the catfish, Parasilurus asotus", Science Rep., Tohoku Univ., 9: 1935, pp. 393-406.

Bennett, M. V. L. and Grundfest, H., "Electrophysiology of electric organs in Gymnotus carapo", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 42: 1959, pp. 1067-1104.

and Wurzel, M., "The electrophysiology of electric organs of marine electric fishes", J. Gen. Physiol., 44(4): 1961, pp. 757-843.

Grundfest, H., "The mechanism of the discharge of the electric organs in relation to general and comparative electrophysiology", <u>Progr. in Biophys. and Biophys. Chem.</u>, 7: 1957, pp. 1-85.

, "General problems of drug actions in biolectric phenomena", Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 66: 1957, p. 537.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Electric fishes", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 203(4): 1960, pp. 115-124.

Keynes, R. D., "The generation of electricity by fishes", Endeavour, 15(57): 1956, pp. 215-222.

Lissmann, H. W., "Continuous electrical signals from the tail of a fish, Gymnarchus niloticus", <u>Nature</u>, 167: 1951, pp. 201-202.

, "On the function and evolution of electric organs in fish", J. Exp. Biol., 35: 1958, pp. 156-191.

and Machin, K. E., "Mechanism of object location in Gymnarchus niloticus and similar fish", <u>J. Exp.</u> Biol., 35(2): 1958, pp. 451-486.

Regnart, H. C., "On the lower limits of perception of electric currents by fish", <u>J. Mar. Biol. Assn. U. K.</u>, 17: 1931, pp. 415-420.

Scheminzki, F., "Körpergrösse und Empfindlichkeit gegen den elektrischen Strom", <u>Pflüg. Arch. Ges. Phys.</u>: 1931, p. 228.

Wright, P. G., "An electrical receptor in fishes", <u>Nature</u>, 181(4601): 1958, pp. 64-65.

# EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL

- Adlar, P., "Die Beeinflussung der Galvanotaxis und Galvanonarkos bei Fischen durch Narkotika und Coffein", <u>Pflüg.</u> <u>Arch. ges. Phys.</u>, 230: 1932, pp. 113-128.
- Birukow, G., "Gravity responses, frog", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 34: 1952, pp. 448-472.
  - , "Transfer from phototaxis to geotaxis in dung beetle, Geotrupes", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 36: 1954, pp. 176-211.

and Oberdorfer, H., "Schwerkraftorientlerung beim Wasserlaufer Vella currens F. am Tage und zur Nachtzeit", Zeltschr. Tlerpsych., 16: 1959, pp. 693-705.

- Boycott, B. B., "Structure and function of statocysts in octopus", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B</u>, 152: 1960, pp. 78-87.
- and Young, J. Z., "Reactions to shape in Octopus vulgaris", <u>Proc. Zool. Soc. London</u>, 126: 1956, pp. 491-547.
- Braemer. W. and Braemer, H., "Gravity orientation by various fish", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 40: 1958, pp. 529-542.
- Brown, F. A., Jr. et al., "Magnetic response of an organism and its sciar relationship", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 118(3): 1960, pp. 367-381.
- , Bennett, M. F. and Webb, H. M., "A magnetic compass response of an organism", <u>Blol. Bull.</u>, 119(1): 1960, pp. 65-74.
- , Webb, H. M. and Brett, W. J., "Magnetic response of an organism and its lunar relationships", <u>Biol.</u> Bull., 118(3): 1960, pp. 382-392.
- Buchs, S., "Proteases in mammals and fish stomachs", <u>Ztschr.</u> vergl. Physiol., 36: 1954, pp. 165-175.
- Buckmann, D., "Geotaxis in burrowing beetles (Staphylinidae)", Ztschr. vergi. Physiol., 36: 1954, pp. 488-507.
- von Buddenbrock, W., "Statocysts in Pecten, invertebrates in general, mechano-senses", Zool. Jahrb. Abt. Alig. Zool. Physiol., 35: 1915, pp. 301-356; Vergl. Physiol. 1., Sinnesphysiologie, Basle, Birklaudr. 1952, pp. 233-287.

519

## EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL, Continued:

Burke, W., "Proprioception and vibration sense organ in Carlnus", <u>J. Exp. Biol.</u>, 31: 1954, pp. 127-138.

Cohen, M. J., "The function of receptors in the statocyst of the lobster Homarus americanus", J. Physiol., 130(1): 1955, pp. 9-34.

, "Analysis of function of statocysts of Crustacea". <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B</u>, 152: 1960, pp. 30-48.

- Copeland, D. E., "Reflex filling of swim bladder in physoclistous fish", J. Exp. Zool., 120: 1952, pp. 203-212.
- Cosh, J. A., "Studies on the nature of vibration sense", <u>Clin.</u> <u>Sci. (London)</u>, 12(2): 1953, pp. 131-151.
- Creutzberg, F., "Discrimination between ebb and flood tide in migrating elvers by means of olfactory perception", <u>Nature</u>, 184(4703): 1959, p. 1961.
- Crozier, W. J. et al., "Stereotactic and geotactic responses", J. Gen. Physiol., 6: 1934, pp. 531-537.
- Dijkgraff, S., "Equilibrium reception in fish", <u>Physiol. Comp.</u> <u>Oecol.</u>, 2: 1950, pp. 81-106.

**6:** 1950, pp. 188-190.

, "Comparison of lateral line system and labyrinth of ear in fish", Experientia, 8: 1952, pr. 205-216.

, "Rotation reflexes, role of statocysts in setting eye movements, Crustacea", <u>Experientia</u>, 11: 1955, pp. 329-333.

- Enright, J. T., "Lunar orientation of Orchestoidea corriculata Stout (Amphipoda)", Biol. Bull., 120(2): 1961, pp. 149-156.
- van Eyck, M., "Electrical responses from semicircular canals of pigeons", Arch. int. Physiol., 57- 1949, pp. 102-105, 231-236.
- Faust, R., "Functions of haiteres in flies", 2001. Jahrb. Alig. Zool. Physiol., 63: 1952, pp. 325-366.

EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL, Continued:

1.11

ŝ

- Fields, P. E., Murray, A. K., Johnson, D. E. and Finger, G. L., "Guiding migrant salmon by light repulsion and attraction in fast and turbid water", <u>Univ. Wash. Schl. Fish.</u> <u>Tech. Rept.</u>, 36(41)vii + 44: 1958.
- Fraenkel, G., "Equilibrium sense in medusae", <u>Ztschr. vergl.</u> Physiol., 2: 1925, pp. 658-690.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Function of dipteran halteres", <u>Proc. Zool. Soc.</u> London, 109: 1939, pp. 69-78.

- Franz, G., "Swim bladder reflexes in fish", <u>Ztschr. vergl.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 25: 1937, pp. 193-238.
- von Frisch, K., "Die Richtungsorientierung der Bienen", <u>Vergl.</u> D. Zool. Ges. Freiburg, 1952.

and Lindauer, M., "Himmel und Erde in Kinkurrenz bel der Orientierung der Bienen", <u>Die Naturwissenschaften</u>, 41: 1954, pp. 245-253.

Gernandt, B., "Response of mammalian vestibular neurons to horizontal rotation and caloric stimulation", <u>J. Neuro-</u> physiol., 12: 1949, pp. 173-184.

, "The effect of the centrifugal force upon the nerve discharge from the horizontal canal", <u>Acta</u> physiol. scand., 21: 1950, pp. 61-72.

- Gould, E., "Orientation in box turtles", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 112(3): 1957, pp. 336-348.
- Graber, R. R. and Cochran, W. W., "Evaluation of aural record of nocturnal migration", <u>Wilson Bull.</u>, 72(3): 1960, pp. 253-273.
- Griffin, D. R., "Sensory physiology and orientation of animals", Amer. Sci., 41: 1953, pp. 209-244.
- Groen, J. J., Lowenstein, O. and Vendrik, A. J. G., "The mechanical analysis of the responses from the end-organs of the horizontal semicircular canal in the isolated elasmobranch labyrinth", J. Physiol., 117: 1952, pp. 329-346.
- Harvey, L. A., "Bird migration and weather", <u>Sci. Prog.</u> 47 (187): 1959, pp. 553-559.
- Hasier, A. D., "Perception of pathways by fishes in migration", Quart. Rev. Biol., 31(3): 1956, pp. 200-209.

# EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL, Continued:

- Hasier, A. D. and Schwassmann, H. O., "Sun orientation of fish at different latitudes", in <u>Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on</u> <u>Cuantitative Biology</u>, <u>Biological Clocks</u>, Vol. 25, Long Island Biological Association, Inc., Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, 1960, pp. 429-441.
- von Holst, E., "Combination of light and gravity in orientation
  of fish; function of statolith system", Ztschr. vergl.
  Physiol., 32: 1959, pp. 60-120.
- Holzman, B. G., "Birds, bees, and ballistic beasts", <u>Science</u>, 132(3430): 1960, p. 183.
- Jacobs, W., "Swim bladder of fish and orientation with respect to depth", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 27: 1939, pp. 1-28.
- Jander, R., "Die optische Richtungsorientierung der roten Waldameise (Formica rufa)", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 40: 1957, pp. 162-238.
- Jones, F. R. H., "Swim bladder and vertical movements of fish", J. Exp. Biol., 28: 1951, pp. 553-566.

\_\_\_\_\_, "An apparent reaction of fish to linear acceleration", Nature, 178(4534): 1956, pp. 642-643.

and Marshall, N. B., "Structure and functions of teleostean swim bladder", <u>Biol. Rev.</u>, 28: 1953, pp. 16-83.

- Kalmus, H., "The sun navigation of bees in the southern hemisphere", Bee World, 38(2): 1957, pp. 29-33.
- , "Orientation of animals to polarized light", <u>Nature</u>, 184(4682): 1959, p. 228.
- Kramer, G., "Migration and orientation recent experiments on bird orientation", <u>lbis.</u>, 101(3/4): 1959, pp. 399-416.
- Lindauer, M., "Schwarmbienen auf Wohnungssuche", <u>Ztschr. vergl.</u> Physiol., 37: 1955, pp. 263-324.

, "Sonnemprientierung der Bienen unter der Aquatorsonne und zur Nachtzeit", <u>Die Naturwissenschaften</u>, 44: 1957, pp. 1-6.

EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL, Continued:

- Lindauer, M., "Inborn and learned components in the sunorientation of bees, comments about and experiments on a report of Kalmus", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 42(1): 1959, pp. 43-62.
- and Nedel, J. O., "Gravity sense and orientation of head in honeybee", <u>Etschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 42: 1959, pp. 334-364.
- Lissmann, H. W. et al., "The mechanism of object location in Gymnarchus niloticus and similar fish", <u>J. Exp. Biol.</u>, 35: 1958, pp. 451-486, 541.
- Lowenstein, O. and Roberts, T. D. M., "Responses to vibration in isolated elasmobranch labyrinth", J. Physiol., 110: 1950, pp. 392-415; 114: 1951, pp. 471-489.

and Sand, A., "The individual and integrated activity of the semicircular canals of the elasmobranch labyrinth", J. Physiol., 99: 1940, pp. 89-101.

, "Equilibrium function of otolith organs and semicircular canals of elasmobranch Raja, analyzed by nerve impulse recording", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc.</u> London, <u>B</u>, 129: 1940, pp. 256-275.

- Meder, E., "Concerning the calculation of the sun's movement with the orientation of the honeybee", <u>Ztschr. vergl.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 40(6): 1958, pp. 610-641.
- Mueller, H. C. and Emlen, J. T., Jr., "Homing in bats", <u>Science</u>, 126(3268): 1957, pp. 307-308.
- Myrberget, S., "How do migrating birds find their way?" <u>Maps</u>, 3(5): 1959, pp. 193-214.
- Novick, A., "Orientation in paleotropical bats. 1. Microchiroptera", J. Exp. Zool., 138(1): 1958, pp. 81-153.

, "Orientation in paleotropical bats. II. Megachiroptera", J. Exp. Zool., 137(3): 1958, pp. 443-462.

, Serretti, L. and Parrini, S., "New studies on the orientation and sense of time of Aroneae lycosidae", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 39(5): 1957, pp. 531-561.

## RELATED LETERATERE

# EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL, Continued:

Pardi, L., "Phaleria light-compass response", Z\*schr. Tierpsychol., 14: 1958, pp. 261-275.

and Papi, F., "Celestial orientation in arthropods", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 35: 1953, pp. 459-518.

Pennyculck, C. J., "The physical basis of astro-navigation in birds: Theoretical considerations", <u>J. Exp. Biol.</u>, 37(3): 1960, pp. 573-593.

- Peters, H. M., "Role of swim bladder in orientation of sea horse". Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 33: 1951, pp. 207-265.
- Pratt, J. G., "Research on animal orientation with emphasis on the phenomena of homing in pigeons", Duke University, 1955, <u>AD 53687</u>.

Prechtl, H. F. R., "Zur Paarungsbiologie einiger Molcharten", Ztschr. Tierpsychol., 8(3): 1951, pp. 337-347.

- Pringle, J. W. S., "Gyroscopic mechanism of halteres of Diptera", Insect Flight, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1957, p. 133.
- Rabe, W., "Beiträge zum Orlentierungsproblem der Wasserwanzen", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 20: 1953, pp. 1-34.
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, "Orientation of backswimmers and other aquatic insects", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 35: 1953, pp. 300-325.
- Regen, J., "Orientation of female orthopterans to male songs", Akad. Wiss. Wien., 132: 1932, pp. 81-88.
- Renner, M., "The contribution of the honey bee to the study of time-sense and astronomical orientation", Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology, Biological Clocks, Vol. 25, Long Island Biological Association, Inc., Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, 1950, pp. 361-367.
- Rough, G. E., "The frequency range of mechanical vibrations perceived by three species of freshwater fish", <u>Copeia</u>, (3): 1954, pp. 191-194.
- Salpeter, M. and Walcott, C., "The anatomy of the vibration receptor of the spider", <u>Anat. Rec.</u>, 132(3): 1958, p. 501.

, "An electron microscopical study of a vibration receptor in the spider", <u>Exp. Neurol.</u>, 2(3): 1960.

EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL, Continued:

- Sandel, T. T. et al., "Localization of sound from single and paired sources", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 27(5): 1955, pp. 842-852.
- Santschi, F., "Observations et remarques critiques sur le mechanisme de l'orientation chez les fourmis", <u>Rev.</u>, <u>Suisse Zool.</u>, 19: 1911, pp. 303-338.
- Sauer, F., "Die Sternenorientierung nächtlich ziehender Grasmücken (Sylvia atricapilla, Borin und Curruca)", <u>Ztschr.</u> <u>Tierpsychol.</u>, 14(a): 1957, pp. 29-70.
- Schneider, G., "Halteres and equilibrium in blowflies (Calliphora)", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 35: 1953, pp. 416-458.

, "Static sense of Calliphora and the physical stabilizing effect of the halteres", <u>Nature</u>, 181(4619): 1958, pp. 1355-1356.

- Schoen, L. and von Holst, E., "Role of lagena and utriculus in orientation of fish", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 32: 1950, pp. 552-571.
- Schöne, H., "Die statische Gleichgewichtsorientierung dekapoder Crustacean", <u>Verhand. Deutsch. Ges. Wilhelmshaven</u>: 1951, pp. 157-162.

\_\_\_\_\_\_, "Statocyst function and equilibrium orientation in crustaceans", Anat. Rec., 134: 1959, pp. 134-135.

- Swain, A. and Caradine, P. E., "An international tagging test with salmon (Salmo salar L.) smolts", <u>Nature</u>, 185(4798): 1960, p. 206.
- Sych, L., "Sensitivity of the large mouse-eared bat Myotis myotis (Borkhausen) to air currents in laboratory conditions", Folia Biol., 8: 1960, pp. 135-147.
- Trincker, D., "Electrical responses of cupula system on rotation, guinea pig", <u>Pflüg. Arch. Physiol.</u>, 264: 1957, pp. 351-382.
- Vogelberg, L. and Krüger, F., "Versche über die Richtungsorientierung bei weissen Mäusen und Ratten", <u>Ztschr.</u> <u>Tierpsychol.</u>, 8(2): 1951, pp. 293-321.
- Walcott, C. and Van der Kloot, W. G., "Physiology of spider vibration receptor", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 141: 1959, pp. 191-244.

## RELATED LIT. PATURE

# EQUILIBRIUM SENSING AND CONTROL, Continued:

- Wallrof, Hans G., "Locally and temporally determined variability of homing in homing pigeons", <u>Ztschr. Tier-</u> <u>psychol.</u>, 16(5): 1959, pp. 513-544.
- Weis-Fogh, T., "Mechanoreceptors in relation to flight in locusts", <u>Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. London, B</u>, 239: 1957, pp. 553-585.
- Wolbarsht, M. L., "Electrical characteristics of insect mechanoreceptors", J. Gen. Physiol., 44(1): 1960, pp. 105-122.
- Yamashita, T., "Statoliths in sense organs of Aurelia; impulses from these sense organs", <u>Ztschr. Biol.</u>, 109: 1956, pp. 111-122.
- Young, J. Z., "Structure and function of statocysts in octopus", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B</u>, 152: 1960, pp. 3-29.

Zotterman, Y., "The microphonic effect of teleost labyrinths and its biological significance", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 102: 1943, pp. 313-318.

**4**1-

#### LEARN ING

- Bailey, C. J. and Porter, L. W., "Relevant cues in drive discrimination in cats," J. Comp. Physiol. Fsychol., 48: 1955, pp. 180-182.
- Barlow, H. B., "Sensory mechanisms, the reduction of redundancy, and Intelligence," In <u>Mechanisation of Thought Processes</u>, Vol. 11, National Physical Laboratory, Symposium No. 10, London: 1959, pp. 537-559.
- Bogoslovski, A. I., "An attempt at creating sensory conditioned reflexes in humans," J. Exp. Psychol., 21: 1937, pp. 403-422.
- Bolles, R. and Petrinovich, L., "A technique for obtaining rapid drive discrimination in the rats," J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol., 47: 1954, pp. 378-380.
- Campbell, B. A. and Kraeling, D., "Response strength as a function of drive level during training," <u>J. Comp. Physiol.</u> <u>Psychol.</u>, 47: 1954, pp. 101-103.
- Finan, J. L., "Quantitative studies in motivation. I. Strength of conditioning in rats under varying degrees of hunger," <u>J. Comp. Psychol.</u>, 29: 1940, pp. 119-134.
- Gerard, R. W., "What is memory?", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 189(3): 1953, pp. 118-126.
- Harlow, H. F., "Learning," <u>Ann. Rev. Psychol.</u>, 3: 1952, pp. 29-54.
- Harlow, H. F., "The evolution of learning", in <u>Behavior and</u> <u>Evolution</u>, A. Rue and G. G. Simpson, Eds., Yale Univ. Press, New Haven, 1958.
- Hebb, D. O., The Organization of Behavior, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1952.
- Heron, W. T., "internal stimuli and learning", J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol., 42: 1949, pp. 486-492.
- King, R. A., <u>The effects of training and motivation on the com-</u> ponents of a learned instrumental response, Ph. D. dissertation, Duke University, 1959.

Levine, S., "The role of irrelevant drive stimuli in learning," <u>J. Exp. Psychol.</u>, 45: 1953, pp. 410-416.
LEARNING, Continued.

- Loess, H. B. and Duncan, C. P., "Human discrimination learning with simultaneous and successive presentation of stimuli," J. Exp. Psychol., 44: 1952, pp. 215-221.
- McNamara, H. J. and Wike, E. L., "The effects of irregular learning conditions upon the rate and permanence of learning," <u>J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol.</u>, 51: 1958, pp. 363-366.
- Ramond, C. K., "Performance in selective learning as a function of hunger," <u>J. Exp. Psychol.</u>, 48: 1954, pp. 265-270.
- Rexroad, C. N., "Outline of the conditions under which learning occurs," <u>Psychol. Rev.</u>, 39: 1932, pp. 174-183.
- Schmitt, O. H., "Biological transducers and coding", in <u>Bio-</u> <u>Physical Science - A Study Program</u>, J. L. Oncley, Editor, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1959.
- Skinner, B. F., "Some contributions of an experimental analysis of behavior to psychology as a whole", <u>Amer. Psychol.</u>, 8, 1953, pp. 69-78.
- Stevens, I. S., Ed., <u>Handbook of Experimental Psychology</u>, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1951.

### LIGHT PRODUCTION

- Clarke, G. L. and Backus, R. H., "Measurements of light penetration in relation to vertical migration and records of iuminescence of deep-sea animals", <u>Deep-Sea Res.</u>, 4(1): 1956, pp. 1-14.
- Denton, E. J. and Warren, F. J.. "The photosensirive pigments in the retinae of deep-sea fish", <u>J. Marine Biol. Assoc.</u> <u>U. K.</u>, 36(3): 1957, pp. 651-662.
- Nicol, J. A. C., "Luminescence in Nuctiluca", J. Marine Biol. Assoc. U. K., 37(2): 1958, pp. 535-549.
  - , "Observations on luminescence in pelagic animals", <u>J. Marine Biol. Assoc. U. K.</u>, 37(3): 1958, pp. 705-752.
- Wald, G., Brown, P. K. and Brown, P. S., "Visual pigments and depth of habitat of marine fishes", <u>Nature</u>, 180(4593): 1959, pp. 969-971.
- Zenkevich, L. A. and Birstein, J. A., "Studies of the deep water fauna and related problems", <u>Deep-Sea Res.</u>, 4(1): 1956, pp. 54-64.

### LIGHT SENSITIVITY

Adolph, A. R., "Application of probability theory to visual mechanisms", <u>MIT Bioelectric Signals Seminar</u>: 1957.

Adrian, E. D., "The electric response of the human eye", <u>J.</u> Physiol., 104: 1945, pp. 84-104.

and Matthews, R., "The action of light on the eye, Part III. The interaction of retinal neurones", J. Physiol., 65: 1928, pp. 273-298. ----

and Zotterman, Y., "The impulses produced by sensory nerve-endings, Cart II. The response of a single end-organ", J. Physiol., 61: 1926, p. 151.

All, M. A., "Retinomotor responses in fishes", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 37: 1959, pp. 965-996.

- Allen, F., "The visual apparatus as an optical instrument", Sci. Mo., 72(2): 1951, pp. 71-74.
- Andersen, E. E. and Weymouth, R. W., "Visual perception and the retinal mosaic", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 64: 1923, pp. 561-594.
- Arden, G. B. and Tansley, K., "Spectral sensitivity of pure cone retina, Sclurus", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 127: 1955, pp. 592-602.
- Armington, J. C. and Thiede, F. C., "Purkinje shift in ERG of chicken eye", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 186: 1956, pp. 258-262.
- Arvanitaki, A. and Chalazonitis, N., "Nerve response to light", Arch. Scient Physiol., 3: 1949, pp. 27-44; 12: 1958, pp. 73-106.

Autrum, H., "kevlew of electrophysiology of insect eyes", <u>Experientia</u>, 5: 1949, pp. 271-277; <u>Klin. Wchnschr</u>, 31: 1953, pp. 241-245.

, "Properties of retinal potentials of fast and slow eyes of insect, especially Calliphora and Dixippus", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 32: 1950, pp. 176-227.

and Gallovitz, U., "Electroretinograms of Cal' phora and Aeschna", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 33: 1951, pp. 407-435.

# LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Autrum, H. and Hoffman, C., "Origin of diphasic and monophasic responses in compound eye of Calliphora", J. Insect Physiol., 3: 1960, pp. 122-127.

> and Stoecker, M., "Optomotor reactions and flicker fusion frequency, insect eyes", <u>Ztschr. Naturforsch</u>, 5b: 1950, pp. 38-42.

and Stumpf, H., "Polarization analysis by insect eye", Ztschr. Naturforsch, 5b: 1950, pp. 116-122.

, "Spectral sensitivity of Calliphora and Periplaneta eyes", in <u>Mechanisms of Colour Dis-</u> c-Imination, London, Pergamon Pres, 1960, pp. 32-39.

Bainbridge, R. and Waterman, T. H., "Turbidity and polarized light orientation in mysid", J. Exp. 5101., 35: 1958, pp. 487-493.

Barlow, H. B., "Ommatidial size in apposition eyes", J. Exp. Bicl., 29: 1952 pp. 667-674.

J. Gen. Physiol., 119: 1953, pp. 69-88.

, "Temporal and spatial summation in human vision at different background intensities", J. Physiol., 141: 1958, pp. 337-350.

Fitzhugh, R. and Kuffler, S. W., "Change of organization in the receptive fields of the cat's retina during dark adaptation", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 137: 1957, pp. 338-354.

, "Dark adaptation, visual field effects, and Purkinje shift as measured by responses of ganglion cells of cat retina", J. Physiol., 137: 1957, pp. 327-354.

- Barnholdt, B. and Hjarde, W., "Chromatographic separation of vitamin A<sub>1</sub> from eyes of Pandalus", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 41: 1957, pp. 49-67.
- Bartle, S. H., "Some observations on the organization of the retinal response", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 120: 1935, pp. 184-189.

tion", J. Exp. Psychol., 25: 1939, pp. 462-480.

# LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Bartley, S. H., "The features of the optic nerve discharge underlying recurrent vision", J. Exp. Psychol., 30: 1942, pp. 125-135.

and Bishop, G. H., "Optic nerve response to retinal stimulation in the rabbit", Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol., 44: 1940, pp. 39-41.

Baylor, E. R. and Smith, F. E., "Daphnia orientation in polarized light", Amer. Nat., 87: 1953, pp. 97-101.

Beachith, R. E., "Visual sensitivity of foraging in social wasps", <u>Insectes Sociaus</u>, 5(2): 1953, pp. 159-169.

Bennitt, R., "Rhythmic visual pigment migration in Crustacea", Physiol. Zool., 5: 1932, pp. 65-69.

Bernhard, C. G., "Contributions to the neurophysiology of the optic pathway", Acta physiol. scand., Suppl., 1: 1940.

"Temporal sequence of component potentials in the frog's retina and the electrotonic potentials in the optic nerve", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 3: 1942, pp. 301-309.

and Ottoson, D., "Comparative studies on dark adaptation in the compound eyes of nocturnal and diurnal Lepidoptera". J. Gen Physiol., 41(!): 1960, pp. 195-203.

, "Studles on the relation between the pigment migration and the sensitivity changes during dark adaptation in diurnal and nocturnal Lepidoptera", J. Gon. Physiol., 41(1): 1960, pp. 205-215.

Birukow, G., "Bestle orientation in polarized light", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 36: 1954, pp. 176-211.

Blaxter, J. H. S. and Parrish, B. B., "The effect of artificial lights on fish and other marine organisms at sea", <u>Marine Res. Ser. Scottish Home Dept.</u>, 1958(2): 1958, pp. 1-24.

Bornschein, H. and Szegvari, G., "Flicker fusion of LRG of ground squirrel and guinea pig", <u>Ztschr. Biol.</u>, 1<sup>1</sup>0: 1958, pp. 285-290.

Bowness, J. M. and Wolken, J. J., "Photosensitive pigment from housefly", J. Gen. Physiol., 42: 1959, pp. 779-792.

L'GHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

「「「「「「「「」」」」」

Bridges, C. D. B., "Visual pigments of fish", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 134: 1956, pp. 620-629.

Brindley, G. S., "Electrical properties and responses to lilumination recorded by microelectrodes from frog's retina", J. Physiol., 134: 1956, pp. 339-384.

> , "Recent advances in the physiology of vision", Ann. Rev. Physiol., 20: 1958, pp. 559-582.

, "Source of slow electrical activity in frog's retina", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 140: 1958, pp. 247-261.

- Broca, A. and Sulzer, D., "La sensation lumineuse en fonction du temps", <u>J. Physiol. Path. Gen.</u>, 4: 1902, pp. 632-640.
- Brown, K. T. and Wiesel, T. N., "Intraretinal recording from intact cat eye", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 149: 1959, pp. 537-562.
- Bullock, T. H. and Diecke, F. P. J., "Properties of an infrared receptor", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 134: 1956, pp. 47-87.
- Burkhardt, D., "Rhythmicity in optic ganglia of Calliphora", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 36: 1954, pp. 595-630.
- Burtt, E. T. and Catton, W. T., "Responses to Illumination in optic lobe and nervous system of locust and other insects", J. Physiol., 146: 1959, pp. 492-515.
- Byzov, A. L., "Electrical activity of retina, particularly as recorded from ganglion cells", <u>Biophysics</u>, 4: 1959, pp. 46-59.
- Campbell, F. W,, "The minimum quantity of light required to elicit the accommodation reflex in man", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 123(2): 1954, pp. 357-366.
- Collins, D. L., "Retinal pigment migration in the moth", J. Exp. Zool., 69: 1934, pp. 165-197.
- Collins, F. D., "The chemistry of vision", <u>Blol. Rev.</u>, 29: 1954, pp. 453-477.

and Morton, R. A., "Studies on rhodopsin", <u>Blochem. J.</u>, 47: 1950, pp. 3-10. LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Cooper, S., Creed, R. S. and Granit, R., "A note on the retinal action potential of the human eye", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 79: 1933, pp. 185-190.
- Crescitelli, F., "Nature of lamprey visual pigment", J. Gen. <u>Physiol.</u>, 39: 1956, pp. 423-435.

and Dartnall, H. J. A., "Human visual purple", <u>Nature</u>, 172: 1953, pp. 195-200.

and Jahn, T. L., "Electrical responses of the eyes in insects", <u>J. Cell. Comp. Physiol.</u>, 13: 1939, pp. 105-112; 19: 1942, pp. 47-66.

Crozier, W. J., "Sensory reaction, Holothuria", Amer. J. Physiol., 36: 1914, pp. 8-20.

and Wolf, E., "influence of pecten on flicker Intensity discrimination", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 27: 1943, pp. 287-313.

Daumer, K., "Color vision in the bee", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 38: 1956, pp. 413-478.

È

- Davis, M., "Model planes and purple martins, Progne subis", <u>Auk.</u>, 67(4): 1950, p. 518.
- Day, M. F., "Retinal pigment migration in insects", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 80: 1941, pp. 275-291.
- Deane, H. W. et al., "Electroretinogram of turtle; form and spectral sensitivity", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 21: 1959, pp. 45-61.
- De Coursey, P. J., "Dally light sensitivity rhythm in a rodent", <u>Science</u>, 131(3392): 1960, pp. 33-35.
- Denton, E. J., "Contributions of oriented photosensitive molecules to absorption by retina", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. London</u>, <u>B</u>, 150: 1959, pp. 78-94.
- Deriton, E. J. and Warren, F. J., "The photosensitive pigments In the retinae of deep-sea fish", <u>J. Marine Biol. Assoc.</u> <u>U. K.</u>, 36(3): 1957, pp. 651-662.
- De Robertis, E., "Electron microscope observations on the submicroscopic organization of the retinal rods", J. Biophys. Blochem. Cytol., 2: 1956, pp. 319-330.

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Dethier, V. G., "Application of laws of vision to insects", in <u>Insect Physiology</u>, K. D. Roeder, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1953, pp. 488-522.
- Deutsch, J. A., "The flexiform zone and shape recognition in the octopus", Nature, 185: 1960, p. 443.
- Ditchburn, R. W., Fender, D. H. and Mayne, S., "Vision with controlled movements of the retinal image", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 145: 1959, pp. 98-107.
- Donner, K. O., "Responses from retinal ganglion cells; frequency patterns, spectral sensitivity", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 21, (suppl. 72): 1950, pp. 1-57.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Spectral sensitivity of pigeon's retinal elements", J. Physiol., 122: 1953, pp. 524-537.

and Willmer, E. N., "An analysis of the response from single visual-purple-dependent elements in the retina of the cat", J. Physiol., 111: 1950, pp. 160-173.

- Dowling, J. E. and Wald, G., "Vitamin A deficiency and night blindness", <u>Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.</u>, 44: 1958, pp. 648-661.
- Elbl-Elbesfeldt, I., "Nahrungserwerb und Beutesuche der Erdkröte (Bufo bufo L.)", <u>Behavior</u>, 4(1): 1952, pp. 1-35.

Fernandez-Moran, H., "Electron microscopy of vertebrate retina", <u>Prog. Blophys.</u>, 4: 1954, pp. 112-147.

, "Laminated and fenestrated structure of insect rhabdom", <u>Exp. Cell. Res.</u>, 5: 1958, pp. 586-644.

Fingerman, M. J., "Retinal pigments and vision", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 120: 1952, pp. 131-164.

, "Retinal pigment response to illumination in Cambarellus", <u>J. Cell. Comp. Physicl.</u>, 50: 1957, pp. 357-370.

and Brown, F. A., "Evidence for a Purkinje shift in Drosophila", <u>Physiol. Zool.</u>, 26: 1953, pp. 59-67.

Forbes, A. et al., "Changes in electroretinograms of turtle and frog with shift in color", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 22: 1959, pp. 704-713.

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Friederichs, H. F., "Vision in Cicindelidae, Collembola larva and adult", <u>Ztschr. Morphol. Okol. Tiere.</u> 21: 1931, pp. 1-172.

Fuortes, M. G. F., "Electrical activity of single cells in eye of Limulus", <u>Clin. Neurophysiol.</u>, suppl., 10: 1958, pp. 70-73.

- Galambos, R. and Lowy, K., "The electrical activity of single optic nerve fibers in cats", <u>Fed. Proc.</u>, 4: 1945, p. 22.
- Gaze, R. M., "The representation of the retina on the optic lobe of the frog", <u>Quart. J. Exp. Physiol.</u>, 43: 1958, pp. 209-214.

Goldsmith, T. H., "Visual pigments and spectral sensitivity of the eye of bees", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 43: 1960, pp. 775-799.

and Philpott, D. E., "The microstructure of the compound eyes of insects", <u>J. Blophys. Blochem. Cytol.</u>, 3: 1958, pp. 429-440.

Granit, R., "Relation between rod and cone photosensitive substances", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 2: 1941, pp. 334-346.

, "Photopic spectral sense of pigeon", <u>Acta physiol.</u> <u>scand.</u>, 4: 1942, pp. 118-124.

Acta physiol. scand., 5: 1943, pp. 108-113.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Spectral properties of visual receptors in mammals, especially cats", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 8: 1945, pp. 195-210.

and Hammond, E. L., "Comparative studies on the peripheral and central retina", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 98: 1931, pp. 654-663.

and Helme, G., "Changes in retinal excitability due to polarization and some observations on the relation between the processes in retina and nerve", <u>J. Neuro-</u> <u>physiol.</u>, 2: 1939, pp. 556-565.

and Therman, P. O., "Theory of on-off responses in the retina", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 91: 1937, pp. 127-139.

Grundfest, H., "Spectral sensitivity of sunfish Lepomis", J. <u>Physiol.</u>, 15: 1932, pp. 307-328, 507-524.

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Gunter, R., "Spectral sensitivity of dark- and light-adapted cats", J. Physiol., 123: 1954, pp. 409-415.

Hartline, H. K., "Responses from optic nerve of mollusc Pecten and of frog", <u>Amer. J. Physicl.</u>, 121: 1938, pp. 400-415.

> , "The discharge of impulses in the optic nerve of Pecten in response to illumination of the eye", <u>J.</u> <u>Cell. Comp. Physiol.</u>, 11: 1938, pp. 465-478.

, "The response of single optic nerve fibers of the vertebrate eye to illumination of the retina", <u>Amer.</u> J. Physiol., 121: 1938, pp. 400-415.

, "The effects of spatial summation in the retina on the excitation of the fibers of the optic nerve", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 130: 1940, pp. 700-711.

Hartline, H. K., "Receptor mechanisms and the integration of sensory information in the sye", in <u>Biophysical Science</u> -<u>A study Program</u>, J. L. Oncley, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1959.

> , Coulter, N. A., and Wagner, H. G., "Effects of electric current on responses of single photoreceptor units in the eye of Limulus", <u>Fed. Proc.</u>, 11: 1952, pp. 65-66.

and Graham, C. H., "Nerve impulses from single receptors in the eye of Limulus", <u>J. Cell. Comp. Physiol.</u>, 1: 1932, pp. 277-295.

and McDonald, P. R., "Adaptation of single visual elements, Limulus", <u>J. Cell. Comp. Physiol.</u>, 39: 1947, pp. 225-254.

and Ratliff, F., "Spatial summation of inhibitory Influences in the eye of Limulus and the mutual interaction of receptor units", J. Gen. Physiol., 41: 1958, pp. 1049-1066.

, Wagner, H. G. and MacNichol, E. F., "The peripheral origin of nervous activity in the visual system", <u>Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative</u> <u>Biology</u>, <u>The Neuron</u>, Vol. 17, Long Island Biological Association, Inc., Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, 1952, pp. 125-141.

537

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Hartline, H. K., Wagner, H. G. and Ratliff, F., "Inhibitory Interaction among ommatidia of the eye of Limulus", J. <u>Gen. Physiol.</u>, 39: 1956, pp. 651-673; 40: 1957, pp. 357-376.

Hanaoka, T. and Fujimoto, K., "Absorption spectrum of single cone in carp's retina," <u>Jap. J. Physiol.</u>, 7: 1957, pp. 276-285.

Hecht, S., "Intensity effect and kinetics of photoreception, Mya", J. Gen. Physiol., 2: 1920, pp. 229-246, 337-348.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Energy quanta and vision", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 25: 1942, pp. 819-840.

and Wald, E., "The visual acuity and intensity discrimination of Drosophila", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 17: 1934, pp. 517-547.

and Wolf, E., "The visual acuity of the honeybee", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 7: 1929, pp. 727-760.

- Hess, W. N., "Photoreceptors of Lumbricus", J. Morphol., 41: 1925, pp. 63-93.
- Homann, H., "Function of ocelli of insects", Ztschr. vergl. <u>Physiol.</u>, 1: 1924, pp. 541-578.

, "Physiology of the spider's eye", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 20: 1934, pp. 420-429.

Hoyle, G., "Functioning of insect ocellar nerve", J. Exp. Biol., 32: 1955, pp. 397-407.

Hubbard, R., "Molecular size, geometrical isomers of vitamin A and retinene; visual excitation", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 37: 1954, pp. 381-399.

Brown, P. K. and Kropf, A., "Action of light on visual pigments", <u>Nature</u>, 183: 1959, pp. 442-446.

and Kropf, A., "Chicken lumi-lodopsin and meta-lodopsin", Nature, 183: 1959, pp. 448-450.

, "Mo'ecular configuration and visual excitation", <u>Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.</u>, 81: 1959, pp. 388-398.

and St. George, R. C. C., "Rhodopsin system of the squid and octopus", <u>J. Gen. Physicl.</u>, 41: 1958, pp. 501-528.

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Hubbard, R. and Wald, G., "Cis-trans isomers of vitamin A and retinene in the rhodopsin system", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 36: 1952, pp. 269-315.
- Hubel, D. H., "Single unit responses in geniculate and cortex of cat to visual stimulation", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 147: 1959, pp. 226-238; 148: 1959, pp. 574-591; 150: 1960, pp. 91-104.
- ingvar, D. H., "Special sensitivity of cat as measured in cerebral visual centers", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 46(suppl. 159): 1959, pp. 1-105
- Jacobsen, H., "The informational capacity of the human eye", Science, 113: 1951, p. 292.
- Jahn, T. L. and Crescitelli, F., "Electrical responses of eyes of gradshopper and moth", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 13: 1939, pp. 113-119.
  - and Wulff, V. J., "Visual dlurnal rhythm, Dytiscus", <u>Physiol. Zool.</u>, 16: 1943, pp. 101-109.
- Jander, R. and Waterman, T. H., "Sensory discrimination between polarized light and light intensity of arthropods", J. <u>Cell. Comp. Physiol.</u>, 65: 1960, pp. 137-160.
- Jung, R., "Commungs-und Bremsungschänomene einzelner Neurone des optischen cortex", <u>Ber. Ges. Physiol.</u>, 172: 1954, p. 119.
- Kaess, w. and Kaess, F., "Perception of apparent motion in the common toad", <u>Science</u>, 132(3422): 1960, p. 953.
- Kampa, Ł. M., "Photosensitivle pigment from eyes of euphausilds", <u>Nature</u>, 175: 1955, pp. 996-998.
- Keeler, C. E., Sutcliffe, E. and Chaffee, E. L., "A description of the ontogenetic development of retinal action currents in the house mouse", <u>Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. Wash.</u>, 14: 1928, pp. 811-815.
- Kennedy, D., "Spectral sensitivity of tadpoles and adult frogs", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 50: 1957, pp. 155-166.

"Nerve response to light in molluscs", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 115: 1958, p. 338.

, "Electrical activity of a 'primitive' photoreceptor", Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 74: 1958-1959, pp. 329-336.

### LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Kennedy, D., "Responses from crayfish caudal photoreceptor", <u>J.</u> <u>Gen. Physiol.</u>, 43: 1960, pp. 655-670.

and Milkman, R. D., "Selective light absorption by lenses of lower vertebrates", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 111: 1956, pp. 375-386.

- Kimura, E. and Hosoya, Y., "Properties of pigment from cones of tortoise", <u>Jap. J. Physiol.</u>, 6: 1956, pp. 1-11.
- Kleinholz, L. H., "Rhythmic retinal pigment movements", <u>Biol.</u> <u>Rev.</u>, 17: 1942, pp. 91-119.
- Koenig, L., "Beiträge zu einem Aktionssystem des Bienenfressers (Merops apiaster L.)", <u>Ztschr. Tierpsychol.</u>, 8(2): 1951, pp. 169-210.
- Kramer, G., "Review of bird orientation in homing", <u>lbis</u>, 101: 1959, pp. 399-416.
- Kuffler, S. W., "Neurons in the retina: organization, inhibition and excitation problems", in <u>Cold Spring Harbor Symposia</u> <u>on Quantitative Biology</u>, <u>The Neuron</u>, Vol. 17, Long Island Biological Association, Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, 1952, pp. 281-292.

, "Discharge patterns and functional organization of mammalian retina", J. Neurophysiol., 16: 1953, pp. 37-68.

et al., "Activity in cat retina in light and darkness", J. Gen. Physiol., 40: 1957, pp. 683-702.

- Kuwabara, M. and Naka, K., "Response of Lucilia retinula cells to polarized light", <u>Nature</u>, 184: 1959, p. 255.
- Land, E. H., "A contrast hypothesis of color vision", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 200(5): 1959, pp. 84-99.
- Lele, P. P. and Weddell, O., "The relationship between neurohistology and corneal sensitivity", <u>Brain</u>, 79: 1954, pp. 119-154.
- Lennox, M. A., "The on responses to colored flach in single optic tract fibers of cat: Correlation with conduction velocity", J. Neurophysiol., 21: 1958, pp. 70-84.
- Let, A., "Depth discrimination thresholds as function of binocular di ferences of retinal illuminance at scotopic and photopic levels", <u>J. Opt. Soc. Amer.</u>, 49(8): 1959, pp. 746 752.

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Lettvin, J. Y., Maturana, H. R., McCulloch, W. S. and Pitts, W. H., "What the frog's eye tells the frog's brain", <u>Proc. IRE</u>, Vol. 47, No. 11: 1959, pp. 1940-1951.

3

- MacNichol, E. F. and Svaetichin, G., "Electric responses from isolated retinas of fishes", <u>Amer. J. Ophthal.</u>, 46: 1958, pp. 26-40.
- Maturana, H. R., "Number of fibers in the optic nerve and the number of ganglion cells in the retina of anurans", <u>Nature</u>, 183(4672): 1959, p. 1406.
  - , Lettvin, J. Y., McCulloch, W. S. and Fitts, W. H., "Anatomy and physiology of vision in frog", <u>J.</u> <u>Gen. Physiol.</u>, 43(suppl.): 1960, pp. 129-175.
- Mazokin-Prshelakov, G. A., "Color vision in dragonfly and bee", <u>Biophysics</u>, 4: 1959, pp. 46-57.
- McCleary, R. A. and Bernstein, J. J., "A unique method for control of brightness cues in study of colour vision in fish", <u>Physiol. Zool.</u>, 32(4): 1959, pp. 284-293.
- Menner, E., "Function of the avian pecten", Zool. Jahrb. Abt. Alig., 58: 1938, pp. 481-538.
- Meyer, D. R. et al., "Absence of color vision in the cat", J. <u>Neurophysiol.</u>, 17: 1954, pp. 289-294.
- Miller, W. H., "Morphology, ommatidia, compound eye Limulus", J. Biophys. Blochem. Cytol., 3: 1958, pp. 421-428.
- Millott, N., "Covering reaction of sea urchins", J. Exp. Biol., 33: 1956, pp. 508-J23.
- "Photoreception in eyeless animals", Endeavour, 16: 1957, pp. 19-28.

and Yoshida, M., "Spectral sensitivity of echinoid Diadema", J. Exp. Biol., 34: 1957, pp. 394-401.

- Motokawa, K. et al., "Receptor potential of vertebrate retina", J. Neurophysiol., 20: 1957, pp. 186-199.
- Munz, F. W., "Photosensitive pigment of euryhaline fish Gillichthys", J. Gen. Physiol., 40: 1956, pp. 233-249.
- Naka, K. and Kuwabara, M., "Electrical response from compound eye of Lucilia and of crayfish", J. Exp. Biol., 36: 1959, pp. 51-61.

S ... 1

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- North. W. J. and Pantin, C. F. A., "Sensitivity to light in sea anemone Metridium", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B.</u>, 148: 1958, pp. 385-396.
- Ottoson, D. and Svaetichin, G., "Electrophysiological investigations of the frog retina", in <u>Cold Spring Harbor Symposia</u> <u>on Quantitative Biology</u>, <u>The Neuron</u>, Vol. 17, Long Island Biological Association, Inc., Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, 1952.
- Parker, G. H., "Review of retinal pigment movements", <u>Ergebn.</u> <u>Biol.</u>, 9: 1932, pp. 239-291.
- Peskin, J. C., "Photolabile pigments of invertebrates", <u>Science</u>, 114: 1951, pp. 120-121.
- Pieron, H. and Segal, J., "Des variations de latence des responses electriques oculaires et d'une dissociation necessaire de l'onde negative initiale et de l'onde positive terminale de l'éléctoretinogramme", <u>C. R. Soc.</u> Biol., Paris, 131: 1939, p., 1048-1050.
- Pirenne, M. H., "Physiological mechanisms of vision and the quantum nature of light", <u>Biol. Rev. Cambridge</u> <u>Phil. Soc.</u>, 51: 1956, pp. 194-241.
- Pirie, A., "Reflecting materials in eyes", Endeavour, 17: 1959, pp. 161-185.
- Pitt, F. H. G., "The effect of adaptation and contrast of apparent brightness", <u>Proc. Physic. Soc.</u>, 51: 1939, pp. 817-830.
- Potts, A. M. and Modreil, A. W., "Selective destruction of retival ganglion cells and effect on ERG", <u>Fed. Proc.</u>, 19: 1960, p. 303.
- Prichard, R. M., "Stabilized images on the retina", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 204(6): 1961, pp. 72-78.
- Prosser, C. L., "Photoreceptor physiology in crayfish and earthworm", J. Exp. Biol., 12: 1935, pp. 95-104.
- Quaranta, J. V., "Color vision of the giant tortoise Testudo", Zoologica, 37: 1952, pp. 295-311.
- Ratlitf, F. and Hartline, H. K., "Responses of Limulus optic nerve to patterns of illumination", J. Gen. Physiol., 42: 1950, pp. 1241-1255.

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Ratliff, F., Miller, W. H. and Hartline, H. K., "Neural Interaction and change of response pattern in the Limulus eye", Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 74: 1958, pp. 210-222.
- Ruck, P., "Electrical responses from ocelli of insects; grasshopper, Apis, and others", J. Insect Physiol., 1: 1957, pp. 109-123; 2: 1958, pp. 261-274.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Electrophysiology of the insect dorsal ocellus", <u>J.</u> <u>Gen. Physicl.</u>, 44(3): 196î, pp. 605-657.

Rushton, W. A. H., "The structure responsible for action potential spikes in the cat's retina", <u>Nature</u>, 164: 1949, pp. 743-746.

, "Absorption difference spectrum and regeneration of rhodopsin in living human eye", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 41: 1957, pp. 419-428.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Cone pigments of man", <u>Ann. N. Y. Acad.</u> <u>Sci., 74:</u> 1958, pp. 291-304.

, "Visual plgments in man and animals and their relation to seeing", Progr. Blophys. and Blophys. Chem., 9: 1959, pp. 240-283.

- Sandeen, M. I. and Brown, F. A., "Retinal pigment response to illumination in Palaemonetes", <u>Physiol. Zool.</u>, 25: 1952, pp. 222-230.
- Sargent, S. S., <u>Basic Teachings of the Great Psychologists</u>, Barnes and Noble, Inc., New York, 1955.
- Schouten, J. F. and Ornstein, L. S., "Measurements on direct and indirect adaptation by means of a binocular method", <u>J.</u> Opt. Soc. Amer., 29: 1939, pp. 168-182.
- Seletskain, L. I., "On the perception of polarization of light by the complex eye of the bee", <u>Biofizika (trans.)</u>, 1: 1956, pp. 155-157.
- Sjöstrand, F. J., "Electron micrography of vertebrate retina", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 33: 1949, pp. 383-403.

\_\_\_\_\_\_, "Ultrastructure of rods and cones of mammals", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 42: 1953, pp. 15-44, 45-70.

. SF

Smith, F. E. and Baylor, E. R., "Bees, Daphnia, and polarized light", Ecology, 41(2): 1960, pp. 260-263.

AND A CONTRACTOR

こうまであるい いろうにちにきったいちょうないかい あたちまたい しいまち

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Smith, W. M., McCrary, J. W., and Smith, K. U., "Delayed visual feedback and behavior", <u>Science</u>, 132(3433): 1960, pp. 1013-1014.
- Sperry, R. W., "The eye and the brain", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 194(5): 1956, pp. 48-52.
- Steyn, W., "Ultrastructure of plneal eye sensory cells", <u>Nature</u>, 183(4663): 1959, p. 764.
- Sutherland, N. S., "Visual discrimination of orientation by octopus", Brit. J. Psychol., 48: 1957, pp. 55-71.
- Svaelichin, G. et al., "Cone vision in fishes: Spectral response curves from single retinal units", J. Gen. Physiol., 43(suppl.): 1960, pp. 101-114.
  - and McNichol, E. F., Jr., "Retinal mechanisms for chromatic and achromatic vision", <u>Ann. N. Y. Acad.</u> <u>Sci.</u>, 74: 1958, pp. 385-404.
- Tanabe, I., "Photosensitive pigment from chicken retina", Jap. J. Physiol., 1952, pp. 95-101.
- Therman, P. O., "The neurophysiology of the retina in the light of chemical methods of modifying its excitability", <u>Acta Soc Sci. Fenn. N.S.B.</u>, 11, No. 1: Helsingfors, 1938.
- Therman, P. O., "The action potentials of the squid eye", <u>Amer.</u> J. Physiol., 130: 1940, pp. 239-248.
- Tomita, T., "Potentials from the eye of Limulus", <u>Jap. J.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 6: 1956, pp. 327-340.
  - , "Complex intraretinal potentials from cyprinid fish and frogs", <u>Jap. J. Physiol.</u>, 7: 1957, pp. 80-85.
  - and Torihama, Y., "Ganglionic origin of intraretinal potentials", Jap. J. Physiol., 6: 1956, pp. 118-136.
- Tower, S., "Unit for sensory reception in the cornea", <u>J. Neuro-</u> physiol., 3: 1940, pp. 486-500.
- Valois, R. L. de, "Color vision in monkeys", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 43(suppl. 2): 1960, pp. 115-128.
- Vries, H. de and Kuiper, J. W., "Optics of the insect eye", Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 74: 1958, pp. 196-203.

And the surface of th

「中国家」という

and Annual to

APRIL NAME . BURN .

30.

ALCONTRACT

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:
Wagner, H. G. et al., "Responses of retinal ganglion cells in goldfish", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u> , 43: 1960, pp. 45-62.
and Wolbarsht, M. L., "Impulse patterns in single optic nerve fibers of Limulus", <u>Amer. J. Ophthal.</u> , 46: 1958, pp. 46-59.
Wald, G., "Evolution of visual pigments", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u> , 30: 1946, pp. 41-46.
, "Eye and camera", <u>Scl. Amer.</u> , 183(2): 1950, pp. 32-41.
et al., "Visual pigments and depths of habitat of marine fishes", <u>Science</u> , 128: 1958, pp. 1481-1490.
and Allen, G., "Fractionation of eye pigments of Drosophila", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u> , 30: 1946, pp. 41-46.
and Brown, P. K., "Role of sulfhydryl groups in bleach- ing and synthesis of rhodopsin", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u> , 35: 1952, pp. 797-821.
and Burg, S. P., "Visual pigments of lobster", <u>J. Gen.</u> <u>Physiol.</u> , 40: 1957, pp. 609-626.
Waller, A. D., "On the blaze-currents of the frog's eyeball", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc.</u> , 67: 1000, pp. 439-441.
Walls, G. L., "The vertebrate eye and its adaptive radiation", <u>Cranbrook Inst. Sci. Bull.</u> , 19: 1942, p. 785.
Walther, J. B. and Dodt, E., "Spectral sensitivity and ERG's of insect eye", <u>Ztschr. Naturforsch</u> , 14: 1959, pp. 273-278.
Watanabe, K. and Tosake. T., "Functional organization of the cyprinid fish retina", <u>Jap. J. Physiol.</u> , 9: 1958, pp. 84-93.
Waterman, T. H., "Directional sensitivity of a single ommatidia in Limulus", <u>Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.</u> , 40: 1954, pp. 252- 257.
Weale, R. A., "The absolute threshold of vision", <u>Physiol. Rev.</u> , 35(1): 1955, pp. 233-246.
Welsh, J. H., "Retinal pigment migration in crustaceans", <u>J.</u> <u>Exp. Zool.</u> , 86: 1941, pp. 35-49.

LIGHT SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Weymouth, F. W., "Visual acuity within the area centralis and its relation to eye movements and fixation", <u>Amer. J.</u> <u>Ophthal.</u>, 11: 1928, pp. 947-960.
- Wolf, E. and Zerrahn-Wolf, G., "Flicker and the reactions of bees to flowers", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 20: 1937, pp. 511-518.
- Wolken, J., "Studies of photoreceptor structures", <u>Ann. N. Y.</u> <u>Acad. Sci.</u>, 74: 1958, pp. 164-181.
- Wright, W. D., "The foveal light adaptation process", Proc. Roy. Soc., B, 122: 1937, pp. 220-245.
  - and Granit, R., "On the correlation of some sensory and physiological phenomena of vision", <u>Brit.</u> J. Ophthal. Suppl. LX: 1938.
- Wulff, V. J., "Physiology of the compound eye", Physiol. Rev., 36: 1956, pp. 145-163.
- Yoshida, M., "Light-sensitivity in the echinoid Diadema", J. Exp. Biol., 34: 1957, pp. 222-225.

and Millott, N., "Photosensitive nerves in echinoids", Experientia, 15: 1959, pp. 13-15.

### LOCOMOTION

# Burkhardt, D. and Schneider, G., "Die Äntennen von calliphora als Anzeiger der Fluggeschwindigkeit", <u>Ztchr.</u> Naturforsch, 12: 1957, p. 139.

- Eccles, J. C. and Sherrington, C. S., "Numbers and contractionvalues of individual motor units examined in some muscles of the limb", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. B.</u>, 106: 1930, pp. 326-357.
- Edwards, C. and Ottoson, D., "Site of initiation of impulses in crustacean stretch receptor", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 143: 1958, pp. 138-148.
- Edwards, G. A., Ruska, H. and Deharven, E., "Electron microscopy of peripheral nerves and neuro-muscular junctions in the wasp leg", J. Biophys. and Biochem. Cytol., 4: 1958, p. 107.
- Florey, E. and Florey, E., "Histology of stretch receptors of Crustacea", J. Gen. Physiol., 39: 1956, pp. 69-85.
- Granit, R. and Henatsch, H. D., "Reflex control of mammalian muscle spindles", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 19: 1956, pp. 356-366.
- and Kaada, B. R., "Reflex control of mammalian muscle spindles", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 27: 1953, pp. 130-160.
- Hollick, Q. S., "Sense organs of flight, flies", <u>Phil. Trans.</u> Roy. Soc. London, B, 230: 1940, pp. 357-390.
- Hoyle, G. and Wiersma, C. A. G., "Coupling of membrane potential to contraction in crustacean muscles", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 143: 1958, pp. 441-453.
- Hunt, C. C. and Kuffler, S. W., "Muscle stretch receptors, their reflex function", J. Physiol., 113: 1951, pp. 298-315.
- Katz, B., "Initiation of impulses in stretch receptors in muscles of frog", J. Physiol., 111: 1950, pp. 248-282.
- Kuffler, S. W., "Stretch receptors of lobster", <u>J. Neuro-</u> physiol., 17: 1954, pp. 558-574.

and Eyzaguirre, C., "Synaptic inhibition of crustacean stretch receptor", J. Gen. Physiol., 39: 1955, pp. 155-184.

LOCOMOTION, Continued:

- Roeder, K. D., "The control of tonus and locomotor activity in the praying mantis (Mantis religiosa L.)", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 76: 1937, pp. 353-374.
- Zachwilichowski, J., "Über die Innervierung und die Sinnesorgane der Flügel von Schnabelfliegen (Panorpa)", Bull. Internat. Acad. Polon. Sci., B., Pt. 2: 1933, p. 109.

### NERVE SENSITIVITY

Adolph, A. R., "Feedback in physiological systems: Application of feedback analysis and stochastic models to neurophysiology", <u>Bull. Math. Biophys.</u>, 21: 1959.

Adrian, E. D., "The recovery process of excitable tissue", J. Physiol., 55, Part II: 1921, pp. 193-225.

, "The messages in sensory nerve fibers and their interpretation", Proc. Roy., Soc., B, 109: 1931, pp. 1-18.

peripheral sense organs", J. Physioi., 100: 1941, p. 159.

and Bronk, D. W., "The discharge of impulses in motor nerve fibers. Part 2: The frequency of discharge in reflex and voluntary contractions", J. Physiol., 67: 1929, pp. 119-151.

, Cattell, McK. and Hoagland, H., "Sensory discharges in single cutaneous nerve fibers", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 72: 1931, pp. 377-391.

- Allanson, J. T. and Whitfield, I. C., "The effect of strychnine on inhibition in a sensory pathway", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 134: 1956, pp. 12-13.
- Allen, W. F., "Function of the cells in the motor root of the nervous trigeminus in the cat", <u>J. Comp. Neurol.</u>, 38: 1925, pp. 349-368.
- Amassian, V. E., "Evoked single cortical unit activity in the somatic sensory areas", <u>Electroencephalog. and Clin.</u> <u>Neurophysiol.</u>, 5: 1953, p. 415.

Barron, D. H. and Matthews, B. H. C., "Intermittent conduction in the spinal cord", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 85: 1935, pp. 73-103.

, "The interpretation of potential changes in the spinal cord", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 92: 1938, pp. 276-321.

Berkowitz, E. C. and Bullock, T. H., "Functional properties of spinal pathways in lower vertebrates", <u>Anat. Rec.</u>, 120(3): 1954.

Bernhard, C. G., Granit, R. and Skoglund, C. R., "The breakdown of accomodation-nerve as model sense organ", <u>J. Neuro-</u> physiol., 5: 1942, pp. 55-68.

\*

# NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Beurlé, R. L., "Properties of a Block of Cells Capable of Regenerating Pulses", <u>Royal Radar Establishment Memorandum</u> No. 1042, Ministry of Supply, Malvern, WORCS, September 1954.
- Bishop, G. H., "Responses to electrical stimulation of single sensory units of skind, <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 6: 1943, pp. 361-382.
- Blair, H. A., "Mechanical stimulation of nerve", Amer. J. Physiol., 114: 1936, pp. 586-593.
- Bremer, F. and Bonnet, V., "Les potentiels synaptiques et leur interprétation", <u>Arch. Sci, Physiol.</u>, Paris: 1949, pp. 489-521.

, "Interprétation des réactions, rythmiques prolongées des aires sensorielles de l'écorce cérébrale", EEG Clin. Neurophysiol., 2: 1950, pp. 389-400.

- Brink, F., Bronk, D. W. and Larabee, M. G., "Chemical excitation of nerves", Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., 47: 1946, pp. 457-458.
- Brookhart, J. M., Moruzzi, G. and Snider, R. S., "Origin of cerebellar waves", J. Neurophysiol., 14: 1951, p. 181.
- Brown, G. L. and Macintosh, F. C., ""Discharges in nerve fibers produced by potassium ions", J. Physiol., 96: 1939, p. 10.
- Bullock, T. H., "Parameters of integrative action of the nervous system at the neuronal level", <u>Exp. Cell. Res.</u>, Suppl. 5: 1958, pp. 323-337.

, "Neuron doctrine and electrophysiology", <u>Science</u>, 129: 1959, pp. 997-1002.

, Cohen, J. J. and Maynard, D. M., "Integration and central synaptic properties of some receptors", Fed. Proc., 13(1): 1954.

and Turner, R. A., "Events associated with conduction failure in nerve fibers", J. Cell. and Comp. Physiol., 36: 1950, pp. 59-82.

Creed, R. S., Denny-Brown, D., Eccles, J. C., Liddell, E. G. T. and Sherrington, C. S., <u>Reflex Activity of the Spinal Cord</u>, Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1932.

#### REIATIO LITERATURE

NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Davies, P. W., Berman, A. L. and Mountcastle, V. G., "A functional analysis of the first somatic area of the cat's cerebra: cortex in terms of activity of single neurons", <u>Amer. J.</u> Physiol., 183: 1955, p. 607.
- Eccles, J. C., "Slow potential waves in the superior cervical ganglion", J. Physiol., 85: 1935, pp. 464-501.

"Synaptic and neuromuscular transmission", Ergebn. Physiol., 38: 1936, pp. 339-444.

, Eccles, R. M. and Lundberg, A., "Synaptic actions on the motoneurons in relation to the two components of the group I muscle afferent volley", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 136: 1957, pp. 527-546.

, "The convergence of monosynaptic excitatory afferents on to many different species of alpha motoneurons", J. Physiol., 137: 1957, pp. 22-50.

, "Synaptic actions on motoneurons caused by impulses in golgi tendon organ afferents", J. Physiol., 138: 1957, pp. 227-252.

- Edward, C., "Changes in the discharge from a muscle spindle produced by electrotonus in the sensory nerve", J. Physiol., 127: 1955, pp. 636-640.
- Erlanger, J. and Blair, E. A., "The irritability changes in nerve in response to sub-threshold constant currents, and related phenomena", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 99: 1931, pp. 129-155.

, "Observations on repetitive responses in axons", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 114: 1936, pp. 328-361.

, "Comparative observations on motor and sensory fibers with special reference to repetitiousness", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 121: 1938, pp. 431-453.

- and Gassner, H. S., "The action potential in fibers of slow conduction in spinal roots and somatic nerves", Amer. J. Physiol., 92: 1930, pp. 43-82.
- Eyzaguirre, C. and Kuffler, S. W., "Further study of soma, dendrite and axon excitation in single neurons", J. Gen. Physiol., 39: 1955, pp. 121-153.

Ni VE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Eyzaguirre, C. and Kuffler, S. W., 'Processes of excitation in the dendrites and in the soma of single isolated sensory cells of the lobster and crayfish", J. Gen Physiol., 39: 1955, pp. 87-119.
- Foerster, O. and Gagel, O., "Über afferente Nervenfasern in den vorderen Wurzeln", Z. Ges. Neurol. Psychiat., 144: 1933, pp. 313-324.
- Forbes, A., Campbell, C. J. and Williams, H. B., "Electrical records of afferent nerve impulses from muscular receptors", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 69: 1924, pp. 283-303.
  - and Rice, L. H., "Quantitative studies of the nerve inpuise. Part IV: Fatigue in peripheral nerve", <u>Amer. J.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 40: 1929, pp. 119~145.
- Frank, K. and Fuortes, M. G. F., "Potentials recorded from the spinal cord with microelectrodes", J. Physiol., 130: 1955, p. 625.
- Galambos, R., Scheatz, G. and Vernier, V. G., "Electrophysiological correlates of a conditioned response in cats", Science, 123: 1956, pp. 376-377.
- Granit, R. and Skoglund, C. R.. "Accomodation and autorhythmic mechanism in single sensory fibers", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 6: 1943, pp. 337-348.

, Skoglund, S. and Thesleff, S., "Activation of muscle spindles by succinylcholine and decamethonium. The effects of curare", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 28: 1953, pp. 134-151.

- Gualtierotti, T. B., Schreiber, D. M. and Passerini, D., "Effect of acceleration on cerebellar potentials in birds and its relation to sense of direction", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 197(2): 1959, np. 469-474.
- Heinbecker, P., "The potential analysis of a pacemaker mechanism in Limulus ployphemus", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 117: 1936, pp. 686-700.
- Hill, A. V., "Excitation and accommodation in nerve", Proc. Roy. Soc., B., 119: 1936, pp. 305-355.
- Hodgkin, A. L., "The subthreshold potentials in a crustacean nerve fiber", Proc. Roy. Soc. B., 126: 1938, pp. 87-121.

#### NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

P. See

Hodgkin, A. L., "The local electric changes associated with repetitive action in a non-medullated axon", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 107: 1948, pp. 165-181.

and Huxley, A. F., "Ionic exchange and activity, nerve and muscle", XVIII Intl. Physiol. Cong. Abs., 1950.

- Hoyle, G., "High blood potassium in insects in relation to nerve condition", Nature, 169: 1952, p. 281.
- Hunt, C. C. and Kuffler, S. W., "Further study of efferent smallnerve fibers to mammalian muscle spindles. Multiple spindle innervation and activity during contraction", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 113: 1951, pp. 283-297.
- Hursh, J. B., "Relayed impulses in ascending branches of dorsal root fibers", J. Neurophysiol., 3: 1940, pp. 166-174.
- Jung, R., "Neuronal discharge", <u>Electroencephalog. and Clin.</u> Neurophysiol., Supp. No. 4: 1953, p. 57.
- Katz, B., "Multiple response to constant current in frog's medullated nerve", J. Physiol., 88: 1936, pp. 239-255.

\_, "Subthreshold responses in medullated nerve", J. Physiol., 106: 1947, pp. 66-79.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Action potentials from a sensory nerve ending", J.\_\_\_\_\_ Physiol., 111: 1950, pp. 248-260.

, "Depolarization sensory terminals and the initiation of impulses in the muscle spindle", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 111: 1950, pp. 261-282.

\_\_\_\_\_,"Mechanisms of synaptic transmission", <u>Rev. Mod. Physics</u>, 31(2): 1959, pp. 524-531.

and Schmitt, O. H., "Electrical interaction between two adjacent nerve fibers", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 97: 1940, pp. 471-488.

- Kobayashi, Y.. Oshima, K. and Tasaki, I., "Analysis of afferent and efferent systems in the muscle nerve of the toad and cat", J. Physiol., 117: 1952, pp. 152-171.
- von Kries, J., "Ueber die Abhängigkeit der Erregungsvorgänge von der zeitlichen Verlaufe der zur Reizung dienenden Elektrizitats-Bewegungen", Arch. Anat. Physiol., 8: (Lpz.), 1884, pp. 337-372.

NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Kuffler, S. W. and Gerard, R. W., "The small-nerve motor system to skeletal muscle", J. Neurophysiol., 10: 1947, pp. 383-395.

, Hunt, C. C. and Quilliam, J. P., "Function of medullated small-nerve fibers in mammalian ventral roots: efferent muscle spindle innervation", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 14: 1951, pp. 29-54.

Laporte, Y. and Ransmeier, R. E., "The function of the frog's small-nerve motor system", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 10: 1947, pp. 395-408.

- Landgren, S., Liljestrand, G. and Zotterman, Y., "The effect of certain autonomic drugs on the action potentials of the sinus nerve", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 26: 1952, pp. 264-290.
- LaPorte, Y. and Lorente de Nó, R., "Properties of sympathetic B ganglion cells", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 35: 1950, Suppl. 2, pp. 41-60.
- Larabee, M. G. and Bronk, D. W., "After discharge from sympathetic ganglion cells following preganglionic nerve stimulation", Fed. Proc., 5: 1946, pp. 60-61.
- Lehmann, W., "Ueber die sensiblen Fasern der vorderen Wurzeln", Klin. Wschr., 3: 1923, pp. 1895-1898.
- Li, Choh-Luh and Jasper, H., "Microelectrode studies of the electrical activity of the cerebral cortex in the cat", J. Physiol., 121: 1953, p. 117.
- Ling, G. and Gerard, R. W., "The normal membrane potential of frog sartorius fibers", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 34: 1949, pp. 383-396.
- Lloyd, D. P. C., "The spinal mechanisms of the pyramidal system in cats", J. Neurophysiol., 4: 1941, pp. 525-546.
- Loewenstein, W. R., "The generation of electric activity in a nerve ending", <u>Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.</u>, 81: 1959, p. 367.

and Tshiko, N., "Effects of polarization of the receptor membrane and of the first ranvier node in a sense organ", J. Gen. Physiol., 43(5): May 1960, pp. 981-997.

NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Lorente de No, R., Studies on the structure of the cerebral cortex 11", J. Psychiat. Neurol., 46: 1934, pp. 113-177.

, "Transmission of impulses through cranial motor nuclei", J. Neurophysiol., 2: 1939, pp. 402-464.

, "Nerve activity and polarization", <u>Harvey</u> Lecture Ser , 32: 1946, pp. 43-105.

, "Action potential of the motoneurons of the hypoglossus nucleus", J. Cell Comp. Physiol., 29: 1947, pp. 207-288.

and Luporte, Y., "Refectoriness, facilitation and inhibition in a sympathetic gang<sup>1</sup>ion", <u>J. Cell Comp.</u> Physiol., 35(Suppl. 2): 1950, pp. 155-192.

- MacKay, D. M. and McCulloch, W. S., "The limiting information capacity of a neuronal link", Bull. Math. Biophys., 14: 1952, p. 127.
- Magoun, H. W., "The ascending reticular activating system", Proc. Assoc. Res. Nerv. Ment. Dis., 30: 1950, pp. 480-492.

, "Nerve ending in mammalian muscle", J. Physiol., 78: 1933, pp. 1-53.

- McCouch, G. P., Forbes, A. and Rice, L. H., "Afferent impulses from muscular receptors", Amer. J. Physiol., 84: 1928, pp. 1-15.
- McCulloch, W. S. et al., "A logical calculus of the ideas immanent in nervous activity", Bull. Math. Biophys., 5: 1943, pp. 115-133.
- Morison, R. W., Finley, K. S. and Lothrop, G. N., "Spontaneous electrical activity of the thalamus and other forebrain structures", J. Neurophysiol., 6: 1943, pp. 243-254.
- Mountcastle, V. B., "Modality and topographic properties of single neurons of the cat's somatic sensory cortex", J. Neurophysiol., 20: 1957, p. 408.

, Berman, A. L. and Davies, P. W., "A study of topographic organization and modality representation in the first somatic area of the cat's cerebral cortex by the method of single unit analysis", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 183: 1955, p. 646. 555

NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Mountcastle, V. B., Berman, A. L. and Davies, P. W., "Response properties of neurons of cat's somatic sensory cortex to peripheral stimuli", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 20: 1957, pp. 374-407.
- Nastuk, W. L. and Hodgkin, A. L., "The electrical activity of single muscle fibers", <u>J. Cell. Comp. Physiol.</u>, 35: 1950, pp. 39-73.
- Oztan, N. and Garbman, A., "The hypophysis and hypothalamohypophyseal neurosecretory system of larval lampreys and their responses to light", <u>J. Morphol.</u>, 106(3): 1960, pp. 243-251.
- Parrack, H. O., "Excitability of the excised and circulated frog's sciatic nerve", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 130: 1940, pp. 481-495.

, "Potentials recorded from the nerve trunk and the dorsal root by microelectrodes", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 5: 1942, pp. 423-434. there are not been and the second second

Pedelty, M. J., "An introduction to the neuron", <u>Control</u> <u>Engineering</u>, 9(4): 1962, pp. 91-94.

, "Neuron technology builds reliable circuits from unreliable components", <u>Control Engineering</u>, 9(5): 1962, pp. 115-119.

Prosser, C. L., "Action potentials in the nervous system of the crayfish. 1. Spontaneous impulses", J. Cell. and Comp. Physiol., 4: 1934, pp. 185-209.

, "Action potentials in the nervous system of the crayfish. V. Temporal relations in presynaptic and post-synaptic responses", J. Cell. and Comp. Physiol., 7: 1935, pp. 95-111.

- Pumphrey, R. J. and Rawdon-Smith, A. F., "Synaptic transmission of nerve impulses through the last abdominal ganglion of the cockroach", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. Ser., B</u>, 122: 1937, pp. 106-118.
- Pupura, D. and Grundfest, H., "Nature of dendritic potentials and synaptic mechanisms in cerebal cortex of cat", J. <u>Neurophysiol.</u>, 19: 1956.
- Rapopert, A. and Horvath, W. J., Information Processing in Neurons and Small Nets, USAF WADD Technical Report 60-653, December 1960.

NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

4

- Renshaw, B., Forbes, A. and Morison, B. R., "Activity of isocortex and hippocampus: electrical studies with microelectrodes", J. Neurophysiol., 3: 1040, pp. 74-105.
- Roeder, K. D., "Organization of the ascending giant fiber system in the cockroach (Periplaneta americana). J. Exp. Zool., 108: 1948, pp. 243-261.
- , Kennedy, N. K. and Samson, E. A., "Synaptic conduction to giant fibers of the cockroach and the action of anticholinesterases", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 10: 1947, pp. 1-10.
- Rosenblatt, F., <u>The Perceptron</u>, Cornell Aeronautical Laboratory Report VG-1196-G-1, January 1958.
- Rosenblueth, A., "The effects of direct currents upon the electrical excitability of nerve", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>,132: 1941, pp. 55-73.
- Sato, M., "Repetitive response of the nerve fiber, as determined by recovery process and accommodation", Jap. J. Physiol., 2: 1952, pp. 277-289.
- Skoglund, C. R., "The response to linearly increasing currents in mammalian motor and sensory nerves", <u>Acta physiol.</u> <u>scand.</u>, 4, Suppl. 12: 1942.

, "The electrotonic changes in excitability in nerve and their relation to accommodation", <u>Kungl. Sv.</u> <u>Vet. Akad. Handl., III Ser. 21, No. 9: 1945</u>.

- Suda, I., Abe, U., Uchiyama, S. and Mizuno, S., "Autonomic reaction caused by chemical stimulation of the cerebellum" (in Japanese), Joken-hansha, 49: 1944, pp. 11-12.
- Takagi, J. and Ro, U., "The anatomy of the ventral spinal root", (in Japanese), <u>Iqaku to Seibut su-gaku</u>, 5: 1944, p. 35.
- Tasaki, I., "The strength-duration relation of the normal, polarized and narcotized nerve fiber", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 125: 1939, pp. 367-379.
- \_\_\_\_\_, "The motor nerve fiber which sets up slow muscular contraction", (in Japanese), Joken-hansha, 5: 1942, p. 1.

, "Collision of two nerve impulses in the nerve fiber". Biochem. Biophys. Acta, 3: 1949, pp. 494-497.

### NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Tasaki, I., "The excitatory and recovery processes in the nerve fiber as modified by temperature changes", <u>Biochem</u>, <u>Biophys. Acta</u>, 3: 1949, pp. 498-509.

\_\_\_\_, "The threshold conditions in electrical excitation of the nerve fiber", Cytologia, 15: 1950, pp. 205-236.

, "Properties of myelinated fibers in frog sciatic nerve and in spinal cord as examined with microelectrodes", Jap. J. Physiol., 3: 1952, pp. 73-94.

and Kano, H., "Isolation of slow motor fiber", <u>Jap. J.</u> <u>Med. Sci. III, Biophys.</u>, 9(2): 1942, p. 17.

and Mizuguchi, K., "Response of single Ranvier nodes to electrical stimuli", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 11: 1948, pp. 295-303.

and Mizutani, K., "Comparative studies on the activities of the muscle evoked by two kinds of motor nerve fibers. Part 1. Myographic studies", Jap. J. Med. Sci. <u>111, Biophys.</u>, 10: 1944, pp. 237-244.

and Sakaguchi, M., "Electrical excitation of the nerve fiber. Part II. Excitation by exponentially in-creasing currents", Jap. J. Physiol., 1: 1950, pp. 7-15.

and Takeuchi, T., "Der am Ranvierschen Knoten entstehende Aktionsstrom und seine Bedeutung für die Erregungsleitung", <u>Pflug. Arch. ges. Physiol.</u>, 244: 1941, pp. 696-711.

and Tsukagoshi, M., "Comparative studies on the activities of the muscle evoked by two kinds of motor nerve fibers. Part 2. The electromyogram", Jap. J. Med. Sci. III., Biophys., 10: 1944, pp. 245-251.

Tauc, L., "Analyses unitaires d'activités synaptiques chez l'Aplysie, révélant la Mise en Jeu de Neurones Intermédiaires dans le Ganglion Abdominal", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 50: 1958, pp. 541-544.

, "Preuve experimentale de l'existence de neurones intermédiaires dans le gangiion abdominal de l'Aplysie", <u>C. Rend. Acad. Sc.</u>, 248(6): 1959, pp. 853-856.

, "Interaction non-synaptique entre deux neurones adjacents du ganglion abdominal de l'Aplypsie", <u>C. Rend.</u> <u>Acad. Sc., 268(19)</u>: 1959, pp. 1857-59.

NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Tobias, J. M., "Further studies on the nature of the excitable system in nerve", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 43(5): 1960, pp. 57-71.
- Toennies, J. F., "Reflex discharge from the spinal cord over the dorsal roots", J. Neurophysiol., 1: 1938, pp. 378-390.
- Towe, A. L. and Amassian, V. E., "Patterns of activity in single cortical units following stimulation of the digits in monkeys", J. Neurophysiol., 21: 1958, p. 292.
- Uttley, A. J., "The conditional probability of signals in the nervous system," <u>R. R. E. Memorandum 1109</u>, Ministry of Supply, Gt. Malvern, 1954,
- Uttley, A. M., "The classification of signals in the nervous system, <u>EEG Clin. Neurophysiol.</u>, 6: 1054, p. 479.
- Villegas, R. and Villegas, G. M., "Characterization of the membranes in the giant nerve filter of the squid", J. Gen. Physiol., 43(5): 1960, pp. 73-95.
- Watanabe, A. and Bullock, T. H. "Modulation of activity of one neuron by subthreshold slow potentials in another", Fed. Proc., 18: 1959, p. 167.
- Whittam, R. and Guinnebault, M., "The efflux of potassium from electroplagues of electric eels", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 43(6): 1960, pp. 1171-1191.
- Widrow, B., <u>An Adaptive 'Adaline' Neuron Using Chemical</u> <u>'Memistors'</u>, Tech. Rept. No. 1553-2, prepared under ONR Contract, October 1960, Stanford Electronics Labs., Stanford, California.
- Weirsma, C. A. G., "Giant nerve fiber system of the crayfish. A Contribution to comparative physiology of synapse", J. Neurophysiol., 10: 1947, pp. 23-38.

, "Synaptic facilitation in the crayfish", J. Neurophysiol., 12: 1947, pp. 267-275.

, "Repetitive discharges of motor fibers caused by a single impulse in giant fibers of the crayfish", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 40: 1952, pp. 399-419.

, Furshpan, E. and Florey, E., "Physiological and pharmacological observations on muscle receptor organs of the crayfish, Cambarus clarkii Girard", J. Exp. Biol., 30: 1953, pp. 136-150.

NERVE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Wiersma, C. A. G. and Schallek, W. "Influence of drugs on responses of a crustacean synapse to pre-ganglionic stimulation". J. Neurophysiol., 11: 1948. pp. 491-496.

and Turner, R. S., "The interaction between the synapses of a single motor fiber", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 34: 1950, pp. 137-145.

- Woldring, S. and Dirken, M. N. J., "Spontaneous unit-activity in the superficial cortical layers", <u>Acta physiol. et</u> pharmacol. neerl., 1: 1950, p. 369.
- Woodbury, J. W., "Direct measurement of membrane resting and action potentials from single myelinated nerve fibers", <u>J. Cell.</u> Comp. Physiol., 39: 1952, pp. 323-339.

Woollard. H. H., "Intraepidermal nerve endings", J. Anat. Lond., 71: 1936, pp. 54-60.

Zotterman, Y., "Specific action potentials in the lingual nerve of the cat", Skand. Arch. Physiol., 75: 1936, pp. 105-119.

# REGROWTH AND REPAIR

Fredericq, A., "Sur l'autotomie ou mutilation par voie réflex comme mayen de défense chez les animaux", <u>Arch. Zool.</u> <u>exp. et gén.</u>, Ser. 2, 1: 1883, pp. 412-426.

Hoadley, L., "Autotomy in the anomuran, Porcellana Platycheles", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 67: 1934, pp. 494-503.

Wood, F. D., Autotomy in Arachnida", <u>J. Morphol.</u>, 42: 1926, pp. 143-195.

> \_\_\_\_\_and Wood, H. E., "Autotomy in decapod Crustacea", J. Exp. Zool., 62: 1932, pp. 1-55.

SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING

- Bloedel, P., "Hunting methods of fish-eating bats, particularly Noctilio leporinus", <u>J. Mammal.</u>, 36(3): 1955, pp. 390-399.
- Edwards, J., "Radar echoing area polar diagrams of birds", Nature, 184(4692): 1959, p. 1059.
- Eggers, F., "Echolocation and function of Johnston's organ in gyrinid beetles", Zool. Anz., 68: 1926, pp. 184-192.
- Griffin, D. R., "Hearing and acoustic orientation in marine animals", <u>Deep-Sea Res.</u>, 3(Suppl.): 1955, pp. 406-417.
  - et al., "Echolocation in fruit bat Rousettus", Biol. Bull., 115: 1958, pp. 107-113.

, Webster, F. A. and Michael, C. R., "The echolocation of flying insects by bats", <u>Animal Behavior</u>, 8(3 and 4): 1960, pp. 141-154.

- Grinnell, A. D. and Griffin, D. R., "The sensitivity of echolocation in bats", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 114(1): 1958, pp. 10-22.
- Hartridge, H., "Acoustic control of flight in bats", <u>Nature</u>, 156: 1945, pp. 490-494.
- van Heel, W. H. D., "Audio-direction finding in the porpoise (Phocaena phocaena)", Nature, 183(4667): 1959, p. 1063.
- Kellogg, W. N., "Echo ranging in the porpoise", <u>Science</u>, 128: 1958, pp. 982-988.
  - , <u>Porpolses and Sonar</u>, Univ. of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1961.
- Medway, L., "Echo-location among Collocalia", <u>Nature</u>, 184(4696): 1959, pp. 1352-1353.
- Mohres, F. P., "Acoustic and other orientation in bats Rhinolophidae, Vesperilionidae", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 34: 1953, pp. 547-588.

and Kulzer, E., "Acoustic and other orientation In fruit bats", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 38: 1956, pp. 1-29.

SOUND DETECTION AND RANGING, Continued:

- Notris, K. S. et al., "An experimental demonstration of echolocation behavior in the porpolse, Turslops truncatus (Montagu)", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 120(2): 1961, pp. 163-176.
- Novick, A., "Acoustic orientation in the cave swiftlet", <u>Blol.</u> <u>Bull.</u>, 117(3): 1959, pp. 497-503.
- Pierce, G. W., <u>The Songs of Insects</u>, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1948.
- Pye, J. D., "Echolocation by bats", <u>Endeavour</u>, 20(78): 1961, pp. 101-111.
- Rand, G., "Sight by sound -- The navigation of bats, dolphins, and men", <u>Sperry Engineering Review</u>, October 1960.
- Riley, D. A. and Rosenzweig, M. R., "Echolocation in rats", J. Comp. and Physiol. Psychol., 50: 1957, pp. 323-328.
- Schevill, W. E. and McBride, A. F., "Evidence for echolocation by cetaceans", <u>Deep-Sea Res.</u>, 3(2): 1956, pp. 153-154.
- Witcher, C. M. and Washington, L., Jr., "Echo location for the blind", <u>Electronics</u>, 27: 1954, p. 136.
#### SOUND PRODUCTION

Alexander, R. D., "Sound production and associated behavior in insects", <u>Ohio J. Sci.</u>, 57(2): 1957, pp. 101-112.

, "The song relationships of four species of ground crickets (Orthoptera: Gyllidae: Nemobius)", Ohio J. Sci., 57(3): 1957, pp. 153-163.

and Moore, T. E., "Studies on the acoustical behavior of seventeen-year cicadas (Homoptera: Cicadidae: Magicicada)", <u>Ohio J. Sci.</u>, 58(2): 1958, pp. 107-127.

Autrum, H., "Acoustic sense in insects", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 28: 1940, pp. 326-352; 28: 1941, pp. 580-637.

and Poggendorf, D., "Auditory sense in catfish Ameiurus", <u>Die Naturwissenschafter</u>, 18: 1951, pp. 434-435.

von Békésy, G., "Mechanics of hearing", <u>Nature</u>, 169: 1952, pp. 241-242.

, "Current status of theories of hearing", Science, 123: 1956, pp. 779-783.

, "Neural funneling along the skin and between the inner and outer hair cells of the cochlea", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 31: 1958, p. 338.

, "Synchronism and neural discharges and their demultiplication in pitch perception on the skin and in hearing", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 31: 1959.

Beranek, L. L., "The design of speech communication systems", Proc. IRE, 35: 1947, pp. 880-890.

- Blair, W. F., "Mating call in the speciation of anuran amphiblans", Amer. Nat., 92(862): 1958, pp. 27-51.
- Bole, H., "Hearing in goldfish", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 30: 1943, pp. 181-193.
- Borror, D. J. and Reese, C. R., "Vocal gymnastics in wood thrush songs", <u>Ohio J. Sci.</u>, 56(3): 1956, pp. 177-182.

the second s

Bunsel, R. G. and DuMortler, B., "Etude du cycle génual du male d'Ephippiger et son rapport avec le comportement acoustique", Bull. Soc. Zool. France, 80(1): 1955, pp. 23-26.

SOUND PRODUCTION, Continued:

David, E. E., "Signal theory in speech transmission", <u>IRE Trans-</u> <u>Circuit Theory</u> , 3: 1956, p. 232.
, "Artificial auditory recognition in telephony", <u>IBM J. R. and D.</u> , 2: 1958, p. 294.
Dice, L. R. and Barto, E., "High-frequency hearing by Pero- myscus", <u>Science</u> , 116: 1952, pp. 110-111.
Dijkgraaf, S., "Hearing in fish", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u> , 34: 1952, pp. 104-122.
Dobrin, M. G., "Measurements of underwater noise produced by marine life", <u>Science</u> , 105(2714): 1947, pp. 19-23.
, "Recording sounds of undersea life", <u>Trans. N. Y.</u> <u>Acad. Sci.</u> , 11(2): 1949, pp. 91-96.
Dudley, H. W., "Fundamentals of speech synthesis", <u>J. Audio Eng.</u> Soc., 3: 1955, p. 170.
Fish, M. P., "Animal sounds in the sea", <u>Sci. Amer., 194(4)</u> : 1956, pp. 93-102.
, Kelsey, A. S., Jr. and Mowbray, W. H., "Studies on the production of underwater sound by North Atlantic coastal fishes", <u>J. Marine Res.</u> , 11(2): 1952, pp. 180- 193.
and Mowbray, W. H., "The production of underwater sound by Opsanus sp., a new toadfish from Bimini, Bahamas", Zoologica (New York), 44(2): 1959, pp. 71-76.
Flanagan, J. L., "Band width and channel information necessary to transmit the formant information of speech", <u>J.</u> <u>Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u> , 28: 1956, p. 592.
, "Models for approximating basilar membrane displacement", <u>Bell Syst. Tech. J.</u> , 39: 1960, p. 1163.
Fletcher, H., "Auditory Patterns", <u>Rev. Mod. Phys.</u> , 12: 1940, pp. 47-65.
, "Dynamics of the middle ear", <u>J. Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u> , 24: 1952, p. 129.
and Riopelle, A. J., "Protective effect of the acoustic reflex for impulsive noises", <u>J. Acoust. Soc.</u> Amer., 32: 1960, p. 401.

.....

SOUND PRODUCTION, Continued:

French, N. R. and Steinberg, J. C., "Factors governing the intelligibility of speech sounds", <u>J. Acoust. Soc.</u> <u>Amer.</u>, 19: 1947, pp. 90-120.

Frings, H. et al., "The meaning of calls in crows", <u>Wilson</u> <u>Bull</u>, 67: 1955, pp. 155-170.

and Frings, M., "Reactions of sounds by the wood nymph butterfly, Cercyonis pegala", <u>Ann. Entom. Soc.</u> <u>Amer.</u>, 49(6): 1956, pp. 611-617.

hoppers", J. Exp. Zool., 134: 1957, pp. 411-425.

von Frisch, K. and Dijkgraaf, S., "Hearing in Phoxinus", <u>Biol.</u> <u>Rev.</u>, 11: 1936, pp. 210-246.

Calambos, R., "Inhibition of activity in single auditory nerve fibers by acoustic stimulation", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 7: 1944, p. 287.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Neural mechanisms in audition", <u>Physiol. Rev.</u>, 34: 1954, pp. 497-528.

Gaul, A. T., "Audio mimicry: an adjunct to color mimicry", <u>Psyche</u>, 59(2): 1952, pp. 82-83.

Gray, G. A. and Winn, H., "The sound production and behavior of the guarding male toadfish (Opsanus tau)", <u>Anat. Rec.</u>, 132(3): 1958, p. 446.

Hagiwara, S., "Mechanism of sound production in cicada", <u>Physiol. Comp. Oecoi.</u>, 4: 1956, pp. 142-153.

Hartridge, H., "Acoustic control of flight in bats", Nature, 156: 1945, pp. 490-495.

Haskell, P. T., "The influence of flight noise on behavior in the desert locust Schistocerca gregaria (Forsk)", J. Insect Physiol., 1(1): 1957, pp. 52-75.

and Belton, P., "Hearing in Orthoptera", <u>J. Exp.</u> <u>Blol.</u>, 33: 1956, pp. 756-77.

von Heel, W. H., "Pitch discrimination in minnow Phoxinus laevis at different temperature levels", <u>Experientia</u>, 12(2): 1956, pp. 75-77.

Kahmann, H. and Ostermann, K., "Production of high-frequency tones by mice and shrews", <u>Experientia</u>, 7: 1951, pp. 268-269.

SOUND PRODUCTION, Continued:

- Kellogg, W. N., "Ultrasonic hearing in the porpoise, Tursiops truncatus", <u>J. Comp. Physicl. and Psych.</u>, 46(6): 1953, pp. 446-450.
  - and Kohler, R., "Responses of the porpoise to ultrasonic frequencies", <u>Science</u>, 116(3010): 1952, pp. 250-252.
- Kilham, L., "Mutual tapping of the red-headed woodpecker", <u>Auk.</u>, 76(2): 1959, pp. 235-236.
- Kleerekoper, H. and Chagnon, E. C., "Hearing in fish, with special reference to Semotilus astromaculatus atromaculatus (Mitchili)", J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 11(2): 1954, pp. 130-152.
- and Sibabin, K., "Hearing in frogs (Rana pipiens and R. clamitans)", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 41(4): 1959, pp. 490-499.
- Lanyon, W. E. and Tavolga, W. N., "Animal sounds and communication", <u>Science</u>, 133(3460): 1961, p. 1244.
- Lickilder, J. C. R., "A duplex theory of pitch perception", <u>J.</u> <u>Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u>, 24: 1954, pp. 590-594.
- Little, H. F., "Reactions of the honey bee, apis Mellifera linn, to its natural sound and vibration of known frequencies", Dissertation Abstracts, 20(7): 1960, p. 2978.
- Maler, P., "Characteristics of some animal calls", <u>Nature</u>, 176(4470): 1955, pp. 6-8.
- McIndoo, N. E., "Auditory sense of bee", <u>J. Comp. Neurol.</u>, 34: 1922, pp. 173~199.
- Minnich, D. E., "Responses of caterpillars to sound", <u>J. Exp.</u> <u>Zool.</u>, 72: 1936, pp. 429-453.
- Misraky, G. A. et al., "Electrical properties of wall of endolymphatic space of cochlea, guinea pig", <u>Amer. J.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 194. 1958, pp. 393-402.
- Moulton, J. M., "Swimming sounds and the schooling of fishes", Biol. Bull., 119(2): 1960, pp. 210-223.
- Neff, W. D. and Kind, J. E., "Auditory thresholds of the cat", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 27(3): 1955, pp. 480-483.
- Neill, W. T., "The varied calls of the barking treefrog, Hyla gratiosa LeConte", <u>Copeia</u>, 1958(1): 1958, pp. 44-46.

# SOUND PRODUCTION, Continued,

- Ochi, Y., "Mechanism of the middle ear", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 33: 1961, p. 794.
- Peaks, W. T., "An analytical study of electric responses at the periphery of the auditory system", <u>MIT Research Labora-</u> tory of Electronics, Tech. Report 363, March, 1960.

Peterson, G. E. and Wang, W. S-Y, "Segmentation technique in speech synthesis". J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 30: 1958.

Peterson, W. W. and Birdsall, T. G., <u>The theory of signal</u> <u>detectability</u>, Electronic Defense Group, Tech. Rept. No. 13, Dept. of E. E., Univ. of Mich., June 1953.

Pimonow, L., "Contribution a l'étude du problème de la séléctivité tonale de l'oreille", Acoust., 9: 1959, p. 345.

Poggendorf, D., "Auditory sense in catfish Ameiurus", Ztschr. verg. Physiol., 34: 1952, pp. 222-257.

Pollack, I., "Effects of high pass and low pass filtering upon the intelligibiltiy of bands of speech in noise", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 20: 1948, pp. 259-266.

Pringle, J. W. S., "Structure and physiology of sound-producing organs in insects, particularly cicadas", <u>J. Exp. Biol.</u>, 31: 1954, pp. 525-560.

Rippelle, A. J. and Fletcher, J. L., "Protective effect of the acoustic reflex for impulsive noises", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 32: 1960, p. 4011.

- Roeder, K. D. and Treat, A. E., "Ultrasonic reception by the tympanic organ of noctuid moths", J. Exp. Zool., 134: 1957, p. 127.
- Schevill, W. E. and Lawrence, B., "Underwater listening to the white porpoise (Delphinapterus leucas)", Science, 109(2824): 1949, pp. 143-144.

, "High-frequency auditory response of a bottlenosed porpoise, Tursiops truncatus (Montagu)", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 25(5): 1953, pp. 1016-1017.

, "Auditory response of a bottlenosed porpoise, Tursiops truncatus to frequencies above 100kc", J. Exp. Zool., 124(1): 1953, pp. 147-165.

SOUND PRODUCTION, Continued:

- Schleidt, W. M., "Reactions of moles and mice to high-frequency sound", Experientia, 7: 1961, pp. 65-66.
- Schneider, W., "Sound reception in various insects", <u>Ztschr.</u> <u>vergl. Physiol.</u>, 32: 1950, pp. 287-302.
- Schoen, L., "Reflexes and electrical responses of vestibular system of fish", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 32: 1950, pp. 121-150.
- Stevens, S. S., "Measurement of loudness", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 27: 1955, pp. 815-829.
- Tavolga, W. N., "Foghorn sounds beneath the sea", <u>Nat. His.</u>, (New York), 69(3): 1960. pp. 44-51.
- Thorpe, W. H., "The language of birds", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 195(4): 1956, pp. 128-138.
- Wakabayashi, T. and Hagiwara, S., "Mechanical and electrical events in sound production by cicadas", <u>Jap. J. Physiol.</u>, 3: 1953, pp. 249-253.
- Wallach, H., "On sound localization", <u>J. Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u>, 10: 1939, p. 270.
- Wever, E. G., "Audiogram of man and cat", <u>J. Exp. Psychol.</u>, 126: 1940, pp. 281-286.

and Bray, C. W., "The nature of acoustical response: the relation between the sound frequency and the frequency of impulses in the auditory nerve", <u>J. Exp. Psychol.</u>, 13: 1930, pp. 373-387.

and Vernon, J. A., "Audiograms of various turtles", Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 42: 1056, pp. 213-220.

, "Auditorv sensitivity of grasshopper, Paroxya, and other Orthoptera", Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 43: 1957, pp. 346-348; 45: 1959, pp. 413-419.

- Wiersma, C. A. G. and Boettiger, E. G., "Proprioceptors in joints of crabs", J. Exp. Biol., 36: 1959, pp. 102-112.
- Wishart, G. and Riodan, D. F., "Flight responses to various sounds by adult males of Aedes aegypti (1.) (Diptera: Cullicidae)", Canad. Entom., 91(3): 1959, pp. 181-191.

569

.

SOUND PRODUCTION, Continued:

Wood, F. G., "Underwater sound production and concurrent behavior of captive porpoises, Tursiops truncatus and Stenella plagiodon", <u>Bull. Marine Sci. Gulf and Carib.</u>, 3(2): 1953, pp. 120-133.

#### SO'JND SENSITIVITY

Ades, H. W. and Brookhart, J. M., "The central auditory pathway", J. Neurophysiol., 13: 1950, pp. 189-206.

and Felder, R. E., "The acoustic projection system: a comparative study", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 8: 1945, pp. 463-470.

, Mettler, F. A. and Culler, E. A., "Effect of lesions in the medial geniculate bodies upon hearing in the cat", Amer. J. Physiol., 125: 1939, pp. 15-23.

- Allanson, J. T. and Whitfield, I. C., "The cochlear nucleus and its relation to theories of hearing", <u>Third London</u> <u>Symposium on information Theory</u>, Butterworths, London, 1955, pp. 269-286.
- Autrum, H., "Acoustic sense in insects", <u>Ztsch. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 28: 1941, pp. 580-637.

and Poggendorf, D., "Auditory sense in catfish Ameiurus", Die Naturwissenschaften, 18: 1951, pp. 434-435.

and Schneider, W., "Vibration sense in insects", Ztsch. vergl. Physiol., 31: 1948, pp. /7-88.

- Bárány, E., <u>Acta Otolaryng</u>, <u>Supplement 26</u>, Stockholm, 1938, (Cited from Best and Taylor).
- von Békésy, G., "The variation of phase along the basilar membrane with sinusoidal vibrations", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 21: 1947, pp. 452-460.

, "Vibration of the head in a sound field and its role in hearing by bone conduction". J. Accust. Soc. Amer., 20: 1948, p. 749. (Cited from Best and Taylor).

, "The vibration of the cochlear partition in the anatomical preparation and in model of the inner ear", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 21: 1949, pp. 233-245.

, "D. C. potentials and energy balance of the cochlear partition", <u>J. Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u>, 23: 1951, pp. 576-582.

, "D. C. resting potentials inside the cochlear partition", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 24: 1952, pp. 72-76.

, "Gross localization of the place of origin of the cochlear microphonics", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 24: 1952, pp. 399-409.

SOUND SENSITIVITY, Continued:

von Bikesy, G., "Description of some mechanical properties of the organ of Corti", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 25: 1953, pp. 770-785.

> ,"Shearing microphonics produced by vibrations near the inner and outer hair cells", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 25: 1953, pp. 786-790.

,"Paradoxical direction of wave travel along the cochlear partition", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 27: 1955, pp. 137-145.

, "Human skin perception of travelling waves similar to those in the cochlea", <u>J. Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u>, 27: 1955, pp. 830-841.

, "Current status of theories of hearing", <u>Science</u>, 123: 1956, pp. 779-783.

, "The ear", Sci. Amer., 198: 1957, pp. 66-78.

, "Synchronism and neural discharges and their demultiplication in pitch perception on the skin and in hearing", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 31: 1959, p. 338.

, "Neural funneling along the skin between the inner and outer hair cells of the cochlea", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 31: 1959, p. 1236.

, Experiments in Hearing, McGraw Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1960.

and Rosenblith, W. A., "The mechanical properties of the ear", in <u>Handbook of Experimental Psychology</u>, S. S. Stevens, Ed., John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1951, pp. 1075-1115.

- Boie, H. A., "Hearing in goldfish", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 30-1943, pp. 181-193. (Cited from Prosser).
- Brener, F., "Étude oscillographique des responses censorielles de l'aire acoustique cortical chez le chat", <u>Arch. Int.</u> Physiol., 53: 1943, pp. 53-103.
- Broadbent, D. E., "The sense of hearing", <u>Nature</u>, 188(4747): 1960, pp. 268-270.
- Chow, K. L., "Numerical estimates of the auditory central nervous system of the rhesus monkey", <u>J. Comp. Neurol.</u>, 95: 1951, pp. 159-175.

SOUND SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Davis, H., "The physiological phenomena of audition", in <u>Handbook</u> of <u>Experimental Psychology</u>, C. Murchison, Ed., Clark Univ. Press, Worcester, 1934, p. 1125.
  - , "Energy into perve impulses: the inner ear", <u>Advanc.</u> Sci., 9: 1953, pp. 420-424.
- et al., "The electric response of the cochlea", Amer. J. Phys., 107: 1934, p. 311.
- , "Summating potential of the cochlea", <u>Amer. J.</u> Physiol., 195: 1958, pp. 251-261.
- and Associates, "Acoustic trauma in the guinea pig", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 25: 1953, pp. 1180-1189.
- Fernandez, C. and McAuliffe, D. R., "The excitatory process in the cochlea", <u>Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.</u>, 36: 1950, pp 580-587.
- , Silverman, S. R. and McAuliffe, D. R., 'Some observations on pitch and frequency", <u>J. Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u>, 23: 1951, pp. 40-42.
- , Taski, I., and Goldstein, R., "The peripheral origin of activity, with spectral reference to the ear" in <u>Cold Spring</u> <u>Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology</u>, <u>The Neuron</u>, Vol. 17, Long Island Biological Association, Inc., Cold Spring Harbor, Long Island, 1951, pp. 143-154.
- Derbyshire, A. J. and Davis, H., "The action potentials of the auditory nerve", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 113: 1935, pp. 476-504.
- Dijkgraaf, S., "Hearing in fish", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 34: 1922, pp. 104-122.

and Verheijen, F. J., "Hearing in fish", <u>Ztschr.</u> vergl. Physiol., 32: 1950, pp. 248-256.

- Erulkar, S. D., Rose, J. E. and Davies, P. W., "Single unit activity in the auditory cortex of the cat", Johns Hopkins Hosp. Bull. 99: 1956, pp. 55-86.
- Evarts, E. V., "Effect of auditory cortex ablation on frequency discrimination in monkey", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 15: 1952, pp. 443-448.
- Flanagan, J. L., "Models for approximating basilar membrane displacement", Bell Syst. Tech. J., 39: 1960, p. 1163.

SOUND SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Fletcher, H., "A space-time pattern theory of hearing", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 1: 1930, pp. 311-343.

Fletcher, J., <u>Speech and Hearing in Communication</u>, 2nd edition, D. Van Nostrand Co., Princeton, N. J., 1953.

Fletcher, J. L. et al., "Protective effect of the acoustic reflex for impulsive noises", <u>J. Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u>, 32: 1960, p. 401.

Fraser, F. C. and Purves, P. E., "Hearing in cetaceans", <u>Bull.</u> Brit. Mus. (Nat. Hist.), Zool., 2(5): 1954, pp. 1010-1014.

, "Hearing in whales", Endeavor, 18(70): 1959, pp. 93-98.

French, N. R. et al., "Factors governing the intelligibility of speech sounds", <u>J. Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u>, 19: 1947, pp. 90-120.

Frings, H. and Frings, M., "Duplex nature of reception of simple sounds in the scape moth, Ctenucha virginica", <u>Science</u>, 126(3262): 1957, p. 24.

and Little, F., "Reactions of honey bees in the hive to simple sounds", Science, 125(3238): 1956, p. 122.

von Frisch, K. and Dijkgraaf, S., "Hearing in Phoxinus", Biol. Rev., 11: 1936, pp. 210-246. (Cited from Prosser).

Galambos, R., "Neural mechanisms in audition", <u>Physiol. Rev.</u>,34: 1954, pp. 497-528.

, "Physiological studies on the descending auditory pathway", XXth Inter. Physiol. Cong. Abstracts of Communications, 1956, p. 321.

, "Suppression of auditory merve activity by stimulation of efferent fibers to cochlea", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 19 1956, pp. 424-437.

et al., "Action of middle ear muscles in normal cats", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 31: 1959, p. 349.

and Davis, H., "The response of single auditorynerve fibers to acoustic stimulation", J. Neurophysiol., 6: 1943, pp. 39-57.

SOUND SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Galambos, R. and Davis, H., "Inhibition of activity in single auditory nerve fibers by acoustic stimulation", J. Neurophysiol., 7: 1944, pp. 287-303.

, "Action potentials from single auditory nerve fibers", <u>Science</u>,108: 1948, p. 513.

, Rose, J. E. and Hughes, J. R., "Frequency localization in cochlear nucleus", Fed. Proc., 10: 1951, p. 47.

- Goldstein, R., <u>A Study of Cochlear Potentials</u> (A dissertation presented to Washington University, St. Louis, Missouri) 1952.
- Griffin, D. R., "Audible and ultrasonic sounds of bats", <u>Exper-</u> ientia, 7(12): 1951, pp. 448-453.
- Hamberger, C. A., Hyden, H., Marcus, D. H. and Nilsson, G., "Measurement of cochlear potentials", <u>Acta Otolaryngol.</u>, Suppl., 75: 1949, pp. 114-123.
- Haskell, P. T., "Hearing in Orthoptera", J. Exp. Biol., 33: 1956, pp. 756-766.
- von Helmholtz, H., "Die Lehre von den Tonempfindungen als physiologische Grundlage für die Theorie der Musik" (First given in a public lecture at Bonn, 1847), (1883).
- Hilal'. S. and Whitfield, L. C., "Responses of the trapezoid body to acoustic stimulation with pure tones", <u>J. Physic</u>., 122-1953, pp. 158-171.
- Hind, J. E., "An electrophysiological determination of tonotopic organization in auditory cortex of cat", <u>J. Neurophysiol.</u>, 16 1953, pp. 475-489.
- Hubel, D. H., Henson, C. O., Rupert, A. and Galambos, R., "Attention units in auditory cortex", <u>Science</u>, 129(3358): 1959, pp. 1279-80.
- Huggins, W.H., <u>A Theory of Hearing</u>, AF Cambridge Research Cente Tech. Report, Cambridge, Mass., 1953, pp. 14-53.
- Jacobson, H., "Information and the human Har", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 23(4): 1951, pp. 463-471.
- Kahmann, N. and Ostermann, K., "Wahrnehmen und Hervorbringen hoher Tone bei kleinen Säugetieren", <u>Experientia</u>, 7(7): 1951, pp. 268-269.

SOUND SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Kellogg, W. N., "Auditory perception of submerged objects by porpoises", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 31(1): 1959, pp. 1-5.

and Kohler, R., "Reactions of the porpoise to ultrasonic frequencies", Science, 116(3010): 1972, pp. 150-252.

- Kemp, E. H., Coppee, G. E. and Robinson, E. H., "Electric responses of the brain stem to unilateral auditory stimulation", Amer. J. Physiol., 120-1937, pp. 304-315.
- Kryter, K. D. and Ades, H. W., "Studies on the function of the higher acoustic nervous centers in the cat", <u>Amer. J.</u> Psychol., 56: 1943, pp. 501-536.
- Lanndorf, J., "Dimensional analysis of cochlear models", <u>J. Acoust.</u> Soc. Amer., 32: 1960, p. 493.
- Licklider, J. C. R., "A duplex theory of pitch perception", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 24: 1954, pp. 590-594.

, "Basic correlates of the auditory stimulus", in <u>Handbook of Experimental Psychology</u>, S. S. Stevens, Ed., John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York, 1951, pp. 985-1039.

A Study of a Science, S. Kock, Ed., McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1959, Chap. 2.

and Kryter, K. D., "Frequency localization in the auditory cortex of the monkey", <u>Fed Proc.</u>, 1: 1942, p. 51.

Lowenstein, O. and Roberts, T. D. M., "Responses to vibration in isolated elasmobranch labyrinth", J. Physiol., 110: 1950, pp. 392-415, 114: 1951, pp. 471-489 (Cited from Prosser).

and Sand, A., "Equilibrium function of otolith organs and semicircular canals of elasmobranch Raja, analyzed by nerve impulse recording", <u>Proc. Royal Soc.</u> London, B. 129: 1940, pp. 256-275 (Cited from Prosser).

- McIndoo, N. E., "Auditory sense of bee", <u>J. Comp. Neurol.</u>, 34: 1922, pp. 173-199.
- Meyer, D. R. and Woolsey, C. N., "Effects of localized cortical destruction on auditory discrimination conditioning in cat", J. Neurophysiol., 15: 1952, pp. 149-162.

SOUND SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Miller, G. A. and Taylor, W. G., "The perception of repeated bursts of noise", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 20: 1948, pp. 171-182.
- Miller, L., "Auditory recognition of predators", Condor, 54(2): 1952, pp. 89-92.
- Peterson, L. C. and Bogert, B. P., "A dynamical theory of the cochlea", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 22: 1950, pp. 369-381.
- Peterson, W. W. et al., <u>The Theory of Signal Detectability</u>, Tech. Report No. 13, Electronic Defense Group, Dept. of E. E. Univ. of Michigan, June 1953.
- Pierce, J. R., "Some work on hearing", <u>Amer. Sci.</u>, 48(1): 1960, pp. 40-45.
- Pimonow, L., "Contribution a l'étude du problème de la séléctivite tonal de l'oreille", Acoustica, 9: 1959, p. 345.
- Pumphrey, R. J., "Upper limit of frequency for human hearing", Nature, 166(4222) 1950, p. 571.
- Roeder, K. D. et al., 'The detection and evasion of bats by moths", <u>Amer. Sci.</u>, 49: 1961, p. 135.

, "Ultrasonic reception by the tympanic organ of noctuid moths", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 134: 1957, p. 127.

Ranke, O. F., "Theory of operation of the cochlea. A contribution to the hydrodynamics of the cochlea", <u>J. Acoust. Soc.</u> <u>Amer.</u>, 22: 1950, pp. 772-777.

- Rasmussen, G. L., "Further observations of the efferent cochlear bundle", J. Comp. Neurol., 99: 1953, pp. 61-74.
- Rose, J. E., "The cellular structure of the auditory region of the cat", J. Comp. Neurol., 91: 1949, pp. 409-439.
- Rosenblith, W. A., "Auditory masking and fatigue", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 22: 1950, pp. 792-800.

and Rosenzweig, M. R., "Latency of neural components in round window response to pure tones", <u>Fed.</u> <u>Proc.</u>, 11: 1952, p. 132.

Rutherford, W. A., "A new theory of hearing", J. Anat. Physiol., 21: 1886, pp. 166-168.

SOUND SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Schneider, W., "Sound reception in various insects", <u>Ztschr.</u> vergl. Physiol., 32: 1950, pp. 287-302.

Schouten, J. F., "The perception of subjective tones", Proc. <u>Konink-Nederlandsche Akad. Wetenschappen</u>, 41: 1938, pp. 1089-1093.

, "The residue and the mechanism of hearing", <u>Proc.</u> <u>Konink-Mederlandsche Akad. Wetenschappen</u>, 43: 1940, pp. 991-999.

- Smith, C. A., Lowry, O. H. and Wu, M. L., "Electrolytes of labyrinthine fluids", Laryngoscope, St. Louis, 64: 1954, pp. 141-152.
- Sumi, T., Katsuki, Y. and Uchiyama, H., "Electric responses of auditory neurons in cat to sound stimulation", Proc. Acad. Jap., 32: 1956, pp. 67-71.
- Tanner, W. P., Jr. et al., <u>Some General Properties of the Hear-</u> <u>ing Mechanism</u>, Technical Report No. 30, Electronic Defense Group, Dept. of E. E., Univ. of Michigan, March 1956.
- Tasaki, I., "Afferent impulses in individual cochlear nerve fibers in the guines pig", <u>Fed. Proc.</u>, 12: 1953, p. 142.

and Davis, H \_ "Electric responses of individual nerve elements in co = ear nucleus to sound stimulation (guinea pig)" J. Neurophysiol., 18: 1955, pp. 151-158.

and Eldreuge, D. H., "Exploration of cochlear potentials in guinea pig with a microelectrode", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 26: 1954, pp. 765-773.

and Legouix, J. P., "The space-time pattern of the cochlear microphonics (guinea pig) as recorded by differential elecrodes", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 24: 1952, pp. 502-519.

and Fernandez, C., "Modification of cochlear microphonics and action potentials by KCL solution and by direct currents", J. Neurophysiol., 15: 1952, pp. 497-512.

Treat, A. E., "The response to sound in certain Lepidoptera", Ann. Entom. Suc. Amer., 48(4): 1955, pp. 272-284.

Tunturi, A. R., "Audio-frequency localization in the acoustic cortex of the dog", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 141: 1944, pp. 389-394.

# SOUND SENSITIVITY, Continued:

A COLUMN CONTRACTOR

- Tuntur' A. R., "Physiological determination of the arrangement of the afferent connection to the middle ectosylvian auditory area in the dog", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 162: 1950, pp. 489-502.
  - , "A difference in the representation of auditory signals for the left and right ears in the isofrequency contous of the right middle ectosylvian auditory cortex of the dog", Amer. J. Physiol., 168: 1952, pp. 712-727.

,"Effect of lesions of the auditory and adjacent cortex on conditioned reflexes", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 181: 1955, pp. 225-229

, "Analysis of cortical auditory responses with the probability pulse", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 181: 1955, pp. 630-638.

- Turnbull, W. W., "Pitch discrimination as a function of tonal duration", J. Exp. Psychol., 34: 1944, pp. 302-316.
- Wallack, H., "On sound localization", <u>J. Acoust. Soc. Amer.</u>, 10: 1039, p. 270.
- Wegel, R. L. and Lane, C. E., "The auditory masking of one pure tone by another and its probable relation to the dynamics of the inner ear", <u>Phys. Rev.</u>, 23: 1924, p. 266.
- Wever, E. G. et al., "The relation between the sound frequency and frequency of impulses in the auditory nerve", J. Exp. Psychol., 13: 1930, pp. 373-387.
- and Bray, C. W., "Present possibilities for auditory theory", <u>Psychol. Rev.</u>, 37: 1930, pp. 364-380.

"Action currents in the auditory nerve in response to acoustical stimulation", Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. Wash., 16: 1930, pp. 344-350.

and Lawrence, M., "The place principle in auditory theory", Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 38 · 1952, pp. 133-138.

and Vernon, J. A., "Audiograms of various turtles". <u>Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.</u>, 42: 1956, pp. 213-220.

Whitfield, L. C., "Auditory nerve patterns and their relation to the cortical response", Abstr. XIX Int. Physiol. Cong., 1953, p. 885.

# SOUND SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Whitfield, I. C., "Electrophysiology of the central auditory pathway", Brit. Med. Bull., 12: 1956, pp. 105-109.

, "The physiology of hearing", in <u>Progress in Bio-</u> physics and Biophysical Chemistry, J. A. V. Butler and B. Katz, Eds., Vol. 8, Pergamon Press, London, New York, 1957.

, "The electrical responses of the unanaesthetized auditory cortex in the intact cat", <u>EEG Clin.</u> <u>Neurophysiol.</u>, 9: 1957, pp. 35-42.

Woolsey, C. N. and Walzl, E. M., "Tropical projection of nerve fibers from local regions of the cochlea to the cerebral cortex of the cat", Johns Hopkins Hosp. Bull., 71: 1942, pp. 315-344.

Zwislocki, J., "Theory of the acoustical action of the cochlea", J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 22: 1950, pp. 778-784.

# TACTILE SENSITIVITY

- Adrian, E. D. and Umrath, K., "The impulse discharge from the Pacinian corpuscle", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 68: 1929, pp. 139-154.
- Alvarez-Buylla, R. and de Arellano, R., "Local responses in Pacinian corpuscies", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 172: 1953, pp. 237-244.
- Beckett, E. B., Bourne, G. H. and Montagna, W., "Histology and cytochemistry of human skin. The distribution of cholinesterase in the finger of the embryo, and the adult", J. Physiol., 134: 1956, pp. 202-206.
- Bing, H. I. and Skouby, A. P., "Sensitization of cold receptors by substances with acetylcholine effect", <u>Acta physiol.</u> scand., 21: 1950, pp. 286-302.
- Bronk, D. W. and Stella, G., "The response to steady pressures of single end organs in the Isolated carotid sinus", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 110: 1934, pp. 708-714.
- Buytendyk, F. J. J., "Toucher et être touché", <u>Arch. Neerland</u> <u>Zool.</u>, 10, Suppl. 2: 1953, pp. 34-44.
- Cattell, Mc K. and Hoagland, H., "Response of tactile receptors to intermittent stimulation", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 72: 1931, pp. 392-404.
- Cooper, K. W., "Biology of eumenine wasps. V. Digital communication in wasps", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 134(3): 1957, pp. 469-513.
- Diamond, J., "Observations on the excitation by acetylcholine and by pressure of sensory receptors in the cat's carotid sinus", J. Physiol., 130: 1955, pp. 513-532.
- Featherstone, R., Gray, J. A. B. and Inman, D. R., "The perfusion of a Pacinian corpuscie", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 132: 1956, pp. 27-28.
  - , Gray, J. A. E. and Inman, D. R., "Initiation of Impulses; generator potentials in Pacinian corpuscies", J. Physiol., 141: 1958, pp. 117-131; 142: 1958, pp. 382-394.

and Sato, M., "The site of InIt!ation of Impulses in Pacinian corpuscies", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 133: 1956, pp. 54-67.

TACTILE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Digby, P. S. B., "Flight activity in the blowfly Calliphora erythrocephala in relation to wind speed, with special reference to adaptation", J. Exp. Biol., 35: 1958, pp. 776-795.
- Douglas, W. W. and Gray, J. A. B., "The excitant action of acetylcholine and other substances on cutaneous sensory pathways and its prevention by hexamethonium and dtubocurarine", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 119: 1953, pp. 118-123.
- Fitzgerald, O., "Discharges from the sensory organs of the cat's vibrissae and the modification in their activity by Ions", J. Physiol., 98: 1940, pp. 163-178.
- Gray, J. A. B. and Malcolm, J. L., "The initiation of nerve impulses by mesenteric Pacinian corpuscies", <u>Proc. Roy.</u> <u>Soc. B.</u>, 137: 1950, pp. 96-114.
  - , "The excitation of touch receptors in frog's skin", J. Physiol., 115: 1951, pp. 1-15.
  - and Matthews, P. B. C., "Excitation of Pacinian corpuscies", <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B</u>, 137: 1950, pp. 96-114.
    - , "A comparison of the adaptation of the Pacinian corpuscie, with the accommodation of its own axon", J. Physiol., 114: 1951, pp. 454-464.
- and Sato, M., "The movement of sodium and other lons in Pacinian corpuscies", <u>J. Physici.</u>, 129: 1955, pp. 594-607.
  - , "Properties of the receptor potential in Pacinian corpuscies", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 122: 1953, pp. 610-636.
- Habgood, J. S., "Sensitization of sensory endings of frog's skin", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 111: 1950, pp. 195-213.
- Hagen, E., Knocke, H., Sinclair, D. C. and Weddell, G., "The role of specialized nerve terminals in cutaneous sensibility", Proc. Roy. Soc. B., 141: 1953, pp. 279-287.
- Heinbecker, P., Bishop, G. H. and O'Leary, J. L., "Pain and touch fibers in peripheral nerves", <u>Arch. Neurol.</u> <u>Psychiat.</u>, 29: 1933, pp. 771-789.

TACTILE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Hellauer, H. P., "Sensibilität und Acetylcholinegehalt der Hornhaut bei verschiedenen Tieren und Menchen", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 32: 1950, pp. 303-310.
- Hoagland, H. and Rubin, M. A., "Adaptation of cutaneous receptors in frog", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 19: 1935, pp. 221-228.
- Hogg, B. M., "Slow impulses from the cutaneous nerves of the frog", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 84: 1935, pp. 250-258.
- Hubbard, S. J., "The mechanical properties of Pacinian corpuscles", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 132: 1956, p. 23.
- Jarret, A. S., "The effect of acetylcholine on touch receptors in frog's skin", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 133: 1956, pp. 243-254.
- Landgren, S., "Excitation of carotid pressure receptors", Acta physiol. scand., 26: 1952, pp. 1-56.
- Lorente de Nó, R., "Effects of choline and acetylcholine chloride upon peripheral nerve fibers", <u>J. Cell Comp.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 24: 1944, pp. 84-97.
- Lowenstein, O., "Pressure receptors in fin of dogfish", J. Exp. Biol., 33: 1954, pp. 417-421.

and Wersall, J., "Electron microscopy of sensory hairs in cristae of Raja", <u>Nature</u>, 184: 1959, pp. 1807-1808.

- Lowenstein, W. R., "Modulation of cutaneous mechanoreceptors by sympathetic stimulation", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 132: 1956, pp. 40-60.
- , "Excitation and changes in adaptation by stretch or mechanoreceptors", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 133: 1956, pp. 588-601.

, "Facilitation and refractoriness in Pacinian corpuscies", J. Gen. Physiol., 41: 1958, pp. 825-845.

and Altamiroano-Orrego, R., "The refractory state of the generator and propagated potentials in a Pacinian corpuscie", J. Gen. Physiol., 41: 1958, pp. 805-824.

and Molins, D., "Chollnesterase in Pacinian corpuscie", <u>Science</u>, 128: 1958, p. 1284.

and the second second second second

ţ.

TACTILE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Lowenstein, W. R. and Rathkamp, R., "Initiation of impulses in Pacinian corpuscles", <u>J. Gen. Physiol.</u>, 41: 1958, pp. 1245-1265.
- Lyon, E. P., "On rheotropism: 1. Rheotropism in fishes", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 12: 1904, pp. 149-161. (Cited from Metcalf and Flint.)
- Maruhashi, J., Mizuguchi, K. and Tasaki, I., "Action currents in single afferent nerve fibers elicited by stimulation of the skin of the toad and the cat", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 117: 1952, pp. 129-151.
- Prosser, C. L., "Sensory responses from single hairs of crayfish", J. Cell, Comp. Physiol., 16: 1940, pp. 25-38.
- Pumphrey, R. J., "Slow adaptation of a tactile receptor in the leg of the common cockroach", J. Physiol., 87: 1936, p. 6.
- Quilliam, T. A., "Structure of the Pacinian corpuscle", <u>Fed.</u> <u>Proc.</u>, 15: 1956, p. 147.

and Sato, M., "The distribution of myelin on nerve fibers from Pacinian corpuscles", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 129: 1955, pp. 167-176.

Rose, J. E. and Mountcastle, V. B., "Activity of single neurons in the tactile thalamic region of the cat in response to a transient peripheral stimulus", <u>Johns Hopkins Hosp.</u> Bull., 94: 1954, p. 238.

, "Touch and kinesis", in <u>Handbook of Physiology</u>, J. Field, Ed.-in-Chief, Williams & Wilkins Company, Baltimore, Md., 1959, pp. 387-429.

- Skouby, A. P., "Sensitization of pain receptors by cholinergic substances", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 24: 1951, pp. 174-191.
- Verheijen, F. J., "Transmission of a flight reaction amongst a school of fish and underlying sensory mechanism", <u>Experientia</u>, 12(5): 1956, pp 202-204.

Weddell, G., "The pattern of cutaneous innervation in relation to cutaneous sensibility", <u>J. Anat. Lond.</u>, 75: 1941, pp. 346-367.

, "The multiple innervation of sensory spots on the skin", <u>J. Anat. Lond.</u>, 75: 1941, pp. 441-446.

TACTILE SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Wolbarsht, M. L. and Dethier, V. G., "Tactile responses of chemosensory hairs in Phormia", <u>Fed. Proc.</u>, 17: 1958, p. 172.
- Woollard, H. H., Weddell, G. and Harpman, J. A., "Observations on the neuro-histological basis of cutaneous pain", J. Anat. Lond., 74: 1941, pp. 413-440.
- Zotterman, Y., "Touch, pain and tickling; an electrophysiological investigation on cutaneous sensory nerves", J. Physiol., 95: 1939, pp. 1-28.

# THERMAL SENSITIVITY

- Alexander, A. J. and Ewer, D. W., "Reactions of scorpions to temperature", <u>J. Exp. Biol.</u>, 35: 1958, pp. 349-359.
- Adolph, E. F., "Responses of various mammals to hypothermia", Amer. J. Physiol., 166: 1951, pp. 62-103.
  - and Richmond, J., "Rewarming after hibernation and artificial cooling", <u>J. Appl. Physiol.</u>, 8: 1956, pp. 48-58.
- Allbrook, D. B. et al., "Temperature relations of rhinoceros", J. Physiol., 143: 1958, pp. 51-52P.
- Auerbach, M., "Role of thyroid in temperature adaption of fish", Ztschr. Fisch. Hilfswiss, 6: 1957, pp. 605-620.
- Baldwin, W. F. and House, H. L., "Modification of lethal temperatures in insects", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 32: 1954, pp. 9-15.
- Bardach, J. E. and Bjorklund, R. G., "Thermal sensitivity of fishes", Amer. Nat., 91: 1957, pp. 233-251.
- Bargeton, D., "Acclimation of rats to cold", Arch. Sci. Physlol., 9: 1955, pp. 47-62.
- Barnett, S. A. and Manly, B. M., "Effects of low temperature on breeding of mice", Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B, 151: 1959, pp. 87-105.
- Bartholomew, G. A. and Dawson, W. R., "Temperature regulation in young pelicans, herons, and gulls", <u>Ecology</u>, 35: 1954, pp. 466-472.
  - and Wilke, F., "Body temperature of fur seal", J. Mammal., 37: 1956, pp. 327-337.
- Bass, D. E. and Henschel, A., "Responses of body fluid compartments to heat and cold", <u>Physiol. Rev.</u>, 36: 1956, pp. 128-144.
- Battle, H. I., "Failure of various tissues in relation to thermai death in fish", Contr. Canad. Biol. Fish., N. S. 4: 929, pp. 497-500.
- Belehradek, J., "Physiological aspects of heat and cold", J. Ann. Rev. Physiol., 19: 1957, pp. 59-82.
- Benzinger, T. H., "The human thermostat", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 204(+): 1961, pp. 134-147.

THERMAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Blair, J. R. and Keller, A. D., "Heat-regulating center in dog and cat", J. Neuropath. Exp. Neurol., 5: 1946, pp. 240-256.
- Bodenheimer, F. S., "Temperature relations, among grasshoppers, bees, and ants", Zool. Jahrb. Abt. Syst., 66: 1934, pp. 113-151.
- Brett, J. R., "Principles of thermal requirements of fish", Quart. Rev. Biol., 31: 1956, pp. 75-87.
  - et al., "Effect of temperature on cruising speed of young salmon", <u>Bull. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada</u>, 114: 1959, pp. 1-26.
- Brody, S., "Reactions of cattle to temperature and humidity", Nineteenth Internal. Physiol. Congress, 1953, p. 234.
- Brown, A. W. A., "Thermotaxis in mosquitoes", <u>Nature</u>, 167: 1951, p. 202.
- Bullock, T. H., "Temperature adaptation in polkilothermic animals", <u>Biol. Rev.</u>, 30: 1955, pp. 311-342.
- and Diecke, F. P. J. "Anatomy and physiology of Infrared sense organs in facial pit of pit vipers", <u>J.</u> Physiol., 134(1): 1956, pp. 47-87.
- Bullock, T. H. and Fox, W., "The anatomy and physiology of the Infrared sense organ in the facial pit of pit vipers", Quart. J. Microscop. Sci., 98: 1957, pp. 219-234.
- Carlson, L. D., "Reflex of shivering", Proc. Soc. Exp. Blol. Med., 85: 1954, pp. 303-305.
- Chatfleld, P. D. and Lyman, C. P., "Circuiatory and nervous changes during arousal in hibernating hamsters", <u>Amer.</u> J. Physiol., 163: 1950, pp. 566-574.
- Christophersen, J. and Precht, H., "Temperature adaptation of enzyme systems in yeast and bacteria", <u>Biol. Centralbl.</u>, 69: 1959, pp. 300-323; 70: 1951, pp. 261-274; 71: 1952, pp. 585-601.
- Church, N. S., "Heat loss and budy temperatures of flying insects", J. Exp. Biol., 37: 1960, pp. 171-212.
- Cocking, A. S., "Rat of temperature acclimation and heat death in fish", J. Exp. Biol., 36: 1959, pp. 203-226.

THERMAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Covino, B. G. and Beavers, W. R., "Cardiovascular response to hypothermia", Amer. J. Physiol., 191: 1957, pp. 153-156.
- Cowles, R. B., "Evolution of dermal temperature regulation", Evolution, 12: 1958, pp. 347-357.

- Dainton, B. H., "Behavior responses of slugs to temperature", J. Exp. Biol., 31: 1954, pp. 165-197.
- Dale, H. E. and Brody, S., "Environmental temperature and blood changes in cattle", Univ. of M. souri Exp. Station Bull., No. 562: 1954, pp. 1-27; No. 608: 1956, pp. 1-17.
- Davis, T. R. A. and Mayer, J., "Physiological stimulus for shivering", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 181: 1955, pp. 669-674.
- Dawe, A. R., "Characteristics of the hibernating heart", Amer. Heart J., 59: 1960, pp. 78-89.
- Dawson, W. R., "Temperature regulation and water requirements of towhees", Univ. of California Publ. Zool., 59: 1954, pp. 81-124.

, "Metabolism in relation to temperature in desert rodents", J. Mammal., 36: 1955, pp. 543-553.

and Bartholomew, G. A., "Physiological responses of lizards to temperature variation", Physiol. Zool., 31: 1958, pp. 100-111; 33: 1960, pp. 87-103

and Evans, F. C., "Development of homeothermy in sparrows", Physici. Zool., 31: 1958, pp. 315-327.

and Tordoff, H. B., "Us consumption in relation to temperature change in the evening grosbeaks". Condor, 61: 1959, pp. 388-396.

- Deane, H. W. and Lyman, C. P., Hormones in relation to Hibernation", Endocrinology, 55: 1954, pp. 300-315.
- Depocas, F., Hart, J. S. and Herbux, O., "Heat and cold acclimation in rats", J. Appl. Physiol., 10: 1957, pp. 393-397.

Desmarals, A., "Ascorbic acid in relation to cold resistance", Rev. Canad. Biol., 16: 1957, pp. 189-248.

- Dethier, V. G. and Arab, Y. M., "Effect of temperature on contact chemoreception in blowfly", J. Insect Physiol., 2: 1958, pp. 153-161.
- Dijkgraaf, S., "Temperature sense in fish", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 27: 1940, pp. 587-605.
- Dodt, E., "Mode of stimulation and temperature receptors in mammals", <u>Pflug. Arch. Physiol.</u>, 263: 1956, pp. 188-200.
  - , Skouby, A. P. and Zotterman, Y., "The effect of cholinergic substances on the discharges from thermal receptors", Acta physiol. scand., 28: 1953, pp. 101-114.
- and Zotterman, Y., "Mode of action of warm receptors", Acta physicl. scand., 26: 1952, pp. 345-357.
- Dotterweich, H., "The warming-up period of butterflies for flight", Zool. Jahrb. Abt. allg., 44: 1928, pp. 399-425.
- Doudoroff, P., "Thermotaxis and thermal resistance of fish", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 75: 1934, pp. 494-509; 88: 1945, pp. 194-206.
- Edney, E. B., "Temperature relations of wood lice", <u>J. Exp.</u> <u>Biol.</u>, 28: 1950, pp. 271-280; 30: 1953, pp. 331-349.
- , "Temperature relations of arthropods", <u>Biol. Rev.</u>, 29: 1954, pp. 185-219.
- Edwards, D. K., "Acclimation and metabolism at different temperatures in Tribolium", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 36: 1958, pp. 363-382.
- Edwards, G. A. and Gonzales, M. D., "Seasonal metabolism of tropical insects"; <u>Acta Physiol. Latinoamerica</u>, 4: 1954, pp. 121-132.
- Elsentraut, M., "Body temperature of lower mammals", <u>Ztschr.</u> <u>Saugetlerkunde</u>, 21: 1956, pp. 49-52.
- Enger, P. S., "Temperature relations of tropical mammals and birds", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 40: 1957, pp. 161-166.
- Erikson, H., "The body temperature of arctic ground squirrels", Acta physiol. scand., 36: 1956, pp. 75-78.

et al., "Critical temperature in naked man", <u>Acta</u> <u>physiol. scand.</u>, 37: 1956, pp. 35-39.

- Fawcett, D. W. and Lyman, C. P., "Composition of body fat of hibernants in relation to temperature", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 126: 1954, pp. 235-237.
- Fisher, K. C., "Adaptation to temperature in fish and small mammals", in <u>Physiological Adaptation</u>, C. L. Prosser, Ed., Wash. Amer. Physiol. Soc., 1959, pp. 3-49.
- Fitch, H. S., "Temperature selection by amphibians and reptiles", Publ. Univ. of Kansas Museum, 8: 1956, pp. 417-476.
- Fleischner, J. R. and Sargent, F., "Crossed sensitization of rats to heat and cold", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 14: 1959, pp. 789-797.
- Folk, G. E., "Body rhythms of mammals in the cold", <u>Amer. Nat.</u>, 91: 1957, pp. 153-166.
- Fox, H. M., "Activity and metabolism of poikllotherms from different latitudes", Proc. Zool. Soc. London, A, 106: 1936, pp. 945-955; A., 109: 1939, pp. 141-156.
- Freeman, J. A., "Brain metabolism temperature adaptation, fish", Biol. Bull., 99: 1950, pp. 416-424.
- Fry, F. E. J., "Theory of temperature adaptation", <u>Publ.</u> <u>Ontario Fish. Res. Lab.</u>, 68: 1947, pp. 1-62.
  - , "Lethal temperature as a tool in taxonomy", Ann. Biol., 33: 1956, pp. 205-219.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, "Temperature compensation", <u>Ann. Rev. Physiol.</u>, 20: 1958, pp. 207-224.
  - , "Lethal temperatures of fish in relation to acclimation", <u>Publ. Ontario Fish. Res. Lab.</u>, 66: 1946, pp. 1-35.
- Garside, E. T. and Tait, J. S., "Selected temperatures in rainbow trout", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 36: 1958, pp. 563-567.
- Gebbhardt, H., "Localization of temperature receptors in insects", Experientia, 7: 1951, pp. 302-303.
- Gelineo, S., "Thermogenesis, development of homeothermy, and blood changes in hibernating and nonhibernating mammals at different temperatures in relation to acclimation", Arch. Sci. Biol. Belgrade, 6: 1954, pp. 235-248.

- Gibson, E. S. and Fry, F. E., Jr., "Cruising speeds of lake trout at different temperatures", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 32: 1954, pp. 252-260.
- Graham, W. M. "Thermal preference of Tribolium", <u>Animal Be-</u> havior, 6: 1958, p. 237.
- Grainger, J. N. R., "The initial metabolic responses to temperature change in polkilotherms", in <u>Physiological</u> <u>Adaptation</u>, C. L. Prosser, Ed., Wash. Amer. <u>Physiol</u>. Soc., 1958.
- Grant, W. G., "Temperature tolerance in earthworms", <u>Anat. Rec.</u>, 117: 1953, p. 561.
- Gunn, D. L., "The body temperature of polkilotherms", <u>Blol. Rev.</u>, 17: 1942, pp. 293-314.
- Hafez, M., "Thermal selection, housefly larvae", J. Exp. Zool., 124: 1953, pp. 199-229.
- Hall, F. G. and Rcot, R. W., "Thermal and water balance, amphibians and reptiles", Biol. Bull., 58: 1930, pp. 52-58.
- Hart, J. S., "Lethal temperatures of fish from different latitudes". Publ. Ontario Fish. Res. Lab., 72: 1952, pp. 1-79.

,"Relation between thermal history and cold resistance in rodents", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 31: 1953, pp. 80-98, 112-116.

\_\_\_\_\_\_, "Seasonal changes in insulation, mammals", <u>Canad.</u> <u>J. Zool.</u> 34: 1956, pp. 53-57.

, "Climatic and temperature-induced changes in energetics of homeotherms", <u>Rev. Canad. Biol.</u>, 16: 1957, pp. 133-174.

- Hazelhoff, E. H., "Temperature control in beehives", <u>Physiol.</u> <u>Comp. Oecol.</u>, 3: 1954, pp. 343-364.
- Hensel, H., "Electrophysiological studies of heat and cold receptors of mammals", <u>Pflug. Arch. Physiol.</u>, 256: 1952, pp. 195-211.

, Strom, L. and Zotterman, Y., "Electrophysiological studies of heat and cold receptors of mammals", <u>J.</u> Neurophysiol., 14: 1951, pp. 423-429.

THERMAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Hensel, H. and Zotterman, Y., "Quantitative Beziehungen zwischen der Eutladung einzelner Kaltefasern und der Temperatur", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 23: 1951, pp. 291-319.

to thermal stimulation", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 115: 1951, pp. 16-24.

- Heran, H., "Temperature sense of honeybees", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 34: 1952, pp. 179-206.
- Heroux, O., "Laboratory acclimation and seasonal acclimatization to cold in relation to metabolism, insulation, and skin vascularity in white rats", <u>Canad. J. Blochem.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 1959, pp.1247-1270.
  - , Depocas, F. and Hart, J. S., "Laboratory acclimation and seasonal acclimatization to cold in relation to metabolism and insulation in white rats", <u>Canad. J.</u> <u>Biochem. Physiol.</u>, 37: 1959, pp. 473, 478.
- Herter, K., "Review on hibernation", <u>Handbuch der Zool.</u>, 8: 1956, pp. 1-60.
- Higginbotham, A. C. and Koon, W. E., "Temperature regulation in opossum", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 181: 1955, pp. 69-71.
- Hoar, W. S. and Robertson, G. B., "Effect of photoperiodism on temperature resistance in goldfish", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 37: 1959, pp. 419-428.
- Hock, R. J., "Metabolic rate and body temperature of bats", Biol. Bull., 101: 1951, pp. 189-199.

, "Temperature and metabolism of bears", <u>Fed. Proc.</u>, 16: 1957, p. 440.

and Covino, B. G., "Hypothermia", <u>Sci. Amer.</u>, 198(3): 1958, pp. 104–114.

- House, H. L. et al., "Thermal conditioning and diet, temperature resistance of insects", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 36: 1958, pp. 629-632.
- Hsleh, A. C. L. and Carlson, L. D., "Effect of thyroid on metabolic responses to cold in rats", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 188: 1957, pp. 40-44.

THERMAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

i t

in a

Irvine, D. G., Newman, K. and Hoar, W. S., "Effects of diet on temperature resistance of goldfish", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 35: 1957, pp. 691-709.

Irving, L., "Physiological insulation in bare-skinned swine", J. Appl. Physiol., 9: 1956, pp. 414-420.

> and Hart, J. S., "Metabolism and insulation of seals in water and air", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 35: 1957, pp. 497-511.

and Krog, H., "Insulation and metabolism of arctic animals in winter and summer", <u>J. Appl. Physiol.</u>, 7: 1955, pp. 355-364.

and Monson, M., "Insulation and metabolism of arctic mammals in winter and summer", Physiol. Zool., 28: 1955, pp. 173-185.

Jennings, H. S., "Reactions of ciliates to heat and cold", Carnegie Inst. Washington Publ., 16: 1904, pp. 1-28.

Johansen, K. and Krog, J., "Body temperature and hibernation, birchmouse, Sicista", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 196: 1959, pp. 1200-1204.

Johnson, D. S., "Thermal race, Daphnia", J. Animal Ecol., 21: 1952, pp. 118-119.

Johnson, H. D. et al., "Temperature tolerance of breeds of cattle", <u>Univ. of Missouri Coll. of Agriculture Research</u> <u>Bull.</u>, 683: 1958, pp. 1-31.

Kanungo, M. and Prosser, C. L., "Biochemical changes in temperature acclimation, goldfish tissues", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 54: 1960, pp. 259-263, 265-274.

Kayser, C., "Review on hibernation", <u>Biol. Rev.</u>, 25: 1950, pp. 255-282.

> \_\_\_\_\_, "Metabolism of hibernants", <u>Ann. Biol.</u>, 57: 1953, pp. 109-150.

\_\_\_\_\_, "Hibernation, hypothermia", <u>Ann. Rev. Physiol.</u>, 19: 1957, pp. 83-120.

Kayser, C., Lucot, M. A. and Rietsch, M. L., "Metabolism of hibernants", Arch. Sci. Physiol., 8: 1954, pp. 155-193.

THERMAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

Kendelgh, S. C., "Development of temperature control in the wren", J. Exp. Zool., 82: 1939, pp. 419-438.

, "Effect of temperature on the metabolism of the English sparrow", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 96: 1944, pp. 1-16.

Kirberger, C., "Metabolic adaptations to temperature in earthworms", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 35: 1953, pp. 175-198.

, "Temperature changes in O<sub>2</sub>-binding by blood, Rana", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 35: 1952, pp. 153-158.

- Koffler, H., "Enzymes of thermal bacteria", <u>Bacteriol. Rev.</u>, 21: 1957, pp. 227-240.
- Koldsumi, K., "Temperature relations of the grasshopper", <u>Mem.</u> Fac. Sci. Agric. Talhocu, 12: 1935, pp. 281-380.
- Knight-Jones, E. W. and Qasim, S. Z., "Responses of marine plankton animals to hydrostatic pressure changes", Nature, 175: 1955, pp. 941-942.
- Krog, H. and Monson, M., "Critical temperature of mountain goat", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 178: 1954, pp. 515-516.
- Ladell, U. S., "Effect of heat on native Africans", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 135: 1957, pp. 52P-53P.
- Landau, B. R. and Dawe, A. R., "Metabolism of hibernating Citellus", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 194: 1958, pp. 75-82.
- Lele, P. P., "Relationship between cutaneous thermal thresholds, skin temperature, and cross-sectional area of the stimulus", <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 126: 1954, pp. 191-205.

, Weddell, G. and Williams, C. M., "The relationship between heat transfer, skin temperature and cutaneous sensibility", J. Physiol., 126: 1954, pp. 206-234.

- Levitt, J., "Frost, drought, and heat resistance", Protoplasmatologia, 8: 1958, pp. 1-87.
- Lyman, C. P. and Blinks, P. C., "Effect of temperature on isolated hearts, hibernators and nonhibernators", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 54: 1959, pp. 53-63.

and Chatfleld, P. O., "Arousal in hibernating hamsters", <u>J. Exp. Zool.</u>, 114: 1950, pp. 491-515.

Lyman, C. P. and Chatfield, P. O., "Physiology of hibernation In mammals", <u>Physiol. Rev.</u>, 35: 1955, pp. 403-425.

and Dawe, A. R., Eds., "Mammalian hibernation", Bull. Mus. Comp. Zool. Harvard, 124: 1960, pp. 1-549.

and Leduc, E. H., "Preparation for and arousal from hibernation; changes in blood and tissue chemistry in hibernation, hamsters", J. Cell. Comp. Physiol., 41: 1953, pp. 471-488.

- Lynch, H. F. and Adolph, E. F., "Blood flow in hypothermia", J. Appl. Physiol., 11: 1957, pp. 192-196.
- Marsh, C. and Militzer, W., "Mailc dehydrogenase from thermophilic bacteria", <u>Arch. Blochem. Blophys.</u>, 36: 1952, pp. 269-275.
- Marzusch, K., "Metabolic acclimation to temperature in beetles", Ztschr. vergl. Physiol., 34: 1952, pp. 75-92.
- Mayer, H. E., "Temperature tolerance, tropical marine polkilotherms", <u>Carnegle inst. Washington</u>, <u>Tortugas Papers</u>, 6: 1914, pp. 1-24
- McCauley, R. W., "Thermal relations of geographic races, Salvelinus", <u>Canad. J. Zool.</u>, 36: 1958, pp. 655-662.
- McCrum, W. R., "Location of temperature-regulating center in hypothalamus", <u>J. Comp. Neurcl.</u>, 98: 1953, pp. 233-281.
- McIntyre, D. G. and Ederstrom, H. E., "Development of homeothermv in dogs", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 194: 1958, pp. 293-296.
- McLeese, D. W., "Effect of temperature salinity and oxygen on survival of lobsters", <u>J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canad.</u> 13: 1956, pp. 247-272.
- Mellanby, K., "Water content and sensitivity of insects to heat", Nature, 181: 1958, p. 1403.
- Menaker, M., "Endogenous rhythms of body temperature in hibernating bats", <u>Nature</u>, 184(4694): 1959, p. 1251.
- Mew, H. H., "Protease adaptations in Heliz; temperature adaptation of proteolytic enzymes of frogs", <u>Ztschr. vergl.</u> <u>Pnysiol.</u>, 40: 1957, pp. 345-362.

# THERMAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Morun, T., "Critical temperature of freezing in frog muscle", Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B, 105: 1929, pp. 177-197.
- Morrison, P. R. and Ryser, F. A., "Temperature and metabolism of small mammals", <u>Science</u>, 116: 1952, pp. 231-232.

Morrow, J. E. and Mauro, A., "The body temperature of large marine fish", <u>Copela</u>: 1950, pp. 108-116.

Murray, R. W., "Thermal responses of ampullae of Lorenzini, Raja, and the lateralis organ, Xenopus", <u>J. Exp. Biol.</u>, 33: 1956, pp. 798-805.

Nardone, R. M., "Electrocardlogram of ground squirrel in hibernation", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 182: 1955, pp. 364-368.

Necheles, H., "Temperature relations, cockroaches", <u>Pflüg.</u> <u>Arch. Physiol.</u>, 204: 1924, pp. 72-93.

- Orr, P. R., "Heat death of whole animals and tissues, various animals", <u>Physiol. Zool.</u>, 28: 1955, pp. 290-302.
- Parry, D. A., "The temperature of arthropods in sunlight", <u>J.</u> Exp. Biol., 28: 1951, pp. 445-562.
- Pepper, J. H. and Hastings, E., "Effect of solar radiation on temperature of grasshoppers", <u>Ecology</u>, 33: 1952, pp. 96-103.
- Petajan, J. H. and Morrison, P. R., "Development of homeothermy in opossums", Physiologist, 1: 1958, p. 60.
- Pitt, T. K. et al., "Temperature selection by carp", <u>Canad. J.</u> <u>Zool.</u>, 34: 1956, pp. 555-557.
- Popovic, V., "Heat production by hibernating Citellus", Arch. Sci. Physiol., 11: 1957, pp. 29-36.
- Precht, H., "Patterns of temperature adaptation", in <u>Physiologi-</u> <u>cal Adaptation</u>, C. L. Prosser, Ed., Wash, Amer. Physiol. Soc., 1958, pp. 50-78.
- Prosser, C. L., Ed., In <u>Physiological Adaptation</u>, Wash, Amer. Physiol. Soc., 1958, pp. 167-180.
- Rao, K. P. and Bullock, T. H., "Qie as function of body size and habitat temperature", Amer. Nat., 88: 1954, pp. 33-44.

THERMAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Rieck, A. F. et al., "O<sub>2</sub> consumption by temperature acclimated amphibians", <u>Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.</u>, 103: 1960, pp. 436-439.
- Riedesel, M. L. and Folk, G. E., "Serum magnesium in hibernants", Nature, 177: 1956, p. 668.
- Roberts, J. L., "Thermal acclimation of metabolism in crab Pachygrapsus", Physiol. Zool., 30: 1957, pp. 232-255.
- Robinson, K. W. and Morrison, P. R., "Reaction of lower mammals to heat", <u>J. Cell. Comp. Physiol.</u>, 49: 1957, pp. 455-478.
- Rohmer, F., Hiebel, G. and Kayser, C., "Electroencephalograms and cardiograms of hibernating mammals", <u>C. R. Soc. Blol.</u>, 145: 1951, pp. 747-752.
- Rozin, P. N. and Mayer, J., "Thermal reinforcement and thermoregulatory behavior in goldfish, Carassius auratus", Science, 134(3483): 1961, pp. 942-943.
- Rucker, F., "Infrared reflection, insects", <u>Ztschr. vergl.</u> Physiol., 21: 1934, pp. 275-280.
- Salt, R. W., "Ice formation and supercooling in insects", <u>Canad.</u> J. Zool., 34: 1956, pp. 1-5, 283-294, 391-403.
- Schlieper, C. R., "Temperature-metabolism relations in aquatic animals", <u>Verh. Deutsch. Zool. Ges.</u>: 1952, pp. 267-272.
- Schmidt-Nellsen, K., "Heat regulation in desert mammais", in <u>The Biology of Deserts</u>, J. L. Clouddsley-Thompson, Ed., London Institute of Biology, London, 1954, pp. 184-187.

Scholander, P. F., "Evolution of climatic adaptation in homeotherms", Evolution; 9: 1955, pp. 15-26.

et al., "Metabolic reactions of arctic homeotherms to temperature stress", <u>Biol. Bull</u>, 99: 950, pp. 259-321.

interpretation in arctic and tropical polkilotherms (plants and animals), J. Cert. Comp. Physiol., 42, Suppl. 1: 1953, pp. 1-56.

Sealancer, J., "Body temperature, behavior, insulation of small mammals in the cold", Biol. Bull., 104: 1953, pp 37-93.

THERMAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:

- Segal, E. et al., "Temperature adaptations of heart rate, intertidal molluscs", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 111: 1956, pp. 129-152.
- Shelford, V. E. and Powers, E. B., "Reactions of fish in thermal gradients", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 28: 1915, pp. 315-334.
- Simpson, J., "Nest climate regulation in honey bee colonies", Science, 133(3461): 1961, pp. 1327-1333.
- Slifer, E. H., "Thermoreceptors in Locusta", Proc. Roy. Soc. London, B, 138: 1952, pp. 414-437.
- Steen, J., "Temperature acclimation and metabolism in pigeons", Acta physiol. scand., 39: 1957, pp. 22-26.
- Strom, G., "Effects of local thermal stimulation of the hypothalamus of the cat", <u>Acta physiol. scand.</u>, 21, Suppl. 20: 1950, pp. 47-76.
- Sullivan, C. M., "Temperature detection and response in fish", J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 11: 1954, pp. 153-170.
- Sumner, F. B. and Lanham, U. N., "Metabolism and tolerance of fish from warm and cold springs", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 82: 1942, pp. 313-327.
- Tashian, R. E., "Geographic variation, tropical and temperate Uca", Zoologica, 41: 1956, pp. 39-47.

and Ray, C., "Metabolism of tropical and arctic amphiblans", Zoologica, 42: 1957, pp. 63-68.

- Templeton, J. R., "Respiration and water loss at high temperatures in the desert Iguana", <u>Physiol. Zool.</u>, 33: 1960, pp. 136-145.
- Thibault, O., "Endocrines and temperature acclimation in rats", <u>Rev. Canad. Biol.</u>, 8: 1949, pp. 3-131.
- Thomsen, F. and Thomsen, M., "Temperature selection by fly larvae", <u>Ztschr. vergl. Physiol.</u>, 24: 1937, pp. 343-380.
- Thorson, G., "Distribution of invertebrate larvae in the ocean at different latitudes", Verh. Deutsch. ges. Wilhelmshaven, 45: 1951, pp. 276-327.
- van Utrecht, W. L., "Heat exchange in peripheral circulation of whale", <u>Zool. Anz.</u>, 161: 1958, pp. 77-82.

- THERMAL SENSITIVITY, Continued:
- Uvarov, B. P., "insects and climate", <u>Trans. Entomolog. Soc.</u> London, 79: 1931, pp. 1-247.
- Vernberg, F. J., "Seasonal variation in O<sub>2</sub> consumption of salamanders", <u>Physiol. Zool.</u>, 25: 1952, pp. 243-249.

, "Physiological variation between tropical and temperate zone fiddler crabs", <u>Biol. Bull.</u>, 117: 1959, pp. 163-184, 582-593.

- Volpe, E. P., "Temperature tolerance and development of races and hybrids of Rana pipens", <u>Amer. Nat.</u>, 91: 1957, pp. 303-309.
- Wallgren, H., "Metabolism of buntings as function of temperature and distribution", <u>Acta Zool. Fennica</u>, 84: pp. 1-110.

Webb, H. M. and Brown, F. A., "The timing mechanism for persistent rhythms", Physio<sup>1</sup>. Rev., 39: 1959, pp. 127-161.

Webb, P. and Veghte, J. H., "Upper limits of rectal temperature in man", <u>Physiclogist</u>, 1: 1958, p. 84.

Weiss, A. K., "Tissue metabolism of rats acclimated to cold temperatures", <u>Amer. J. Physiol.</u>, 177: 1954, pp. 201-206: 188: 1957, pp. 430-434.

Welss, B. and Latles, V. G., "Behavioral thermoregulation", Science, 133(3461): 1961, pp. 1338-1344.

Whitney, R. J., "Thermal resistance of mayfly nymphs from ponds and streams", J. Exp. Biol., 16: 1939, pp. 374-385.

Wieser, W. and Kanwisher, J., "Metabolism of marine nematode at different seasons", <u>Bloi. Bull.</u>, 117: 1959, pp. 594-600.

Zotterman, Y., "Physiology of temperature receptors", <u>Ann. Rev.</u> <u>Physiol.</u>, 15: 1953, pp. 357-372.

"Special senses: Thermal receptors", Ann. Rev. Physiol., 15: 1953, pp. 357-370.
## RELATED LITERATURE

## SPECIAL EFFECTS

Stefferud, Alfred, Ed., "Insects", In <u>The Yearbook of</u> <u>Agriculture</u>, U. S. Dept, of Agriculture, Washington, 1952.